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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

AGL Resources Inc. 2008 Annual Report 

Note 1 Accounting Policies and 
Methods of Application 

capacity for delivery of natural gas tfirough our wholly-owned 

subsidiary Atlanta Gas Light. 

Genera l 

AGL Resources Inc. is an energy services holding company that 

conducts substantially all its operations through its subsidiaries. 

Unless the context requires otherwise, references to "we." "us," 

"our." the "company", or "AGL Resources" mean consolidated AGL 

Resources Inc. and its subsidiaries. We have prepared the 

accompanying consolidated financial statements under the rules of 

the SEC. For a glossary of key terms and referenced accounting 

standards, see pages 2T and 22. 

Bas is of Presenta t ion 

Our consolidated financial statements as of and for the period ended 

December 31, 2008, include our accounts, the accounts of our 

majority-owned and controlled subsidiaries and the accounts of 

variable interest entities for which we are the primary beneficiary 

This means that our accounts are combined with the subsidiahes' 

accounts. We have eliminated any intercompany profits and 

transactions in consolidation: however, we have not eliminated 

intercompany profits when such amounts are probable of recovery 

under the affiliates' rate regulation process. Certain amounts from 

prior periods have been reclassified and revised to conform to the 

current period presentation. 

We currently own a noncontrolling 70% financial interest in 

SouthStar and Piedmont owns the remaining 30%. Our 70% interest 

is noncontrolling because all significant management decisions 

require approval by both owners. We record the earnings allocated 

to Piedmont as a minority interest in our consolidated statements of 

income and we record Piedmont's portion of SouthStar's capital as 

a minority interest in our consolidated balance sheets. 

We are the pnmary beneficiary of SouthStar's activities and 

have determined that SouthStar is a variable interest entity as 

defined by FIN 46 revised in December 2003, FIN 46R. We deter­

mined that SouthStar was a variable interest entity because our 

equal voting rights with Piedmont are not proportional to our 

economic obligation to absorb 75% of any losses or residual returns 

from SouthStar, except those losses and returns related to 

customers in Ohio and Florida. Earnings related to SouthStar's 

customers in Ohio and Florida are allocated 70% to us and 30% to 

Piedmont. The nature of restrictions on SouthStar's assets are 

immaterial. The primary risl<s associated with SouthStar include 

weather, government regulation, competition, market risk, natural 

gas prices, economic conditions, inflation and bad debt. See Note 9 

for income statement, balance sheet and capital expenditure 

information related to the retail energy operations segment. In 

addition, SouthStar obtains substantially all its transportation 

Cast i and Cash Equiva lents 

Our cash and cash equivalents consist primarily of cash on deposit, 

money market accounts and certificates of deposit with original 

maturities of three months or less. 

Receivables and A l l o w a n c e fo r 

Unco l lec t ib le A c c o u n t s 

Our receivables consist of natural gas sales and transportation 

services billed to residential, commercial, industrial and other 

customers. We bill customers monthly, and accounts receivable are 

due within 30 days. For the majority of our receivables, we establish 

an allowance for doubtful accounts based on our collection experi­

ence and other factors. On certain other receivables where we are 

aware of a specific customer's inability or reluctance to pay we 

record an allowance for doubtful accounts against amounts due to 

reduce the net receivable balance to the amount we reasonably 

expect to collect. However, if circumstances change, our estimate 

of the recoverability of accounts receivable could be different. 

Circumstances that could affect our estimates include, but are not 

limited to, customer credit issues, the level of natural gas prices, 

customer deposits and general economic conditions. We write-off 

our customer's accounts once we deem them to be uncollectible. 

Inventor ies 

For our distribution operations subsidiaries, we record natural 

gas stored underground at WACOG. For Sequent and SouthStar, 

we account for natural gas inventory at the lower of WACOG or 

market price. 

Sequent and SouthStar evaluate the average cost of their 

natural gas inventories against market prices to determine whether 

any declines in market prices below the WACOG are other than 

temporary For any declines considered to be other than temporary, 

adjustments are recorded to reduce the weighted average cost of 

the natural gas inventory to market price. Consequently, as a result 

of declining natural gas prices. Sequent recorded LOCOM 

adjustments against cost of gas to reduce the value of its inventories 

to market value of $40 million in 2008, $4 million in 2007 and 

$43 million in 2006. SouthStar recorded LOCOM adjustments of 

$24 million in 2008 and $6 million in 2006, but was not required to 

make LOCOM adjustments in 2007, 

In Georgia's competitive environment. Marketers including 

SouthStar, our marketing subsidiary, began selling natural gas in 

1998 to firm end-use customers at market-based prices. Part of the 

unbundling process, which resulted from deregulation that provides 
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for this competitive environment, is the assignment to Marketers of 

certain pipeline services that Atlanta Gas Light has under contract, 

Atlanta Gas Light assigns, on a monthly basis, the majority of the 

pipeline storage services that it has under contract to Marketers, 

along with a corresponding amount of inventory 

Property , P lant a n d Equ ipment 

A summary of our PP&E by classification as of December 31, 2008 

and 2007 is provided in the following table. 

Transmission and distribution 

Storage 
Other 
Construction work in progress 

Total gross PP&E 
Accumulated depreciation 

Total net PP&E 

$4,344 

290 

543 

323 

5,500 

(1,684) 

$3,816 

$4,193 

285 

509 

190 

5,177 

(1,611) 

$ 3.566 

Distribution Operations PP&E expenditures consist of property 

and equipment that is in use, being held for future use and under 

construction. We report PP&E at its original cost, which Includes: 

• material and labor 
• contractor costs 
• construction overhead costs 

• an allowance for funds used during construction (AFUDC) which 

represents the estimated cost of funds, from both debt and equity 

sources, used to finance the construction of major projects and 

is capitalized in rate base for ratemaking purposes when the 

completed projects are placed in service 

We charge property retired or otherwise disposed of to 

accumulated depreciation since such costs are recovered in rates. 

Retail Energy Operations, Wholesale Services, Energy 

Investments and Corporate PP&E expenditures include property 

that is in use and under construction, and we report it at cost. We 

record a gain or loss for retired or otherwise disposed-of property 

Natural gas in storage at Jefferson Island that is retained as pad gas 

(volumes of non-working natural gas used to maintain the 

operational integrity of the cavern facility) is classified as non­

depreciable property plant and equipment and is valued at cost. 

Deprec ia t ion Expense 

We compute depreciation expense for distribution operations by 

applying composite, straight-line rates (approved by the state 

regulatory agencies) to the investment in depreciable property. The 

composite straight-line depreciation rale for depreciable property — 

excluding transportation equipment for Atlanta Gas Light, Virginia 

Natural Gas and Chattanooga Gas — was approximately 2.5% 

during 2008. 2007 and 2006. The composite, straight-line rate for 

Elizabethtown Gas, Florida City Gas and Elkton Gas was 

approximately 3.3 % for 2008, 3.2% during 2007 and 3.0% during 

2006. We depreciate transportation equipment on a straight-line 

basis over a period of 5 to 10 years. We compute depreciation 

expense for other segments on a straight-line basis up to 35 years 

based on the useful life of the asset. 

AFUDC 

Four of our utilities are authorized by applicable state regulatory 

agencies or legislatures to record the cost of debt and equity funds 

as part of the cost of construction projects in our consolidated 

balance sheets and as AFUDC of $8 million in 2008. $4 million in 

2007 and $5 million in 2006 within in the statements of consolidated 

income. The capital expenditures of our two other utilities do not 

qualify for AFUDC treatment. More information on our authorized 

AFUDC rates is provided in the following table. 

AiHhorizod ArUDC rate 

Atlanta Gas Light 

Chattanooga Gas'" 

Elizabethtown Gas''' 

Virginia Natural Gas'' 

8.53% 

7.89% 

2.84% 

8.91% 
'" Prior to 2007, the authorized rale was 7.43%. 
'''Variabro rate as of December 31. 2008. and is dotcrmincd by FERC method of AFUDC 

accounting. 

'" ftppto'jcd only (ot Hampton Roads c(mswuciion ptojca. 

Goodwi l l 

We have included $418 million of goodwill in our consolidated 

balance sheets as of December 31. 2008, which consists of: 

Date 

2004 

2004 

2000 

1998 

SFAS 142 requires us to perform an annual goodwill impair­

ment test at a reporting unit level which generally equates to our 

operating segments as discussed in Note 9 "Segment Information," 

We performed this annual test as of our fiscal year-end or 

December 31, 2008. 2007 and 2006 and did not recognize any 

impairment charges. We also assess goodwill for impairment if 

events or changes in circumstances may indicate an impairment of 

goodwill exists. When such events or circumstances are present, 

we assess the recoverability of long-lived assets by determining 

whether the carrying value will be recovered through the expected 

Acquisition 

NUI 
Jefferson Island 

Virginia Natural Gas 

Chattanooga Gas 

Goodwill amount 

$227 

14 

170 

7 
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future cash flows. In the event the sum of the expected future cash 

flows resulting from the use of the asset is less than the carrying 

value of the asset, we record an impairment loss equal to the excess 

of the asset's carrying value over its fair value. We conduct this 

assessment principally through a review of our market capitalization 

relative to our net book value, financial results, changes in state and 

federal legislation and regulation, regulatory and legal proceedings 

and the periodic regulatory filings for our regulated utilities. 

Taxes 

The reporting of our assets and liabilities for financial accounting 

purposes differs from the reporting for income tax purposes. The 

principal differences between net income and taxable income relate to 

the timing of deductions, primarily due to the benefits of tax depreci­

ation since we generally depreciate assets for tax purposes over a 

shorter period of time than for book purposes. The determination of 

ouf provision for income taxes requires significant judgment, the use 

of estimates, and the interpretation and application of complex tax 

lav^s. Significant judgment is required in assessing the timing and 

amounts of deductible and taxable items. We report the tax effects of 

depreciation and other differences in those items as deferred income 

tax assets or liabilities in our consolidated balance sheets in 

accordance with SFAS 109 and FIN 48. Investment tax credits of 

approximately $14 million previously deducted for income tax 

purposes for Atlanta Gas Light, Elizabethtown Gas, Florida City Gas 

and Elkton Gas have been deferred for financial accounting purposes 

and are being amortized as credits to income over the estimated lives 

of the related properties in accordance with regulatory requirements. 

Wo do not collect income taxes from our customers on behalf 

of governmental authorities. We collect and remit various taxes on 

behalf of various governmental authorities. We record these 

amounts in our consolidated balance sheets except taxes in the 

state of Florida which we are required to include in revenues and 

operating expenses. These Florida related taxes are not material for 

any periods presented. 

Revenues 

Distribution operations We record revenues when services are 

provided to customers. Those revenues are based on rates 

approved by the state regulatory commissions of our utilities. 

As required by the Georgia Commission, in July 1998. Atlanta 

Gas Light began billing Marketers in equal monthly installments for 

each residential, commercial and industrial customer's distribution 

costs. As required by the Georgia Commission, effective February 1, 

2001, Atlanta Gas Light implemented a seasonal rate design for the 

calculation of each residential customer's annual straight-fixed-

variable (SFV) capacity charge, which is billed to Marketers and 

reflects the historic volumetric usage pattern for the entire residential 

class. Generally this change results in residential customers being 

billed by Marketers for a higher capacity charge in the winter months 

and a lower charge in the summer months. This requirement has 

an operating cash flow impact but does not change revenue 

recognition. As a result, Atlanta Gas Light continues to recognize its 

residential SFV capacity revenues for financial reporting purposes in 

equal monthly installments. 

Any difference between the billings under the seasonal rate 

design and the SFV revenue recognized is deferred and reconciled to 

actual billings on an annual basis. Atlanta Gas Light had unrecovered 

seasonal rates of approximately $11 million as of December 31, 2008 

and 2007 (included as current assets in the consolidated balance 

sheets) related to the difference between the billings under the 

seasonal rate design and the SFV revenue recognized. 

The Ellzabethtown Gas, Virginia Natural Gas, Florida City Gas, 

Chattanooga Gas and Elkton Gas rate structures include volumetric 

rate designs that allow recovery of costs through gas usage. 

Revenues from sales and transportation services are recognized in 

the same period in which the related volumes are delivered to 

customers. Revenues from residential and certain commercial and 

industrial customers are recognized on the basis of scheduled meter 

readings. In addition, revenues are recorded for estimated delivenes 

of gas not yet billed to these customers, from the last meter reading 

date to the end of the accounting period. These are included in the 

consolidated balance sheets as unbilled revenue. For other 

commercial and industhal customers and alt wholesale customers, 

revenues are based on actual deliveries to the end of the period. 

The tariffs for Elizabethtown Gas, Virginia Natural Gas and 

Chattanooga Gas contain WNA's that partially mitigate the impact of 

unusually cold or warm weather on customer billings and operating 

margin. The WNA's purpose is to reduce the effect of weather on 

customer bills by reducing bills when winter weather is colder than 

normal and increasing bills when weather is warmer than normal. 

Retail energy operations We record retail energy operations' 

revenues when services are provided to customers. Revenues from 

sales and transportation services are recognized in the same period 

in which the related volumes are delivered to customers. Sales 

revenues from residential and certain commercial and industrial 

customers are recognized on the basis of scheduled meter readings. 

In addition, revenues are recorded for estimated delivenes of gas 

not yet billed to these customers, from the most recent meter 

reading date to the end of the accounting period. These are included 

in the consolidated balance sheets as unbilled revenue. For other 

commercial and industrial customers and alt wholesale customers, 

revenues are based on actual deliveries to the end of the period, 

Wholesale services We record wholesale services' revenues 

when services are provided to customers. Profits from sales 

between segments are eliminated In the corporate segment and are 

recognized as goods or services sold to end-use customers. 

Transactions that qualify as derivatives under SFAS 133 are recorded 
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at fair value with changes in fair value recognized in earnings in the 

period of change and characterized as unrealized gains or losses. 

Energy investments We record operating revenues at Jefferson 

Island in the period in which actual volumes are transported 

and storage services are provided. The majority of our storage 

services are covered under medium to long-term contracts at fixed 

market rates. 

We record operating revenues at AGL Networks from leases 

of dark fiber pursuant to indefeasible rights-of-use (IRU) agreements 

as services are provided. Dark fiber IRU agreements generally 

require the customer to make a down payment upon execution of 

the agreement; however in some cases AGL Networks receives up 

to the entire lease payment at the inception of the lease and 

recognizes ratably over the lease term. AGL Networks had deferred 

revenue in our consolidated balance sheet of $33 million at 

December 31, 2008 and $38 million at December 31, 2007. In 

addition, AGL Networks recognizes sales revenues upon the 

execution of certain sales-type agreements for dark fiber when the 

agreements provide for the transfer of legal title to the dark fiber to 

the customer at the end of the agreement's term. This sales-type 

accounting treatment is in accordance with EITF 00-11 and 

SFAS 66, which provides that such transactions meet the criteria 

for sales-type lease accounting if the agreement obligates the lessor 

to convey ownership of the underlying asset to the lessee by the 

end of the lease term. 

Cos t o f Gas 

Excluding Atlanta Gas Light, we charge our utility customers for 

natural gas consumed using natural gas cost recovery mechanisms 

set by the state regulatory agencies. Under these mechanisms, we 

defer (that is, include as a current asset or liability in the consolidated 

balance sheets and exclude from the statements of consolidated 

income) the difference between the actual cost of gas and what is 

collected from or billed to customers in a given period. The deferred 

amount is either billed or refunded to our customers prospectively 

through adjustments to the commodity rate. 

Our retail energy operations customers are charged for natural 

gas consumed. We also include within our cost of gas amounts for 

fuel and lost and unaccounted for gas, adjustments to reduce the 

value of our inventories to market value and for gains and losses 

associated with derivatives. 

Comprehens ive I ncome 

adjustments. The following table illustrates our OCi activity during 

the last three years. 

Cash flow hedges: 

Net derivative unrealized (losses) 

gains arising during the period 

(net of $2, $2 and $7 in taxes) $ (4) $ 3 

Less reclassification of realized 

gains included in net income 

(net of $4, $5 and $1 in taxes) (6) (8) 

(Unfunded) over funded pension 

obligation (net of $73, $16 and 

$7 in taxes) (111) 24 

Total ${121) $19 

$11 

(1) 

11 

$21 

Earn ings Per C o m m o n Share 

We compute basic earnings per common share by dividing our 

income available to common shareholders by the daily weighted 

average number of common shares outstanding daily Diluted 

earnings per common share reflect the potential reduction in earnings 

per common share that could occur when potentially dilutive 

common shares are added to common shares outstanding. 

We derive our potentially dilutive common shares by calculating 

the number of shares issuable under restricted stock, restricted 

stock units and stock options. The future issuance of shares 

underlying the restricted stock and restricted share units depends on 

the satisfaction of certain performance criteria. The future issuance 

of shares underlying the outstanding stock options depends on 

whether the exercise prices of the stock options are less than the 

average market price of the common shares for the respective 

periods. The following table shows the calculation of our diluted 

earnings per share for the periods presented if performance units 

currently earned under the plan ultimately vest and if stock options 

currently exercisable at prices below the average market prices 

are exercised. 

!n millions 

Denominator for basic earnings 

per share'" 

Assumed exercise of potential 

common shares 

Denominator for diluted earnings 

per share 

2008 

76.3 

0.3 

76.6 

2007 

77.1 

0,3 

77.4 

2006 

77.6 

0.4 

78.0 
'"Daily weighted average shares outstanding. 

Our comprehensive income includes net income plus OCI, which 

includes other gains and tosses affecting shareholders' equity that 

GAAP excludes from net income. Such items consist primarily of 

unrealized gains and losses on certain derivatives designated as 

cash fiow hedges and overfunded or unfunded pension obligation 
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The following table contains the weighted average shares 

attributable to outstanding stock options that were excluded from 

the compulation of diluted earnings per share because their effect 

would have been anti-dilutive, as the exercise prices were greater 

than the average market price: 

December 31, 

2008 2007 2006 

Twelve months_ended'" 
i"0.0 values roproserK amounts less than 0.1 million 

1.6 0.0 0.0 

The increase in the number of shares that were excluded from 

the computation is the result of a significant decline in the market 

value of our common shares at December 31, 2008 as compared 

to December 31, 2007 and 2006. 

Regu la tory Asse ts and Liabi l i t ies 

We have recorded regulatory assets and liabilities in our consoli­

dated balance sheels in accordance with SFAS 71. Our regulatory 

assets and liabilities, and associated liabilities for our unrecovered 

PRP costs, unrecovered ERG and the associated assets and 

liabilities for our Elizabethtown Gas hedging program, are summa­

rized in the following table. 

In millions 

Regulatory assets 

Unrecovered PRP costs 

Unrecovered ERC" 

Unrecovered postretirement benefit costs 

Unrecovered seasonal rates 

Unrecovered natural gas costs 

Other 
Total regulatory assets 

Associated assets 

Elizabethtown Gas hedging program 

Total regulatory and associated assets 

Regulatory liabilities 

Accumulated removal costs 
Elizabethtown Gas hedging program 

Unamortized investment tax credit 

Deferred natural gas costs 

Regulatory tax liability 

Other 

Total regulatory liabilities 

Associated liabilities 

PRP costs 

ERC" 

Total associated liabilities 

Total regulatory and 

associated liabilities 

December 31. 

2008 2007 

$237 

143 

11 
11 

19 

30 

451 

23 
$474 

$178 

23 

14 

25 

19 

22 

281 

189 

96 

285 

$566 

$285 

158 

12 

11 

23 

24 

513 

4 
$517 

$169 
4 

16 

28 

20 

19 

256 

245 

96 

341 

$597 
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Our regulatory assets are recoverable through either rate riders 

or base rates specifically authorized by a state regulatory commis­

sion. Base rates are designed to provide both a recovery of cost 

and a return on investment during the period rates are in efl'ect. As 

such, all our regulatory assets are subject to review by the respective 

state regulatory commission during any future rate proceedings. In 

the event that the provisions of SFAS 71 were no longer applicable, 

we would recognize a write-off of regulatory assets that would result 

in a charge to net income, and be classified as an extraordinary item. 

Additionally, the regulatory liabilities would not be written-off but 

would continue to be recorded as liabilities but not as regulatory 

liabilities. Although the natural gas distribution industry is becoming 

increasingly competitive, our utility operations continue to recover 

their costs through cost-based rates established by the state 

regulatory commissions. As a result, we believe that the accounting 

prescribed under SFAS 71 remains appropriate. It is also our opinion 

that all regulatory assets are recoverable in future rate proceedings, 

and therefore we have not recorded any regulatory assets that are 

recoverable but are not yet included in base rates or contemplated 

in a rate rider. 

All the regulatory assets included in the preceding table are 

included in base rates except for the unrecovered PRP costs, unre­

covered ERC and deferred natural gas costs, which are recovered 

through specific rate riders on a dollar for dollar basis. The rate riders 

that authorize recovery of unrecovered PRP costs and the deferred 

natural gas costs include both a recovery of costs and a return on 

investment during the recovery period. We have two rate riders that 

authorize the recovery of unrecovered ERC. The ERC rate rider for 

Atlanta Gas Light only allows for recovery of the costs incurred and 

the recovery period occurs over the five years after the expense is 

incurred. ERC associated with the investigation and remediation of 

Elizabethtown Gas remediation sites located in the state of New 

Jersey are recovered under a remediation adjustment clause and 

include the carrying cost on unrecovered amounts not currently in 

rates. Elizabethtown Gas' hedging program asset and liability reflect 

unrealized losses or gains that will be recovered from or passed to 

rate payers through the recovery of its natural gas costs on a dollar 

for dollar basis, once the losses or gains are realized. Unrecovered 

postretirement benefit costs are recoverable through base rates over 

the next 5 to 24 years based on the remaining recovery period as 

designated by the applicable state regulatory commissions. 

Unrecovered seasonal rates refiect the difference between the 

recognition of a portion of Atlanta Gas Light's residential base rates 

revenues on a straight-line basis as compared to the collection of the 

revenues over a seasonal pattern. The unrecovered amounts are 

fully recoverable through base rates within one year 

The regulatory liabilities are refunded to ratepayers through a 

rate rider or base rates. If the regulatory liability is included in base 

rates, the amount is reflected as a reduction to the rate base in 

setting rates. 

'" For a d/scussion of CRC, sec Note 7. 
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Pipel ine Rep lacemen t P rog ram 

Atlanta Gas Light The PRP. ordered by the Georgia Commission 

to be administered by Atlanta Gas Light, requires, among other 

things, that Atlanta Gas Light replace all bare steel and cast iron 

pipe in its system in the state of Georgia within a 10-year period 

beginning October 1. 1998. Atlanta Gas Light identified, and 

provided notice to the Georgia Commission of 2,312 miles of pipe 

to be replaced. Atlanta Gas Light subsequently identified an 

additional 320 miles of pipe subject to replacement under this 

program. If Atlanta Gas Light does not perform in accordance with 

this order, it will be assessed certain nonperformance penalties. 

The order also provides for recovery of all prudent costs 

incurred in the performance of the program, which Atlanta Gas Light 

has recorded as a regulatory asset. Atlanta Gas Light will recover 

from end-use customers, through billings to Marketers, the costs 

related to the program net of any cost savings from the program. All 

such amounts will be recovered through a combination of straight-

fixed-variable rates and a pipeline replacement revenue rider. The 

regulatory asset has two components: 

• the costs incurred to date that have not yet been recovered 

through the rate rider 

• the future expected costs to be recovered through the rate rider 

On June 10. 2005, Atlanta Gas Light and the Georgia 

Commission entered into a Seulement Agreement that, among 

other things, extends Atlanta Gas Light's PRP by five years to 

require that all replacements be completed by December 2013. 

The timing of replacements was subsequently specified In an 

amendment to the PRP stipulation. This amendment, which was 

approved by the Georgia Commission on December 20, 2005, 

requires Atlanta Gas Light to replace all cast iron pipe and 70% of 

all bare steel pipe by December 2010. The remaining 30% of bare 

steel pipe is required to be replaced by December 2013. These 

replacements are on schedule. 

Under the Settlement Agreement, base rates charged to 

customers will remain unchanged through April 30. 2010, but 

Atlanta Gas Light will recognize reduced base rate revenues of 

$5 million on an annual basis through April 30. 2010. The five-year 

total reduction in recognized base rate revenues of $25 million will 

be applied to the allowed amount of costs incurred to replace pipe, 

which will reduce the amounts recovered from customers under the 

PRP rider. The Settlement Agreement also set the per customer 

fixed PRP rate that Atlanta Gas Light will charge at $1,29 per 

customer per month from May 2005 through September 2008 and 

at $1.95 from October 2008 through December 2013 and includes 

a provision that allows for a true-up of any over- or under-recovery 

of PRP revenues that may result from a difference between PRP 

charges collected through fixed rates and actual PRP revenues 

recognized through the remainder of the program. 

The Settlement Agreement also allows Atlanta Gas Ught to 

recover through the PRP $4 million of the $32 million capital costs 

associated with its March 2005 purchase of 250 miles of pipeline in 

central Georgia from Southern Natural Gas Company a subsidiary 

of El Paso Corporation. The remaining capital costs are included in 

Atlanta Gas Light's rate base and collected through base rates. 

Atlanta Gas Light has recorded a long-term regulatory asset of 

SI 96 million, which represents the expected future collection of both 

expenditures already incurred and expected future capital expendi­

tures to be incurred through the remainder of the program, Atlanta 

Gas Light has also recorded a current asset of $41 million, which 

represents the expected amount to be collected from customers 

over the next 12 months. The amounts recovered from the pipeline 

replacement revenue rider during the last three years were: 

• $30 million in 2008 

• $27 million in 2007 

• $27 million in 2006 

As of December 31, 2008, Atlanta Gas Light had recorded a 

current liability of $49 million representing expected program 

expenditures for the next 12 months and a long-term liability of 

$140 million, representing expected program expenditures starting 

in 2009 through the end of the program in 2013. 

Atlanta Gas Light capitalizes and depreciates the capital 

expenditure costs incurred from the PRP over the life of the assets. 

Operation and maintenance costs are expensed as incurred. 

Recoveries, which are recorded as revenue, are based on a formula 

that allows Atlanta Gas Light to recover operation and maintenance 

costs in excess of those included in its current base rates, 

depreciation expense and an allowed rate of return on capital 

expenditures. In the near term, the primary financial impact to Atlanta 

Gas Light from the PRP is reduced cash flow from operating and 

investing activities, as the timing related to cost recovery does not 

match the timing of when costs are incurred. However, Atlanta Gas 

Light is allowed the recovery of carrying costs on the under-

recovered balance resulting from the timing difference. 

Elizabethtown Gas In August 2006, the New Jersey Commission 

issued an order adopting a pipeline replacement cost recovery rider 

program for the replacement of certain 8" cast iron main pipes and 

any unanticipated 10"-12" cast iron main pipes integral to the 

replacement of the 8" main pipes. The order allows Elizabethtown 

Gas to recognize revenues under a deferred recovery mechanism for 

costs to replace the pipe that exceeds a baseline amount of 

$3 million. Elizabethtown Gas' recognition of these revenues could 

be disallowed by the New Jersey Commission if its return on equity 

exceeds the authorized rate of 10%. The term of the stipulation was 

from the date of the order through December 31. 2008. Total 

replacement costs through December 31. 2008 were $21 million, of 

which $16 million will be eligible for the deferred recovery 
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mechanism. Revenues recognized and deferred for recovery under 

the stipulation are estimated to be approximately $2 million. All costs 

incurred under the program will be included In Elizabethtown Gas' 

next rate case to be filed in 2009. 

be included in the computation of earnings per share. As of 

December 31, 2008, we had approximately 145,000 restricted 

shares with nonforfeitable dividend rights. We will adopt FSP 

EITF 03-6-1 effective on January 1, 2009. 

Use of A c c o u n t i n g Es t imates 

The preparation of our financial statements in conformity with GAAP 

requires us to make estimates and judgments that affect the 

reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses and 

the related disclosures of comingent assets and liabilities. We based 

our estimates on historical experience and various other assump­

tions that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances, and 

we evaluate our estimates on an ongoing basis. Each of our 

estimates involve complex situations requiring a high degree of 

judgment either in the application and interpretation of existing 

literature or In the development of estimates that impact our financial 

statements. The most significant estimates include our PRP 

accruals, environmental liability accruals, uncollectible accounts and 

other allowance for contingencies, pension and postretirement 

obligations, derivative and hedging activities and provision for 

income taxes. Our actual results could differ from our estimates. 

Accoun t i ng Deve lopments 

Previously discussed 

SFAS 160 In December 2007. the FASB issued SFAS 160. which 

is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2008. Early 

adoption is prohibited. SFAS 160 will require us to present our 

minority interest, now to be referred to as a noncontrolling interest, 

separately within the capitalization section of our consolidated 

balance sheet. We will adopt SFAS 160 as of January 1. 2009. 

Recently issued 

SFAS 161 In March 2008, the FASB issued SFAS 161, which is 

effective for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2008. 

SFAS 161 amends the disclosure requirements of SFAS 133 to 

provide an enhanced understanding of how and why derivative 

instruments are used, how they are accounted for and their effect on 

an entity's financial condition, performance and cash flows. We will 

adopt SEAS 161 effective on January 1. 2009, which will require 

additional disclosures, but will not have a financial impact to our 

consolidated results of operations, cash flows or financial condition. 

FSP EITF 03-6-1 The f'ASB issued this FSP in June 2008 and it is 

effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2008. This 

FSP classifies unvested share-based payment grants containing 

nonforfeitable rights to dividends as participating securities that will 

FSP FAS 133-1 The FASB issued this FSP in September 2008 and 

it is effective for fiscal years beginning after November 15. 2008. 

This FSP requires more detailed disclosures about credit derivatives, 

including the potential adverse effects of changes in credit risk on the 

financial position, financial performance and cash flows of the sellers 

of the instruments. This FSP will have no financial impact to our 

consolidated results of operations, cash flows or financial condition. 

We will adopt ESP FAS 133-1 effective on January 1, 2009. 

FSP FAS 157-3 The FASB issued this FSP in October 2008 and it 

is effective upon issuance including prior periods for which financial 

statements have not been issued. This FSP clarifies the application 

of SFAS 157 in an inactive market, including; how internal assump­

tions should be considered when measuring fair value, how 

observable market information in a market that is not active should 

be considered and how the use of market quotes should be used 

when assessing observable and unobservable data. We adopted this 

FSP as of September 30, 2008. it had no financial impact to our 

consolidated results of operations, cash flows or financial condition, 

FSP FAS 140-4 and FIN 46R-8 The FASB issued this FSP in 

December 2008 and it is effective for the first reporting period ending 

after December 15, 2008, This FSP requires additional disclosures 

related to variable interest entities in accordance with SFAS 140 and 

FIN 46R. These disclosures include significant judgments and 

assumptions, restrictions on assets, risks and the effects on financial 

position, financial performance and cash flows. We adopted this 

FSP as of December 31. 2008; it had no financial impact to our 

consolidated results of operations, cash flows or financial condition. 

Note 2 Financial Instruments and 
Risk Management 

Nett ing of Cash Col lateral and Der ivat ive Assets and 

Liabi l i t ies under Master Net t ing A r r a n g e m e n t s 

We maintain accounts with brokers to facilitate financial derivative 

transactions in support of our energy marketing and risk manage­

ment activities. Based on the value of our posifions in these accounts 

and the associated margin requirements, we may be required to 

deposit cash into these broker accounts. 

On January 1, 2008, we adopted FIN 39-1. which required that 

we offset cash collateral held in these broker accounts on our 

consolidated balance sheets with the associated fair value of the 

instruments in the accounts. Prior to the adoption of FIN 39-1, we 
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presented such cash collateral on a gross basis within other current 

assets and liabilities on our consolidated balance sheets. Our cash 

collateral amounts are provided in the following table. 

In mill;ons 

Right to reclaim cash collateral 

Obligations to return cash collateral 

Total cash collateral 

As of December 3 1 . 

2008 2007 

$128 $ 3 

(4) (10) 

$124 $ (7) 

Fair va lue measu remen ts 

in September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS 157, which establishes 

a framework for measuring fair value and requires expanded 

disclosures regarding fair value measurements. SFAS 157 does not 

require any new fair value measurements; however, it eliminates 

inconsistencies in the guidance provided In previous accounting 

pronouncements. The carrying value of cash and cash equivalents, 

receivables, accounts payable, other current liabilities and accrued 

interest approximate fair value. The following table shows the 

carrying amounts and fair values of our long-term debt including 

any current portions included in our consolidated balance sheets. 

Carrying 

amouni 

Esiimatod 

fair value 

As Of December 31, 2008 

As of December 31. 2007 

;l.675 
1.675 

$1,647 

1.710 

We estimate the fair value of our long-term debt using a 

discounted cash fiow technique that incorporates a market interest 

yield curve with adjustments for duration, optionality and risk profile. 

In determining the market interest yield curve, we considered our 

currently assigned ratings for unsecured debt of BBB-i- by S&P. Baal 

by Moody's and A- by Fitch. 

SFAS 157 was effective for financial statements issued for fiscal 

years beginning after November 15. 2007. and interim periods within 

those fiscal years. In December 2007, the FASB provided a one-year 

deferral of SFAS 157 for nonfinancial assets and nonfinancial liabilities, 

except those that are recognized or disclosed at fair value on a 

recurring basis, at least annually We adopted SFAS 157 on 

January 1. 2008. for our financial assets and liabilities, which primarily 

consist of derivatives we record in accordance with SFAS 133. The 

adoption of SFAS 157 primarily impacts our disclosures and did not 

have a material impact on our consolidated results of operations, 

cash flows and financial condition. We will adopt SFAS 157 for our 

nonfinancial assets and liabilities on January 1. 2009, and are 

currently evaluating the impact to our consolidated results of 

operations, cash flows and financial condition. 

As defined in SFAS 157. fair value is the price that would be 

received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 

transaction between market participants at the measurement date 

(exit price). We utilize market data or assumptions that market 

participants would use in pricing the asset or liability including 

assumptions about risk and the risks Inherent in the inputs to the 

valuation technique. These inputs can be readily observable, market 

corroborated, or generally unobservable. We primarily apply the 

market approach for recurring fair value measurements and 

endeavor to utilize the best available information. Accordingly we 

use valuation techniques that maximize the use of obsen/able inputs 

and minimize the use of unobsen/able inputs. We are able to classify 

fair value balances based on the observance of those inputs. 

SFAS 157 establishes a fair value hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs 

used to measure fair value. The hierarchy gives the highest priority 

to unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets 

or liabilities (level 1) and the lowest priority to unobservable inputs 

(level 3). The three levels of the fair value hierarchy defined by 

SFAS 157 are as follows: 

Level 1 

Quoted prices are available in active markets for identical assets or 

liabilities as of the reporting date. Active markets are those in which 

transactions for the asset or liability occur in sufficient frequency and 

volume to provide pricing information on an ongoing basis. Our 

Level 1 items consist of financial instruments with exchange-

traded derivatives. 

Level 2 

Pricing inputs are other than quoted prices in active markets 

included in level 1, which are either directly or indirectly observable 

as of the reporting date. Level 2 includes those financial and 

commodity instruments that are valued using valuation methodolo­

gies. These methodologies are primarily industry-standard 

methodologies that consider various assumptions, including quoted 

forward prices for commodities, time value, volatility factors, and 

current market and contractual prices for the underlying instruments, 

as well as other relevant economic measures. Substantially all of 

these assumptions are observable in the marketplace throughout 

the full term of the InstrumenL can be derived from observable data 

or are supported by observable levels at which transactions are 

executed in the marketplace. We obtain market price data from 

multiple sources in order to value some of our Level 2 transactions 

and this data is representative of transactions that occurred in the 

market place. As we aggregate our disclosures by counterparty, the 

underlying transactions for a given counterparty may be a 

combination of exchange-traded derivatives and values based on 

other sources. Instruments in this category include shorter tenor 

exchange-traded and non-exchange-traded derivatives such as 

OTC forwards and options. 

Level 3 

Pricing inputs include significant inputs that are generally less 

observable from objective sources. These inputs may be used with 

internally developed methodologies that result in management's best 
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estimate of fair value. Level 3 instruments include those that may be more structured or otherwise tailored to customers' needs. We do not have 

any material assets or liabilities classified as level 3. 

The following table sets forth, by level within the fair value hierarchy our financial assets and liabilities that were accounted for at fair value on 

a recurring basis as of December 31, 2008. As required by SFAS 157, financial assets and liabilities are classified in their entirety based on the lowest 

level of input that is significant to the fair value measurement. Our assessment of the significance of a particular input to the fair value measurement 

requires judgment, and may afl'ect the valuation of fair value assets and liabilities and their placement within the fair value hierarchy levels. 

Recurring fair valLje measurements as of December 3 1 , 2008 

Quoted prices in 

active markets 

(Level 1) 

Stgnircant other 

observable 

inputs 

(Level 2) 

Significant 

unotisetvable 

inputs 

(Level 3) 

Assets:'" 

Derivatives at wholesale senyices 

Derivatives at distribution operations 

Derivatives at retail energy operations' 

Total assets 

$ 17 

23 

12 

S154 

52 $154 

Netting of 

cash 

collateral 

35 

$35 

Total 

carrying 

value 

$206 

23 

12 

$241 

Liabilities:^' 

Derivatives at wholesale services 

Derivatives at distribution operations 

Derivatives at retail eiiergy_02eratjo[25 

Total liabilities 
'" Includes S203 million of cu'fcnt assets and $38 million of long-term assets fcflcctcd within our consolidated balance sheet. 

'••' Includes $50 million ol current liabtliiics and $6 million of long-term liabilities reflected within our consolidated balance sheet. 

'" S-l million premium associj'tcd with weather dcrivaiives has been excluded as they are based on intrinsic value, not fair value. 

62 

23 

32 

$ 27 

$117 $ 28 

${62) 

4 

(31) 

$ 27 

27 

2 

$ 56 

The determination of the fair values above incorporates various 

factors required under SFAS 157. These factors include not only the 

credit standing of the counterparties involved and the impact of 

credit enhancements (such as cash deposits, letters of credit and 

priority interests), but also the impact of our nonperformance risk 

on our liabilities. 

Derivatives at distribution operations relate to Elizabethtown 

Gas and are utilized in accordance with a directive from the New 

Jersey Commission to create a program to hedge the impact of 

market fluctuations in natural gas prices. These derivative products 

are accounted for at fair value each reporting period. In accordance 

with regulatory requirements, realized gains and losses related to 

these derivatives are refiected in purchased gas costs and ultimately 

included in billings to customers. Unrealized gains and losses are 

reflected as a regulatory asset or liability as appropriate, in our 

consolidated balance sheets, 

Sequent's and SouthStar's derivatives include exchange-traded 

and OTC derivafive contracts. Exchange-traded derivative contracts, 

which include futures and exchange-traded options, are generally 

based on unadjusted quoted prices in active markets and are 

classified within level 1. Some exchange-traded derivatives are 

valued using broker or dealer quotation services, or market 

transactions in either the listed or OTC markets, which are classified 

within level 2. 

At the beginning of 2008. we had a notional principal amount 

of $100 million of interest rate swap agreements associated with 

our senior notes. In March 2008, we terminated these interest rate 

swap agreements. We received a payment of $2 million, which 

included accrued interest and the fair value of the interest rate swap 

agreements at the termination date. The payment was recorded as 

deferred income and classified as a liability in our consolidated 

balance sheets. The amount will be amortized through January 

2011, the remaining life of the associated senior notes. The following 

table sets forth a reconciliation of the termination of our Interest rate 

swaps, classified as level 3 in the fair value hierarchy 

Year ended 

December 3 1 , 2008 

Balance as of January 1, 2008 

Realized and unrealized gains 

Settlements 

Transfers in or out of level 3 

(2) 

Balance as of December 31. 2008 
Change in unrealized gains (losses) relating to 

instruments held as of December 31, 2008 $— 

Transfers in or out of level 3 represent existing assets or liabilities 

that were either previously categorized as a higher level for which the 

methodology inputs became unobservable or assets and liabilities 

that were previously classified as level 3 for which the lowest 

significant input became observable during the period. 
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Risk Managemen t 

Our risk management activities are monitored by our Risk 

Management Committee (RMC), which consists of members of 

senior management. The RMC is charged with reviewing and 

enforcing our risk management activities. Our risk management 

policies limit the use of derivative financial instruments and physical 

transactions within predefined risk tolerances associated with pre­

existing or anticipated physical natural gas sales and purchases and 

system use and storage. We use the following derivative financial 

instruments and physical transactions to manage commodity price. 

interest rate, weather, fuel price and foreign currency risks: 

• forward contracts 

• futures contracts 

• options contracts 

• financial swaps 

• treasury locks 

• weather derivative contracts 

• storage and transportation capacity transactions 

• foreign currency forward contracts 

In te res t Rate Swaps 

To maintain an effective capital structure, our policy is to borrow 

funds using a mix of fixed-rate and variable-rate debt. We entered 

into interest rate swap agreements for the purpose of managing the 

appropriate mix of risk associated with our fixed-rate and variable-

rate debt obligations. We designated these interest rate swaps as 

fair value hedges in accordance with SEAS 133. We record the gain 

or loss on fair value hedges in earnings in the period of change, 

together with the offsetting loss or gain on the hedged item 

attributable to the interest rate risk being hedged. 

Commod i t y - r e l a t ed Der ivat ive I ns t r umen ts 

All activities associated with price risk management activities and 

derivative instruments are included as a component of cash flows 

from operating activities in our consolidated statements of cash 

flows. Our derivatives not designated as hedges under SFAS 133, 

included within operating cash flows as a source (use) of cash was 

${129) million in 2008, $74 million in 2007, and $(112) million in 2006. 

Elizabethtown Gas In accordance with a directive from the New 

Jersey Cominission, Elizabethtown Gas enters into derivative 

transactions to hedge the impact of market fluctuations in natural 

gas prices, Pursuant to SFAS 133, such derivative transactions are 

marked to market each reporting period. In accordance with 

regulatory requirements, realized gains and losses related to these 

derivatives are reflected in purchased gas costs and ultimately 

included in billings to customers. As of December 31, 2008, 

Elizabethtown Gas had entered into OTC swap contracts to 

purchase approximately 11 Bcf of natural gas. Approximately 57% 

of these contracts have durations of one year or less, and none of 

these contracts extends beyond January 2011. The fair values of 

these derivative instruments were refiected as a current asset and 

liability of $23 million at December 31. 2008 and $4 million at 

December 31, 2007. For more information on our regulatory assets 

and liabilities see Note 1. 

SouthStar Commodity-related derivative financial instruments 

(futures, options and swaps) are used by SouthStar to manage 

exposures arising from changing commodity prices. SouthStar's 

objective for holding these derivatives is to utilize the most effective 

method to reduce or eliminate the impact of this exposure. We have 

designated a portion of SouthStar's derivative transactions as cash 

fiow hedges under SFAS 133. We record derivative gains or losses 

arising from cash flow hedges in OCI and reclassify them into 

earnings in the same period as the settlement of the underlying 

hedged item. We record any hedge inefi'ectiveness, defined as when 

the gains or losses on the hedging instrument do not offset and are 

greater than the losses or gains on the hedged item, in cost of gas 

in our statement of consolidated income in the period in which it 

occurs. SouthStar currently has minimal hedge inefl'ectiveness. We 

have not designated the remainder of SouthStar's derivative instru­

ments as hedges under SFAS 133 and, accordingly, we record 

changes in their fair value as cost of gas in our statements of 

consolidated income in the period of change. 

At December 31, 2008. the fair values of these derivatives 

were reflected in our consolidated financial statements as a current 

asset of $11 million, a long-term asset of $5 million and a current 

liability of $2 million representing a net position of 28 Bcf. This 

includes a $4 million current asset associated with a premium for 

weather derivatives. 

SouthStar also enters into both exchange and OTC derivative 

transactions to hedge commodity price risk. Credit risk is mitigated for 

exchange transactions through the backing of the NYMEX member 

firms. For OTC transactions, SouthStar utilizes master netting 

arrangements to reduce overall credit risk. As of December 31, 2008, 

SouthStar's maximum exposure to any single OTC counterparty was 

$8 million. 

Sequent We are exposed to risks associated with changes in the 

market price of natural gas. Sequent uses derivative financial 

instruments to reduce our exposure to the risk of changes in the 

prices of natural gas. The fair value of these derivative financial 

instruments reflects the estimated amounts that we would receive 

or pay to terminate or close the contracts at the reporting date, 

taking into account the current unrealized gains or losses on open 

contracts. We use external market quotes and indices to value 

substantially all the financial instruments we use. 

We mitigate substantially all the commodity price risk 
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associated with Sequent's natural gas portfolio by locking in the 

economic margin at the time we enter into natural gas purchase 

transactions for our stored natural gas. We purchase natural gas for 

storage when the difference in the current market price we pay to 

buy and transport natural gas plus the cost to store the natural gas 

is less than the market price we can receive in the future, resulting 

in a positive net operating margin. We use NYMEX futures contracts 

and other OTC derivatives to sell natural gas at that future price to 

substantially lock in the operating margin we will ultimately realize 

when the stored natural gas is actually sold. These futures contracts 

meet the definition of derivatives under SFAS 133 and are recorded 

at fair value and marked to market in our consolidated balance 

sheets, with changes In fair value recorded in earnings in the period 

of change. The purchase, transportation, storage and sale of natural 

gas are accounted for on a weighted average cost or accrual basis, 

as appropriate rather than on the mark-to-market basis we utilize 

for the derivatives used to mitigate the commodity price risk 

associated with our storage portfolio. This difference in accounting 

can result in volatility in our reported earnings, even though the 

economic margin is essentially unchanged from the date the 

transactions were consummated. 

At December 31. 2008, Sequent's commodity-related 

derivative financial instruments represented purchases (long) of 

819 Bcf and sales (short) of 688 Bcf with approximately 92% of 

purchase instruments and 94% of the sales instruments are 

scheduled to mature in less than 2 years and the remaining 8% and 

6%, respectively in 3 to 9 years. At December 31, 2008, the fair 

values of these derivatives were reflected in our consolidated 

financial statements as an asset of $206 million and a liability of 

$27 million. 

The changes in fair value of Sequent's derivative instruments 

utilized in its energy marketing and risk management activities and 

contract settlements increased the net fair value of its contracts 

outstanding by $25 million during 2008, reduced net fair value by 

$62 million during 2007 and increased net fair value by $132 million 

during 2006. 

Weather Der ivat ives 

In 2008 and 2007, SouthStar entered into weather derivative 

contracts as econornic hedges of operating margins in the event of 

warmer-than-normal and colder-than-normal weather in the heating 

season, primarily from November through March. SouthStar 

accoufits for these contracts using the intrinsic value method under 

the guidelines of EITF 99-02. SouthStar recorded current assets for 

this hedging activity of $4 million at December 31, 2008 and 

$5 million at December 31, 2007, 

Concen t ra t i on o f Cred i t Risk 

Atlanta Gas Light Concentration of credit risk occurs at Atlanta 

Gas Light for amounts billed for services and other costs to its 

customers, which consist of 11 Marketers in Georgia. The credit risk 

exposure to Marketers varies seasonally with the lowest exposure 

in the nonpeak summer months and the highest exposure in the 

peak winter months. Marketers are responsible for the retail sale of 

natural gas to end-use customers in Georgia. These retail functions 

include customer service, billing, collections, and the purchase and 

sale of natural gas. Atlanta Gas Light's tariff allows It to obtain 

security support in an amount equal to no less than two times a 

Marketer's highest month's estimated bill from Atlanta Gas Light. 

Wholesale Services Sequent has a concentration of credit risk for 

services it provides to marketers and to utility and industrial 

counterparties. This credit risk is measured by 30-day receivable 

exposure plus forward exposure, which is generally concentrated in 

20 of its counterparties. Sequent evaluates the credit risk of its 

counterparties using a S&P equivalent credit rating, which is 

determined by a process of converting the lower of the S&P or 

Moody's rating to an internal rating ranging from 9.00 to 1.00. with 

9.00 being equivalent to AAA/Aaa by S&P and Moody's and 1.00 

being equivalent to D or Default by S&P and Moody's. For a customer 

without an external rating. Sequent assigns an internal rating based 

on Sequent's analysis of the strength of its financial ratios. At 

December 31, 2008. Sequent's top 20 counterparties represented 

approximately 63% of the total credit exposure of $505 million, 

derived by adding together the top 20 counterparties' exposures and 

dividing by the total of Sequent's counterparties' exposures. 

Sequent's counterparties or the counterparties' guarantors had a 

weighted average S&P equivalent rating of A- at December 31. 2008. 

The weighted average credit rating is obtained by multiplying 

each customer's assigned internal rating by its credit exposure and 

then adding the individual results for all counterparties. That total is 

divided by the aggregate total exposure. This numeric value is 

converted to an S&P equivalent. 

Sequent has established credit policies to determine and 

monitor the creditworthiness of counterparties, including require­

ments for posting of collateral or other credit security as well as the 

quality of pledged collateral. Collateral or credit security is most often 

in the form of cash or letters of credit from an investment-grade 

financial institution, but may also include cash or U.S. Government 

Securities held by a trustee. When Sequent is engaged in more than 

one outstanding derivative transaction with the same counterparty 

and it also has a legally enforceable netting agreement with that 

counterparty the "net" mark-to-market exposure represents the 

netting of the positive and negative exposures with that counterparty 

and a reasonable measure of Sequent's credit risk. Sequent also 

uses other netting agreements with certain counterparties with which 

it conducts significant transactions. 
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Note 3 Employee Benefit Plans 

Oversight of Plans 

The Retirement Plan Investment Committee (the Committee) 

appointed by our Board of Directors is responsible for overseeing the 

investments of the retirement plans. Further, we have an Investment 

Policy (the Policy) for the retirement and postretirement benefit plans 

that aims to preserve these plans' capital and maximize investment 

earnings in excess of inflation within acceptable levels of capital 

market volatility To accomplish this goal, the retirement and 

postretirement benefit plans' assets are actively managed to optimize 

long-term return while maintaining a high standard of portfolio quality 

and proper diversification. 

The Policy's risk management strategy establishes a maximum 

tolerance for risk in terms of volatility to be measured at 75% of the 

volafility experienced by the S&P 500. We will continue to diversify 

retirement plan investments to minimize the risk of large losses in a 

single asset class. The Policy's permissible investments include 

domestic and international equities (including convertible securities 

and mutual funds), domestic and international fixed income 

(corporate and U.S. government obligations), cash and cash 

equivalents and other suitable investments. The asset mix of these 

permissible investments is maintained within the Policy's target 

allocations as included in the preceding tables, but the Committee 

can vary allocations between various classes or investment 

managers in order to improve investment results. 

Equity market performance and corporate bond rates have a 

significant effect on our reported unfunded ABO, as the primary 

factors that drive the value of our unfunded ABO are the assumed 

discount rate and the actual return on plan assets. Additionally 

equity market performance has a significant effect on our market-

related value of plan assets (MRVPA). which is a calculated value 

and differs from the actual market value of plan assets. The MRVPA 

recognizes the difference between the actual market value and 

expected market value of our plan assets and is determined by our 

actuaries using a five-year moving weighted average methodology. 

Gains and losses on plan assets are spread through the MRVPA 

based on the five-year rnoving weighted average methodology 

which affects the expected return on plan assets component of 

pension expense. 

Pens ion Benef i ts 

We sponsor two tax-qualified defined benefit retirement plans for 

our eligible employees, the AGL Resources Inc. Retirement Plan 

(AGL Retiretneni Plan) and the Employees' Retirement Plan of NUI 

Corporation (NUI Retirement Plan). A defined benefit plan specifies 

the amount of benefits an eligible participant eventually will receive 

using information about the participant. 

We generally calculate the benefits under the AGL Retirement 

Plan based on age. years of service and pay. The benefit formula for 

the AGL Retirement Plan is a career average earnings formula, 

except for participants who were employees as of July 1, 2000, and 

who were at least 50 years of age as of that date. For those partici­

pants, we use a final average earnings benefit formula, and will 

continue to use this benefit formula for such participants until June 

2010, at which time any of those participants who are still active will 

accrue future benefits under the career average earnings formula. 

The NUI Retirement Plan covers substantially all of NUI's 

employees who were employed on or before December 31, 2006, 

except Florida City Gas union employees, who until February 2008 

participated in a union-sponsored multiemployer plan. Pension 

benefits-are based on years of credited service and final average 

compensation. 

Pos t re t i rement Benef i ts 

We sponsor a defined benefit postretirement health care plan for our 

eligible employees, the Health and Welfare Plan for Retirees and 

Inactive Employees of AGL Resources Inc. (AGL Postrefirement Plan). 

Eligibility for these benefits is based on age and years of service. 

The AGL Postrefirement Plan covers all eligible AGL Resources 

employees who were employed as of June 30, 2002, if they reach 

retirement age while working for us. The state regulatory commis­

sions have approved phase-ins that defer a portion of other 

postretirement benefits expense for future recovery We recorded a 

regulatory asset for these future recoveries of $11 million as of 

December 31. 2008 and $12 million as of December 31. 2007. In 

addition, we recorded a regulatory liability of $5 million as of 

December 31. 2008 and $4 million as of December 31. 2007 for our 

expected expenses under the AGL Postrefirement Plan. We expect 

to pay $7 million of insurance claims for the postretirement plan in 

2009, but we do not anficipate making any additional contributions. 

Efl'ective December 8, 2003, the Medicare Prescription Drug, 

Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003 was signed into law. 

This act provides for a prescription drug benefit under Medicare 

(Part D) as well as a federal subsidy to sponsors of retiree health 

care benefit plans that provide a benefit that is at least actuarially 

equivalent to Medicare Part D. 

Medicare-eligible participants receive prescription drug benefits 

through a Medicare Part D plan ofi'ered by a third party and to which 

we subsidize participant premiums. Medicare-eligible retirees who 

opt out of the AGL Postretirement Plan are eligible to receive a 

cash subsidy which may be used towards eligible prescription 

drug expenses. 

SFAS 158 In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS 158, 

which we adopted prospecfively on December 31, 2007. SEAS 158 

requires that we recognize all obligations related to defined benefit 

pensions and other postretirement benefits. This statement requires 
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that we quantify the plans' funding status as an asset or a liability on our consolidated balance sheets. SEAS 158 further requires that we 

measure the plans* assets and obligations that determine our funded status as of the end of the fiscal year We are also required to recognize 

as a component of OCI the changes in funded status that occurred during the year that are not recognized as part of net periodic benefit cost 

as explained in SFAS 87. or SFAS 106. 

Based on the funded status of our defined benefit pension and postretirement benefit plans as of December 31. 2008, we reported an after­

tax loss to our OCI of $111 million, a net increase of $184 million to accrued pension and postretirement obllgafions and a decrease of $73 million 

to accumulated deferred income taxes. Our adoption of SFAS 158 on December 31, 2007, had no impact on our earnings. 

Con t r ibu t ions 

Our employees do not contribute to the retirement plans. Additionally we annually fund our postretirement plan; however, our refirees contribute 

20% of medical premiums, 50% of the medical premium for spousal coverage and 100% of the dental premium to the AGL Postretirement Plan. 

We fund the plans by contributing at least the minimum amount required by applicable regulations and as recommended by our actuary. 

However, we may also contribute in excess of the minimum required amount. We calculate the minimum amount of funding using the projected 

unit credit cost method. 

The Pension Protection Act (the Act) of 2006 contained new funding requirements for single employer defined benefit pension plans. The 

Act establishes a 100% funding target for plan years beginning after December 31, 2008. However, a delayed effective date of 2011 may apply 

if the pension plan meets the following targets; 92% funded in 2008; 94% funded in 2009; and 96% funded in 2010. In December 2008, the 

Worker, Retiree and Employer Recovery Act of 2008 allowed us to measure our 2008 and 2009 funding target at 92%. In 2008 and 2007. we 

did fiot make contributions as one was not required for our pension plans. For more information on our 2009 contributions to our pension 

plans, see Note 7. 

The following tables present details about our pension and postretirement plans. 

Dollars in millions 

Change in benefit obligation 

Benefit obligation. January 1, 

Service cost 

Interest cost 

Actuarial loss (gain) 

Benefits paid 

Benefit obligation, December 31, 

Change In plan assets 

Fair value of plan assets, January 1. 

Actual (loss) gain on plan assets 

Employer contribution 

Benefits paid 

AGL Retirement Plan 

2008 

$353 
7 

22 

9 
(21) 

$370 

$313 

(93) 

1 

(21) 

2007 

$368 
7 

21 

(23) 

(20) 

$353 

$303 

30 

— 
(20) 

NUI Retirement Plan 

2008 

$74 

_ 
4 

— 
(6) 

$72 

$70 

(22) 

_ 
(6) 

2007 

$86 

— 
5 

(9) 

(8) 
$74 

$72 

6 

— 
(8) 

AGL Posirotiromcnl Plan 

2008 

$94 

-
6 

(1) 
(4) 

$95 

$70 

(21) 
4 

(4) 

2007 

$95 
1 

6 

— 
(8) 

$94 

$63 

7 

8 

(8) 
Fair value of plan assets. December 31, $200 $313 $42 $70 $49 $70 

Amounts recognized in the 

consolidated balance sheets 

consist of 

Current liability 

Long-term liability 

Total liability at December 31, 

$ (1) 
(169) 

0) 
(39) 

$(170) $(40) 

(30) (4) 
$(30) (4) 

$ -
(46) 

$(46) 

(24) 

$(24) 

Assumptions used to determine 

benefit obligations 

Discount rate 

Rate of compensation increase 
6.2% 
3.7% 

6.4% 

3.7% 

6.2% 6.4% 

3.7% 

6.2% 

3.7% 
6.4% 

3.7% 
Accumulated benefit obligation $352 $337 $ 7 3 $74 N/A N/A 
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The components of our pension and postretirement benefit costs are set forth in the following table. 

Dollars in riiillions 

Net benefit cost 

Seivice cost 

Interest cost 
Expected return on plan assets 

Net amortization 

Recognized actuarial loss 

Net annual pension cost 

Assumptions used to 

determine benefit costs 

Discount rate 
Expected return on plan assets 

Rate of compensation increase 

AGL l^etirement Plan 

2008 

$ 7 
22 

(26) 

(1) 
3 

$ 5 

6.4% 

9.0% 

3.7% 

2007 

$ ? 
21 

(25) 

(1) 
7 

$ 9 

5.8% 

9.0% 
3.7% 

2005 

$ 7 

20 
(24) 

(1) 
9 

$11 

5.5% 

8.8% 

4.0% 

NUI Retirement Plan 

2008 

$ -
4 

(6) 

(1) 
— 

${3) 

6.4% 

9.0% 

-

2007 

$ -
5 

(6) 

(1) 
— 

$(2) 

5.8% 

9.0% 

— 

2006 

$ -
5 

(7) 

(1) 
— 

$(3) 

5.5% 

8.8% 

— 

AGL Postretiremen! Plan 

2008 

$ -
6 

(6) 

(4) 
1 

$(3) 

6.4% 

9.0% 

3.7% 

2007 

%̂  
6 

(5) 

(4) 
1 

$(1) 

5.8% 

9.0% 

3.7% 

2006 

$1 
5 

(4) 

(4) 
1 

$(1) 

5.5% 

8.5% 

4.0% 

There were no other changes in plan assets and benefit obligations recognized for our refirement and postretirement plans for the year ended 

December 31, 2008.The 2009 estimated OCI amortization and expected refunds for these plans are set forth in the following table. 

AGL Retirement Plan NUI Retirement Plan AGL Postretirement Plan 

Amortization of prior service cost 

Amortization of net loss 

Reftmds expected _ ^ 

$(1) 
14 

$(1) 

1 
$(4) 

2 

We consider a number of factors in determining and selecting assumptions for the overall expected long-term rate of return on plan assets. 

We consider the historical long-term return experience of our assets, the current and expected allocation of our plan assets, and expected long-

term rates of return. We derive these expected long-term rates of return with the assistance of our investment advisors and generally base these 

rates on a 10-year horizon for various asset classes, our expected investments of plan assets and active asset management as opposed to 

Investment in a passive index fund. We base our expected allocation of plan assets on a diversified portfolio consisting of domestic and 

international equity securities, fixed income, real estate, private equity securities and alternative asset classes. 

We consider a variety of factors in determining and selecting our assumptions for the discount rate at December 31. We consider certain 

market indices, including Moody's Corporate AA long-term bond rate, the Citigroup Pension Liability rate, a single equivalent discount rate 

derived with the assistance of our actuaries and our own payment stream based on these indices to develop our rate. Consequently we 

selected a discount rate of 6.2% as of December 31, 2008, following our review of these various factors. Our actual retirement and postretirement 

plans' weighted average asset allocations at December 31, 2008 and 2007 and our target asset allocation ranges are as follows: 

Equity 
Fixed income 

Real estate and other 

Cash 

Target Range 

Asset Allocation 

30% - 95% 

10%-40% 

10%-35% 

0 % - 1 0 % 

AGL Retirement Plan 

2008 

63% 

30% 

6% 

1 % 

2007 

68% 

25% 

3% 
4% 

NUI Retirement Plan 

2008 

63% 

32% 

-
5% 

2007 

71% 

27% 

2% 

— 

AGL Postretirement Plan 

2008 

70% 

28% 

-
2% 

2007 

73% 

26% 

— 
1 % 

Oui health care trend rate for the AGL Postretirement Plan is capped at 2.5%. This cap limits the increase in our contributions to the annual 

change in the consumer price index (CPl). An annual CPl rate of 2.5% was assumed for future years. Assumed health care cost trend rates impact 

the amounts reported for our health care plans. A one-percentage-point change in the assumed health care cost trend rates would have the 

following effects for the AGL Postretirement Plan. 

AGL Postretirement Plan 

One- Percentage- Point 

Increase Decrease 

Effect on total of service and interest cost 

Effect on accumulated postretirement benefit obligation 
$ -

(3) 
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The following table presents expected benefit payments for the 

years ended December 31, 2009 through 2018 for our retirement 

and postretirement plans. There will be benefit payments under 

these plans beyond 2018. 

AGL Resources Inc. 2008 Annual Report 

The following table presents the amounts not yet refiected in 

net periodic benefit cost and included in accumulated OCI as of 

December 31. 2008. 

(in millions) 

2009 

2010 

2011 

2012 

2013 

2014-2013 

Total 

AGL 

Retirement Plan 

$ 20 

20 

21 

21 

21 

116 

$219 

NUI 

Retirement Ptat\ 

$ 6 

6 

6 

6 

6 

28 

$58 

AGL 

Postretirement Plan 

$ 7 

7 

7 

7 

7 

35 

$70 

In millions 

Prior service credit 

Net loss 

Accumulated OCI 

Net amount 

recognized in 

consolidated 

balance sheet 
Prepaid (accrued) 

cumulative employer 

contributions in 

excess of net 

periodic benefit cost 

Retirement Ran 

$ (7) 
195 

188 

(170) 

$ 18 

Retirement Plan 

$(12) 
21 

9 

(30) 

$(21) 

Postretirement Plan 

$(17) 
39 

22 

(46) 

$(24) 

There were no other changes in plan assets and benefit 

obligations recognized in our retirement and postretirement plans 

for the year ended December 31, 2008. 

Emp loyee Sav ings Plan Benef i t s 

We sponsor the Retirement Savings Plus Plan (RSP). a defined 

contribution benefit plan that allows eligible participants to make 

contributions to their accounts up to specified limits. Under the RSP. 

we made matching contributions to participant accounts of 

$6 million in 2008, 2007 and 2006. 
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Note 4 Stock-based and Other Incentive Compensation Plans and Agreements 

General 

We currently sponsor the following stock-based and other incentive compensation plans and agreements: 

Shares issuable 

upon exercise of 

outstanding stock 

options and/or 

SARsi" 

280,200 

Shares issuable 

anrf/or SARs 

available for 

issuanco"* 

4.561,386 2007 Omnibus Performance 

Incentive Plan 

Long-Term Incentive Plan (1999)'" 

Officer Incentive Plan 

2006 Non-Employee Directors 

Equity Compensafion Plan 

1996 Non-Employee Directors 

Equity Compensation Plan 

Employee Stock Purchase Plan 

2.221.407 

76,224 

not 

applicable 

42,924 

not 

applicable 

Grants of incentive and nonqualified stock 

options, stock appreciation rights (SARs), shares of 

restricted stock, restricted stock units and 

peri"ormance cash awards to key employees. 

— Grants of incentive and nonqualified stock options, 

shares of restricted stock and performance units to 

key employees. 

211.409 Grants of nonqualified stock options and shares of 

restricted stock to new-hire officers. 

173,433 Grants of stock to non-employee directors in 

connection with non-employee director 

compensation (for annual retainer, chair retainer 

and for initial election or appointment). 

13,304 Grants of nonqualified stock options and stock to 

non-employee directors in connection with non-

employee director compensation (for annual 

retainer and for initial election or appointment). 

The plan was amended in 2002 to eliminate the 

granting of stock options. 

321.912 Nonqualified, broad-based employee stock 

purchase plan for eligible employees 
' "Aso lDocombc r31 .2008 

''' rollowing sharcholcfer approval of the Omnibus Performance Incentive Plan, no further grants will be made except for reload optbns that may bo granted under the plan's outstanding options. 
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A c c o u n t i n g Treatment and Compensa t i on Expense 

Effective January 1, 2006, we adopted SFAS 123R, using the modi­

fied prospective application transition method. Prior to January 1, 

2006. we accounted for our share-based payment transactions in 

accordance with SEAS 123, as amended by SFAS 148. This allowed 

us to rely on APB 25 and related interpretafions in accounting for our 

stock-based compensation plans under the intrinsic value method. 

SFAS 123R requires us to measure and recognize stock-based 

compensation expense in our financial statements based on the 

estimated fair value at the date of grant for our stock-based awards, 

which include: 

• stock options 

• stock awards, and 

• performance units (restricted stock units and performance 

cash units) 

Performance-based stock awards and performance units 

contain market conditions. Stock options, restricted stock awards 

and performance units also contain a service condition. In 

accordance with SEAS 123R, we recognize compensation expense 

over tho requisite service period for: 

• awards granted on or after January 1, 2006 and 

• unvested awards previously granted and outstanding as of 

January 1, 2006 

In addition, wo estimate forfeitures over the requisite service 

period when recognizing compensation expense. These estimates 

are adjusted to the extent that actual forfeitures differ, or are 

expected to materially differ, from such estimates. 

The following table provides additional information on compen­

sation costs and income tax benefits related to our stock-based 

compensation awards. We recorded these amounts in our 

consolidated statements of income for the years ended 

December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006. 

Prior to our adoption of SFAS 123R, benefits of tax deducfions 

in excess of recognized compensation costs were reported as 

operating cash fiows. SFAS 123R requires excess tax benefits to be 

reported as a financing cash inflow rather than as a reduction of 

taxes paid. In 2007 and 2006, our cash flows from financing 

activities included an immaterial amount for recognized com­

pensation costs in excess of the benefits of tax deductions. In 

2008, we included $2 million of such benefits in cash flow provided 

by operating activities. 

Incent ive and Nonqual i f ied S tock Opt ions 

We grant incentive and nonqualified stock options with a strike price 

equal to the fair market value on the date of the grant, "Fair market 

value" is defined under the terms of the applicable plans as the most 

recent closing price per share of AGL Resources common stock as 

reported in The Wall Street Journal. Stock options generally have a 

three-year vesting period. Nonqualified options generally expire 

10 years after the date of grant. Participants realize value from option 

grants only to the extent that the fair market value of our common 

stock on the date of exercise of the option exceeds the fair market 

value of the common stock on the date of the grant. Compensation 

expense associated with stock options is generally recorded over 

the option vesting period; however, for unvested options that are 

granted to employees who are retirement-eligible, the remaining 

compensation expense is recorded in the current period rather than 

over the remaining vesting period. 

As of December 31, 2008, we had $2 million of total unrecog­

nized compensation costs related to stock options. These costs 

are expected to be recognized over the remaining average requisite 

senyice period of approximately 2 years. Cash received from stock 

opfion exercises for 2008 was $5 million, and the income tax benefit 

from stock option exercises was $1 million. 

In millions 

Compensation costs 

Income tax benefits 

$10 

1 

2007 

$9 

3 

2006 

$9 
3 
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The following tables summarize activity related to stock options for key employees and non-employee directors. 

s t o c k Opt ions 

Outstanding - December 31, 2005 

Granted 

Exercised 
Forfeited'" 

Outstanding ~ December 31, 2006 

Granted 

Exercised 

Forfeited'" 

Outstanding - December 31, 2007 

Granted 

Exercised 

Forfeited 

Outstanding - December 31 , 2008 

Exercisable - December 31 , 2008 
'" Includes -1.226 shares which expired in 2008, none in 2007 and -552 in 2006. 

Unvested Stock Opt ions 

Outstanding - December 31, 2007 

Granted 

Forfeited 

Vested 

Outstanding - December 31, 2008 

Number 

of options 

2,221,245 

914,216 

(543,557) 
(266,418) 

2,325,486 

735,196 

(361.385) 

(181,799) 

2,517,498 

258,017 

(212,600) 

(86,926) 

2,475,989 
1,447,508 

Number of 

unvested options 

1,414,962 

258,017 

(51,497) 

(593,001) 

1,028,481 

V/eighted average 

exercise price 

$27.79 

35.81 

24.69 
34.93 

$30.85 

39.11 

27.78 

36.75 

$33.28 

38.70 

23.53 

38.01 
$34.52 

$32.18 

Weighted average 

exercise price 

$37.02 

38.70 

38.68 

36.26 

$37.80 

Weighted average 

remaining life (in years) 

7.1 

8.5 

2.1 :z 
8.5 it 
6.7 

5.9 

Weighted average remaining 

vesting period (in years) 

1.6 

2.0 

2.2 

— 
1.1 

Aggregate intrinsic 

value (in millions) 

$3 

$3 

Weighted average 

fair value 

$4.82 

2.64 
4.39 

4,77 

$4.33 

Information about outstanding and exercisable options as of December 31, 2008, is as follows. 

Range of Exercise Prices 

$16.25 to $20.79 
$20.80 to $25.34 

$25.35 to $29.89 

$29.90 to $34.44 

$34.45 to $38.99 

$39.00 to $43.54 

Outstanding - Dec. 31 , 2008 

Number 

of options 

27.274 

173,326 

233,157 

406,701 

1,388,835 

246,696 
2,475,989 

options outstanding 

Weighted average remaining 

contractual life On years) 

1.5 

3.1 

4.4 

6.0 

7.5 

8.8 

6.7 

Weighted average 

exercise price 

$19.53 

21.82 

27.07 

33.21 

37.15 

39.43 

$34.52 

options 

Numtcr 

of options 

27,274 

173,326 

233,157 

406,701 

587,250 

19,800 

1,447,508 

Exercisable 

Weighted average 

exorcise price 

$19.53 

21.82 

27.07 

33.21 

36.83 

41.20 

$32.18 
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Summarized below are outstanding options that are fully 

exercisable. 

Exercisable at: 

December 31, 2006 

December 31, 2007 
December 31, 2008 

Mumber of options 

1,013,672 

1.102,536 
1,447,508 

Weighted average 

exercise price 

$25.45 

$28.48 
$32.18 

In accordance with the fair value method of determining compen­

sation expense, we use the Black-Scholes pricing model. Below are 

the ranges for per share value and information about the underlying 

assumptions used in developing the grant date value for each of the 

grants made during 2008, 2007 and 2006. 

7 

)'" 2.93-3.31 

12.8-13.0 

4.3-4.84 

$0.19-$2.69 

7 

3.87^5.05 

13.2-14.3 

3.8-4.2 

$3.55-$5.98 

7 

4.5-5.1 

14.2-15.9 

3.7-4.2 

$4.55-$6,18 

Expected life (years) 

Risk-frcG interest rate %'" 

Expected volatility %'" 

Dividend yield %'" 

Fair value of 

options granted'" _ 
'" u s Treasury constant maturity - 7 years. 

''' Volatility is measured over 7 years, the expected life of 1I10 options: vjcighted average volatility % for 

2008 was 13.0%. 2007 was 14.2% and 2006 v/as 15.8%. 

'"Weighted average dividend yields for 2008 v^as 4.3%. 2007 was '1.2% and 2005 was 4 . 1 % 

"' Represents pet share value. 

Intrinsic value for options is defined as the difference between 

the current market value and the grant price. Total inthnsic value of 

options exercised during 2008 was $2 million. With the implemen­

tation of our share repurchase program in 2006, we use shares 

purchased under this program to satisfy share-based exercises to 

the extent that repurchased shares are available. Otherwise, we 

issue new shares from our authorized common stock. 

Restricted Stock Units In general, a restricted stock unit is an 

award that represents the opportunity to receive a specified number 

of shares of our common stock, subject to the achievement of 

certain pre-established performance criteria. In 2008, we granted 

to a select group a total of 206,700 restricted stock units (the 2008 

restricted stock units), of which 196,100 of these units were 

outstanding as of December 31, 2008. These restricted stock units 

had a performance measurement period that ended December 31, 

2008, and a performance measure related to a basic earnings per 

share goal that was met. 

Performance Cash Units In general, a performance cash unit is 

an award that represents the opportunity to receive a cash award, 

subject to the achievement of certain pre-established performance 

criteria. In 2008, we granted performance cash awards to a select 

group of officers. These awards have a performance measure that 

is related to annual grov r̂th in basic earnings per share, plus the 

average dividend yield, as adjusted to reflect the effect of economic 

value created during the performance measurement period by our 

wholesale services segment. In 2008, the basic earnings per share 

growth target was not achieved with respect to the 2007 awards. 

Accruals in connection with these grants are as follows: 

Dollars in 

millions 

Year of grant 

2006'" 

2007 

2008 

Units 

15 

23 
3 

Measurement 

period end 

dew 

Dec. 31,2008 

Dec. 31,2009 
Dec. 31 , 2010 

Accrued ai 

Dec. 31. 

2008 

$1 

— 
1 

Maximum 

aggregate 

payout 

• $2 

3 
2 

' " In Ecbruary 2009, the 2006 performance cash units vested and resulted in an aggregate payout 

of $1 million. 

Stock and Rest r ic ted S tock Awards 

Per fo rmance Uni ts 

in general, a performance unit is an award of the right to receive 

(i) an equal number of shares of our common stock, which we refer 

to as a restricted stock unit or (ii) cash, subject to the achievement 

of certain pre-established performance criteria, which we refer to as 

a performance cash unit. Performance units are subject to certain 

transfer restrictions and forfeiture upon termination of employment. 

The dollar value of restricted stock unit awards is equal to the grant 

date fair value of the awards, over the requisite service period, 

determified pursuant to EAS 123R. The dollar value of performance 

cash unit awards is equal to the grant date fair value of the awards 

measured against progress towards the performance measure, over 

the requisite service period, determined pursuant to FAS 123R. No 

other assumptions are used to value these awards. 

In general, we refer to a stock award as an award of our common 

stock that is 100% vested and not forfeitable as of the dale of grant. 

We refer to restricted stock as an award of our common stock that 

is subject to time-based vesting or achievement of performance 

measures. Restricted stock awards are subject to certain transfer 

restrictions and forfeiture upon termination of employment. The 

dollar value of both stock awards and restricted stock awards are 

equal to the grant date fair value of the awards, over the requisite 

service period, determined pursuant to FAS 123R. No other 

assumptions are used to value the awards. 

Stock Awards — Non-Employee Directors Non-employee 

director compensation may be paid in shares of our common stock 

in connection with initial election, the annual retainer, and chair 

retainers, as applicable. Stock awards for non-employee directors 

are 100% vested and nonforfeitable as of the date of grant. The 
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following table summarizes activity during 2008, related to stock 

awards for our non-employee directors, 

Restricted Stock Awards 

Issued 

Forfeited 

Vested 

Outstanding 

Shares of 

restricted stock 

15,674 

— 
15,674 

— 

Weighted average 

fair value 

$35.05 

— 
$35.05 

— 

Restricted Stock Awards — Employees From time to time, we 

may give restricted stock awards to our key employees. The follow­

ing table sumfTiarizes activity during the year ended December 31, 

2008, related to restricted stock awards for our key employees. 

Shares of 

(OSlrictCd Stock riestrictcd Stock Awards 

Outstanding -

December 31. 2007'" 349,036 

Issued 28,024 

Forfeited (6,483) 

Vested (70,199) 

Outstanding -

December 31, 2008"' 300,378 

WeighKd average 

remaining vesting 

period (in years) 

Weighted 

average 

fair value 

2.1 $38.15 
0.6 

1.2 

35.63 

38.43 

36.75 

1.3 $37.87 
'" Subject 10 rosirfction 

Employee S tock Purchase Plan (ESPP) 

Under the ESPP. employees may purchase shares of our common 

stock in quarterly intervals at 85% of fair market value. Employee 

contributions under the ESPP may not exceed $25,000 per 

employee during any calendar year. 

2007 2006 

Shares purchased on 

the open market 66,247 52,299 45.361 

Average per-share 

purchase price $ 33.22 $ 34.69 $ 31.40 

Puirhase price discount $326,615 $313.584 $252,752 

Note 5 Common Shareholders' Equity 

Treasury Shares 

Our Board of Directors has authorized us to purchase up to 8 million 

treasury shares through our repurchase plans. These plans are used 

to offset shares issued under our employee and non-employee 

director incentive compensation plans and our dividend reinvest­

ment and stock purchase plans. Stock purchases under these plans 

may be made in the open market or in private transactions at times 

and in amounts that we deem appropriate. There is no guarantee as 

to the exact number of shares that we will purchase, and we can 

terminate or limit the program at any time. We will hold the 

purchased shares as treasury shares and account for them using the 

cost method. As of December 31, 2008 we had 5 million remaining 

authorized shares available for purchase. The following table 

provides more information on our treasury share activity 

In millions. 

except per share amounts 

2006 
2007 

2008 

Total amount 

purchased 

$38 

80 

-

Shares 

purchased 

1 

2 

-

Weighted average 

price per share 

$36.67 

39.56 
— 

Div idends 

Our common shareholders may receive dividends when declared at 

the discretion of our Board of Directors. Dividends may be paid in 

cash, stock or other form of payment, and payment of future 

dividends will depend on our future earnings, cash flow, financial 

requirements and other factors. Additionally we derive a substantial 

portion of our consolidated assets, earnings and cash flow from the 

operation of regulated utility subsidiaries, whose legal authority to 

pay dividends or make other distributions to us is subject to 

regulation. As with most other companies, the payment of dividends 

are restricted by laws in the states where we do business. In certain 

cases, our ability to pay dividends to our common shareholders is 

limited by the following: 

our ability to pay our debts as they become due in the usual course 

of business, satisfy our obligations under certain financing 

agreements, including debt-to-capitalization covenants 

our total assets are less than our total liabilities, and 

our ability to satisfy our obligations to any preferred shareholders 
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Note 6 Debt 

Our issuance of various securities, including long-term and short-term debt, is subject to customary approval or authorization by state and federal 

regulatory bodies, including state public service commissions, the SEC and the FERC as granted by the Energy Policy Act of 2005. The following 

table provides more information on our various securities. 

Year(s) due 

Weighted average 

Interest rate'^ 

Outstanding as of: 

December 3 1 . 

2008 2007 

Short-term debt 

Credit Facilities 

Commercial paper 
SouthStar tine of credit 

Sequent lines of credit 

Capital leases 

Pivotal Utility line of credit 

Total short-term debt 

Long-term debt - net of current portion 

Senior notes 

Gas facility revenue bonds 

Medium-term notes 

Capital leases 

AGL Capital interest rate swaps 
Total long-term debt 

Total debt 

2011 

2022 

2012 

2009 

2009 

2009 

2009 

2009 

-2034 

-2033 
-2027 

2013 

0.8% 

2.2 

1.1 

0.9 

4.9 

1.3% 

4.5-7.1% 

0.7-5.3 

6,6-9.1 

4.9 

— 
5.6% 
4.1% 

2.9% 

3.6 

2.9 

2.3 

4.9 

3.3% 

5.9% 

3.2 

7,8 

4.9 

__ 
5.7% 
5.2% 

$ 500 

273 

75 

17 

1 

$ 866 

$1,275 

200 

196 

4 

— 
$1,675 
$2,541 

$ -
566 

1 

1 

12 

$ 580 

$1,275 

200 

196 

6 

(2) 
$1,675 

$2,255 
" 'Aso f December 31. 2003. 

i ' 'ror the year ended Decemhcr 31. 2008. 

Shor t - te rm Debt 

Our short-term debt at December 31, 2008 and 2007 was com­

posed of borrowings under our commercial paper program; Credit 

Facilities; current portions of our capital lease obligations; and lines 

of credit for Sequent. SouthStar and Pivotal Utility. 

Commercial Paper and Credit Facilities Our commercial paper 

consists of sltort-term, unsecured promissory notes with maturities 

ranging frorn 2 to 16 days. These unsecured promissory notes are 

supported by our $1 billion Credit Facility which expires in August 

2011 and a supplemental $140 million Credit Facility that expires in 

September 2009. We have the option to request an increase in the 

aggregate phncipal amount available for borrowing under the 

$1 billion Credit Facility to $1.25 billion on not more than three 

occasions durifig each calendar year. The $140 million Credit Facility 

allows for the option to request an increase in the borrowing capacity 

to $150 million. 

Several of our subsidiaries, including SouthStar participate in 

our commercial paper program. As of December 31, 2008, we had 

$273 million of commercial paper borrowings and $500 million 

outstanding under the Credit Facilities. As of December 31. 2007. 

we did not have any amounts outstanding under the Credit Facilities. 

SouthStar Credit Facility SouthStar's five-year $75 million 

unsecured credit facility expires in November 2011. SouthStar will 

use this line of credit for working capital and its general corporate 

needs. We had $75 million of outstanding borrowings on this line of 

credit at December 31, 2008. At December 31. 2007. there were no 

outstanding borrowings on this line of credit. We do not guarantee 

or provide any other form of secuhty for the repayment of this 

credit facility. 

Sequent Lines of Credit In June 2008. we extended Sequent's 

$25 million unsecured line of credit to June 2009. which bears 

interest at the federal funds effective rate plus 0.75%. In September 

2008, Sequent extended its second $20 million line of credit that 

bears interest at the LIBOR rate plus 1.0% to September 2009. In 

December 2008 the terms of this line of credit were amended to 

$5 million bearing interest at the LIBOR Rate plus 3.0%. Both lines 

of credit are used solely for the posting of margin deposits for 

NYMEX transactions and are unconditionally guaranteed by us. 

Pivotal Utility Line of Credit This $20 million line of credit, which 

had been established to support Elizabethtown Gas' hedging 

program, was terminated in October 2008. For more information on 

this hedging program, see Note 2. 
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Long-term Debt 

Our long-term debt at December 31, 2008 and 2007 matures more 

than one year from the balance sheet date and consists of medium-

term notes: Series A, Series B and Series C, which we issued under 

an indenture dated December 1, 1989; senior notes; gas facility 

revenue bonds; and capital leases. Our annual maturities of long-

term debt, excluding capital leases of $4 million, are as follows: 

Year Ameunl Qn millions) 

2011 $ 300 

2012 15 

2013 225 

2015 200 

2016 300 

2017 22 

2021 30 

2022 93 

2024 20 

2026 69 

2027 53 

2032 55 

2033 39 

2034 250 

Total ;i.67i 

Medium-term notes The following table provides more informa­

tion on our medium-term notes, which were issued to refinance 

portions of our existing short-term debt and for general corporate 

purposes. Our annual matuhties of our medium-term notes are 

as follows: 

issue Date 

June 1992 

June 1992 

June 1992 

July 1997 
Feb. 1991 

April 1992 
April 1992 

AphI 1992 

May 1992 

Nov. 1996 

July 1997 

Total 

Amount (in millions) 

$ 5 

5 

5 

22 

30 

5 

25 

6 

10 

30 

53 

$196 

Interest rate 

8.4% 

8.3 

8.3 

7.2 

9.1 

8.55 
8.7 

8.55 

8.55 

6.55 

7.3 

Ivlaturity 

June 2012 

June 2012 

July 2012 

July 2017 

Feb. 2021 

April 2022 
April 2022 

April 2022 

May 2022 

Nov. 2026 

July 2027 

Senior Notes The following table provides more information on 

our senior notes, which were issued to refinance portions of our 

existing short-term and long-term debt, to finance acquisitions and 

for general corporate purposes. 

Feb. 2001 

July 2003 

Dec. 2004 

June 2006 

Dec. 2007 

Sep. 2004 

Total 

Amount (in millions) 

$ 300 

225 

200 

175 

125 

250 

Interest rate 

7.125% 

4.45 

4.95 

6.375 

6,375 

6.0 

Maturity 

Jan 2011 
Apr 2013 

Jan 2015 

Jul 2016 

Jul 2016 
Oct 2034 

$1,275 

The trustee with respect to all of the above-referenced senior 
notes is The Bank of New York Trust Company N.A., pursuant to an 
indenture dated February 20. 2001. We fully and unconditionally 
guarantee all of our senior notes. 

Gas Facility Revenue Bonds Pivotal Utility is party to a series of 

loan agreements with the New Jersey Economic Development 

Authority (NJEDA) pursuant to which the NJEDA has issued a series 

of gas facility revenue bonds as shown in the following table. 

July 1994'" 

July 1994'" 

June 1992'" 

June 1992'" 

July 1997 

Total 

Amount {in millions) 

$ 47 

20 

39 

55 

39 

Interest rate 

0.70% 
1.10 

1.10 

0.85 

5.25 

Maturity 

Oct. 2022 

Oct. 2024 

June 2026 

June 2032 

Nov. 2033 

$200 
"Mntercst rate is adjusted daily or v^ookly. Rates inclicaied are as of December 31. 2008. 

In 2008, a portion of our gas facility revenue bonds failed to 

draw enough potential buyers due to the dislocation or disruption in 

the auction markets as a result of the downgrades to the bond 

insurers that provide credit protections for these instruments which 

reduced investor demand and liquidity for these types of invest­

ments. In March and April 2008, we tendered these bonds with a 

cumulative phncipal amount of $161 million through commercial 

paper borrowings. 

In June and September 2008. we completed a Letter of Credit 

Agreement for these bonds which provided additional credit support 

which increased investor demand for the bonds. As a result, these 

bonds with a cumulative principal amount of $161 million were 

successfully auctioned and issued as variable rate gas facility bonds 

and reduced our commercial paper borrowings. The bonds with 

principal amounts of $55 million, $47 million and $39 million now 

have interest rates that reset daily and the bond with a principal 

amount of $20 million has an interest rate that resets weekly There 

was no change to the maturity dates on these bonds. 
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Preferred Securities As of December 31, 2008, we had 10 million 

shares of authorized, unissued Class A junior participating preferred 

stock, no par value, and 10 million shares of authorized, unissued 

preferred stock, no par value. 

Our debt instruments and other financial obligations include 

provisions that, if not complied with, could require early payment, 

additional collateral support or similar actions. Our most important 

default events include: 

Capital Leases Our capital leases consist primahly of a sale/ 

leaseback transaction completed in 2002 by Florida City Gas related 

to its gas meters and other equipment and will be repaid at 

approximately $1 million per year until 2013. Pursuant to the terms 

of the lease agreement. Florida City Gas is required to insure the 

leased equipment during the lease term. In addition, at the expiration 

of the tease term, Flohda City Gas has the option to purchase the 

teased meters from the lessor at their fair market value. The fair 

market value of the equipment will be determined on the basis of an 

arm's-length transaction between an informed and willing buyer. 

Defau l t Events 

Our Credit Facilities' financial covenants requires us to maintain a 

ratio of total debt to total capitalization of no greater than 70%; 

however, our goal is to maintain this ratio at levels between 50% 

and 60%. Our ratio of total debt to total capitalization calculation 

contained in our debt covenant includes minohty interest, standby 

letters of credit, surety bonds and the exclusion of other 

comprehensive income pension adjustments. Adjusting for these 

items, our debt-to-equity calculation, as defined by our Credit 

Facilities, was 59% at December 31. 2008 and 58% at 

December 31. 2007. These amounts are within our required and 

targeted ranges. Our debt-to-equity calculation, as calculated from 

our consolidated balance sheets, was 61% at December 31, 2008 

and 58% at December 31, 2007. 

• a maximum leverage ratio 

• insolvency events and nonpayment of scheduled phncipal or 

interest payments 

• acceleration of other financial obligations 

• change of control provisions 

We have no trigger events in our debt instruments that are tied 

to changes in our specified credit ratings or our stock price and have 

not entered into any transaction that requires us to issue equity based 

on credit ratings or other trigger events. We are curtently in 

compliance with all existing debt provisions and covenants. 

Note 7 Commitments and Contingencies 

We have incurred various contractual obligations and financial 

commitments in the normal course of our operating and financing 

activities that are reasonably likely to have a material affect on liquidity 

or the availability of requirements for capital resources. Contractual 

obligations include future cash payments required under existing 

contractual arrangements, such as debt and tease agreements. 

These obligations may result from both general financing activities 

and from commercial arrangements that are directly supported by 

related revenue-producing activities. 
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As we do for other subsidiaries, we provide guarantees to certain gas suppliers for SouthStar in support of payment obligations. The following 

table illustrates our expected future contractual payments such as debt and lease agreements, and commitment and contingencies as of 

December 31, 2008. 

Total 

2010 

& 
2011 

Recorded contractual obligations: 

Long-term debt 
Short-term debt 

PRP costs'" 
Environmental remediation liabilities'" 

$1,675 

866 

189 

106 

866 

49 

17 

$302 

91 

41 

$242 

49 
38 

201-1 

& 
thereafter 

$1,131 

10 

Total $2,836 $932 $434 $329 $1,141 

Unrecorded contractual obligations and commitments: 

Pipeline charges, storage capacity and gas supply'" 

Interest charges'" 

Operating leases'' 

Standby letters of credit, performance/ surety bonds 

Asset management agreements"' 

Pension contributions'" 

Total 

$1,713 

975 

137 
52 

32 
7 

$491 

94 

30 
48 
12 

7 

$573 

168 

45 
3 

19 

$299 

137 

25 
1 

1 

$ 350 

576 
37 
— 
__ 

$2,916 $682 $463 $ 963 
'" Includes charges rotfoyerablo through rate rider mechanisms. 

'' 'In accordance with GAAP, those items are not reflected in our consolidated balance sheets. 

"* Charges recoverablC ihroucjh a natural gas cost recovery mechanism or alternatively billed to Marketers. Also includes demand charges associated with Sequent. A subsidiary of NUI entered into two 20-

yoar agreements for the firm transportation and storage of natural gas during 2003 with annual aggregate demand charges ol approximately S5 million. As a result of our acquisition of NUI and in accordance 

vjiih SFAS 141. we valued the contracts at fair value and established a long-term liability of S38 million for the excess liabiliiy that will be amortized to our consolidated statements of income ouer ihe remaining 

lives of the contracts of $2 million annually through November 2023 and SI million annually from Novemtx;r 2023 to November 2028. The gas supply amount includes SouthStar gas commodity purchase 

commitments of 15 Bcf at floating gas prices calculated using forward natural gas prices as of December 3 1 , 2008. and is valued at $85 million. 

'"Floating rate debt is based on the interest rate as of December 31. 2008 and the maturity of the underlying debl instrument. As of December 3 t . 2008. we have $35 million of accrued interest on our 

consolidated balance sheet that will be paid in 2009. 

i"^Wc have corwin operating leases with provisions for stop tent or escalation payments and certain lease concessions. We account for these leases by recognizing the future minimum lease payments on a 

straight-line basis over the respective minimum lease terms, in accordance v-̂ ith SFAS 13. However, this lease accounting treaiment docs not affect the future annual operating lease cash obligations as shown 

herein, 

•'"" Represent fixed-foe minimum payments for Sequent's affiliated asset management agrecmoms. 

'•' Based on the current funding status of the plans, VJC v;ould be required to make a minimum contribution to our pension plans of approximately S7 million in 2009. We may make additional contributbns in 

2009. 

Environmental Remediation Costs 

We are subject to federal, state and local laws and regulations 

governing environmental quality and pollution control. These laws 

and regulations require us to remove or remedy the effect on the 

environment of the disposal or release of specified substances at 

current and former operating sites. 

Atlanta Gas Light The presence of coal tar and certain other 

byproducts of a natural gas manufacturing process used to produce 

natural gas prior to the 1950s has been identified at or near 10 

former Atlanta Gas Light operating sites in Georgia and at 3 sites of 

predecessor companies in Florida. Atlanta Gas Light has active 

environmental remediation or monitoring programs in effect at 10 of 

these sites. Two sites in Flohda are currently in the investigation or 

preliminary engineering design phase, and one Georgia site has 

been deemed compliant with state standards. 

Atlanta Gas Light has customarily reported estimates of future 

remediation costs for these former sites based on probabilistic 

models of potential costs. These estimates are reported on an 

undlscounted basis. As cleanup options and plans mature and 

cleanup contracts are entered into, Atlanta Gas Light is better able 

to provide conventional engineering estimates of the likely costs of 

remediation at its former sites. These estimates contain various 

engineering uncertainties, but Atlanta Gas Light continuously 

attempts to refine and update these engineering estimates. 

Atlanta Gas Light's current estimate for the remaining cost of 

future actions at its former operating sites is $38 million, which may 

change depending on whether future measures for groundwater will 

be required. As of December 31, 2008, we have recorded a liability 

equal to the low end of the range of $38 million, of which $10 million 

is expected to be incurred over the next 12 months. 

These liabilities do not include other potential expenses, such 

as unasserted property damage claims, personal injury or natural 

resource damage claims, unbudgeted legal expenses or other costs 

for which Atlanta Gas Light may be held liable but for which it cannot 

reasonably estimate an amount. 
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The ERC liability is included as a corresponding regulatory asset, 

which Is a combination of accrued ERC and unrecovered cash 

expenditures for investigation and cleanup costs. Atlanta Gas Light 

has three ways of recovering investigation and cleanup costs. First, 

the Georgia Commission has approved an ERC recovery rider. The 

ERC recovery mechanism allows for recovery of expenditures over a 

five-year period subsequent to the period in which the expenditures 

are incurred. Atlanta Gas Light expects to collect $17 million in 

revenues over the next 12 months under the ERC recovery rider, 

which is reflected as a current asset. The amounts recovered from the 

ERC recovery rider during the last three years were: 

not believe costs associated with this site can be reasonably 

estimated, tn addition, there are as many as six other sites with which 

we had some association, although no basis for liability has been 

asserted, and accordingly we have not accrued any remediation 

liability. There are currently no cost recovery mechanisms for the 

environmental remediation sites in North Carolina. 

Rental Expense 

We incurred rental expense in the amounts of $21 million in 2008. 

$21 million in 2007 and $19 million in 2006. 

• $22 million in 2008 

• $26 million in 2007 

• $29 million in 2006 

The second way to recover costs is by exercising the legal 

rights Atlanta Gas Light believes it has to recover a share of its costs 

from other potentially responsible parties, typically former owners or 

operators of these sites. There were no material recoveries from 

potentially responsible parties duhng 2008, 2007 or 2006. 

The third way to recover costs is from the receipt of net profits 

from the sale of remediated property 

Elizabethtown Gas In New Jersey Elizabethtown Gas is currently 

conducting remediation activities with oversight from the New Jersey 

Department of Environmental Protection. Although we cannot 

estimate the actual total cost of future environmental investigation 

and remediation efforts with precision, based on probabilistic models 

simitar to those used at Atlanta Gas Light's former operating sites, 

the range of reasonably possible costs is $58 million to $116 million. 

As of December 31, 2008, we have recorded a liability equal to the 

low end of that range, or $58 million, of which $7 million in 

expenditures are expected to be incurred over the next 12 months. 

Prudently incurred remediation costs for the New Jersey 

properties have been authorized by the New Jersey Commission to 

be recoverable in rates through a remediation adjustment clause. 

As a result, Elizabethtown Gas has recorded a regulatory asset of 

approximately $66 million, inclusive of interest, as of December 31, 

2008. reflecting the future recovery of both incurred costs and 

accrued carrying charges. Elizabethtown Gas expects to collect 

approximately $1 million in revenues over the next 12 months. 

Elizabethtown Gas has also been successful in recovering a portion 

of remediation costs incurred in New Jersey from its insurance 

carriers and continues to pursue additional recovery 

We own a site in Elizabeth City, North Carolina that is subject 

to a remediation order by the North Carolina Department of Energy 

and Natural Resources. We had recorded liabilities of $10 million as 

of December 31, 2008 and $11 million as of December 31, 2007 

related to this site. 

There is one other site in North Carolina where investigation and 

remediation is iikely although no remediation ordet exists and we do 

Litigation 

We are involved in litigation arising in the normal course of business. 

We believe the ultimate resolution of such litigation will not have a 

material adverse effect on our consolidated financial position, results 

of operations or cash flows. 

In August 2006, the Office of Mineral Resources of the 

Louisiana DNR informed Jefferson Island that its mineral lease — 

which authorizes salt extraction to create two new storage caverns 

— at Lake Peigneur had been terminated. The Louisiana DNR 

identified two bases for the termination; (1) failure to make certain 

mining leasehold payments in a timely manner, and (2) the absence 

of salt mining operations for six months. 

In September 2006, Jefferson Island filed suit against the State 

of Louisiana, in the 19th Judicial District Court in Baton Rouge, to 

maintain its lease to complete an ongoing natural gas storage 

expansion project in Louisiana. The project would add two salt dome 

storage caverns under Lake Peigneur to the two caverns currently 

owned and operated by Jefferson Island. In its suit, Jefferson Island 

alleges that the Louisiana DNR accepted all leasehold payments 

without reservation and never provided Jefferson Island with notice 

and opportunity to cure, as required by state law. In its answer to the 

suit, the State denied that anyone with proper authority approved the 

late payments. As to the second basis for termination, the suit 

contends that Jefferson Island's lease with the State of Louisiana 

was amended in 2004 so that mining operations are no longer 

required to maintain the tease. The State's answer denies that the 

2004 amendment was property authonzed. tn fvlarch 2008, 

Jefferson Island served discovery requests on the State of Louisiana 

and sought a trial date in its pending lawsuit over its natural gas 

storage expansion project at Lake Peigneur. Jefferson Island also 

asserted additional claims against the State seeking to obtain a 

declaratory ruling that Jefferson Island's surface lease, under which 

it operates its existing two storage caverns, authorizes the creation 

of the two new expansion caverns separate and apart from the 

mineral lease challenged by the State. 

In addition, in June 2008, the State of Louisiana passed 

legislation restricting water usage from the Chicot aquifer, which is 

a main source of fresh water required for the expansion of our 

Jefferson Island capacity. We contend that this legislation is 
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unconstitutional and have sought to amend the pending litigation to 

seek a declaration that the legislation is invalid and cannot be 

enforced. Even if we are not successful on those grounds, we 

believe the legislation does not materially impact the feasibility of the 

expansion project, If we are unable to reach a settlement, we are 

not able to predict the outcome of the litigation. As of January 2009, 

our current estimate of costs incurred that would be considered 

unusable If the Louisiana DNR was successful in terminating our 

tease and causing us to cease the expansion project is 

approximately $6 million. 

In February 2008, the consumer affairs staff of the Georgia 

Commission alleged that GNG charged its customers on variable 

rate plans prices for natural gas that were in excess of the published 

price, that it failed to give proper notice regarding the availability of 

potentially lower price plans and that it changed its methodology for 

computing variable rates. GNG asserted that it fully complied with all 

applicable rules and regulations, that it property charged its 

customers on variable rate plans the rates on file with the Georgia 

Commission, and that, consistent with its terms and conditions of 

service, it routinely switched customers who requested to move to 

another price plan for which they qualified. In order to resolve this 

matter GNG agreed to pay $2.5 million in the form of credits to 

customers, or as directed by the Georgia Commission, which was 

recorded in our statements of consolidated income for the year 

ended December 31, 2008. 

In February 2008, a class action lawsuit was filed in the 

Superior Court of Fulton County in the Stale of Georgia against GNG 

containing similar allegations to those asserted by the Georgia 

Commission staff and seeking damages on behalf of a class of GNG 

customers. This lawsuit was dismissed in September 2008. In 

October 2008, the plaintiffs appealed the dismissal of the lawsuit 

and the parties are in the process of filing briefs on that appeal. 

In March 2008, a second class action suit was filed against 

GNG in the State Court of Fulton County in the State of Georgia, 

regarding monthly service charges. This lawsuit alleges that GNG 

arbitrarily assigned customer service charges rather than basing 

each customer service charge on a specific credit score. GNG 

asserts that no violation of law or Georgia Commission rules has 

occurred, that this lawsuit is without merit and has filed motions to 

dismiss this class action suit on various grounds. The ultimate 

resolution of this lawsuit cannot be determined, but is not expected 

to have a rTiatorial adverse effect on our consolidated results of 

operations, cash flows or financial condition. 

Review of Compliance with FERC Regulations 

tn 2008, we conducted an internal review of our compliance with 

FERC interstate natural gas pipeline capacity release rules and 

regulations. Independent of our internal review, we also received 

data requests from FERC's Office of Enforcement relating specifi­

cally to compliance with FERC's capacity release posting and 

bidding requirements. We have responded to FERC's data requests 

and are fully cooperating with FERC in its investigation. As a result 

of this process, we have identified certain instances of possible 

non-compliance. We are committed to full regulatory compliance 

and we have met with the FERC Enforcement staff to discuss with 

them these instances of possible non-compliance. Accordingly we 

have accrued an appropriate estimate of possible penalties 

assessed by the FERC. This estimate does not have, and 

management does not believe the ultimate resolution will have, a 

material financial impact to our consolidated results of operations, 

cash flows or financial condition. 

Note 8 Income Taxes 

We have two categories of income taxes in our statements of 

consolidated income: current and deferred. Current Income tax 

expense consists of federal and state income tax less applicable tax 

credits related to the current year. Deferred Income tax expense 

generally is equal to the changes in the deferred income tax liability 

and regulatory tax liability during the year. 

Investment and Other Tax Credi ts 

Deferred investment tax credits associated with distribution 

operations are included as a regulatory liability in our consolidated 

balance sheets {see Note 1, "Accounting Policies and Methods of 

Application"). These investment tax credits are being amortized over 

the estimated life of the related properties as credits to income in 

accordance with regulatory requirements. In 2007, we invested in a 

guaranteed affordable housing tax credit fund. We reduce income 

tax expense in our statements of consolidated income for the 

investment tax credits and other tax credits associated with our 

nonregulated subsidiaries, including the affordable housing credits. 

Components of income tax expense shown in the statements of 

consolidated income are shown in the following table. 

I ncome Tax Expense 

The relative split between current and deferred taxes is due to a 

variety of factors including true ups of prior year tax returns, and 

most importantly, the timing of our property-related deductions. 

In millions 

Current income taxes 

Federal 

State 

Deferred income taxes 

Federal 

State 

Amortization of investment tax credits 

Total 

2008 

$ 37 

7 

77 

12 

(1) 
$132 

2007 

$ 86 

12 

23 

7 

0] 
$127 

2006 

$ (4) 
2 

115 

18 

(2) 
$129 
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The reconciliations between the statutory federal income tax rate, the effective rate and the related amount of tax for the years ended 

December 31. 2008, 2007 and 2006 are presented in the following table. 

\mount 

$122 

14 

(1) 
(2) 

(2) 
1 

2008 

%of 

pretax income 

35.0% 

4.0 

(0.4) 

(0.5) 

(0.5) 

0.2 

Amount 

$118 

13 

(1) 

(1) 
(2) 

2007 

%or 
pretax income 

35.0% 

3.8 

(0.3) 

(0.3) 

(0.6) 

— 

Amount 

$119 

12 

(2) 
— 
(2) 
2 

?006 

%of 

pretax income 

35.0% 

3.6 

(0.5) 

_ 
(0.5) 
0.2 

Computed tax expense at statutory rate 

State income tax, net of federal income tax benefit 

Amortization of investment tax credits 

Affordable housing credits 

Flexible dividend deduction 

Other" net 
Total income tax expense at effective rate $132 37.8% $127 37.6% $129 37.8% 

A c c u m u l a t e d Defer red Income Tax Assets 

and Liabi l i t ies 

We report some of our assets and liabilities differently for financial 

accounting purposes than we do for income tax purposes. We 

report the tax effects of the differences in those items as deferred 

income tax assets or liabilities in our consolidated balance sheets. 

We measure the assets and liabilities using income tax rates that 

are currently in effect. Because of the regulated nature of the utilities' 

business, we recorded a regulatory tax liability in accordance with 

SFAS 109, which we are amortizing over approximately 30 years 

(see Note 1 "Accounting Policies and Methods of Application"). Our 

deferred tax assets include $86 million related to an unfunded 

pension and postretirement benefit obligation an increase of $51 

million frorti 2007. 

As indicated in the following table, our deferred tax assets and 

liabilities include certain items we acquired from NUI. We have 

provided a valuation allowance for some of these items that reduce 

our net deferred tax assets to amounts we believe are more likely 

than not to be realized in future periods. With respect to our 

continuing operations, we have net operating losses in vahous 

Jurisdictions. Components that give rise to the net accumulated 

deferred income tax liability are as follows. 

As of December 31, 
2003 2(X)7 

Accumulated deferred income tax liabilities 

Property - accelerated depreciation and 

other property-related items $635 $568 

Mark to market 5 4 

Other 32 44 

Total accumulated deferred 
income tax liabilities 672 

Total accumulated deferred 

income tax assets 

Valuation allowances"' 

616 
Accumulated deferred income tax assets 

Deferred investment tax credits 

Unfunded pension and postretirement 

benefit obligation 

Net operating loss - NUI'" 

Other 

86 
2 

11 

104 

(3) 

35 
5 

7 

53 

(3) 
Total accumulated deferred 

income tax assets, net of 

valuation allowance 

Net accumulated deferred 

tax liability 

101 

$571 

50 

$565 
'"Expire in 2021. 
'''Valuation allowance is due lo liic nee operating losses on NUI iioadquartcrs that are not usable 

in Wow Jersey. 
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Tax Benef i ts 

In June 2006. the FASB issued FIN 48, which addressed the 

determination of whether tax benefits claimed or expected to be 

claimed on a tax return should be recorded in the financial 

statements. Under FIN 48, we may recognize the tax benefit from an 

uncertain tax position only if it is more likely than not that the tax 

position will be sustained on examination by the taxing authorities, 

based on the technical merits of the position. The tax benefits 

recognized in the financial statements from such a position should 

be measured based on the largest benefit that has a greater than fifty 

percent likelihood of being realized upon ultimate settlement. FIN 48 

also provides guidance on derecognition, classification, interest and 

penalties on income taxes, accounting in interim periods and 

requires increased disclosures. We adopted the provisions of FIN 48 

on January 1, 2007. At the date of adoption, as of December 31, 

2007 and as of December 31, 2008, we did not have a liability for 

unrecognized tax benefits. Based on current information, we do not 

anticipate that this will change materially in 2009. 

We recognize accrued interest and penalties related to 

uncertain tax positions in operating expenses in the consolidated 

statements of income, which is consistent with the recognition of 

these items in prior reporting periods. As of December 31, 2008, 

we did not have a liabiliiy recorded for payment of interest and 

penalties associated wilh uncerlain tax positions. 

We file a U.S. federal consolidated income tax return and 

various state income tax returns. We are no longer subject to income 

tax examinations by the Internal Revenue Service or any state for 

years before 2002, bul we are currently under audit by the Internal 

Revenue Seivice for tax years 2006 and 2007. 

Note 9 Segment Information 

We evaluate segment performance based primarily on the non-

GAAP measure of EBIT, which includes the effects of corporate 

expense allocations. EBIT is a non-GAAP measure that includes 

operating income, other income and expenses and minority interest. 

Items we do not include in EBIT are financing costs, including 

interest and debt expense and income taxes, each of which we 

evaluate on a consolidated level. We believe EBIT is a useful 

measurement of our performance because it provides infonnation 

that can be used to evaluate the effectiveness of our businesses 

from an operational perspective, exclusive of the costs to finance 

those activities and exclusive of Income taxes, neither of which is 

directly relevant to the efficiency of those operations. 

You should not consider EBIT an alternative to, or a more 

meaningful indicator of, our operating performance than operating 

income or net income as determined in accordance with GAAR In 

addition, our EBIT may not be comparable to a similarly titled 

measure of another company. The reconciliations of EBIT to 

operating income, earnings before income taxes and net income for 

2008, 2007 and 2006 are presented below. 

In millions 

Operating revenues 

Operating expenses 

Operating income 

Minority interest 

Other income (expense) 
EBIT 

Interest expense 

Earnings before income taxes 

Income taxes 

Net income 

2008 

$2,800 

2,322 

478 

(20) 

6 

464 

115 
349 

132 

$ 217 

2007 

$2,494 

2,005 

489 

(30) 
4 

463 

125 

338 
127 

$ 211 

2006 

$2,621 

2,133 

488 

(23) 

(1) 
464 

123 
341 

129 

$ 212 

We are an energy services holding company whose principal 

business is the distribution of natural gas in six states ~ Florida, 

Georgia, Maryland, New Jersey Tennessee and Virginia. We generate 

nearly all our operating revenues through the sale, distribution, 

transportation and storage of natural gas. We are involved in several 

related and complementary businesses, including retail natural gas 

marketing to end-use customers primarily in Georgia; natural gas 

asset management and related logistics activities for each of our 

utilities as well as for nonaffiliated companies; natural gas storage 

arbitrage and related activities; and the development and operation 

of high-deliverability natural gas storage assets. We manage these 

businesses through four operating segments — distribution 

operations, retail energy operations, wholesale services and energy 

investments and a nonoperating corporate segment which includes 

intercompany eliminations. 
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Summarized income statement, balance sheet and capital expenditure information by segment as of and for the years ended December 31, 

2008, 2007 and 2006 is shown in the following tables. 

Corporate and 

In millions 

2008 

Operating revenues from external parties 

Intercompany revenues'" 

Total operating revenues 

Distribution 

operations 

$1,581 

187 

1,768 

Retail energy 

operations 

$987 

987 

Wholesale 

services 

$170 

170 

Energy 

investments 

$ 55 

55 

intercompany 

eliminations 

$ 7 
(187) 

(180) 

Consolidated 

AGL Resources 

$2,800 

2,800 

Operating expenses 

Cost of gas 

Operation and maintenance 

Depreciation and amortization 

Taxes other than income taxes 

Total operating expenses 

Operating income (loss) 

Minority interest 

Other income 

950 

330 

128 
35 

838 

67 

4 

2 

48 

55 

5 

2 

5 
24 

6 
1 

(187) 

(4) 

9 

4 

1,443 911 110 36 (178) 

325 76 
(20) 

1 

60 19 (2) 

1,654 

472 

152 

44 

2.322 

478 

(20) 

6 

EBIT 

Identifiable and total assets 

Goodwill 

Capital expenditures 

In millions 

2007 
Operating revenues from external parties 
Intercompany revenues'" 

Total operating revenues 

$ 329 

$5,138 

$ 404 

$ 278 

Distribution 

Operations 

$1,477 

188 

1,665 

$ 57 

$315 

$ ~ 
$ 6 

Retail energy 

operations 

$892 

892 

$ 60 

$970 

$ -
$ 1 

Wholesale 

services 

$ 83 

83 

$ 19 

$353 

$ 14 

$ 75 

Energy 

investments 

$ 42 

42 

$ (1) 
$ (66) 

$ -
$ 12 

Corporate and 

iniercompany 

eliminations 

$ — 
(188) 

(188) 

$ 464 

$6,710 

$ 418 

$ 372 

Consolidated 

AGL Resources 

$2,494 

2,494 

Operating expenses 

Co5t of gas 

Operation and maintenance 

Depreciation and amortization 

Taxes other than income taxes 

Totaloperating expenses 

Operating income (loss) 

Minority interest 

Other income 

845 

330 

122 

33 

704 
69 

5 
1 

6 

38 

4 

1 

1,330 779 49 27 

335 113 

(30) 
34 15 

(188) 

(5) 

(180) 

(8) 

1,369 

451 

144 

41 

2,005 

489 
(30) 

4 
EBIT 

Identifiable and total assets 

Goodwill 

Capital expenditures 

$ 338 

$4,847 

$ 406 

$ 201 

$ 83 

$282 

$ — 
$ 2 

$ 34 

$890 

$ -
$ 2 

$ 15 

$287 

$ 14 

$ 26 

$ (7) 
$ (48) 
$ -
$ 28 

$ 463 

$6,258 

$ 420 

$ 259 
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

In millions 

2006 

Operating revenues from external parties 

Intercompany revenues'" 

Total operating revenues 
Operating expenses 

Cost of gas 

Operation and maintenance 

Depreciation and amortization 

Taxes other than income taxes 

Distribution 

operations 

$1,467 

157 

1,624 

817 

350 

116 

33 

Retail energy 

operations 

$930 

__ 
930 

774 
64 

3 
1 

Wholesale 

services 

$182 
„ 

182 

43 

46 

2 

1 

Energy 

investments 

$ 41 

— 
41 

5 

20 

5 
1 

Co!porate and 

intercompany 

eliminations 

$ 1 

(157) 

(156) 

(157) 

(7) 
12 

4 

Consolftiated 

AGL Resources 

$2,621 
„ 

2,621 

1,482 

473 

138 

40 
Total operating expenses 

Operating income (loss) 

Minority interest 

Other income (expense) 

;e5 1.316 

308 

— 
2 

842 

88 

(23) 

(2) 

92 

90 

— 
— 

31 

10 

— 
— 

(148) 

(8) 
-— 
(1) 

2.133 

488 

(23) 

(1) 
EBIT 

Identifiable and total assets 

Goodwill 

Capital expenditures 

$ 310 

$4,565 

$ 406 

$ 174 

$ 63 

$293 

$ -
$ 9 

$ 90 

$830 

$ ~ 
$ 2 

$ 10 

$373 

$ 14 

$ 23 

$ (9) 
$ 62 

$ -
$ 45 

$ 464 

$6,123 

$ 420 

$ 253 
'" Intercompany revenues - Wholesale services records its energy marketing and risk management revenue on a net Pasis, Wholesale services total operating revenues include intercompany revenues of 

$982 million in ?008, S638 million in 2007 and $531 million in 2006. 

Note 10 Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited) 

Our guarterly financial data for 2008, 2007 and 2006 are summarized below. The variance in our quarterly earnings is the result of the seasonal 
nature of our primary business. 

In millions, except per share amounis March 31 Sept. 30 Dec. 31 

2008 

Operating revenues 

Operating income 

Net income (loss) 

Basic earnings (toss) per share 

Diluted earnings (loss) per share 

2007 

Operating revenues 

Operating income 

Net income 

Basic earnings per share 

Diluted earnings per share 

2006 

Operating revenues 

Operating income 

Net income 

Basic earnings per share 

Diluted earnings per share 

$1,012 

188 

89 

1.17 

1.16 

$ 973 

216 

102 

1.31 

1.30 

$1,044 

228 

110 

1.42 

1.41 

$ 444 

6 

(11) 
(0.15) 

(0.15) 

$ 467 

78 

30 

0.40 

0.40 

$ 436 

60 

19 

0.25 

0.25 

$539 

126 

65 

0.85 

0.85 

$ 369 

55 

13 
0.17 

0.17 

$434 

90 

36 

0.46 

0.46 

$805 

158 

74 

0.97 

0.97 

$685 

140 

66 

0.86 

0.86 

$707 

110 

47 

0.60 

0.60 

Our basic and diluted earnings per common share are calculated based on the weighted daily average number of common shares and 

common share equivalents outstanding during the quarter. Those totals differ from the basic and diluted earnings per share shown in the 

statements of consolidated income, which are based on the weighted average number of common shares and common share equivalents 

outstanding during the entire year 

102 



AGL Resources Inc. 2008 Annual Report 

Item 9. Changes In and Disagreements 
with Accountants on Accounting and 
Financial Disclosure 

None 

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures 

Changes in In terna l Con t ro l over F inancia l Repo r t i ng 

There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting 

identified in connection with the above-referenced evaluation by 

management of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial 

reporting that occurred during the fourth quarter ended 

December 31, 2008, that have materially affected, or are reasonably 

likely to materially affect, our Internal control over financial reporting. 

Conc lus ions Regard ing the Ef fect iveness 

of D isc losure Cont ro ls and Procedures 

Under the supervision and with the participation of our manage­

ment, including our principal executive officer and principal financial 

officer, we conducted an evaluation of our disclosure controls and 

procedures, as such term is defined under Rule 13a-15(e) promul­

gated under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the 

Exchange Act), No system of controls, no matter how well-designed 

and operated, can provide absolute assurance that the objectives of 

the system of controls are met, and no evaluation of controls can 

provide assurance that the system of controls has operated effec­

tively in all cases. Our disclosure controls and procedures however 

are designed to provide reasonable assurance that the objectives of 

disclosure controls and procedures are meL 

Based on this evaluation, our principal executive officer and our 

principal financial officer concluded that our disclosure controls and 

procedures were effective as of December 31, 2008, in providing a 

reasonable level of assurance that information we are required to 

disclose in reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is 

recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time peri­

ods in SEC rules and forms, including a reasonable level of assur­

ance that information required to be disclosed by us in such reports 

is accumulated and communicated to our management, including 

our principal executive officer and our principal financial officer, as 

appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. 

Repor ts of Managemen t and Independen t 

Regis tered Publ ic Accoun t i ng Fi rm on In terna l 

Cont ro l Over Financial Repor t ing 

Management has assessed, and our independent registered 

public accounting firm, PricewaterhouseCoopcrs LLP, has 

audited, our internal control over financial reporting as of 

December 31, 2008. The unqualified reports of management and 

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP thereon are included in Item 8 of 

this Annual Report on Form 10-K and are incorporated by 

reference herein. 

Item 9B. Other Information 

None 
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Part III 

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and 
Corporate Governance 

The information required by this item with respect to directors will 

be set forth under the captions "Proposal I — Election of Directors", 

- "Corporate Governance — Ethics and Compliance Program," 

- "Committees of the Board" and "— Audit Committee" in the Proxy 

Statement for our 2009 Annual Meeting of Shareholders or in a sub­

sequent amendment to this report. The information required by this 

item with respect to the executive officers is set forth at Part 1, Item 4 

of this report under the caption "Executive Officers of the Registrant." 

The information required by this item with respect to Section 16(a) 

beneficial ownership reporting compliance will be set forth under the 

caption "Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance" 

in the Proxy Statement or subsequent amendment referred to 

above. All such information that is provided in the Proxy Statement 

is incorporated herein by reference. 

Item 11. Executive Compensation 

The information required by this item will be set forth under the 

captions "Compensation and Management Development Committee 

Report," "Compensation and Management Development Committee 

Interlocks and Insider Participation." "Director Compensation," 

"Compensation Discussion and Analysis" and "Executive 

Compensation" in the Proxy Statement or subsequent amendment 

referred to in Item 10 above. All such information that is provided in 

the Proxy Statement is incorporated herein by reference, except for 

the information under the caption "Compensation and Management 

Developmetit Committee Report" which is specifically not so 

incorporated herein by reference. 

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain 
Beneficial Owners and Management and 
Related Stockholder Matters 

The information required by this item will be set forth under the cap­

tions "Share Ownership" and "Executive Compensation — Equity 

Compensation Plan Information" in the Proxy Statement or 

subsequent amendment referred to in Item 10 above. All such 

information that is provided in the Proxy Statement is incorporated 

herein by reference. 

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related 
Transactions and Director Independence 

The information required by this item will be set forth under the 

captions "Corporate Governance — Director Independence" and "— 

Policy on Related Person Transactions" and "Certain Relationships 

and Related Transactions" in the Proxy Statement or subsequent 

amendment referred to in Item 10 above. All such information that is 

provided in the Proxy Statement is incorporated herein by reference. 

Item 14. 
Services 

Principal Accountant Fees and 

The information required by this item will be set forth under the 

caption "Proposal 3 — Ratification of the Appointment of 

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as Our Independent Registered 

Public Accounting Firm for 2009" in the Proxy Statement or 

subsequent amendment to referred to in Item 10 above. All such 

information that is provided in the Proxy Statement is incorporated 

herein by reference. 
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Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement 
Schedules 

(a) Documents Filed as Part of This Report. 

(1) Financial Statements Included in Item 8 are the following: 

• Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 

• Management's Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 

•Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2008 

and 2007 

• Statements of Consolidated Income for the years ended 

December 31. 2008, 2007, and 2006 

• Statements of Consolidated Common Shareholders' Equity for 

the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006 

• Statements of Consolidated Cash Flows for the years ended 

December 31, 2008, 2007. and 2006 

• Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

(2) Financial Statement Schedules 

4.1.c Specimen AGL Capital Corporation 4.95% Senior Notes 

due 2015. (Exhibit 4.1, AGL Resources Inc. Form 8-K dated 

December 21. 2004). 

4.1 .d Specimen AGL Capital Corporation 6.375% Senior Secured 
Notes due 2016. (Exhibit 4.1. AGL Resources Inc. Form 8-K dated 
December 11. 2007). 

4.1.6 Specimen AGL Capital Corporation 7.125% Senior Secured 

Notes due 2011 (Exhibit 4.1 .f, AGL Resources Inc. Form 10-K for 

the fiscal year ended December 31, 2007). 

4.1.f Specimen AGL Capital Corporation 4.45% Senior Secured 

Notes due 2013 (Exhibit 4.1.g, AGL Resources Inc. Form 10-K for 

the fiscal year ended December 31, 2007). 

4.2.8 Indenture, dated as of December 1. 1989, between Atlanta 

Gas Light Company and Bankers Trust Company as Trustee 

(Exhibit 4(a), Atlanta Gas Light Company registration statement on 

Form S-3, No. 33-32274). 

Financial Statement Schedule II. Valuation and Qualifying 

Accounts -— Allowance for Uncollectible Accounts and Income Tax 

Valuations for Each of the Three Years in the Period Ended 

December 31. 2008. 

Schedules other than those referred to above are omitted and 

are not applicable or not required, or the required information is 

shown in the financial statements or notes thereto. 

(3) Exhibits 

4.2.b First Supplemental Indenture dated as of March 16, 1992, 

between Atlanta Gas Light Company and NationsBank of Georgia, 

National Association, as Successor Trustee (Exhibit 4(a), Atlanta Gas 

Light Company registration statement on Form S-3, No. 33-46419). 

4.2.0 Indenture, dated February 20. 2001 among AGL Capital 

Corporation, AGL Resources Inc. and The Bank of New York, as 

Trustee (Exhibit 4.2, AGL Resources Inc. registration statement on 

Form S-3, filed on September 17, 2001, No. 333-69500). 

Where an exhibit is filed by incorporation by reference to a 

previously filed registration statement or report, such registration 

statement or report is identified in parentheses. 

3.1 Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation filed 

November 2, 2005, with the Secretary of State of the state of 

Georgia (Exhibit 3.1. AGL Resources Inc. Form 8-K dated 

November 2, 2005). 

3.2 Bylaws, as amended on December 10. 2008 (Exhibit 3.2, 

AGL Resources, Inc. Form 8-K dated December 16, 2008). 

4.1.a Specimen form of Common Stock certificate (Exhibit 4.1, 

AGL Resources Inc. Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended 

September 30, 2007). 

4.1.b Specimen AGL Capital Corporation 6.00% Senior Notes 

due 2034 (Exhibit 4,1, AGL Resources Inc. Form 8-K dated 

September 27, 2004). 

4.3.a Form of Guarantee of AGL Resources Inc. dated as of 

December 14, 2007 regarding the AGL Capital Corporation 6.375% 

Senior Note due 2016 (Exhibit 4.2, AGL Resources Inc. Form 8-K 

dated December 11, 2007). 

4,3.b Form of Guarantee of AGL Resources Inc. dated as of 

September 27, 2004 regarding the AGL Capital Corporation 6.00% 

Senior Note due 2034 (Exhibit 4.1. AGL Resources Inc. Form 8-K 

dated September 27, 2004). 

4.3.0 Form of Guarantee of AGL Resources Inc. dated as of 

December 20, 2004 regarding the AGL Capital Corporation 4.95% 

Senior Note due 2015 (Exhibit 4.1. AGL Resources Inc. Form 8-K 

dated December 21, 2004). 

4.3.d Form of Guarantee of AGL Resources Inc. dated as of 

March 31. 2001 regarding the AGL Capital Corporation 7.125% 

Senior Note due 2011 (Exhibit 4.3.d. AGL Resources Inc. 

Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31. 2007). 
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4.3.8 Form of Guarantee of AGL Resources Inc. dated as of 

July 2, 2003 regarding the AGL Capital Corporation 4.45% Senior 

Note due 2013 (Exhibit 4.3.e. AGL Resources Inc. Form 10-K for the 

fiscal year ended December 31. 2007). 

10.1.J Third Amendment to the AGL Resources Inc. 1998 

Common Stock Equivalent Plan for Non-Employee Directors 

(Exhibit 10.5, AGL Resources Inc. Form 10-Q for the quarter ended 

September 30, 2002). 

10.1 Director and Executive Compensation Contracts, Plans 

and Arrangements. 

Director Compensation Contracts, Plans and Arrangements 

10.1.a AGL F?esources Inc. Amended and Restated 1996 

Non-Employee Directors Equity Compensation Plan (Exhibit 10.1, 

AGL Resources Inc. Form 10-Q for the quarter ended 

September 30, 2002). 

lO. l .k Fourth Amendment to the AGL Resources Inc. 1998 

Common Stock Equivalent Plan for Non-Employee Directors 

(Exhibit 10.1.m, AGL Resources Inc. Form 10-Q for the quarter 

ended June 30, 2007). 

10.1.1 Fifth Amendment to the AGL Resources Inc. 1998 

Common Stock Equivalent Plan for Non-Employee Directors. 

10.1.m Description of Directors' Compensation (Exhibit 10.1, 

AGL Resources Inc. Form 8-K dated December 1. 2004). 

10.1 -b First Amendment to the AGL Resources Inc. Amended and 

Restated 1996 Non-Employee Directors Equity Compensation Plan 

(Exhibit 10.1.0, AGL Resources Inc. Form 10-K for the fiscal year 

ended December 31,2002). 

10.1 .c Second Amendment to the AGL Resources Inc. Amended 
and Restated 1996 Non-Employee Directors Equity Compensation 
Plan (Exhibit lO.Lk, AGL Resources Inc. Form 10-Q for the quarter 
ended June 30, 2007). 

10.1.d AGL Resources Inc. 2006 Non-Employee Directors Equity 

Compensation Plan (incorporated herein by reference to Annex C of 

the AGL Resources Inc. Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting of 

Shareholders held May 3, 2006 filed on March 20, 2006). 

lO.I.e First Amendment to the AGL Resources Inc. 2006 

Non-Employee Directors Equity Compensation Plan (Exhibit 10.1 .i, 

AGL Resources Inc. Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2007). 

lO.l . f Second Amendment to the AGL Resources Inc. 

Non-Employee Directors Equity Compensation Plan. 
2006 

10.1.g AGL Resources Inc. 1998 Common Stock Equivalent Plan 

for Non-Employee Directors (Exhibit lO.l.b, AGL Resources Inc. 

Form 10-Q for the quarter ended December 31, 1997). 

10.1.n Form of Stock Award Agreement for Non-Employee 

Directors (Exhibit lO.l.aj, AGL Resources Inc. Form 10-K for the 

fiscal year ended December 31, 2004). 

10.1.O Form on Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement for 
Non-Employee Directors (Exhibit lO.l.ak, AGL Resources Inc. 
Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2004). 

10.1.p Form of Director Indemnification Agreement, dated 

April 28. 2004, between AGL Resources Inc., on behalf of itself and 

the Indemnities named therein (Exhibit 10.3, AGL Resources Inc. 

Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30. 2004). 

Executive Compensation Contracts, Plans and 

Arrangements. 

10.1.aa AGL Resources Inc. Long-Term Incentive Plan (1999), 

as amended and restated as of January 1, 2002 (Exhibit 99.2, 

AGL Resources Inc. Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2002). 

10.1.ab First amendment to the AGL Resources Inc. Long-Term 

Incentive Plan (1999), as amended and restated (Exhibit lO.l.b. 

AGL Resources Inc. Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended 

December 31. 2004). 

lO. l .h First Amendment to the AGL Resources Inc. 1998 

Common Stock Equivalent Plan for Non-Employee Directors 

(Exhibit 10.5, AGL Resources Inc. Form 10-Q for the quarter ended 

March 31, 2000). 

10.1.ac Second amendment to the AGL Resources Inc. 

Long-Term Incentive Plan (1999), as amended and restated 

(Exhibit 10.1.1, AGL Resources Inc. Form 10-Q for the quarter ended 

June 30. 2007), 

10.1.1 Second Amendment to the AGL Resources Inc. 1998 

Common Stock Equivalent Plan for Non-Employee Directors 

(Exhibit 10.4, AGL Resources Inc. Form 10-Q for the quarter ended 

September 30, 2002), 

lO.l.ad Third amendment to the AGL Resources Inc. Long-Term 

Incentive Plan (1999), as amended and restated. 
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lO.l.ae AGL Resources Inc. Officer Incentive Plan (Exhibit 10.2, 

AGL Resources Inc. Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2001). 

lO.l.af First amendment to the AGL Resources Inc. Officer 

Incentive Plan (Exhibit lO.l.j, AGL Resources Inc. Form 10-Q for the 

quarter ended June 30, 2007). 

10.1.ag Second amendment to the AGL Resources Inc. Officer 

Incentive Plan. 

10.1.ah AGL Resources Inc. 2007 Omnibus Performance 

Incentive Plan (Annex A of AGL Resources Inc.'s Schedule 14A, File 

No. 001-14174, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission 

on March 19, 2007). 

lO.l .ai First Amendment to the AGL Resources Inc. 2007 

Omnibus Performance Incentive Plan. 

10.1 .aj Form of Incentive Stock Option Agreement -

AGL Resources Inc. 2007 Omnibus Performance Incentive Plan 

(Exhibit lO.l.b, AGL Resources Inc. Form 10-Q for the quarter 

ended June 30, 2007). 

lO.l .ak Form of Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement -

AGL Resources Inc. 2007 Omnibus Performance Incentive Plan 

(Exhibit 10.1.C, AGL Resources Inc. Form 10-Q for the quarter 

ended June 30, 2007). 

10.1 .aq Form of incentive Stock Option Agreement, Nonqualified 

Stock Option Agreement and Restricted Stock Agreement for key 

employees (Exhibit 10.1, AGL Resources Inc. Form 10-Q for the 

quarter ended September 30, 2004). 

10.1 .ar Form of Performance Unit Agreement for key employees 
(Exhibit 10.I.e. AGL Resources Inc. Form 10-K for the fiscal year 
ended December 31. 2004). 

lO.l.as Forms of Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement without 

the reload provision (LTIP and Officer Plan) (Exhibit 10.1, 

AGL Resources Inc. Form 8-K dated March 15, 2005). 

10.1.at Form of Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement with the 

reload provision (Officer Plan) (Exhibit 10.2, AGL Resources Inc. 

Form 8-K dated March 15, 2005). 

10.1 .au Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement and 

Performance Cash Unit Agreement for key employees (Exhibit 10.1 

and 10.2, respectively, AGL Resources Inc. Form 8-K dated 

February 24, 2006). 

lO.l.av AGL Resources Inc. Nonqualified Savings Plan as 

amended and restated as of January 1. 2009. 

lO. l .aw AGL Resources Inc. Annual Incentive Plan - 2007 

(Exhibit 10.1, AGL Resources Inc. Form 8-K dated August 6, 2007). 

lO.l .al Form of Performance Cash Award Agreement -

AGL Resources Inc. 2007 Omnibus Performance Incentive Plan 

(Exhibit lO.l.d. AGL Resources Inc. Form 10-Q for the quarter 

ended June 30, 2007). 

10.1.am Form of Restricted Stock Agreement (performance 

based) - AGL Resources Inc. 2007 Omnibus Performance Incentive 

Plan (Exhibit lO.I.e, AGL Resources Inc. Form 10-Q for the quarter 

ended June 30, 2007). 

10.1.ax Description of Annual Incentive Compensation Arrange­

ment for Douglas N. Schantz (Exhibit 10.1 .ax, AGL Resources Inc. 

Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2007). 

10,1.ay Description of Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan 

for John W. Somerhalder II. 

lO.l.az AGL Resources Inc. Excess Benefit Plan as amended 

and restated as of January 1, 2009. 

10.1.an Form of Restricted Stock Agreement (time based) -

AGL Resources Inc. 2007 Omnibus Performance Incentive Plan 

(Exhibit lO.l.f, AGL Resources Inc. Form 10-Q for the quarter ended 

June 30, 2007). 

lO.l .ao Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement -

AGL Resources Inc. 2007 Omnibus Performance Incentive Plan. 

(Exhibit lO.l.g, AGL Resources Inc. Form 10-Q for the quarter 

ended June 30, 2007) 

10.Lap Form of Stock Appreciation Rights Agreement -

AGL Resources Inc. 2007 Omnibus Performance Incentive Plan 

(Exhibit 10.1.h, AGL Resources Inc. Form 10-Q for the quarter 

ended June 30, 2007). 

10.1.ba Continuity Agreement, dated December 1. 2007, by 

and between AGL Resources Inc., on behalf of itself 

and AGL Services Company {its wholly owned subsidiary) and 

John W. Somerhalder (Exhibit 10.1.a AGL Resources, Inc. 

Form 8-K dated January 8. 2008). 

lO.l .bb Continuity Agreement, dated December 1. 2007, by 

and between AGL Resources Inc., on behalf of itself and 

AGL Services Company (its wholly owned subsidiary) and 

Andrew V̂ /. Evans (Exhibit lO.l.b AGL Resources, Inc. Form 8-K 

dated January 8, 2008). 
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10.1.bo Continuity Agreement, dated December 1, 2007, by 

and between AGL Resources Inc., on behalf of itself and 

AGL Services Company (its wholly owned subsidiary) and 

Kevin P. Madden (Exhibit 10.1 .c AGL Resources, Inc. Form 8-K 

dated January 8, 2008). 

lO. l .bd Continuity Agreement, dated December 1. 2007, by 

and between AGL Resources Inc., on behalf of itself and 

AGL Services Company (its wholly owned subsidiary) and 

Douglas N. Schantz (Exhibit lO.l.d AGL Resources, Inc. Form 8-K 

dated January 8, 2008). 

10.1 .be Continuity Agreement, dated December!, 2007, by and 

between AGL Resources Inc., on behalf of itself and AGL Services 

Company (its wholly owned subsidiary) and Paul R. Shianta 

(Exhibit 10.1.bl, AGL Resources Inc. Form 10-K for the fiscal year 

ended December 31, 2007). 

10.1 .bf Form of AGL Resources Inc. Executive Post Employment 

Medical Benefit Plan (Exhibit 10.1 .d, AGL Resources Inc. Form 10-Q 

for the quarter ended June 30, 2003). 

lO. l .bg Description of compensation for each of John W. 

Somerhalder, Andrew W. Evans, Kevin P. Madden. Douglas N. 

Schantz and Paul R. Shianta (incorporated herein by reference to 

the Compensation Discussion and Analysis section of the 

AGL Resources Inc. Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting of 

Shareholders held April 30, 2008 filed on March 19, 2008). 

10.6.3 Amended and Restated Master Environmental Manage­

ment Services Agreement, dated July 25, 2002 by and between 

Atlanta Gas Light Company and The RETEC Group, Inc. 

(Exhibit 10.2, AGL Resources Inc. Form 10-Q for the quarter ended 

June 30, 2003). (Confidential treatment pursuant to 17 CFR 

Sections 200.80 (b) and 240.24-b has been granted regarding 

certain portions of this exhibit, which portions have been filed 

separately with the Commission). 

10.6.b Modification to the Amended and Restated Master 

Environmental Management Services Agreement dated July 25, 

2002 by and between Atlanta Gas Light Company and The RETEC 

Group, Inc. 

10.6.C Term Extension to the Amended and Restated Master 

Environmental Management Services Agreement, dated July 25, 

2002 by and between Atlanta Gas Light Company and The RETEC 

Group, Inc. 

lO.e.d Modification to the Amended and Restated Master 

Environmental Management Services Agreement dated July 25. 

2002 by and between Atlanta Gas Light Company and The RETEC 

Group, Inc. 

10.6.e Second Modification to the Amended and Restated Master 

Environmental Management Services Agreement dated July 25, 

2002 by and between Atlanta Gas Light Company and The RETEC 

Group, inc. 

10.2 Guaranty Agreement, effective December 13, 2005, by and 
between Atlanta Gas Light Company and AGL Resources Inc. 
(Exhibit 10.2, AGL Resources Inc. Form 10-K for the fiscal year 
ended December 31, 2007). 

lO.B.f Third Modification to the Amended and Restated Master 

Environmental Management Services Agreement dated July 25, 

2002 by and between Atlanta Gas Light Company and The RETEC 

Group, Inc. 

10.3 Form of Commercial Paper Dealer Agreement between 

AGL Capital Corporation, as Issuer. AGL Resources Inc., as 

Guarantor, and the Dealers named therein, dated September 25. 

2000 (Exhibit 10.79, AGL Resources Inc. Form 10-K for the fiscal 

year ended September 30, 2000). 

10.4 Guarantee of AGL Resources Inc., dated October 5, 2000, 

of payments on promissory notes issued by AGL Capital 

Corporation (AGLCC) pursuant to the Issuing and Paying Agency 

Agreement dated September 25, 2000, between AGLCC and The 

Bank of New York (Exhibit 10.80. AGL Resources Inc. Form 1Q-K for 

the fiscal year ended September 30, 2000). 

10.5 Issuing and Paying Agency Agreement dated September 

25, 2000, between AGL Capital Corporation and The Bank of 

New York. (Exhibit 10.81. AGL Resources Inc. Form 10-K for the 

fiscal year ended September 30. 2000). 

10.7 Credit Agreement dated as of August 31, 2006, by and 

among AGL Resources Inc., AGL Capital Corporation, SunTrust 

Bank, as administrative agent, V\/achovia Bank, National Association, 

as syndication agent JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., The Bank of 

Tokyo-Mitsubishi UFJ, Ltd. and Calyon New York Branch, as 

co-documentation agents, and the several other banks and other 

financial institutions named therein (Exhibit 10, AGL Resources Inc. 

Form 8-K dated August 31. 2006). 

10.8 SouthStar Energy Services LLC Amended and Restated 

Agreement, dated April 1, 2004 by and between Georgia Natural 

Gas Company and Piedmont Energy Company (Exhibit 10. 

AGL Resources Inc. Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2004). 
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10.9 Letter of Credit and Security Agreement dated as of 

September 4, 2008 by and among Pivotal Utility Holdings, Inc. as 

borrower, AGL Resources Inc. as Guarantor, Bank of America, N.A. 

as Administrative Agent, The Bank of Tokyo-Mitsubishi UFJ, LTD. 

as Syndication Agent and Bank of America, N.A. as Issuing Bank 

(Exhibit 10.1, AGL Resources Inc. Form 10-Q for the quarter ended 

September 30, 2008). 

10.10 Credit Agreement as of September 30, 2008 by and among 

AGL Resources Inc., AGL Capital Corporation, Wachovia Bank, N.A, 

as Administrative Agent, Wachovia Capital Markets, LLC as sole 

lead arranger and sole lead bookrunner. SunTrust Bank, NA, 

The Bank of Tokyo-Mitsubishi UFJ, LTD., Calyon New York 

Brand and The Royal Bank of Scotland PLC as Co-Documentation 

Agents (Exhibit 10.1. AGL Resources Inc. Form 8-K dated 

September 30, 2008). 

14 AGL Resources Inc. Code of Ethics for its Chief Executive 

Officer and its Senior Financial Officers (Exhibit 14, AGL Resources 

Inc. Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2004). 

21 Subsidiaries of AGL Resources Inc. 

23 Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, independent 

registered public accounting firm. 

24 Powers of Attorney (included on signature page hereto). 

31.1 Certification of John W. Somerhalder II pursuant to Rule 13a 
-14(a). 

31.2 Certification of Andrew W. Evans pursuant to Rule 13a -

14(a). 

32.1 Certification of John W. Somerhalder II pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 

Section 1350. 

32.2 Certification o( Andrew W. Evans pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 

Section 1350. 

(b) Exhibits filed as part of this report. 

See Item 15(a)(3), 

(c) Financial statement schedules fried as part of this report. 

See item 15(a)(2). 
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Signatures 

In accordance with Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange 

Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed 

on its behalf by the undersigned; thereunto duly authorized, on 

February 5, 2009. 

AGL Resources Inc. 

"A. 
A S( 

Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer 

John W:. Somerhalder II 

Power of A t to rney 

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose 

signature appears below constitutes and appoints John W. 

Somerhalder 11, Andrew W. Evans, Paul R. Shianta and Bryan E. 

Seas, and each of them, his or her true and lav̂ rful attorneys-in-fact 

and agents, with full power of substitution and resubstitution, for 

him or her and in his or her name, place and stead, in any and all 

capacities, to sign any and all amendments to this Annual Report on 

Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2008, and to file the 

same, with all exhibits thereto and other documents in connection 

therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, granting 

unto said attorneys-in-fact and agents, and each of them, full power 

and authority to do and perform each and every act and thing 

requisite or necessary to be done, as fully to all intents and purposes 

as he or she might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and 

confirming all that said attorneys-in-fact and agents or any of them, 

or their or his substitute or substitutes, may lawfully do or cause to 

be done by virtue hereof. 

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 

1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons 

on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities indicated as of 

February 5, 2009. 

Signature. tiHc Signature, tillc Signature, title 

John Wv Somerhalder II 

Chairman, President and 

Chief Executive Officer 

(Principal Executive Officer) 

./ 
/, 

-•'/ • t" 

Andrew W. Evans 

Executive Vice President and 

Chief Financial Officer 

(Principal Financial Officer) 

Bryan E. Seas 

Senior Vice f^resident. Controller and 

Chief Accounting Officer 

(Principal Accounting Olficer) 

'̂ mĉ ^ 
Sandra N. Bane, Director 

Thomas D. Bell, Jr, Director 

Charles R. Crisp, Director 

Arthur E. Johnson, Director 

V\/ycWA. Knox, Jr., Director 

Dennis M. Love, Director 

•ezL. "fAi. :̂. \^ iJ 

Charles H. McTier, Director 

Dean P.. O'Hare, Director 

D. Raymond Riddle, Director 

James A. Rubright, Director 

f 
Feiker W. Ward, Jr., Director 

Bettina M. Whyte, Director 

Henry C.'Wolf, D|^c|3r 
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Schedule II 

AGL Resources Inc. and Subsidiaries 

Valuation and Qualifying Accounts — Allowance for Uncollectible Accounts and Income Tax Valuation for 

Each of the Three Years in the Period Ended December 31, 2008. 

Allowance ror uncollectible accounts Income tax valuaibn 

Balance at December 31, 2005 $ 15 

Provisions charged to income in 2006 

Accounts written off as uncollectible, net in 2006 

Decrease due to change in circumstances 

22 

(22) 

(6) 
Balance at December 31, 2006 

Provisions charged to income in 2007 

Accounts written off as uncollectible, net in 2007 

Balance at December 31, 2007 
Provisions charged to income in 2008 

Accounts written off as uncollectible, net in 2008 

Balance at December 31, 2008 

15 

19 

(20) 

14 

27 

(25) 

$ 16 

3 

~ 

3 

— 

$ 3 
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Exhibit 31,1 - Certification of John W. Somerhalder II 

pursuant to Rule 13a - 14(a) 

I, John W. Somerhalder II, certify that: 

1.1 have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of AGL Resources 

Inc.; 

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue 

statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact 

necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circum­

stances under which such statements were made, not misleading 

with respect to the period covered by this report; 

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other 

financial information included in this report, fairly present in all 

material respects the financial condition, results of operations 

and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods 

presented in this report; 

4. The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for 

establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures 

(as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-l 5(e)) and 

internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange 

Act Rules 133-15(0 and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have: 

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or 

caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be 

designed under our supervision, to ensure that material 

information relating to the registrant including its consoli­

dated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within 

those entities, particularly during the period in which this 

report is being prepared; 

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or 

caused such internal control over financial reporting to be 

designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable 

assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting 

and the preparation of financial statements for external 

purposes in accordance with generally accepted account­

ing principles; 

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure 

controls and procedures and presented in this report our 

conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure con­

trols and procedures, as of the end of the period covered 

by this report based on such evaluation; and 

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's inter­

nal control over financial reporting that occurred during the 

registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth 

fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has mate­

rially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the 

registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and 

The registrant's other certifying officer and 1 have disclosed, 

based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over 

Financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit 

committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons 

performing the equivalent functions): 

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the 

design or operation of internal control over financial report­

ing which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the 

registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report 

financial information; and 

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves manage­

ment or other employees who have a significant role in the 

registrant's internal control over financial reporting. 

\ X. U^Cl^ 

Date: February 5, 2009 
l 

John fJ. Somerhalder II 
Chairrhan, President and 
Chief Executive Officer 
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Exhibit 31.2 - Certification of Andrew W. Evans 

pursuant to Rule 13a - 14(a) 

1. Andrew W. Evans, certify that: 

1.1 have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of AGL Resources 

Inc.; 

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue 

statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact 

necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circum­

stances under which such statements were made, not misleading 

with respect to the period covered by this report; 

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other 

financial information included in this report, fairly present in all 

material respects the financial condition, results of operations 

and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods 

presented in this report; 

4. The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for 

establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures 

(as defined in Exchange Act Rules 133-15(e) and 15d-l 5(e)) and 

internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange 

Act Rules 13a-15(0 and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have: 

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or 

caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be 

designed under our supervision, to ensure that material 

information relating to the registrant, including its consoli­

dated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within 

those entities, particularly during the period in which this 

report is being prepared; 

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or 

caused such internal control over financial reporting to be 

designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable 

assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting 

and the preparation of financial statements for external 

purposes in accordance with generally accepted account­

ing principles; 

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure 

controls and procedures and presented in this report our 

conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure con­

trols and procedures, as of the end of the period covered 

by this report based on such evaluation; and 

(d) Disclosed In this report any change in the registrant's inter­

nal control over financial reporting that occurred during the 

registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth 

fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has mate­

rially affected, or is reasonably likely lo materially affect, the 

registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and 

5. The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, 

based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over 

financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit com­

mittee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons perform­

ing the equivalent functions): 

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the 

design or operation of internal control over financial report­

ing which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the 

registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and 

report financial information; and 

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves manage­

ment or other employees who have a significant role in the 

registrant's internal control over financial reporting. 

/ 

Date: February 5, 2009 Andrew W. Evans 
Executive '̂ 'xce President and 
Chief Financial Ofi'icer 
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Shareholder Information 

Corpora te Headquar te rs 

AGL Resources Inc., Ten Peachtree Place, N.E., Atlanta, GA 30309; 

404-584-4000; website; aglresources.com. 

S tock Exchange L is t ing 

Our common stock is traded on the New York Stock Exchange 

under the symbol "AGL" and quoted in Ttie Wall Street Journal as 

"AGL Res." Prior to Febnjary 2009, our common stock was traded 

on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol "ATG." 

Transfer Agen t and Registrar 

Wells Fargo serves as our transfer agent and registrar and can help 

with a variety of stock-related matters, including name and address 

changes; transfer of stock ownership; lost certificates; and 

Form 1099s. 

Inquiries may be directed to: Wells Fargo Shareowner Serv­

ices, RO. Box 64874, St. Paul, MN 55164-0874; toll-free 800-468-

9716; website: www.wellsfargo.com/shareownerservices. 

Our Annual Report on Fomi 10-K includes the certifications 

of our chief executive officer and chief financial officer required by 

Sections 302 and 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. Addi­

tionally, we have filed the most recent annual CEO certification as 

required by Section 303A. 12(a) of the New York Stock Exchange 

Listed Company Manual pursuant to which our CEO certified to 

the NYSE that he was not aware of any violation by AGL Resources 

of the NYSE's corporate governance listing standards. 

Our corporate governance guidelines; our code of ethics for 

the CEO and senior financial officers; our code of conduct and 

ethics; and the charters of our Board committees also are avail­

able on our website. 

The above Information and any exhibit to our 2008 

Form 10-K also will be furnished free of charge upon written 

request to our Investor Relations department at: Steve Cave, 

Managing Director, Investor Relations, AGL Resources, Ten 

Peachtree Place, N.E., Atlanta, GA 30309; 404-584-3801; 

scave@aglresources,com. 

Avai lable In fo rmat ion 

A copy of this Annual Report, as well as our Annual Report on Fonn 

10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 

8-K, other reports that we file with or furnish to the Securities and 

Exchange Commission (SEC) and our recent news releases are 

available free of charge at our website aglresources.com as soon 

as reasonably practicable. The information contained on our web­

site should not be considered part of this document and does not 

constitute incorporation by reference. 

Ins t i tu t iona l Investor Inquir ies 

Institutional investors and securities analysts should direct inquiries 

to: Steve Cave, Managing Director, Investor Relations, AGL 

Resources, Ten Peachtree Place, N.E., Atlanta, GA 30309; 404-

584-3801; scave@aglresources.com. 

Annua l Mee t ing 

The 2009 annual meeting of shareholders will be held Wednesday, 

April 29, 2009, at AGL Resources corporate headquarters, Ten 

Peachtree Place, N.E., Atlanta, GA 30309. 

ResourcesDIRECr" 
New investors may make an initial investment, and shareholders of 

record may acquire additional shares of our common stock, 

through ResourcesDlRECT^" without paying brokerage fees or 
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service charges. Initial cash jnvesfmente, quarterly cash dividends 

and/or optional cash purchases may be invested through the plan 

prospectus and enrollment materials. Contact our transfer agent 

at 800-468-9716 or visit our website at aglresources.com. 

S t o c k Pr ice a n d D i v i d e n d I n fo rma t i on 

At January 30,2009, there were approximately 9,800 record hold­

ers of our common stock. Quarterly information concerning our 

high, low and closing prices and cash dividends that we paid in 

2008 and 2007 is as follows: 

2008 

Quarter ended 

March 31 , 2008 

June 30, 2008 

September 30, 2008 

December 31 , 2008 

Hjgl) 

$39.13 

36.50 

35.44 

32.07 

Lovj 

$33.45 

33,46 

30.60 

24.02 

Close 

$34.32 

34,58 

31.38 

31.35 

common share 

$0.42 

0.42 

0.42 

0.42 

C o m p a r i s o n o f 5 Year Cumu la t i ve Tota l R e t u r n * 

The performance graph below compares the yearly percentage 

change in our total return to shareholders for the fast five years 

with the total return of the Standard and Poor's 500 Stock Index, 

Standard and Poor's Utilities Stock Index and a self-determined 

peer group. The self-determined peer group contains a hybrid 

group of utility companies, primarily natural gas distribution com­

panies, with similar revenues, market capitalization and asset base 

that were recommended by a global management consulting firm 

and approved tjy our Board of Directors. This new self-determined 

peer group will replace the S&P Utilities Index in prospective 

graphs. There are 13 companies included in this peer group: 

Atmos Energy Corp., Integrys Energy Group Inc., National Fuel 

Gas Company, New Jersey Resources Co;-p., Nicor inc.. North­

west Natural Gas Company, Oneok Inc., Piedmont National Gas 

Company Inc., QuestarCorp,, South Jersey Industries Inc., South­

west Gas Corp., UGI Corp. and WGL Holdings Inc. 

2007 
Sales price of common stock Cash dividend per 

Quarter ended 

March 31 , 2007 

June 30, 2007 

September 30, 2007 

December 31, 2007 

High 

$42.99 

44.67 

41.51 

41.16 

Low 

$38.20 

39.52 

35.24 

35.42 

Close 

$42.72 

40.48 

39.62 

37.64 

common share 

$0.41 

0.41 

0.41 

0.41 

We pay dividends iovr times a year: March 1, June 1, 

September 1 and December 1- We have paid 245 consecutive 

quarterly dividends beginning in 1948. Dividends are declared at 

the discretion of our Board of Directors, and future dividends will 

depend on our future earnings, cash flow, financial requirements 

and other factors. In February 2009, we increased the quarterly 

dividend to $0.43 per common share and in February 2008 it was 

increased to $0.42 per common share. 

$250 

$200 

$150 

SJflO 

$50 

AGL Resources Inc 

S&P5DD 

S&P Utilities 

Peer Group 
M5.21 
141 

176.24 
175.69. 

*JJ00 invested oh December 31,2003, in slock isrindex, vnc|ud(dg investment of 
dividends, foryears.erid'ifigbec.erTiber:31,-.;•-. .:'.- Source.-Research Data Group 

ia/03 \2im 12/05 12/06 12/07 12/08 

Design: Herring Design Photography: pages 1 and 7, Stan Kaady; 
page 4, S(epfje/i Marks; page 8, courlesy of Waf/lo House, Inc.; page 11. 
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AGL Resources serves more than 2.2 million end-use natu.rai gas customers in six 

states through its utility subsidiaries: Atlanta Gas Light, Chattanooga Gas, Elizabeth-

town Gas, Elkton Gas, Florida City Gas and Virginia Natural Gas. We provide asset 

management and related services to wholesale natural gas customers across the 

United States and in Canada through our subsidiary, Sequent Energy Management. 

We market natural gas in Georgia, Ohio and portions of the southeast U.S. through a 

70% ownership in SouthStar Energy Services. We own and operate complementary 

energy investments including Jefferson Island Storage & Hub, a high-deliverability 

natural gas storage facility near the Henry Hub in Louisiana, and the Golden Triangle 

Storage project, currently underdevelopment near Beaumont, Texas. 

'̂  AGL Resources' 
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Righ t c o m p a n y : with our portfolio of businesses across the 
natural gas value chain, our collective expertise, and our competitive 
year-in and year-out financial and operational performance, 
AGL Resources is the right company for today and tomorrow. 

Wholesale Services Geographic 
' Reach; Our, Houston-based'sub-, 
sidiaty, Sequent, is involved in asset 
management, energy marketing . 
and trading. Sequent serves the 
assefoptimization needs of utilities, 
marketei^. energy poolets, nnuriici-
paliti^s'a'nd industrial customers 
across the U.S. and in Canada. 

1 
Compass Energy 
Market Area 
(Wholesale Services) 

Major Interstate Pipelines 
whict^ are integral lo our 
operations, but are not 
ow/ned by us. 

^_^':!iiii'J^fiit, iJ:'j't' u'j'-:-.'!^ 

SomhSlar Energy 
Services Market Area 
(Kctail Energy Operations) 
Georgia 
North Carolina 
South Carolina 
Alabama 
Florida 
Ohio 
Tennessee 

Goiden Triangle 
Storage 

Sequent Energy ^ . m ^ 
Management Headquarters -.Jpf - " ^ , 

Jefferson Island 
Storage & Hub 

Distribution Operations 
Service Territory 
Atlanta Gas Light 
Chattanooga Gas 
Elizabethtovi'n Gas 
Elkton Gas 
Florida City Gas 
Virginia Natural Gas 



AGL Resources' portfolio of regulated and nonregulated operations complement each other as we 

deliver natural gas and value to our customers. This operational diversity also enables us to continue to 

deliver solid earnings for our shareholders even as market conditions fluctuate. 

If you're part of AGL Resources, you belong to a dedicated group that's committed to realizing the many 

benefits of natural gas, from wellhead to burner tip. Through the exceptional talents and knowledge of our 

employees, we know that we can deliver profitability to our shareholders, satisfaction to our customers 

and environmental benefits for everyone. / ^ ' ^ • \ . 

It - - I 

Our employees focus 
on delivering loour 
residential, commercial 
and industrial, retail arid 
wholesale customers \]z 
reliable and affordabk 
natural gas solutions 
they need and want. 
Employees like (lofttcj 
right): Waoda f^odrigii./ 
Senior Customer Sen ' . 
Ropresentalive; 
Alpa Fatel, Director, 
Finance; Caryn 
Schilstra, Director, 
Talent Development; 
Joe Surber, Managing 
Director, Information 
Services: Gary 
Sanche?.. Director, 
Key Accounts and 
Wholesale Services; 
Jesse Killings, Region 
Manager - Northeast 
Georgia; Blake O'Farrov/, 
Regulatory Analyst; 
Malcolm (Rocky) Sporer, 
Field Service Representative 
and Kim Tarr, Managing 
Director, Midstream Proiects 



AGL Resources creates value for our shareholders by capitalizing on opportunities within the natural 

gas value chain. From the production process to the delivery of natural gas to the end-user, our assets, 

operations and unique skills are called into play upstream, midstream and downstream. In areas where 

we do not actually own and operate assets, our businesses within the Distribution Operations, Retail 

Energy Operations, Wholesale Services and Energy Investments segments either provide services or 

partner across the natural gas value chain. 

We believe that natural gas, with its environmental, efficiency and economical benefits, will play a 

significant role in this country — from helping to slow global climate change to economic growth — 

for decades to come. And with our participation across most of the natural gas value chain, we 

believe that AGL Resources is uniquely and advantageously positioned to create lasting value for 

our customers and our stakeholders. 

Exploration, Production, Gathering, Processing. Sequent provides 
services for exploration and production companies, such as 
logistical and risk management services to small and medium-
sized producers, and we sell services to producers who need 
storage capacity 

Exploration, Production, Gathering, Processing 
X 

Upstream 

i 

Global Production, 
Gathering, Processing 

Wl 
Uquetied Natural Gas (LNGl 

LNG Regasification Terminals. LNG is unloaded at import termi­
nals, warmed to convert it back to its gaseous state and sent 
through pipelines for distribution. Although we do not currently 
operate any LNG terminals, we are actively planning to obtain 
an interest In pipelines connecting our Georgia service territory 
to an LNG facility at Elba Island, Georgia. We have undertaken 
this project to diversify our sources of natural gas. Currently, 
we receive the majority of our supply from production regions 
in and around the Gulf of Mexico where, generally, demand is 
growing faster than supply 

I NG Regasification 

r^i^sa&'^s^ 

Liquefied Natural Gas (LNG). 
Natural gas, in its cooled, liquid 
state (-260" F). can be efficiently 
transported internationally by sea 
and, domestically by truck. 

Shipping, LNG is typically transported 
by a specialized tanker with insulated 
walls and is kept in a liquid form. 
Because it is easily transported, LNG 
allows the production and marketing 
of natural gas deposits that were 
previously considered uneconomical 
to recover. 

Production 
Area Storage 

Production Area Storage. Natural gas storage 
plays a vital role in maintaining the supply needed 
to meet demand, and also sen/es as insurance 
against any unforeseen accidents, natural disas­
ters, or other occurrences that may affect the 
production or delivery of natural gas. Our natural 
gas storage business, which Includes the Jefferson 
Island Storage & Hub facility and the Golden 
Triangle Storage project, develops, acquires and 
operates high deliverability salt dome storage 
assets in the Gulf Coast region. 



Interstate or Intrastate Pipelines. 
The natural gas transportation system 
is a complex network of pipelines 
designed to quickly and efficiently 
transport natural gas from its origin 
to areas of high demand. Our utilities, 
SouthStar and Sequent contract for 
transportation capacity and participate 
in transactions to achieve the most 
advantageous costs for markets served. 
Although we do not own and operate 
any major pipeline systems, we 
construct, own and operate pipelines 
that connect to major systems to 
provide uninterruptible supply to our 
utilities and end-users. 

Power Generation / Industrial. While some power generation, large 
Industrial and commercial customers receive natural gas directly 
from high capacity interstate and intrastate pipelines, usually 
contracted through a natural gas marketing company most other 
customers receive natural gas from a natural gas utility In 2007, 
$250 million, or approximately 10%, of our operating revenues 
were from our industrial customers. 

/ 

Power Generation Industrial 

liiterbljle or 
intrastate Pipclinos 

m ^ 
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Midstream 
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Market Area Storage 
or Peaking 

Downstream 

Residential Commercial 

City Gate. Utilities typically 
transport natural gas from 
delivery points, often termed 
city gates. Our six utilities — 
Atlanta Gas Light, Chattanooga 
Gas, Elizabethtown Gas, 
Elkton Gas, Florida City Gas 
and Virginia Natural Gas — 
construct, manage and main­
tain thousands of miles of 
distribution pipelines from 
these city gates. 

X 

Market Area Storage or Peaking. 
tvlarket area or peak toad storage 
facilities are designed for short-term 
high deliverability. This means that 
natural gas can be withdrawn from 
storage quickly when needed. In 
addition to our utilities' LNG storage 
facilities and our propane air facility 
in Virginia, salt caverns such as our 
Jefferson Island Storage & Hub and 
our in-development Golden Thangle 
storage facility which together will 
provide more than 19 Bcf of working 
natural gas capacity, are among 
the most common type of peak 
load storage facilities. 

Residential / Commercial. Currently our utilities 
serve more than 2.2 million end-use customers and 
position AGL Resources as the largest distributor of 
natural gas in the southeastern and mid-Atlantic re­
gions of the U.S. based on customer count. Addition­
ally we market natural gas on an unregulated basis 
through our SouthStar joint venture, to approximately 
540,000 customers in Georgia under the brand 
name Georgia Natural Gas. In 2007, more than 
$2 billion, or approximately 82%, of our operating 
revenues were from our residential, commercial and 
transportation customers. 
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Anticipating national as well as our own future infrastructure needs (such as storage facilities and 

capacity, pipeline connections and distribution hubs) is critical to our ability to serve our customers. The 

increasing importance of the Beaumont area of the Texas Gulf Coast as a national energy crossroads is 

a good example. Here, new natural gas supplies and LNG imports join the nation's pipeline network that 

delivers natural gas to market. Currently, there's not enough storage capacity to meet rising demand for 

natural gas. We expect Golden Triangle Storage (GTS), one of AGL Resources' storage development 

projects, to help solve this problem. In December 2007, GTS received Federal Energy Regulatory 

Commission certification to proceed with the construction of 12 Bcf working gas storage capacity and 

a nine-mile pipeline to connect the facility to three interstate and three intrastate pipelines. When the 

two storage caverns are in full commercial operation in 2011 and 2013 respectively, we expect the 

amount of GTS storage capacity will represent enough natural gas supply to serve approximately 

300,000 homes for an entire year. 

Another example of AGL Resources' attention to infrastructure is the Hampton Roads Crossing (HRX) 

pipeline project in the Virginia Natural Gas service territory. Currently served by two separate pipeline 

systems that are each fed by single suppliers, the areas north and south of Hampton Roads 

are vulnerable to gas supply disruption. When completed in late 2009, HRX will consist of 21 miles of 

24" pipeline and compression facilities that will provide natural gas delivery to the area south of the 

Hampton Roads harbor and expanded service to other areas of southeastern Virginia. The availability of 

this additional natural gas supply to both areas minimizes the potential that customers in either location 

would be adversely affected by an upstream interruption in natural gas supplies. 

The Hampton Roads Crossing 
project, when completed, will 
provide natural gas delivery 
to the southern region of the 
service territory, minimize 
risks due to supply interrup­
tions and help meet contin­
ued demand growth. 

y 
HRX Pipeline Project 

Virginia 

Virginia Natural Gas 
Service Territory 



Righ t i ndus t r y : it's good to be green. And, given the inherent, 
environmentally friendly attributes of natural gas, AGL Resources 
is committed to being green. 
With oil prices exceptionally high and no new coal-fired or nuclear energy generation capacity scheduled 

to come on line in the foreseeable future, more and more Americans recognize natural gas as a preferred 

energy source. Natural gas is not only a clean-burning, econornicai fuel but, unlike oil, it's also a domestic 

supply resource that has yet to be fully developed, in 2006-2007, more than 95 percent of the natural gas 

consumed in the U.S. and Canada was produced in the U.S. and Canada.* 

AGL Resources is not just about selling our product. We're aboui providing otjr customers with what they 

need — to live comfortably, to fuel their businesses and run their communities — as cleanly as possible. 

The environmental and efficiency benefits of using natural gas for heating and home appliances, to run 

commercial equipment or to provide fuel for the genera- & | A " f " | | f ^ A I f ^ A ^ 

tion plants that provide electricity to communities, have | ^ / ^ | iJfx/AL w/AO 

everything to do with the health of our environment. T h G C l 9 8 n 6 r Q f e e n e r ChOJCe'^ 

*lndustfy statistics on pages 8 ttirougli 12 are based on information 
obtained from the American Gas Associalion and the Departmenl o( Energy. 
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Natural gas has the potential to make a significant difference in preserving and protecting the health of 

our environment today and tomorrow. When natural gas is used for furnaces, tankless water heaters, 

laundry kitchen and other appliances, CO2 emissions can be reduced by as much as 40 and, in some 

cases, up to 70 percent over other conventional fossil fuels. Just as importantly the use of natural gas 

also reduces the two hydrocarbon byproducts that are the building blocks of smog and acid rain — 

nitrogen dioxide and sulfur dioxide — and significantly reduces the presence of airborne particulate 

matter and other pollutants. 

This is why we at AGL Resources are so passionate about our product. And we're making smart invest­

ments in infrastructure projects that will enable our customers to continue to benefit from choosing natural 

gas. We are aggressively upgrading pipelines used to deliver supply to our customers by replacing aging 

infrastructure across our service areas — replacing cast iron and bare steel pipe with protected steel 

and plastic pipelines that significantly reduce "fugitive" emissions of greenhouse gases. 
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R i g h t t i r n e ; since 1970, oll consumption In the U.S. has risen 
nearly 200 percent and domestic production has decreased by 
50 percent. On a worldwide basis, energy has become an expensive 
commodity with exploration, production and distnbution costs rising 
dramatically while global supply continues to decline. Natural gas 
has always been the right environmental choice, but now it's also 
the right economic choice. 

As important as alternative and renewable energy sources are to meeting long-term energy needs, tliey 

account for only six percent of the nation's energy portfolio today and are simply not ready lo replace fossil 

fuels. Contrast that reality with the fact that natural gas is a readily available domestic energy resource that 

can be developed and used in environmentally friendly ways and exists in reserve amounts estimated at 

upwards of 1,525 trillion cubic feet ̂  enough to last more than SO years at current production rates. 

Natural gas has always been the right choice. But now, more than ever before, it's the \\gH ciioice at (.he 

right time. It's the bridge to America's energy future. 

12 
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Letter to Shareholders 

To Our Shareholders: 

As I begin my third year leading AGL Resources, I am 

extremely proud of our employees and their commitment 

to our company's success. Their efforts helped us achieve 

several important milestones during 2007 that position our 

company to provide long-term value to our stakeholders. 

I emphasize our focus on long-term value because it 

supports our fundamental belief that we operate this 

business not just for today for this quarter or for this 

year. We operate this business to generate sustainable 

returns for you, our owners, for many years to come, and 

to do so in a responsible way that best balances the 

needs of all our stakeholders. We make every operating 

and financial decision with those principles in mind. 

Financial Results 

2007 was a year that challenged us on several fronts. 

We certainly felt the effects of a weakening economy 

and a slowdown in the housing market in each of our six 

utility service areas, Our business also was impacted by 

a relatively stagnant natural gas pricing environment that 

limited our ability to capitalize on wholesale marketing 

opportunities. 

Despite these challenges, we earned $2.74 per basic 

share in 2007, a slight increase over the $2.73 per 

basic share we reported in 2006. Although these results 

were record earnings per share for the company, they 

were lower than we had expected, and fell short of 

the earnings guidance range we had provided investors 

during the year. 

Our 2007 earnings results reflect solid year-over-year 

improvements in three of our operating segments — 

distribution operations, retail energy operations and 

energy investments. Our other operating segment, whole­

sale services, continued to expand into strategic new 

markets, but its earnings performance was hampered 

by the persistent lack of volatility and commercial activity 

John V̂/. Somerhalder II 
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer 

in the natural gas market throughout the year. As a 

result, more than 90 percent of our earnings in 2007 

were generated by regulated and retail marketing portions 

of our business that serve end-use retail customers. 

In 2007, AGL Resources' board of directors approved an 

11 percent increase in the annual dividend, to $1.64 per 

share, and in February 2008, raised the dividend another 

2 percent to $1.68 per share. We have now established a 

track record of five consecutive years of dividend increases, 

reflecting the company's strong financial position and the 

long-term sustainability of our earnings growth. These 

dividend increases are consistent with our commitment 

to investors to maintain a dividend payout ratio that is 

in line with that of traditional gas utilities. 

We also repurchased approximately 2 million shares of 

our common stock in 2007, at an aggregate cost of 

$80 million. The combination of dividend increases and 

share repurchases reflects our continuing commitment to 

maximize shareholder value and demonstrates our confi­

dence in the long-term growth outlook for our company. 

Strategic Execution 

We took several important strategic steps in 2007 that 

position our businesses for long-term success. Some of 

these projects require significant investments of capital, 

and we will maintain our focus on generating returns 

on invested capital that are higher than the majority of 

companies in our peer group. 

14 



Our utilities intensified their marketing efforts to retain 

existing customers and add new ones. As a result, we saw 

a net addition of 21,000 customers, a 0.9 percent growth 

rate as compared to the prior year and a measurable 

improvement over the past two years. We achieved this 

top-line growth without losing sight of the rigorous focus 

on cost management that has been the longstanding 

hallmark of our utility business. 

We continued to expand the market presence of both 

our retail marketing and wholesale services businesses. 

Our retail marketer, SouthStar Energy Services, took im­

portant strategic steps toward expanding its competitive 

platform into other deregulating markets through its entry 

into the Ohio and Florida markets. Sequent Energy, our 

wholesale business, expanded its U.S. presence into 

the growing Pacific Northwest region as well as into the 

Canadian gas market. These moves position us well to 

take advantage of market opportunities in key parts of 

the natural gas value chain. 

We also made significant progress on our Golden Triangle 

Storage project in Beaumont, Texas. When complete, 

the first two phases of this project will add 12 billion 

cubic feet (Bcf) of working natural gas storage capacity 

in the Gulf Coast region, where storage will be a critical 

resource in high demand. The Federal Energy Regulatory 

Commission has approved our permit for the facility, a 

major milestone toward beginning construction of the 

project in the first half of 2008. We expect to put the 

project into initial commercial operation in late 2010. 

We are evaluating other opportunities to make capital 

investments in the storage segment of the natural gas 

value chain, as we strongly believe this infrastructure 

expansion will be vitally important to our country's energy 

needs in the future. 

Financial Highlights 

In millions, 
except per share amounts and market price 200G Change 

Operating revenues 

Net income 

Earnings per common share 

Basic 

Diluted 

Weighted average number of 
common shares outstanding: 

Basic 

Diluted 

Market capitalization {year end) 

Market price (year end, closing) 

Total assets 

$2,494 

$ 211 

$ 2.74 

$ 2.72 

77.1 

77.4 

$ 2,876 

$ 37.64 

$ 6,268 

$2,621 

$ 212 

$ 2.73 

$ 2.72 

77.6 

78.0 

$3,023 

$38.91 

$6,147 

(4.8%) 

(0.5%) 

0.4% 

-

(0.6%) 

(0.8%) 

(4.9%) 

(3.3%) 

2.0% 

will play a key long-term role in addressing many of the 

challenges of global climate change and greenhouse 

gas emissions. The direct use of natural gas is highly 

efficient and has a significantly lower carbon footprint 

than other traditional fuel sources. 

We also continued to be active with local, state and 

federal officials in support of developing sound energy 

policies that pave the way for finding new supply sources 

of domestic natural gas. Ensuring that supply keeps 

pace with the growing demand is absolutely essential to 

serving our customers well and keeping the price of our 

product competitive with other fuel sources. 

The progress we made in 2007 is a direct result of the 

hard work and commitment of the more than 2,300 

employees of AGL Resources. They come to work every 

day focused on making sure your investment in the long-

term future of our company is rewarded, and on their 

behalf, I thank you for your continued confidence in 

our company. 

Sincerely 

Environmental Focus 

Beyond financial results and operating successes, our 

company continued to strengthen its commitment to 

environmental responsibility and stewardship. We believe 

that natural gas, as the cleanest-burning fossil fuel. 

K£. 

John W.^Somerhalder 11 

Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer 

February 29, 2008 



AGL Resources Operations at a Glance 

Distribution Operations 

Atlanta Gas Light is the largest natural gas distributor 

in the southeast in terms of customers, providing gas 

delivery service to approximately 1.5 million residential, 

commercial and industrial end-use customers 

throughout Georgia. 

Chattanooga Gas provides retail natural gas service to 
approximately 61,000 residential, commercial and 
industrial customers in Hamilton County and Bradley 
County, Tennessee. 

Elizabethtown Gas provides natural gas sen/ice to approx­
imately 272,000 residential, commercial and industrial 
customers in northwestern and east central New Jersey. 

Elkton Gas provides natural gas service to approximately 

6,000 residential, commercial and industrial customers 

in northeastern Maryland. 

Florida City Gas provides natural gas service to approxi­
mately 104,000 residential, commercial and industrial 
customers in southeastern and east central Florida. 

Virginia Natural Gas provides natural gas service to 
approximately 269,000 residential, commercial and 
industrial customers in southeastern Virginia. 

Retail Energy Operations 

SouthStar Energy Services is a joint venture operating 

in Georgia under the trade name Georgia Natural Gas. 

The business supplies natural gas to approximately 

540,000 retail and commercial customers in Georgia 

and to more than 270 industrial customers throughout 

the southeast. SouthStar also provides gas supply to a 

large utility in Ohio. 

Wholesale Services 

Sequent Energy Management provides customers 

throughout the United States and in Canada with the 

ability to optimize their natural gas asset portfolio and 

increase cost effectiveness from wellhead to burner 

tip. Services include natural gas asset management, 

producer and storage sen/ices, and full-requirements 

supply, including peaking needs. 

Compass Energy provides natural gas commodity services 

and offers consulting services and logistics of natural gas 

to commercial and industrial customers. Its commodity 

business is focused in the mid-Atlantic states and its 

consulting services business serves clients throughout 

the United States. 

Energy Investments 

Jefferson Island Storage & Hub operates a high-deliver­
ability natural gas storage facility in Louisiana. The 
facility consists of two salt dome storage caverns with 
10 Bcf of total capacity and approximately 7 Bcf of 
working gas capacity 

Golden Triangle Storage plans to build a high-deliverabil­
ity natural gas storage facility in Texas. The project 
initially consists of two underground salt dome storage 
caverns that will hold approximately 17 Bcf of total 
capacity and approximately 12 Bcf of working gas 
capacity. 

AGL Networks is a carrier-neutral provider that leases 

telecommunication fiber to a variety of customers in 

the Atlanta, Georgia, and Phoenix, Arizona metropolitan 

areas, and has a small presence in other cities in the 

United States. AGL Networks provides conduit and dark 

fiber to its customers under long-term lease arrange­

ments, as well as telecommunications construction 

services. 

16 



AGL Resources Inc. 2007 Annual Report 

United States 

Securities and Exctiange Commission 

Washington, D.C. 20549 

Form 10-K 
(Mark Onei 

0 Annual Report Pursuant to Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 

For the fiscal year ended December 3 1 , 2007 

OR 

• T rans i t i on Repor t P u r s u a n t t o S e c t i o n 13 or 1 5 ( d ) of t h e Secur i t i es Exchange A c t of 1 9 3 4 

For the transition period from to 

Commission File Number 1-14174 

AGL RESOURCES INC. 
[Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter) 

Georgia 58-2210952 
{State Of other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization) 

Ten Peachtree Place NE, 
At lanta, Georgia 3 0 3 0 9 

{I.R.S. Employer Identification No.) 

4 0 4 - 5 8 4 - 4 0 0 0 

(Address and zip code of principal executive offices) 

Securit ies registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act : 

Tide of Class 

(Registrant's telepfione number, including area code) 

Name of each exctiange on which registered 

New York Stock Exchange Common Stock, $ 5 Par Value 

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) of the Act: None 

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a well-known seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405 under the Securities Act. Yes 13 No D 

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is not required to file reports pursuant to Section 13 or Section 15(d) of the Secuhties Act. Yes D No 0 

Indicate by ctieck mark whether the registrant: (1) tias filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the 
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months, and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements 
for the past 90 days. 

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquent filers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S K is not contained h(?rein, 
and will not be contained, to the best of registrant's knowledge, in definitive proxy or information statements incorporated 
by reference in Part 111 of this Form 10-K or any amendment to this Form 10 K. • 

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer or a non-accelerated filer. 

Large accelerated filer 0 Accelerated filer D Non-accelerated filer n 

indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined In Exchange Act Rule 12b-2). 

The aggregate market value of the registrant's voting and non-voting common equity held by non affiliates of the registrant, 
computed by reference to the price at which the registrant's common stock was last sold as of the last business day of the 
registrant's most recently completed second fiscal quarter, was $3,148,134,781 

The number of shares of the registrant's common stock outstanding as of January 3 1 , 2008 was 76,439,305. 

Documents incorporated by reference: 

Portions of the Proxy Statement for the 2008 Annual Meeting of Shareholders ("Proxy Statement") to be held April 30, 2008, 
are incorporated by reference in Part III. 

Yes 0 No D 

Yes • No 0 



AGL Resources Inc. 2007 Annual Report 

Table of Contents 

Page{s) Page(s) 

Glossary of Key Terms 
Referenced Accounting StancJards 

Part I 
Item 1, 

Item IB 
Item 2. 
Item 3. 
Item 4. 

Part II 
Item 5. 

Item 6. 
Item 7. 

Item 7A. 

Item 8. 

Business 
Distribution Operations 
Retail Energy Operations 
Wholesale Services 
Energy Investments 

Corporate 
Risk Factors 
Unresolved Staff Comments 
Properties 
Legal Proceedings 
Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders 
Executive Officers of the Registrant 

19 
20 

21-29 
22-24 
24-25 
25-27 
27-28 

28 
29-35 

35 
35 
35 
35 
36 

Market for the Registrant's Common Equity, 
Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer 
Purchases of Equity Securities 

Selected Financial Data 
Management's Discussion and Analysis of 

Financial Condition and Results 
of Operations 

Overview 
Executive Summary 
Results of Operations - AGL Resources 
Liquidity and Capital Resources 
Critical Accounting Policies 
Accounting Developments 
Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures 

About Market Risk 
Financial Statements and Supplementary Data 
Consolidated Balance Sheets 
Statements of Consolidated Income 
Statements of Consolidated Common 

Shareholders' Equity 

37-38 
39 

40-47 
40 

40-42 
42-47 
47-52 
52-56 
56-57 

57-61 
62-96 
62-63 

64 

65 

Item 9. 

Item 9A. 
Item 9B. 

Statements of Consolidated Cash Flows 
Note 1 - Accounting Policies and Methods 

of Application 
Note 2 - Financial Instruments and 

Risk Management 
Note 3 - Employee Benefit Plans 
Note 4 - Stock-based and Other Incentive 

Compensation Plans and Agreements 
Note 5-Common Shareholders' Equity 
Note 6 - Debt 

Note 7 " Commitments and Contingencies 
Note 8 - Income Taxes 
Note 9 - Segment Information 
Note 10 - Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited) 
Report of Independent Registered Public 

Accounting Firm 
Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants 

on Accounting and Financial Disclosure 
Controls and Procedures 
Other Information 

Part 111 
Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and 

Corporate Governance 
Item 11. Executive Compensation 
Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial 

Owners and Management and Related 

Stockholder Matters 
Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions 

and Director Independence 
Item 14, Principal Accountant Fees and Services 

66 

67-74 

74-76 
76-81 

82-86 
86 

87-89 
89-91 
92-93 
93-95 

96 

97 

98 
98 
98 

99 
99 

99 

99 
99 

Part IV 
Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules 100-105 
Signatures 106 
Schedule II 107 

18 



Glossary of Key Terms 

AGL Resources Inc. 2007 Annual Report 

Atlanta Gas Light Atlanta Gas Light Company 

AGL Capital AGL Capital Corporation 

AGL Networks AGL Networks, LLC 

AGSC AGL Sen/ices Company 

AlP Annual Incentive Plan 

Bcf Billion cubic feet 

Chattanooga Gas Chattanooga Gas Company 

Compass Energy Compass Energy Services, Inc. 

Credit Facility Credit agreement supporting our commercial 
paper program 

Deregulation Act 1997 Natural Gas Competition and 
Deregulation Act 

Dominion Ohio Dominion East of Ohio, a Cleveland, Ohio based 
natural gas company; a subsidiary of Dominion Resources, Inc. 

EBIT Earnings before interest and taxes, a non-GAAP measure 
that includes operating income, other income, equity in SouthStar's 
income, minority interest in SouthStar's earnings, donations and 
gain on sales of assets and excludes interest and income tax 
expense; as an indicator of our operating performance, EBIT should 
not be considered an alternative to, or more meaningful than, 
operaling income or net income as determined in accordance with 
GAAP 

EITF Emerging Issues Task Force 

Energy Act Energy Policy Act of 2005 

ERC Environmental remediation costs 

FASB Financial Accounting Standards Board 

FERC Federal Energy Regulatory Commission 

Fitch Fitch Ratings 

Florida Commission Florida Public Service Commission 

GAAP Accounting principles generally accepted in the United 
States of America 

Georgia Commission Georgia Public Service Commission 

Golden Triangle Storage Golden Triangle Storage, Inc. 

Heating Season The period from November to March when 
natural gas usage and operating revenues are generally higher 
because more customers are connected to our distribution 
systems when weather is colder 

Jefferson Island Jefferson Island Storage & Hub, LLC 

LIBOR London interbank offered rate 

LNG Liquefied natural gas 

LOCOM Lower of weighted average cost or current market price 

Louisiana DNR Louisiana Department of Natural Resources 

Maryland Commission Maryland Public Service Commission 

Marketers Marketers selling retail natural gas in Georgia and 
certificated by the Georgia Commission 

Medium-term notes Notes issued by Atlanta Gas Light with 
scheduled maturities between 2012 and 2027 bearing interest 
rates ranging from 6.6% to 9 .1% 

MGP Manufactured gas plant 

Moody's Moody's Investors Service 

New Jersey Commission New Jersey Board of Public Utilities 

NUI NUI Corporation 

NYMEX New York Mercantile Exchange, Inc. 

OCI Other comprehensive income 

Operating margin A measure of income, calculated as revenues 
minus cost of gas, that excludes operation and maintenance 
expense, depreciation and amortization, taxes other than income 
taxes, and the gain or loss on the sale of our assets; these items 
are included in our calculation of operating income as reflected in 
our statements of consolidated income. 

Piedmont Piedmont Natural Gas 

Pivotal Propane Pivotal Propane of Virginia, Inc. 

Pivotal Utility Pivotal Utility Holdings, Inc., doing business as 
Elizabethtown Gas, Elkton Gas and Florida City Gas 

PGA Purchased gas adjustment 

PRP Pipeline replacement program for Atlanta Gas Light 

S&P Standard & Poor's Ratings Services 

Saltville Saltville Gas Storage Company 

SEC Securities and Exchange Commission 

Sequent Sequent Energy Management, L.P. 

SFAS Statement of Financial Accounting Standards 

SNG Southern Natural Gas Company 

SouthStar SouthStar Energy Services LLC 

Tennessee Commission Tennessee Regulatory Authority 

VaR Value at risk is defined as the maximum potential loss in 
portfolio value over a specified time period that is not expected to 
be exceeded within a given degree of probability 

Virginia Natural Gas Virginia Natural Gas, Inc. 

Virginia Commission Virginia State Corporation Commission 

WACOG Weighted average cost of goods 

WNA Weather normalization adjustment 
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Referenced Accounting Standards 

APB 25 APB Opinion No. 25, "Accounting for Stock Issued to 
Employees" 

EITF 98-10 EITF Issue No. 98-10, "Accounting for Contracts 
Involved in Energy Trading and Risk Management Activities" 

EITF 99-02 EITF Issue No. 99-02, "Accounting for Weather 
Derivatives" 

EITF 00-11 EITF Issue No. 00-11, "Lessor's Evaluation of 
Whether Leases of Certain Integral Equipment Meet the Ownership 
Transfer Requirements of FASB Statement No. 13, Accounting for 
Leases, for Leases of Real Estate" 

EITF 02-03 EITF Issue No. 02-03, "Issues Involved in 
Accounting for Contracts under EITF Issue No. 98-10, 
'Accounting for Contracts Involved in Energy Trading and Risk 
Management Activities'" 

FIN 39 FASB Interpretation No. (FIN) 39 "Offsetting of Amounts 
Related to Certain Contracts" 

FSP FIN 39-1 FASB Staff Position 39-1 "Amendment of FIN 39" 

FIN 46 & FIN 46R FIN 46, "Consolidation of Variable Interest 
Entities" 

FIN 47 FIN 47, "Accounting for Conditional Asset Retirement 
Obligations, an interpretation of FASB Statement No. 143" 

FIN 48 FIN 48, "Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes, an 
interpretation of SFAS Statement No. 109" 

SFAS 5 SFAS No. 5, "Accounting for Contingencies" 

SFAS 13 SFAS No. 13, "Accounting for Leases" 

SFAS 66 SFAS No. 66, "Accounting for Sales of Real Estate" 

SFAS 71 SFAS No. 71 , "Accounting for the Effects of Certain 
Types of Regulation" 

SFAS 87 SFAS No, 87, "Employers' Accounting for Pensions" 

SFAS 106 SFAS No. 106, "Employers' Accounting for Postretire­

ment Benefits Other Than Pensions" 

SFAS 109 SFAS No. 109, "Accounting for Income Taxes" 

SFAS 123 & SFAS 123R SFAS No. 123, "Accounting for 
Stock-Based Compensation" 

SFAS 133 SFAS No. 133, "Accounting for Derivative Instruments 
and Hedging Activities" 

SFAS 141 SFAS No. 141, "Business Combinations" 

SFAS 142 SFAS No. 142, "Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets" 

SFAS 148 SFAS No. 148, "Accounting for Stock-Based 
Compensation — Transition and Disclosure" 

SFAS 149 SFAS No. 149, "Amendment of SFAS 133 on 
Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities" 
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I t em 1 . Business 

Nature of Our Business 

Unless the context requires otherwise, references to "we," "us," 

"our," the "company" and "AGL Resources" are intended to mean 

consolidated AGL Resources Inc. and its subsidiaries. 

We are an energy services holding company whose principal 

business is the distribution of natural gas in six states - Florida, 

Georgia, Maryland, New Jersey, Tennessee and Virginia. We gener­

ate nearly all our operating revenues through the sale, distribution, 

transportation and storage of natural gas. Our six utilities serve 

more than 2.2 million end-use customers, making us the largest 

distributor of natural gas in the southeastern and mid-Atlantic 

regions of the United States based on customer count. We are 

involved in several related and complementary businesses, includ­

ing retail natural gas marketing to end-use customers primarily in 

Georgia; natural gas asset management and related logistics activ­

ities for each of our utilities as well as for nonaffiliated companies; 

natural gas storage arbitrage and related activities; and the devel­

opment and operation of high-deliverability natural gas storage 

assets. We also own and operate a small telecommunications busi­

ness that constructs and operates conduit and fiber infrastructure 

within select metropolitan areas. 

We manage these businesses through four operating segments 

and a nonoperating corporate segment. Each operating segment's 

percentage contribution to the total operating EBIT for the last 

three years is indicated in the following chart. 

0% r 

2007 2006 2005 

[S j Energy Investments H Wholesale Services 

L J Retail Energy Operations ^ Distnbution Operations 

Over the last three years, on average, we have derived approx­

imately 85% of our EBIT from our regulated natural gas distribu­

tion business and the sale of natural gas to end-use customers 

primarily in Georgia through SouthStar, This statistic is significant 

because it represents the portion of our earnings that directly 

results from the underlying business of supplying natural gas to 

retail customers. SouthStar, which is subject to a different regula­

tory framework from our utilities, is an integral part of the retail 

framework for providing natural gas service to end-use customers 

in Georgia, 

We derived the remaining percentage (15% or less for the 

last three years) of our EBIT principally from businesses that are 

complementary to our natural gas distribution business. We 

engage in natural gas asset management and the operation of 

high-deliverability natural gas underground storage as ancillary 

activities to our utility franchises. These businesses allow us to 

be opportunistic in capturing incremental value at the wholesale 

level and provide us with deepened business insight about natu­

ral gas market dynamics. Given the volatile and changing nature 

of the natural gas resource base in North America and globally, we 

believe that participation in these related businesses strengthens 

our business. 

Operating revenues, operating margin, operating expenses and 

EBIT for each of our segments are presented in the following table 

for 2007, 2006 and 2005. 

Operating Operating Operating 

revenues margin'" expenses 

2007 

Distribution operations 

Retail energy operations 

Wholesale services 

Energy investments 

Corporate'̂ ' 

Consolidated 

2006 

Distribution operations 
Retail energy operations 

Wholesale services 

Energy investments 

Corporate'̂ ' 

Consolidated 

2005 

Distribution operations 

Retail energy operations 

Wholesale services 

Energy investments 

Corporate'̂ ' 

Consolidated 

$1,665 

892 

83 

42 

(188) 

$2,494 

$1,624 

930 

182 

41 

(156) 

$2,621 

$1,753 

996 

95 

56 

(182) 

$2,718 

$ 820 

188 

77 

40 

__ 
$1,125 

$ 807 

156 

139 

36 

1 

$1,139 

$ 814 

146 

92 

40 

— 
$1,092 

$485 
75 

43 

25 

8 

$636 

$499 

68 

49 

26 

9 

$651 

$518 

61 

42 

23 

6 

$650 

$338 

83 

34 

15 

(7) 

$463 

$310 

63 

90 

10 

(9) 

$464 

$299 

63 

49 

19 

(11) 
$419 

'••These are non-GAAP measurements 

operating income and net income is 

'- Includes intercompany eliminalions. 

. A reconciliation of operating margin and El 

contained in "Results of Operations" herein. 
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Distribution Operations 

The distribution operations segment is the largest component of 

our business and includes six natural gas local distribution utilities. 

These utilities construct, manage and maintain intrastate natural 

gas pipelines and distribution facilities and include: 

• Atlanta Gas Light 

• Chattanooga Gas 

• Elizabethtown Gas 

• Elkton Gas 

• Florida City Gas 

• Virginia Natural Gas 

Regulatory Environment Each utility operates subject to regula­

tions of the state regulatory agency in its service territories with 

respect to rates charged to our customers and various service and 

safety matters. Rates charged to our customers vary according to 

customer class (residential, commercial or industrial) and rate juris­

diction. Rates are set at levels that allow recovery of all prudently 

incurred costs, including a return on rate base sufficient to pay 

interest on debt and provide a reasonable return on common equity. 

Rate base generally consists of the original cost of utility plant in 

service, working capital, inventories and certain other assets; less 

accumulated depreciation on utility plant in service and net 

deferred income tax liabilities, and may include certain other addi­

tions or deductions. 

Atlanta Gas Light does not sell natural gas directly to its cus­

tomers and does not need or utilize a PGA. All of our other utilities 

are authorized to use a PGA mechanism that allows them to adjust 

their rates to reflect changes in the wholesale cost of natural gas 

and to ensure they recover 100% of the costs incurred in pur­

chasing gas for their customers. We continuously monitor the per­

formance of our utilities to determine whether rates need to be 

further adjusted through the regulatory process. We have fixed rate 

settlements in three of our six jurisdictions In Georgia, New Jersey 

and Virginia. 

Atlanta Gas Light's natural gas market was deregulated in 

1997 with the Deregulation Act. Prior to this act, Atlanta Gas Light 

was the supplier and seller of natural gas to its customers. Today, 

Marketers sell natural gas to end-use customers in Georgia 

and handle customer billing functions. The Marketers file their 

rates monthly with the Georgia Commission. Atlanta Gas Light's 

role includes: 

• distributing natural gas for Marketers 

• constructing, operating and maintaining the gas system infra­

structure, including responding to customer service calls and 

leaks 

• reading meters and maintaining underlying customer premise 

information for Marketers 

Atlanta Gas Light recognizes revenue under a straight-fixed-

variable rate design whereby Atlanta Gas Light charges rates to its 

customers based primarily on monthly fixed charges. The Marketers 

bill these charges directly to their customers. This mechanism min­

imizes the seasonality of revenues since the monthly fixed charge 

is not volumetric or directly weather dependent. Weather indirectly 

influences the number of customers that have active accounts dur­

ing the heating season, and this has a seasonal impact on Atlanta 

Gas Light's revenues since generally more customers are connected 

in periods of colder weather than in periods of warmer weather. 

Regulatory Agreements In September 2007, the Georgia 

Commission approved our request to obtain an undivided interest 

in pipelines connecting our Georgia service territory to liquefied 

natural gas facilities at Elba Island, Georgia. We along with SNG 

have undertaken this pipeline project in an effort to diversify our 

sources of natural gas. We currently receive the majority of our nat­

ural gas supply from a production region in and around the Gulf of 

Mexico and generally, demand for this natural gas is growing faster 

than supply. This project is contingent upon FERC approval and 

therefore SNG and ourselves jointly filed an application with the 

FERC in October 2007. We anticipate that we will receive FERC 

approval in 2008. Construction is expected to begin in 2008 and 

to be completed in 2009. 

In December 2007, the Florida Commission approved our 

request to include the amortization of certain components of the 

purchase price we paid for Florida City Gas in our calculation of 

return on equity. The costs will not be amortized for financial 

reporting purposes in accordance with GAAP but will be amortized 

over a period of 5 to 30 years for our regulatory reporting to the 

Florida Commission in connection with the Florida Commission's 

review of Florida City Gas' return on equity. Additionally and under 

the same order, the Florida Commission approved a five-year base 

rate stay-out beginning October 2007, whereby base rates will not 

be increased, except for certain unforeseen acts beyond our con­

trol. The five-year stay-out provision does not preclude the Florida 

Commission from initiating over earning or other proceedings. 

A November 2004 agreement between Elizabethtown Gas and 

the New Jersey Commission approved our acquisition of NUI 

Corporation. This agreement included, among other things, a base 

rate freeze for Elizabethtown Gas for the five-year period from 

November 2004 to October 2009. Beginning with the annual 

measurement period in December 2007, 75% of Elizabethtown 

Gas' earnings in excess of an 11% return on equity would be shared 

with rate payers in the fourth and fifth years of the base rate stay-

out period. 

Weather Normalization Certain of our non-Georgia jurisdictions 

have various regulatory mechanisms that allow us to recover our 

costs in the event of unusual weather, but they are not direct off­

sets to the potential impacts of weather and customer consumption 

on earnings. The tariffs of Elizabethtown Gas, Virginia Natural Gas, 

12 
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and Chattanooga Gas contain WNA provisions that are designed to help stabilize operating results by increasing base rate amounts charged 

to customers when weather is warmer than normal and decreasing amounts charged when weather is colder than normal. The WNA is most 

effective in a reasonable temperature range relative to normal weather using historical averages. The following table provides certain regula­

tory information for our largest utilities. 

Atlanta Gas Light 

Georgia 

Commission 

May 2010 

8.53% 

8.59% 

10.9% 

11.03% 

47.9% 

Elizabethtown Gas 

New Jersey 

Commission 

Jan .2010 

7.95% 

8.46% 

10.0% 

10.32% 

53.0% 

Virginia Natural Gas 

Virginia 

Commission 

Aug. 2011 

9.24% 

7.90% 

10.9% 

8.96% 

52.4% 

Florida Cily Gas 

Com 

Florida 

mission 

N/A 

7.36% 

6.09% 

11.25% 
7.04% 

36.8% 

Chattanooga Gas 

Ten nessee 

Commission 
Jan. 2011 

7.89% 

7.53% 

10.2% 

9.40% 

44.8% 

State regulator 

Current rates effective until 

Authorized return on rate base'" 

Estimated 2007 return on rate base'""' 

Authorized return on equity 

Estimated 2007 return on equity""-" 

Authorized rate base % of equity™ 

Rate base included in 2007 return 

on equity (in millions)""' 1,271 $441 $350 $146 $100 
equity reflected above were those authorized as of December 3 1 , 2007. 

iurisdiction. Returns are not necessarily consislent with GAAP returns. 

' "The authorized return on rate base, return on equity, and percentage of 

'^' Estimate ba^ecl on principles consistent with utility ratemaking in each • 

" 'Estimated based on 13-month average. 

-•*'Florida City Gas includes the impacts of the acquisition adjustment, as approved by the Florida Commission in December 2007, in ils rate base, return on tale base and return on equity calculations. 

Customer Demand All of our utilities face competition from other 

energy products. Our principal competition arises from electric 

utilities and oil and propane providers serving the residential and 

commercial markets throughout our service areas and the potential 

displacement or replacement of natural gas appliances v/ith 

electric appliances. The primary competitive factors are the prices 

for competing sources of energy as compared to natural gas 

and the desirability of natural gas heating versus alternative 

heating sources. 

Competition for space heating and general household and 

small commercial energy needs generally occurs at the initial instal­

lation phase when the customer or builder makes decisions as to 

which types of equipment to Install. Customers generally continue 

to use the chosen energy source for the life of the equipment. 

Customer demand for natural gas could be affected by numerous 

factors, including: 

• changes in the availability or price of natural gas and other 

forms of energy 

• general economic conditions 

• energy conservation 

• legislation and regulations 

• the capability to convert from natural gas to alternative fuels 

• weather 

• new housing starts 

In some of our service areas, net growth continues to be 

slowed due to the number of customers who leave our systems 

because of higher natural gas prices, slower economic growth in 

some of our service areas and competition from alternative fuel 

sources, including incentives offered by the local electric utilities 

to switch to electric alternatives. 

Through our targeted marketing and customer retention 

programs, we have improved the retention of our existing cus­

tomers. Additionally, these activities have enabled us to obtain new 

customers, although at a lower rate than expected, due in part to 

downturns in the general economy and the housing and related 

mortgage markets. We expect these conditions to continue for an 

extended period of time and that such conditions could impact our 

net customer growth. Consequently, we will focus even more on 

our marketing and customer retention efforts. 

These efforts include working to add residential customers, 

multifamily complexes and high-value commercial customers that 

use natural gas for purposes other than space heating. In addition, 

we partner with numerous entities to market the benefits of gas 

appliances and to identify potential retention options early in the 

process for those customers who might consider converting to alter­

native fuels. 

Collective Bargaining Agreements In 2007, collective bargaining 

agreements, representing 55 employees at Atlanta Gas Light, 

Chattanooga Gas and Elizabethtown Gas were terminated as a 

result of the decertification of the respective unions. Accordingly, 

these 55 employees are no longer represented by a bargaining 

agreement and now fall under our standard human resources pay 

and benefit plans and policies. In January 2008, approximately 

55 Florida City Gas employees filed for decertification of their 

union. The vote is expected to occur in February 2008. 
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The following table provides information about the collective bargaining agreements to which our natural gas local distribution utilities 

are parties. Additionally, we believe that our relations with our employees are good. 

Affiliated subsidiary Approximate H of employees Date of contfaci expiration 

Teamsters (Local Nos. 769 and 385) 

Utility Workers Union of America (Local No. 424) 

Internationa! Brotherhood of Electrical Workers (Local No. 50) 

Florida City Gas 

Elizabethtown Gas 

Virginia Natural Gas 

55 
160 
140 

Total 355 

March 2008 

November 2009 

May 2010 

Retail Energy Operations 

Our retail energy operations segment consists of SouthStar, a joint 

venture owned 70% by our subsidiary, Georgia Natural Gas 

Company, and 30% by Piedmont. SouthStar markets natural gas 

and related services under the trade name Georgia Natural Gas to 

retail customers on an unregulated basis, primarily in Georgia as 

well as to commercial and industrial customers, principally in 

Florida, Tennessee, North Carolina, South Carolina and Alabama. 

Based on its market share, SouthStar is the largest Marketer of 

natural gas in Georgia, with average customers in excess of 

530,000 over the last three years. 

SouthStar is governed by an executive committee, which is 

comprised of six members, three representatives from AGL 

Resources and three from Piedmont. Under a joint venture agree­

ment, all significant management decisions require the unanimous 

approval of the SouthStar executive committee,- accordingly, our 

70% financial interest is considered to be noncontrolling. Although 

our ownership interest in the SouthStar partnership is 70%, under 

an amended and restated joint venture agreement (Restated 

Agreement) executed in March 2004, SouthStar's earnings are allo­

cated 75% to us and 25% to Piedmont except for earnings related 

to customers in Ohio and Florida, which are allocated 70% to us 

and 30% to Piedmont. We record the earnings allocated to 

Piedmont as a minority interest in our consolidated statements of 

income, and we record Piedmont's portion of SouthStar's capital as 

a minority interest in our consolidated balance sheets. 

The Restated Agreement includes a provision granting us three 

opportunities to exercise an option to purchase Piedmont's owner­

ship interest in SouthStar. Our first option exercise opportunity 

was on November 1, 2007, which we did not exercise and we have 

two remaining opportunities on November 1, 2008 and 2009, to 

purchase certain portions of Piedmont's Interest, both of which 

would be effective on January 1 of the following year. If we were to 

exercise our option on November 1, 2008, Piedmont, at its 

discretion, could require us to purchase their entire ownership 

interest. The purchase price would be based on the fair market 

value of SouthStar. 

In August 2006, SouthStar was awarded the right to supply a 

total of approximately 10 Bcf of natural gas to customers of 

Dominion Ohio through August 2008 (approximately 5 Bcf/year). 

As part of this agreement, SouthStar manages the supply, trans­

portation and storage of natural gas on behalf of Dominion Ohio. 

The Dominion Ohio agreement did not materially affect our results 

of operations in 2007. SouthStar's entrance into the Ohio market 

is part of its continued growth strategy. 

SouthStar's operations also are sensitive to customer con­

sumption patterns similar to those affecting our utility operations. 

SouthStar uses a variety of hedging strategies, such as futures, 

options, swaps, weather derivative instruments and other risk man­

agement tools, to mitigate the potential effect of these issues on 

its operations. 

Competition SouthStar competes with other energy marketers, 

including Marketers in Georgia, to provide natural gas and related 

services to customers in Georgia and the Southeast. In addition, 

similar to our distribution operations, SouthStar faces competi­

tion based on customer preferences for natural gas compared to 

other energy products and the comparative prices of those 

products. SouthStar's principal competitors for other non-natural 

gas energy products relates to electric utilities and the potential 

displacement or replacement of natural gas appliances with elec­

tric appliances. This competition with other energy products has 

been exacerbated by price volatility in the wholesale natural gas 

commodity market and related significant increases in the cost of 

natural gas billed to SouthStar's customers, especially during por­

tions of 2005 and 2006. 

Operating margin SouthStar generates operating margin primarily 

in three ways. The first is through the sale of natural gas to retail 

customers in the residential, commercial and industrial sectors, 

primarily in Georgia where SouthStar captures a spread between 

wholesale and retail natural gas prices. The second way is 

through the collection of monthly service fees and customer late 

payment fees. 

SouthStar evaluates the combination of these two retail price 

components to ensure such pricing is structured to cover related 

retail customer costs, such as bad debl expense, customer service 

and billing, and lost and unaccounted-for gas, and to provide a 

reasonable profit, as well as being competitive to attract new cus­

tomers and maintain market share. SouthStar's operating margin 

is impacted by seasonal weather, natural gas prices, customer 

growth and SouthStar's related market share in Georgia, which has 

historically been approximately 35%, based on number of cus­

tomers. SouthStar employs strategies to attract and retain a higher 

credit-quality customer base. These strategies result not only in 

higher operating margin, as these customers tend to utilize higher 
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volumes of natural gas, but also help to mitigate bad debt expense 

due to the higher credit-quality of customers. 

The third way SouthStar generates operating margin is through 

its commercial operations of optimizing storage and transportation 

assets and effectively managing commodity risk, which enables 

SouthStar to maintain competitive retail prices and operating mar­

gin. SouthStar is allocated storage and pipeline capacity that is 

used to supply natural gas to its customers in Georgia. Through 

hedging transactions, SouthStar manages exposures arising from 

changing commodity prices using natural gas storage transactions 

to capture operating margin from natural gas pricing differences 

that occur over time. SouthStar's risk management policies allow 

the use of derivative instruments for hedging and risk management 

purposes but prohibit the use of derivative instruments for specu­

lative purposes. 

SouthStar accounts for its natural gas inventories at the lower 

of weighted average cost or current market price. SouthStar eval­

uates the weighted average cost of its natural gas inventories 

against market prices and determines whether any declines in mar­

ket prices belovi' the weighted average cost are other than tempo­

rary. For declines considered to be other than temporary, SouthStar 

records adjustments to cost of gas (LOCOM adjustments) in our 

consolidated statement of Income to reduce the weighted average 

cost of the natural gas inventory to the current market price. 

SouthStar recorded a LOCOM adjustment of $6 million in 2006. 

SouthStar did not record a LOCOM adjustment in 2007 or 2005. 

SouthStar also enters into weather derivative instruments in 

order to preserve operating margin profits in the event of warmer-

than-normal weather in the winter months. These contracts are 

accounted for using the intrinsic value method under EITF 99-02. 

The vi/eather derivative contracts contain settlement provisions 

based on cumulative heating degree days for the covered periods. 

SouthStar entered into weather derivatives (swaps and options) for 

both the 2006 to 2007, and 2007 to 2008 heating seasons. 

SouthStar recorded net gains on these weather derivatives of 

approximately $4 million in 2007 and $5 million in 2006. These 

gains were largely offset by corresponding losses of operating mar­

gin due to the warm weather the hedges were designed to protect 

against. SouthStar had no weather derivatives in 2005 and there­

fore no gains or losses were recorded during 2005. 

Wholesale Services 

Our wholesale services segment, which consists primarily of 

Sequent, focuses on asset management, transportation, storage, 

producer and peaking services and wholesale marketing. Sequent 

captures economic value from idle or underutilized natural gas 

assets, which are typically amassed by companies through invest­

ments in or contractual rights to natural gas transportation and 

storage assets. Operating margin is typically created in this busi­

ness by participating in transactions that balance the needs of vary­

ing markets and time horizons. 

In addition, Sequent takes advantage of arbitrage opportunities 

within the natural gas supply, storage and transportation markets to 

generate earnings, and its profitability is correlated to volatility in 

these markets. Natural gas market volatility can result from a 

number of factors, such as weather fluctuations or the change in 

supply of, or demand for, natural gas in different regions of the coun­

try. Sequent seeks to capture value from the price disparity among 

geographic locations and various time horizons created by this 

volatility. In doing so, Sequent also seeks to mitigate the risks 

associated with this volatility and protect its operating margin 

through a variety of risk management and hedging activities. 

Sequent provides its customers with natural gas from the major 

producing regions and market hubs primarily in the eastern and 

mid-continental United States. Sequent purchases transportation 

and storage capacity to meet its delivery requirements and customer 

obligations in the marketplace and its customers benefit from its 

logistics expertise and ability to deliver natural gas at prices that 

are advantageous relative to other alternatives. Sequent has entered 

into agreements that have facilitated the expansion of its operations 

into the western United States and Canada and plans to pursue 

additional opportunities in these regions during 2008. Sequent 

continues to work on projects and transactions to extend its oper­

ating territory and is entering into agreements of longer duration, 

as well as evaluating opportunities to expand its business focus and 

models including its commercial and industrial customer base 

through acquisitions and organic growth. 

Competition Sequent competes for asset management business 

with other energy wholesalers, often through a competitive bidding 

process. There has been significant consolidation of energy whole­

sale operations, particularly among major natural gas producers. 

Financial institutions have also entered the marketplace. As a 

result, energy wholesalers have become increasingly willing to place 

bids for asset management transactions that are priced to capture 

market share. We expect this trend to continue in the near term, 

which could result in downward pressure on the volume of asset 

management transactions and the related operating margin 

available in this portion of Sequent's business. 

Asset Management Transactions Sequent's asset management cus­

tomers include affiliated utilities, nonaffiliated utilities, municipal 

utilities, power generators and large industrial customers. These 

customers, due to seasonal demand or levels of activity, may have 

contracts for transportation and storage capacity, which may exceed 

their actual requirements. Sequent enters into structured agree­

ments with these customers, whereby Sequent, on behalf of 

the customer, optimizes the transportation and storage capacity 

during periods when customers do not use it for their own needs. 

Sequent may capture incremental operating margin through opti­

mization, and either share margins with the customers or pay them 

a fixed amount. 
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The following table provides additional information on Sequent's asset management agreements with its affiliated utilities. 

In millions 

Elkton Gas 

Chattanooga Gas 

Elizabethtown Gas 

Florida City Gas 

Virginia Natural Gas 

Atlanta Gas Light 

Total 

Expiration 

date 

Mar 2008 

Mar 2008 

Mar 2008 

Mar 2008 

Mar 2009 

Mar 2012 

Timing of 

payment 

Monthly 

Annually 

Monthly 

Annually 

Annually 

Quarterly 

Type of fee 

structure 

Fixed-fee 

Profit-sharing 

Fixed-fee 

Profit-sharing 

Profit-sharing 

Profit-sharing 

% Shared or 

annual fee 

(A) 

50% 
$4 

50% 

(B) 

60% 

2007 

$ -
2 

6 

1 

7 

9 

$25 

Profit sharing / fees payments 

2006 

$ -
4 

4 

— 
2 

6 

$16 

2005 

$ -
2 

~ 
— 
5 

4 

$11 
(A) Annual fixed fee is approximately $11,000. 
(8) Profit sharing is based on a tiered sharing structure. 

In October 2007, the Georgia Commission extended the asset 

management agreement between Sequent and Atlanta Gas Light to 

March 2012. Under the terms of the extended agreement, the 

sharing percentages are unchanged; however the agreement now 

includes guaranteed minimum annual payments to be made by 

Sequent of approximately $4 million. The contract year under the 

extended agreement will be April 1 to March 31 with Sequent mak­

ing quartedy sharing payments. Sequent is actively negotiating the 

renewal of its remaining affiliate asset management agreements 

scheduled to expire in 2008, which require regulatory approval. 

Transportation Transactions Sequent contracts for natural gas 

transportation capacity and participates In transactions that man­

age the natural gas commodity and transportation costs in an 

attempt to achieve the lowest cost to serve its various markets. 

Sequent seeks to optimize this process on a daily basis as market 

conditions change by evaluating all the natural gas supplies, 

transportation alternatives and markets to which it has access 

and identifying the least-cost alternatives to serve the various 

markets. This enables Sequent to capture geographic pricing 

differences across these various markets as delivered natural gas 

prices change. 

As Sequent executes transactions to secure transportation 

capacity, it often enters into forward financial contracts to hedge 

its positions. The hedging instruments are derivatives, and Sequent 

reflects changes in the derivatives' fair value in its reported 

operating results. During 2007, Sequent reported unrealized gains 

of $5 million associated with transportation capacity hedges, most 

of which are expected to be realized as these positions are settled 

in 2008. During 2006, Sequent reported unrealized gains of 

$12 million associated with transportation capacity hedges. The 

majority of this amount was realized during 2007 as the positions 

were settled. Sequent did not report any significant gains or losses 

on these types of hedges during 2005. 

Producer Services Sequent's producer services business primarily 

focuses on aggregating natural gas supply from various small and 

medium-sized producers located throughout the natural gas 

production areas of the United States, principally in the Gulf Coast 

region. Sequent provides producers with certain logistical and risk 

management services that offer producers attractive options to move 

their supply into the pipeline grid. Aggregating volumes of natural 

gas from these producers allows Sequent to provide markets to pro­

ducers who seek a reliable outlet for their natural gas production. 

Park and Loan Transactions Sequent routinely enters into park and 

loan transactions with various pipelines, which allow it to park gas 

on or borrow gas from the pipeline in one period and reclaim gas 

from or repay gas to the pipeline in a subsequent period. The 

economics of these transactions are evaluated and price risks are 

managed in much the same way traditional resen/oir and salt dome 

storage transactions are evaluated and managed. 

Sequent enters into fon^vard NYMEX contracts to hedge its 

park and loan transactions. While the hedging instruments 

mitigate the price risk associated with the delivery and receipt of 

natural gas, they can also result in volatility in Sequent's reported 

results during the period before the initial delivery or receipt of 

natural gas, During this period, if the forward NYMEX prices in the 

months of delivery and receipt do not change in equal amounts, 

Sequent will report a net unrealized gain or loss on the hedges. 

Although Sequent's quarterly results were modestly impacted 

by unrealized hedge losses during 2007 and 2006, on an annual 

basis Sequent did not report any significant gains or losses on park 

and loan hedges during 2007, 2006, or 2005. 

Mark-to-Market Versus Lower of Average Cost or Market Sequent 

purchases natural gas for storage when the current market price it 

pays plus the cost for transportation and storage is less than the 

market price it could receive in the future. Sequent attempts fo 

mitigate substantially all of the commodity price risk associated 

with its storage portfolio and uses derivative instruments to reduce 

the risk associated with future changes in the price of natural gas. 

Sequent sells NYMEX futures contracts or over-the-counter deriv­

atives in forward months to substantially lock in the operating mar­

gin it will ultimately realize when the stored gas is actually sold. 

We view Sequent's trading margins from two perspectives. 

First, we base our commercial decisions on economic value, which 

- iz 
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is defined as the locked-in gain to be realized in the statement of 

income at the time the physical gas is withdrawn from storage and 

ultimately sold and the derivative instrument used to hedge natu­

ral gas price risk on that physical storage is settled. Second is the 

GAAP reported value both prior to and at the point of physical with­

drawal. The GAAP amount is impacted by the process of account­

ing for the financial hedging instruments in interim periods at fair 

value between the time the natural gas is injected into storage and 

when it is ultimately withdrawn and the financial instruments are 

settled. The change in the fair value of the hedging instruments is 

recognized in earnings in the period of change and is recorded as 

unrealized gains or losses. The actual value, less any interim recog­

nition of gains or losses on hedges and adjustments for LOCOM, is 

realized when the natural gas is delivered to its ultimate customer. 

Sequent accounts for natural gas stored in inventory differ­

ently than the derivatives Sequent uses to mitigate the commod­

ity price risk associated with its storage portfolio. The natural gas 

that Sequent purchases and injects into storage is accounted for 

at the lower of average cost or current market value. The derivatives 

that Sequent uses to mitigate commodity price risk are accounted 

for at fair value and marked to market each period. This difference 

in accounting treatment can result in volatility in Sequent's 

reported results, even though the expected operating margin is 

essentially unchanged from the date the transactions were con­

summated. These accounting differences also affect the compara­

bility of Sequent's period-over-period results, since changes in 

forward NYMEX prices do not increase and decrease on a consis­

tent basis from year to year. During most of 2007 and 2006, 

Sequent's reported results were positively impacted by decreases 

in fonward NYMEX prices, which resulted in the recognition of unre­

alized gains; however, the impact was more significant for 2006. 

During 2005, the reported results were negatively impacted by 

increases in forward NYMEX prices. As a result the more significant 

unrealized gains during 2006 increased the unfavorable variance 

between 2007 and 2006 and had a positive impact on the favor­

able variance between 2006 and 2005. 

Energy Investments 

Our energy investments segment includes a number of businesses 

that are related and complementary to our primary business. The 

most significant of these businesses is our natural gas storage busi­

ness, which develops, acquires and operates high-deliverability 

salt-dome storage assets m the Gulf Coast region of the United 

States. While this business also can generate additional revenue 

during times of peak market demand for natural gas storage 

services, the majority of our storage services are covered under 

medium to long-term contracts at a fixed market rate. 

Jefferson Island This wholly owned subsidiary operates a salt dome 

storage and hub facility in Louisiana, approximately eight miles 

from the Henry Hub. The storage facility is regulated by the 

Louisiana DNR and by the FERC, which has limited regulatory 

authority over the storage and transportation services. The facility 

consists of two salt dome gas storage caverns with approximately 

9.72 Bcf of total capacity and about 7.23 Bcf of working gas 

capacity. The facility has approximately 0.72 Bcf/day withdrawal 

capacity and 0.36 Bcf/day injection capacity. Jefferson Island pro­

vides storage and hub sen/ices through its direct connection to the 

Henry Hub via the Sabine Pipeline and its interconnection with 

seven other pipelines in the area. Jefferson Island's entire portfo­

lio is under firm subscription for the current heating season. 

In August 2006, the Office of Mineral Resources of the 

Louisiana DNR informed Jefferson Island that its mineral lease — 

which authorizes salt extraction to create two new storage caverns 

^ a t Lake Peigneur had been terminated. The Louisiana DNR iden­

tified two bases for the termination: (1) failure to make certain 

mining leasehold payments in a timely manner, and (2) the 

absence of salt mining operations for six months. 

in September 2006, Jefferson Island filed suit against the 

State of Louisiana to maintain its lease to complete an ongoing 

natural gas storage expansion project in Louisiana. The project 

would add two salt dome storage caverns under Lake Peigneur to 

the two caverns currently-owned and operated by Jefferson Island. 

In its suit, Jefferson Island alleges that the Louisiana DNR 

accepted all leasehold payments without reservation and never pro­

vided Jefferson Island with notice and opportunity to cure, as 

required by state law. In its answer to the suit, the State denied that 

anyone with proper authority approved late payments. As to the 

second basis for termination, the suit contends that Jefferson 

Island's lease with the State of Louisiana was amended in 2004 so 

that mining operations are no longer required to maintain the lease. 

The State's answer denies that the 2004 amendment was properly 

authorized. During early 2008 we plan to intensify our efforts with 

the state of Louisiana to move the expansion project forward. If we 

are unable to reach a settlement, we are not able to predict the 

outcome of the litigation. As of January 2008, our current esti­

mate of costs incurred that would be considered unusable if the 

Louisiana DNR was successful in terminating our lease and caus­

ing us to cease the expansion project is approximately $6 million. 

Golden Triangle Storage In December 2006, we announced that 

our wholly-owned subsidiary. Golden Triangle Storage, plans to 

build a natural gas storage facility in the Beaumont, Texas area in 

the Spindletop salt dome. The project will initially consist of two 

underground salt dome storage caverns approximately a half-mile 

to a mile below ground that will hold about 12 Bcf of working nat­

ural gas storage capacity initially, or a total cavern capacity of 

approximately 17 Bcf. The facility potentially can be expanded to 

a total of five caverns with 28 Bcf of working natural gas storage 

capacity in the future based on customer interest. Golden Triangle 

Storage also intends to build an approximately nine-mile natural 

gas pipeline to connect the storage facility with three interstate 

and three intrastate pipelines. In May 2007, Golden Triangle 

Storage held a non-binding open season for service offerings at the 
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proposed facility, which resulted in indications of market support 

for the facility. 

Our current cost estimate for this facility is up to $265 mil­

lion, but the actual cost will depend upon the facility's configura­

tion, materials and drilling costs, the amount and cost of pad gas 

(which Includes volumes of non-working natural gas used to main­

tain the operational integrity of the cavern facility), and financing 

costs. This estimate could change due to changes in these factors, 

among others, as we refine our engineering estimates. 

In December 2007, Golden Triangle Storage received an order 

from the FERC granting a Certificate of Public Convenience and 

Necessity to construct and operate the storage facility and approv­

ing market-based rates for services to be provided. We accepted 

this FERC order in January 2008. The FERC will sen/e as the lead 

agency overseeing the participation of a number of other federal, 

state and local agencies in reviewing and permitting the facility 

Timelines associated with our commencement of commercial oper­

ations remain on track with initial construction on the first cavern 

expected to begin in the first half of 2008. 

AGL Networks This wholly owned subsidiary provides telecommu­

nications conduit and dark fiber. AGL Networks leases and sells 

its fiber to a variety of customers in the Atlanta, Georgia and 

Phoenix, Arizona metropolitan areas, with a small presence in other 

cities in the United States. Its customers include local, regional 

and national telecommunications companies, internet service 

providers, educational institutions and other commercial entities. 

AGL Networks typically provides underground conduit and dark 

fiber to its customers under leasing arrangements with terms that 

vary from one to twenty years. In addition, AGL Networks offers 

telecommunications construction services to its customers. AGL 

Networks' competitors are any entities that have laid or will lay 

conduit and fiber on the same route as AGL Networks in the 

respective metropolitan areas. 

Corporate 

Our corporate segment includes our nonoperating business units, 

including AGSC and AGL Capital. AGL Capital, our wholly owned 

subsidiary, provides for our ongoing financing needs through a com­

mercial paper program, the issuance of various debt and hybrid 

securities, and other financing arrangements. 

We allocate substantially all of AGSC's operahng expenses and 

interest costs to our operating segments in accordance with vari­

ous regulations. Our corporate segment also includes intercompany 

eliminations for transactions between our operating business seg­

ments. Our EBIT results include the impact of these allocations to 

the various operating segments. The acquisition of additional 

assets, such as NUI and Jefferson Island, typically enables us to 

allocate corporate costs across a larger number of businesses and, 

as a result, lower the relative allocations charged to those business 

units we owned prior to the acquisition of the new businesses. 

Our corporate segment also includes Pivotal Energy 

Development, which coordinates among our related operating seg­

ments the development, construction or acquisition of assets in 

the southeastern, mid-Atlantic and northeastern regions in order 

to extend our natural gas capabilities and improve system reliabil­

ity while enhancing service to our customers in those areas. The 

focus of Pivotal Energy Development's commercial activities is to 

improve the economics of system reliability and natural gas 

deliverability in these targeted regions. 

Additional Information 

For additional information on our segments, see Item 7, 

"Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and 

Results of Operations" under the caption "Results of Operations" 

and "Note 9, Segment Information," set forth In Item 8, "Financial 

Statements and Supplementary Data." 

Information on our environmental remediation efforts, is 

contained in "Note 7, Commitments and Contingencies," set forth 

in Item 8, "Financial Statements and Supplementary Data." 

Hedges 

Changes in commodity prices subject a significant portion of our 

operations to earnings variability Our nonutility businesses princi­

pally use physical and financial arrangements to reduce the risks 

associated with both weather-related seasonal fluctuations and 

changing commodity prices. In addition, because these economic 

hedges are generally not designated for hedge accounting treat­

ment, our reported earnings for the wholesale services and retail 

energy operations segments reflect changes in the fair values of 

certain derivatives. These values may change significantly from 

period to period and are reflected as gains or losses within our 

operating margin or our OCI for those derivative instruments that 

qualify and are designated as accounting hedges. 

Seasonality 

The operating revenues and EBIT of our distribution operations, 

retail energy operations and wholesale services segments are sea­

sonal. During the heating season, natural gas usage and operating 

revenues are generally higher because more customers are con­

nected to our distribution systems and natural gas usage is higher 

in periods of colder weather than in periods of warmer weather. 

Approximately 6 1 % of these segments' operating revenues 

and 69% of these segments' EBIT for the year ended 

December 31 , 2007 were generated during the heating season and 

are reflected in our statements of consolidated income for the quar­

ters ended March 31, 2007 and December 31 , 2007. Our base 

operating expenses, excluding cost of gas, interest expense and 

certain incentive compensation costs, are incurred relatively equally 
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over any given year. Thus, our operating results vary significantly 

from quarter to quarter as a result of seasonality. Seasonality also 

affects the comparison of certain balance sheet items such as 

receivables, unbilled revenue, inventories and short-term debt 

across quarters. However, these items are comparable when review­

ing our annual results. 

Available Information 

Detailed information about us is contained in our annual reports on 

Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on 

Form 8-K, proxy statements and other reports, and amendments to 

those reports, that we file with or furnish to the SEC. These reports 

areavailablefreeof charge at our website, www.aglresources.com, 

as soon as reasonably practicable after we electronically file such 

reports with or furnish such reports to the SEC. However, our web­

site and any contents thereof should not be considered to be incor­

porated by reference into this document. We will furnish copies of 

such reports free of charge upon written request to our Investor 

Relations department. You can contact our Investor Relations 

department at: 

AGL Resources Inc. 

Investor Relations - Dept. 1071 

P.O. Box 4569 

Atlanta, GA 30309-4569 

404-584-3801 

In Part 111 of this Form 10-K, we incorporate by reference from 

our Proxy Statement for our 2008 annual meeting of shareholders 

certain information. We expect to file that Proxy Statement with 

the SEC on or about March 19, 2008, and we will make it avail­

able on our website as soon as reasonably practicable. Please refer 

to the Proxy Statement when it is available. 

Additionally, our corporate governance guidelines, code of 

ethics, code of business conduct and the chad:ers of each of our 

Board of Directors committees are available on our website. We 

will furnish copies of such information free of charge upon written 

request to our Investor Relations department. 

Item lA. Risk Factors 

Cautionary Statement Regarding 

Forward-looking Statements 

Certain expectations and projections regarding our future perform­

ance referenced in this report, in other materials we file with the 

SEC or otherwise release to the public, and on our website are 

fonward-Iooking statements. Senior officers may also make verbal 

statements to analysts, investors, regulators, the media and others 

that are forward-looking, Forward-looking statements involve mat­

ters that are not historical facts, such as statements in "Item 7, 

Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and 

Results of Operations" and elsewhere regarding our future 

operations, prospects, strategies, financial condition, economic 

performance (including growth and earnings), industry conditions 

and demand for our products and sen/ices. We have tried, when­

ever possible, to identify these statements by using words such as 

"anticipate," "assume," "believe," "can," "could," "estimate," 

"expect," "forecast," "future," "goal," "indicate," "intend," 

"may," "outlook," "plan," "potential," "predict," "project," "seek," 

"should," "target," "will," "would," and similar expressions. 

You are cautioned not to place undue reliance on our forward-

looking statements. Our forward-looking statements are not guar­

antees of future performance and are based on currently available 

competitive, financial and economic data along with our operating 

plans. While we believe that our expectations for the future are rea­

sonable in view of the currently available information, our expecta­

tions are subject to future events, risks and inherent uncertainties, 

as well as potentially inaccurate assumptions, and there are numer­

ous factors - many beyond our control - that could cause results to 

differ significantly from our expectations. Such events, risks and 

uncertainties include, but are not limited to those set forth below 

and in the other documents that we file with the SEC. We note these 

factors for investors as permitted by the Private Securities Litigation 

Reform Act of 1995. There also may be other factors that we 

cannot anticipate or that are not described in this report, generally 

because we do not perceive them to be material, which could cause 

results to differ significantly from our expectations. 

Forward-looking statements are only as of the date they are 

made, and we do not undertake any obligation to update these state­

ments to reflect subsequent circumstances or events. You are 

advised, however, to review any further disclosures we make on 

related subjects in our Form 10-Q and Form 8-K reports to the SEC. 

Risks Related to Our Business 

Risks related to the regulation of our businesses could affect the 

rates we are able to charge, our costs and our profitability. 

Our businesses are subject to regulation by federal, state and local 

regulatory authorities. In particular, at the federal level our busi­

nesses are regulated by the FERC. At the state level, our businesses 

are regulated by the Georgia Commission, the Tennessee 

Commission, the New Jersey Commission, the Florida Commission, 

the Virginia Commission and the Maryland Commission. 

These authorities regulate many aspects of our operations, 

including construction and maintenance of facilities, operations, 

safety, rates that we charge customers, rates of return, the author­

ized cost of capital, recovery of pipeline replacement and environ­

mental remediation costs, relationships with our affiliates, and 

carrying costs we charge Marketers selling retail natural gas in 

Georgia for gas held in storage for their customer accounts. Our 

ability to obtain rate increases and rate supplements to maintain 

our current rates of return and recover regulatory assets and 
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liabilities recorded in accordance with SFAS 71 depends on regu­

latory discretion, and there can be no assurance that we will be able 

to obtain rate increases or rate supplements or continue receiving 

our currently authorized rates of return including the recovery of our 

regulatory assets and liabilities. In addition, if we fail to comply with 

applicable regulations, we could be subject to fines, penalties or 

other enforcement action by the authorities that regulate our 

operations, or othenwise be subject to material costs and liabilities. 

Deregulation in the natural gas industry is the separation of 

the provision and pricing of local distribution gas services into dis­

crete components. Deregulation typically focuses on the separation 

of the gas distribution business from the gas sales business and is 

intended to cause the opening of the formerly regulated sales busi­

ness to alternative unregulated suppliers of gas sales services. 

In 1997, the Georgia legislature enacted the Deregulation Act. 

To date, Georgia is the only state in the nation that has fully dereg­

ulated gas distribution operations, which ultimately resulted in 

Atlanta Gas Light exiting the retail natural gas sales business while 

retaining its gas distribution operations. Marketers then assumed 

the retail gas sales responsibility at deregulated prices. The dereg­

ulation process required Atlanta Gas Light to completely reorgan­

ize its operations and personnel at significant expense. If is 

possible that the legislature could reverse or amend portions of the 

deregulation process and require or permit Atlanta Gas Light to 

provide retail gas sales service once again or require our retail 

energy operations segment, SouthStar, to change the nature of how 

it provides natural gas and the rates used to charge certain cus­

tomers. In addition, the Georgia Commission has statutory author­

ity on an emergency basis to order Atlanta Gas Light to provide 

temporarily the same retail gas service that it provided prior to 

deregulation. If any of these events were to occur, we would incur 

costs to reverse the restructuring process or potentially lose the 

earnings opportunity embedded within the current marketing 

framework. Furthermore, the Georgia Commission has authority to 

change the terms under which we charge Marketers for certain sup­

ply-related services, which could also affect our future earnings. 

Our business is subject to environmental regulation in all jurisdic­

tions in which we operate, and our costs to comply are significant. 

Any changes in existing environmental regulation could affect our 

results of operations and financial condition. 

Our operations and properties are subject to extensive 

environmental regulation pursuant to a variety of federal, state and 

municipal laws and regulations. Such environmental legislation 

imposes, among other things, restrictions, liabilities and obligations 

in connection with storage, transportation, treatment and disposal 

of hazardous substances and waste and in connection with spills, 

releases and emissions of various substances into the environment. 

Environmental legislation also requires that our facilities, sites and 

other properties associated with our operations be operated, 

maintained, abandoned and reclaimed to the satisfaction of 

applicable regulatory authorities. Our current costs to comply with 

these laws and regulations are significant to our results of 

operations and financial condition. Failure to comply with these 

laws and regulations and failure to obtain any required permits and 

licenses may expose us to fines, penalties or interruptions in our 

operations that could be material to our results of operations. 

In addition, claims against us under environmental laws and 

regulations could result in material costs and liabilities. Existing 

environmental regulations could also be revised or reinterpreted, 

new laws and regulations could be adopted or become applicable 

to us or our facilities, and future changes in environmental laws and 

regulations could occur. With the trend toward stricter standards, 

greater regulation, more extensive permit requirements and an 

increase in the number and types of assets operated by us subject 

to environmental regulation, our environmental expenditures could 

increase in the future, particularly if those costs are not fully recov­

erable from our customers. Additionally, the discovery of presently 

unknown environmental conditions could give rise to expenditures 

and liabilities, including fines or penalties, which could have a 

material adverse effect on our business, results of operations or 

financial condition. 

There are a number of legislative and regulatory proposals to 

address greenhouse gas emissions such as carbon dioxide, which 

are in various phases of discussion or implementation. The out­

come of federal and state actions to address global climate change 

could result in a variety of regulatory programs including potential 

new regulations, additional charges to fund energy efficiency 

activities, or other regulatory actions. These actions could; 

• result in increased costs associated with our operations 

• Increase other costs to our business 

• affect the demand for natural gas and 

• impact the prices we charge our customers. 

Because natural gas is a fossil fuel with low carbon content, 

it is possible that future carbon constraints could create additional 

demand for natural gas, both for production of electricity and direct 

use in homes and businesses. 

Our infrastructure improvement and customer growth may be 

restricted by the capital-intensive nature of our business. 

We must construct additions to our natural gas distribution system 

to continue the expansion of our customer base. We may also need 

to construct expansions of our existing natural gas storage facilities 

or develop and construct new natural gas storage facilities. The 

cost of this construction may be affected by the cost of obtaining 

government and other approvals, development project delays, 

adequacy of supply of diversified vendors, or unexpected changes 

in project costs. Weather, general economic conditions and the cost 

of funds to finance our capital projects can materially alter the 

cost, and projected construction schedule and completion timeline 

of a project. Our cash flows may not be fully adequate to finance 

the cost of this construction. As a result, we may be required to 
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fund a portion of our cash needs through borrowings or the issuance 

of common stock, or both. For our distribution operations segment, 

this may limit our ability to expand our infrastructure to connect 

new customers due to limits on the amount we can economically 

invest, which shifts costs to potential customers and may make it 

uneconomical for them to connect to our distribution systems. For 

our natural gas storage business, this may significantly reduce our 

earnings and return on investment from what would be expected for 

this business, or may impair our ability to complete the expansions 

or development projects. 

Transporting and storing natural gas involves numerous risks that 

may result in accidents and other operating risks and costs. 

Our gas distribution activities involve a variety of inherent hazards 

and operating risks, such as leaks, accidents and mechanical prob­

lems, which could cause substantial financial losses. In addition, 

these risks could result in loss of human life, significant damage to 

property, environmental pollution and impairment of our operations, 

which in turn could lead to substantial losses to us. In accordance 

with customary industry practice, we maintain insurance against 

some, but not all, of these risks and losses. The location of pipelines 

and storage facilities near populated areas, including residential 

areas, commercial business centers and industrial sites, could 

increase the level of damages resulting from these risks. The occur­

rence of any of these events not fully covered by insurance could 

adversely affect our financiai position and results of operations. 

We face increasing competition, and if we are unable to compete 

effectively, our revenues, operating results and financial condi­

tion will be adversely affected and may limit our ability to grow 

our business. 

The natural gas business is highly competitive, and we are facing 

increasing competition from other companies that supply energy, 

including electric companies, oil and propane providers and, in 

some cases, energy marketing and trading companies. In particu­

lar, the success of our investment in SouthStar is affected by the 

competition SouthStar faces from other energy marketers provid­

ing retail natural gas sen/ices in the Southeast. Natural gas com­

petes with other forms of energy. The primary competitive factor is 

price. Changes in the price or availability of natural gas relative to 

other forms of energy and the ability of end-users to convert to 

alternative fuels affect the demand for natural gas. In the case of 

commercial, industrial and agricultural customers, adverse eco­

nomic conditions, including higher gas costs, could also cause 

these customers to bypass or disconnect from our systems in favor 

of special competitive contracts with lower per-unit costs. 

Our wholesale services segment competes with national and 

regional full-service energy providers, energy merchants and 

producers and pipelines for sales based on our ability to aggregate 

competitively priced commodities with transportation and storage 

capacity. Some of our competitors are larger and better capitalized 

than we are and have more national and global exposure than we 

do. The consolidation of this industry and the pricing to gain market 

share may affect our operating margin. We expect this trend to 

continue in the near term, and the increasing competition for asset 

management deals could result in downward pressure on the 

volume of transactions and the related operating margin available 

in this portion of Sequent's business. 

A significant portion of our accounts receivable Is subject to col­

lection risks, due in part to a concentration of credit risk in Georgia 

and at Sequent. 

We have accounts receivable collection risk in Georgia due to a 

concentration of credit risk related to the provision of natural gas 

services to Marketers. At December 31 , 2007, Atlanta Gas Light 

had 12 certificated and active Marketers in Georgia, four of which 

(based on customer count and including SouthStar) accounted for 

approximately 38% of our consolidated operating margin for 2007. 

As a result, Atlanta Gas Light depends on a concentrated number 

of customers for revenues. The failure of these Marketers to pay 

Atlanta Gas Light could adversely affect Atlanta Gas Light's busi­

ness and results of operations and expose it to difficulties in col­

lecting Atlanta Gas Light's accounts receivable. The provisions of 

Atlanta Gas Light's tariff allow it to obtain security support in an 

amount equal to a minimum of two times a Marketer's highest 

month's estimated bill. Additionally, SouthStar markets directly to 

end-use customers and has periodically experienced credit losses 

as a result of severe cold weather or high prices for natural gas that 

increase customers' bills and, consequently, impair customers' 

ability to pay. 

Sequent often extends credit to its counterparties. Despite 

performing credit analyses prior to extending credit and seeking to 

effectuate netting agreements. Sequent is exposed to the risk that 

it may not be able to collect amounts owed to it. If the counterparty 

to such a transaction fails to perform and any collateral Sequent 

has secured is inadequate, Sequent could experience material 

financial losses. Further, Sequent has a concentration of credit 

risk, which could subject a significant portion of its credit exposure 

to collection risks. Approximately 53% of Sequent's credit exposure 

Is concentrated in 20 counterparties. Although most of this con­

centration is with counterparties that are either load-serving utili­

ties or end-use customers that have supplied some level of credit 

support, default by any of these counterparties in their obligations 

to pay amounts due Sequent could result in credit losses that would 

negatively impact our wholesale services segment. 

The asset management arrangements between Sequent and our local 

distnbution companies, and between Sequent and its nonaffiliated 

customers, may not be renewed or may be renewed at lower levels, 

which could have a significant impact on Sequent's business. 

Sequent currently manages the storage and transportation assets 

of our affiliates Atlanta Gas Light, Chattanooga Gas, Elizabethtown 

Gas, Elkton Gas, Florida City Gas, and Virginia Natural Gas and 

shares profits it earns from the management of those assets with 
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those customers and their respective customers, except at 

Elizabethtown Gas and Elkton Gas where Sequent Is assessed 

annual fixed-fees payable in monthly installments. Additionally, for 

the newly extended Atlanta Gas Light asset management agree­

ment. Sequent will be required to make annual minimum payments 

of approximately $4 million payable on a quarterly basis. Entry into 

and renewal of these agreements are subject to regulatory approval 

and four are subject to renewal in 2008. In addition. Sequent has 

asset management agreements with certain nonaffiliated cus­

tomers. Sequent's results could be significantly impacted if these 

agreements are not renewed or are amended or renewed with less 

favorable terms. 

We are exposed to market risk and may incur losses in wholesale 

services and retail energy operations. 

The commodity, storage and transportation portfolios at Sequent and 

the commodity and storage portfolios at SouthStar consist of 

contracts to buy and sell natural gas commodities, including 

contracts that are settled by the delivery of the commodity or cash. 

If the values of these contracts change In a direction or manner that 

we do not anticipate, we could experience financial losses from our 

trading activities. Based on a 95% confidence interval and employing 

a 1-day holding period for all positions, Sequent's and SouthStar's 

portfolio of positions as of December 31, 2007 had a 1-day holding 

period VaR of $1.2 million and $0.03 million, respectively 

Our accounting results may not be indicative of the risks we are tak­

ing or the economic results we expect for wholesale services. 

Although Sequent enters into various contracts to hedge the value 

of our energy assets and operations, the timing of the recognition 

of profits or losses on the hedges does not always correspond to the 

profits or losses on the item being hedged. The difference in 

accounting can result in volatility in Sequent's reported results, 

even though the expected operating margin is essentially 

unchanged from the date the transactions were consummated. 

Changes in weather conditions may affect our earnings. 

Weather conditions and other natural phenomena can have a large 

impact on our earnings. Severe weather conditions can impact our 

suppliers and the pipelines that deliver gas to our distribution sys­

tem. Extended mild weather, during either the winter period or 

summer period, can have a significant impact on demand for and 

cost of natural gas. 

We have a WNA mechanism for Elizabethtown Gas and 

Chattanooga Gas that partially offsets the impact of unusually cold 

or warm weather on residential and commercial customer billings 

and our operating margin. At Elizabethtown Gas we could be 

required to return a portion of any WNA surcharge to its customers 

if Elizabethtown Gas' return on equity exceeds its authorized return 

on equity of 10%. 

Additionally, Virginia Natural Gas has a WNA mechanism for 

its residential customers that partially offsets the impact of unusu­

ally cold or warm weather. In September 2007, the Virginia 

Commission approved Virginia Natural Gas' application for an 

Experimental Weather Normalization Adjustment Rider (the Rider) 

for its commercial customers. The Rider applies to the 2007 and 

2008 heating seasons, with an opportunity for Virginia Natural Gas 

to extend the Rider for additional years. 

These WNA regulatory mechanisms are most effective in a 

reasonable temperature range relative to normal weather using his­

torical averages. The protection afforded by the WNA depends on 

continued regulatory approval. The loss of this continued regulatory 

approval could make us more susceptible to weather-related 

earnings fluctuations. 

Changes in weather conditions may also impact SouthStar's 

earnings. As a result, SouthStar uses a variety of weather deriva­

tive instruments to mitigate the impact on its operating margin in 

the event of warmer than normal weather in the winter months. 

However, these instruments do not fully protect SouthStar's earn­

ings from the effects of unusually warm weather. 

A decrease in the availability of adequate pipeline transportation 

capacity could reduce our revenues and profits. 

Our gas supply depends on the availability of adequate pipeline 

transportation and storage capacity. We purchase a substantial por­

tion of our gas supply from interstate sources. Interstate pipeline 

companies transport the gas to our system. A decrease in inter­

state pipeline capacity available to us or an increase in competi­

tion for interstate pipeline transportation and storage service could 

reduce our normal interstate supply of gas. 

Our profitability may decline if the counterparties to Sequent's 

asset management transactions fail to perform in accordance with 

Sequent's agreements. 

Sequent focuses on capturing the value from idle or underutilized 

energy assets, typically by executing transactions that balance the 

needs of various markets and time horizons. Sequent is exposed to 

the risk that counterparties to our transactions will not perform 

their obligations. Should the counterparties to these arrangements 

fail to perform, we might be forced lo enter into alternative hedg­

ing arrangements, honor the underlying commitment at then-cur­

rent market prices or return a significant portion of the 

consideration received for gas. In such events, we might incur addi­

tional losses to the extent of amounts, if any, already paid to or 

received from counterparties. 

We could incur additional material costs for the environmental 

condition of some of our assets, including former manufactured 

gas plants. 

We are generally responsible for all on-site and certain off-site lia­

bilities associated with the environmental condition of the natural 
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gas assets that we have operated, acquired or developed, regard­

less of when the liabilities arose and whether they are or were 

known or unknown. In addition, in connection with certain acqui­

sitions and sales of assets, we may obtain, or be required to pro­

vide, indemnification against certain environmental liabilities. 

Before natural gas was widely available, we manufactured gas from 

coal and other fuels. Those manufacturing operations were known 

as MGPs, which we ceased operating In the 1950s. 

We have identified ten sites in Georgia and three in Florida 

where we own all or part of an MGP site. We are required to inves­

tigate possible environmental contamination at those MGP sites 

and, if necessary, clean up any contamination. As of December 31 , 

2006, the soil and sediment remediation program was complete for 

all Georgia sites, although groundwater cleanup continues. As of 

December 31 , 2007, projected costsassociated with the MGP sites 

associated with Atlanta Gas Light were $35 million. For elements 

of the MGP program where we still cannot provide engineering cost 

estimates, considerable variability remains in future cost estimates. 

In addition, we are associated with former sites in New Jersey, 

North Carolina and other states that we assumed with our acquisi­

tion of NUI in November 2004. Material cleanups of these sites 

have not been completed nor are precise estimates available for 

future cleanup costs and therefore considerable variability remains 

in future cost estimates. For the New Jersey sites, cleanup cost 

estimates range from $61 million to $119 million. Costs have been 

estimated for only one of the non-New Jersey sites, for which cur­

rent estimates range from $11 million to $20 million. 

Inflation and increased gas costs could adversely impact our abil­

ity to control operating expenses, increase our level of Indebtedness 

and adversely impact our customer base. 

Inflation has caused increases in certain operating expenses that 

have required us to replace assets at higher costs. We attempt to 

control costs in part through implementation of best practices and 

business process improvements, many of which are facilitated 

through investments in informahon systems and technology. We 

have a process in place to continually review the adequacy of our 

utility gas rates in relation to the increasing cost of providing serv­

ice and the inherent regulatory lag in adjusting those gas rates. 

Historically, we have been able to budget and control operating 

expenses and investments within the amounts authorized to be col­

lected in rates, and we intend to continue to do so. However, any 

inability by us to control our expenses in a reasonable manner 

would adversely influence our future results. 

Rapid increases in the price of purchased gas cause us to 

experience a significant increase in short-term debt because we 

must pay suppliers for gas when it is purchased, which can be sig­

nificantly in advance of when these costs may be recovered through 

the collection of monthly customer bills for gas delivered. Increases 

in purchased gas costs also slow our utility collection efforts as 

customers are more likely to delay the payment of their gas bills, 

leading to higher-than-normal accounts receivable. This situation 

results in higher short-term debt levels and increased bad debt 

expense. Should the price of purchased gas increase significantly 

during the upcoming heating season, we would expect increases in 

our short-term debt, accounts receivable and bad debt expense 

during 2008. 

Finally, higher costs of natural gas in recent years have already 

caused many of our utility customers to conserve in the use of our 

gas services and could lead to even more customers utilizing such 

conservation methods or switching to other competing products. 

The higher costs have also allowed competition from products uti­

lizing alternative energy sources for applications that have tradi­

tionally used natural gas, encouraging some customers to move 

away from natural gas fired equipment to equipment fueled by 

other energy sources. 

The cost of providing pension and postretirement health care ben­

efits to eligible employees and qualified retirees is subject to 

changes in pension fund values and changing demographics and 

may have a material adverse effect on our financial results. 

We have defined benefit pension and postretirement health care 

benefit plans for the benefit of substantially all full-time employ­

ees and qualified retirees. The cost of providing these benefits to 

eligible current and former employees is subject to changes in the 

market value of our pension fund assets, changing demographics, 

including longer life expectancy of beneficiaries, changes in health 

care cost trends, and an expected increase in the number of eligi­

ble former employees over the next five years. 

Any sustained declines in equity markets and reductions in 

bond yields may have a material adverse effect on the value of our 

pension funds. In these circumstances, we may be required to rec­

ognize an increased pension expense or a charge to our statement 

of consolidated income to the extent that the pension fund values 

are less than the total anticipated liability under the plans. 

Natural disasters, terrorist activities and the potential for military 

and other actions could adversely affect our businesses. 

Natural disasters may damage our assets. The threat of terrorism 

and the impactof retaliatory military and other action by the United 

States and its allies may lead to increased political, economic and 

financial market instability and volatility in the price of natural gas 

that could affect our operations. In addition, future acts of terror­

ism could be directed against companies operating in the United 

States, and companies in the energy industry may face a height­

ened risk of exposure to acts of terrorism. These developments have 

subjected our operations to increased risks. The insurance indus­

try has also been disrupted by these events. As a result, the avail­

ability of insurance covering risks against which we and our 

competitors typically insure may be limited. In addition, the insur­

ance we are able to obtain may have higher deductibles, higher 

premiums and more restrictive policy terms. 
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Risks Related to Our Corporate and Financial Structure 

We depend on our ability to successfully access the capital and 

financial markets. Any inability to access the capital or financial 

markets may limit our ability to execute our business plan or pur­

sue improvements that we may rely on for future grovi^h. 

We rely on access to both short-term money markets (in the form 

of commercial paper and lines of credit) and long-term capital 

markets as a source of liquidity for capital and operating 

requirements not satisfied by the cash flow from our operations. If 

we are not able to access financial markets at competitive rates, our 

ability to implement our business plan and strategy will be affected. 

Certain market disruptions may increase our cost of borrowing or 

affect our ability to access one or more financial markets. Such 

market disruptions could result from: 

t 

• adverse economic conditions 

• adverse general capital market conditions 

• poor performance and health of the utility industry in general 

• bankruptcy or financial distress of unrelated energy companies or 

Marketers 

• significant decrease in the demand for natural gas 

• adverse regulatory actions that affect our local gas distribution 

companies and our natural gas storage business 

• terrorist attacks on our facilities or our suppliers 

• extreme weather conditions 

If we breach any of the financial covenants under our various credit 

facilities, our debt service obligations could be accelerated. 

Our existing Credit Facility and the SouthStar line of credit contain 

financial covenants. If we breach any of the financial covenants 

under these agreements, our debt repayment obligations under 

them could be accelerated. In such event, we may not be able to 

refinance or repay all our indebtedness, which would result in a 

material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and 

financial condition. 

A downgrade in our credit rating could negatively affect our ability 

to access capital. 

Our senior unsecured debt is currently assigned a rating of BBB+ 

by S&P, Baal by Moody's and A- by Fitch. Our commercial paper 

currently is rated A2 by S&P, P2 by Moody's and F2 by Fitch. If the 

rating agencies downgrade our ratings, particularly below invest­

ment grade, it may significantly limit our access to the commercial 

paper market and our borrowing costs would increase. In addition, 

we would likely be required to pay a higher interest rate in future 

financings and our potential pool of investors and funding sources 

would likely decrease. 

Additionally, if our credit rating by either S&P or Moody's falls 

to non-investment grade status, we will be required to provide 

additional support for certain customers of our wholesale business. 

As of December 31 , 2007, if our credit rating had fallen below 

investment grade, we would have been required to provide collat­

eral of approximately $26 million to continue conducting our 

wholesale services business with certain counterparties. 

We are vulnerable to interest rate risk with respect to our debt, 

which could lead to changes in interest expense and adversely 

affect our earnings. 

We are subject to interest rate risk in connection with the issuance 

of fixed-rate and variable-rate debt. In order to maintain our desired 

mix of fixed-rate and variable-rate debt, we use interest rate swap 

agreements and exchange fixed-rate and variable-rate interest pay­

ment obligations over the life of the arrangements, without 

exchange of the underlying principal amounts. See Item 7A, 

"Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk." We 

cannot ensure that we will be successful in structuring such swap 

agreements to manage our risks effectively. If we are unable to do 

so, our earnings may be reduced. In addition, higher interest rates, 

all other things equal, reduce the earnings that we derive from 

transactions where we capture the difference between authorized 

returns and short-term borrowings. 

We are a holding company and are dependent on cash flow from our 

subsidiaries, which may not be available in the amounts and at the 

times we need. 

A portion of our outstanding debt was issued by our wholly-owned 

subsidiary, AGL Capital, which we fully and unconditionally 

guarantee. Since we are a holding company and have no operations 

separate from our investment in our subsidiaries, we are dependent 

on cash in the form of dividends or other distributions from our 

subsidiaries to meet our cash requirements. The ability of our 

subsidiaries to pay dividends and make other distributions is subject 

to applicable state law. Refer to Item 5 "Market for the Registrant's 

Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases 

of Equity Securities" for additional dividend restriction information. 

The use of derivative contracts in the normal course of our business 

could result in financial losses that negatively impact our results 

of operations. 

We use derivatives, including futures, forwards and swaps, to manage 

our commodity and financial market risks. We could recognize 

financial losses on these contracts as a result of volatility in the 

market values of the underlying commodities or if a counterparty fails 

to perform under a contract In the absence of actively quoted market 

prices and pricing information from external sources, the valuation 

of these financial instruments can involve management's judgment 

or use of estimates. As a result, changes in the underlying 

assumptions or use of alternative valuation methods could adversely 

affect the value of the reported fair value of these contracts. 
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As a result of cross-default provisions in our borrowing arrange­

ments, we may be unable to satisfy all our outstanding obligations 

in the event of a default on our part. 

Our Credit Facility under which our debt is issued contains cross-

default provisions. Accordingly, should an event of default occur 

under some of our debt agreements, we face the prospect of being 

in default under other of our debt agreements, obliged In such 

instance to satisfy a large portion of our outstanding indebtedness 

and unable to satisfy all our outstanding obligations simultaneously. 

Item IB . Unresolved Staff Comments 

We do not have any unresolved comments from the SEC staff 

regarding our periodic or current reports under the Securities 

Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. 

Item 2. Properties 

Distribution Operations As of December 31 , 2007, the properties 

of our distribution operations segment represented approximately 

9 1 % of the net property, plant and equipment in our consolidated 

balance sheet. This property primarily includes assets used for the 

distribution of natural gas to our customers in our service areas, 

including more than 44,000 miles of distribution and transmission 

mains. We have approximately 7.35 Bcf of LNG storage 

capacity in five LNG plants located in Georgia, New Jersey and 

Tennessee. In addition, we own three propane storage facilities in 

Virginia and Georgia that have a combined storage capacity of 

approximately 4.5 million gallons. These LNG plants and propane 

facilities supplement the gas supply during peak usage periods. 

Energy Investments The properties in our energy investments seg­

ment are primarily investments that are complementary to our dis­

tribution operations or provide services consistent with our core 

enterprises, including a natural gas storage and hub facility in 

Louisiana located approximately eight miles from the Henry Hub. 

The Henry Hub is the largest centralized point for natural gas spot 

and futures trading In the United States. The NYMEX uses the 

Henry Hub as the point of delivery for its natural gas futures con­

tracts. Many natural gas marketers also use the Henry Hub as their 

physical contract delivery point or their price benchmark for spot 

trades of natural gas. Our natural gas storage and hub facility con­

sists of two salt dome gas storage caverns with approximately 

9.72 Bcf of total capacity and about 7.23 Bcf of working gas 

capacity. The facility has approximately 0.72 Bcf/day withdrawal 

capacity and 0.36 Bcf/day injection capacity. We completed a 

project during 2005 to expand compression capability, enabling 

us to increase the number of times a customer can inject and 

withdrawtheir total gas inventory annually from 10 to 12. 

In addition, energy Investments' properties include telecom­

munications conduit and fiber in public rights-of-way that are 

leased to our customers primarily in Atlanta and Phoenix. This 

includes over 93,000 fiber miles, a 17,000 mile increase com­

pared to 2006, of which approximately 29% of our dark fiber in 

Atlanta and 28% of our dark fiber in Phoenix has been leased. 

Retail Energy Operations, Wholesale Services and Corporate The 

properties used at our retail energy operations, wholesale services 

and corporate segments consist primarily of leased and owned 

office space in Atlanta and Houston and their contents. Including 

furniture and fixtures. The majority of our Atlanta-based employees 

are located at our corporate headquarters, a leased building with 

approximately 227,000 square feet of office space. In addition, 

our retail energy operations segment leases approximately 

30,200 square feet at another office building in Atlanta. We 

lease approximately 50,000 square feet of office space for our 

employees in Houston. 

We own or lease additional office, warehouse and other facil­

ities throughout our operating areas. We consider our properties 

and the properties of our subsidiaries to be well maintained, in 

good operating condition and suitable for their intended purpose. 

We expect additional or substitute space to be available as needed 

to accommodate expansion of our operations. 

Item 3. Legal Proceedings 

The nature of our business ordinarily results in periodic regulatory 

proceedings before various state and federal authorities. In addi­

tion, we are party, as both plaintiff and defendant, to a number of 

lawsuits related to our business on an ongoing basis. Management 

believes that the outcome of all regulatory proceedings and litiga­

tion in which we are currently involved will not have a material 

adverse effect on our consolidated financial condition or results of 

operations. Information regarding some of these proceedings is 

contained in Item 7, "Management's Discussion and Analysis of 

Financial Condition and Results of Operations" under the caption 

"Results of Operations" and in Note 7 "Commitments and 

Contingencies" to our consolidated financial statements under the 

caption "Litigation" set forth in Item 8, "Financial Statements and 

Supplementary Data." 

Item 4. Submission of Matters to a 
Vote of Security Holders 

No matters were submitted to a vote of our security holders during 

the fourth quarter ended December 31 , 2007. 
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Executive Officers of the Registrant 

Set forth below are the names, ages and positions of our executive officers along with their business experience during the past five years. 

All officers serve at the discretion of our Board of Directors. All information is as of the date of the filing of this report. 

Name, age and posilion with tlie company 

John W. Somerhalder II, Age 52'" 

Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer 

President and Chief Executive Officer 

Periods served 

October 2007 - Present 
March 2006-October 2007 

Andrew W. Evans, Age 41 

Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer 

Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer 

Vice President and Treasurer 

May 2006-Present 

September 2005 - May 2006 

April 2002 - September 2005 

Ralph Cleveland, Age 45 

Senior Vice President, Engineering and Operations 

Vice President, Engineering and Construction 

November 2004 - Present 

June 2002 - November 2004 

Henry P. Linginfelter, Age 47 

Executive Vice President, Utility Operations 

Senior Vice President, Mid-Atlantic Operations 

President, Virginia Natural Gas, Inc. 

June 2007-Present 

November 2004 ~ June 2007 

October 2000 - November 2004 

Kevin P. Madden, Age 55 

- Executive Vice President, External Affairs 
Executive Vice President, Distribution and Pipeline Operations 

November 2005 - Present 

April 2002 - November 2005 

Melanie M. Piatt, Age 53 

Senior Vice President, Human Resources 

Senior Vice President and Chief Administrative Officer 

September 2004-Present 

November 2002 ~ September 2004 

Douglas N. Schantz, Age 52'̂ ' 

President, Sequent Energy Management, L.P. May 2003 - Present 

Paul R. Shianta, Age 50 

Executive Vice President, General Counsel and Chief Ethics and Compliance Officer 

Senior Vice President, General Counsel and Chief Corporate Compliance Officer 

September 2005 - Present 

September 2002 - September 2005 
'•'Mr. Somerhalder was executive vice president of El Paso Corporalion (NYSE: EP) from 2000 until f/ay 2005, and he continued service under a professional services agreement from f/lay 2005 unti 

March 2006. 

'''f\i1f. Sciiant? served as vice president of the gas origination division at Cinergy fvlarketing & Trading, LP, an affiliate of Cinergy Corp (NYSE: CIN), from September 2000 to April 2003. 
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Item 5. Market for the Registrant's Common 
Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer 
Purchases of Equity Securities 

Holders of Common Stock, Stock Price and 
Dividend Information 

Our common stock is listed on the New York Stock Exchange under 

the symbol ATG. At January 31 , 2008, there were 10,697 record 

holders of our common stock. Quarterly information concerning our 

high and low stock prices and cash dividends paid in 2007 and 

2006 is as follows: 

Quarter ended: 

2007 

March 31 , 2007 

June 30, 2007 

September 30. 2007 

December 31, 2007 

Sales price 

of common stock 

High 

$42.99 

44.67 

41.51 

41.16 

Lov/ 

$38.20 

39.52 

35-24 

35.42 

Cash dividend per 

common share 

$0.41 

0.41 

0-41 

0.41 

$1.64 

2006 

March 31 , 2006 

June 30,2006 
September 30, 2006 

December 31 , 2006 

$36.48 

38.13 
40.00 

40.09 

$34.40 

34.43 

34.76 
36.04 

$0.37 

0.37 

0.37 

0.37 

$1.48 

We have historically paid dividends to common shareholders 

four times a year: March 1, June 1, September 1 and December 1. 

We have paid 240 consecutive quarterly dividends beginning in 

1948. Our common shareholders may receive dividends when 

declared at the discretion of our Board of Directors. See Item 7 

"Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and 

Results of Operations — Liquidity and Capital Resources — Cash 

Flow from Financing Activities - Dividends on Common Stock." 

Dividends may be paid in cash, stock or other form of payment, 

and payment of future dividends will depend on our future earn­

ings, cash flow, financial requirements and other factors, some of 

which are noted below. In certain cases, our ability to pay 

dividends to our common shareholders is limited by the following: 

• our ability to satisfy our obligations under certain financing agree­

ments, including debt-to-capitalization and total shareholders' 

equity covenants 

• our ability to satisfy our obligations to any preferred shareholders 

Under Georgia law, the payment of cash dividends to the hold­

ers of our common stock is limited to our legally available assets 

and subject to the prior payment of dividends on any outstanding 

shares of preferred stock. Our assets are not legally available for 

paying cash dividends if, after payment of the dividend: 

• we could not pay our debts as they become due in the usual 

course of business, or 

• our total assets would be less than our total liabilities plus, 

subject to some exceptions, any amounts necessary to satisfy 

(upon dissolution) the preferential rights of shareholders whose 

preferential rights are superior to those of the shareholders 

receiving the dividends 
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Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities 

The following table sets forth information regarding purchases of our common stock by us and any affiliated purchasers during the three months 

ended December 31 , 2007. Stock repurchases may be made in the open market or in private transactions at times and in amounts that we 

deem appropriate. However, there Is no guarantee as to the exact number of additional shares that may be repurchased, and we may 

terminate or limit the stock repurchase program at any time. We will hold the repurchased shares as treasury shares. 

Maximum number of shares that may 

yel be purchased under Ihe publicly 

announced plans or programs'" 

Total number of 

shares purchased"*" ' " ' 

446,788 
133,961 

2,592 

Average price 

paid per share 

$38.99 
38.63 
37.48 

Total number of shares 

purchased as pari of publicly 

announced plans or programs'^' 

446,788 
133,961 

— 

October 2007 446,788 $38.99 446,788 5,084,912 
November 2007 133,961 38.63 133,961 4,950,951 
December 2007 2,592 37.48 — 4,950,951 

Total fourth quarter 583,341 $38.90 580,749 . - - . ' 
' "The total number of shares purchased includes an aggregate of 2,592 shares surrendered to us to satisfy tax v/ilhholding obligations in connection wilh the vestingof shares of restricted slock and/or the 

exercise of stock options. 

'^'On March 20 , 2 0 0 1 , our Board o) Directors approved the purchase of up lo 600,000 shares of our common stock in the open market Co be used for issuances under the Officer Incentive Plan (Oll/cer 

Plan). We did not purchase any shares for such purposes in the fourth quarter of 2007. As of December 3 1 , 2007, v/e had purchased a total 297,234 of the 600,000 shares aulhoriied for purchase, 

leaving 302,?66 shares available for purchase under this program. 

'^'On February 3, 2005. we announced (hat our Board of Directors had authorized a plan to repurchase up to a total of 8 million shares of our common stock, excluding Ihe shares remaining available for 

purchase in connection with the Officer Plan as described in note (2) above, over a five-year period. 

The information required by this item regarding securities authorized for issuance under our equity compensation plans will be set forth 

under the caption "Executive Compensation — Equity Compensation Plan Information" in the Proxy Statement for our 2008 Annual Meeting 

of Shareholders or in a subsequent amendment to this report. All such information will be incorporated by reference from the Proxy Statement 

In Item 12, "Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters" hereof or set forth in such 

amendment to this report. 

38 



AGL Resources Inc. 2007 Annual Report 

Item 6. Selected Financial Data 

Selected financial data about AGL Resources for the last five years is set forth in the table below. You should read the data in the table In 

conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and related notes set forth in Item 8, "Financial Statements and Supplementary Data." 

Dollars and shares in millions, except per share amounts 2006 2004 2003 

Income statement data 
Operating revenues 
Cost of gas 

$2,494 

1,369 
$2,621 
1,482 

$2,718 
1.626 

Operating margin'" 1,125 1,139 1.092 

$1,832 
995 
837' 

983 
339 

644 
Operating expenses 

Operation and maintenance 
Depreciation and amortization 
Taxes other than income taxes 

451 
144 
41 

473 
138 
40 

477 
133 
40 

377 
99 
29 

283 
91 
28 

Total operating expenses 636 651 650 505 
Gain on sale of Caroline Street campus 

402 
16 

Operating income 
Equity in earnings of SouthStar Energy Services LLC 
Other income (expense) 
Minority interest 

489 

4 
(30) 

488 

(1) 
(23) 

442 

(1) 
(22) 

Earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT)"' 
Interest expense 

463 
125 

464 

123 

419 
109 

332 

(182̂  
314 
71 

258 
46 
(6) 

298 
75 

Earnings before income taxes 
Income taxes 

338 
127 

341 
129 

310 
117 

Income before cumulative effect of change in accounting principle 
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle, net of $5 in income taxes 

211 212 193 

243 
90 

153 

223 
_87 

'136 
(8) 

Net income $ 211 212 $ 193 153 $ 128 
Common stock data 
Weighted average shares outstanding basic 
Weighted average shares outstanding diluted 
Total shares outstanding"' 

77.1 
77.4 
76.4 

77.6 
78.0 
77.7 

77.3 
77.8 
77.8 

66.3 
67.0 
76.7 

63.1 
63.7 
64.5 

Earnings per share ~ basic 
Earnings per share - diluted 
Dividends declared per share 
Dividend payout ratio 
Dividend yield 

$ 2.74 
$ 2.72 
$ 1.64 

60% 
4.4% 

2.73 
2.72 
1.48 

54% 
3.8% 

2.50 
2.48 
1.30 

52% 
3.7% 

2.30 
2.28 
1.15 

50% 
3.5% 

Book value per share'̂ ' 
Price-earnings ratio 
Stock price market range 

Market value per share"" 
Market value'" 

$21.74 
13.7 

$35.24-
$44.67 

$37.64 
$2,876 

$20.72 
14.3 

$34.40-
$40.09 

$38.91 
$3,023 

$19.27 
13.9 

$32.00-
$39.32 

$34.81 
$2,708 

$18.04 
14.5 

$26.50-
$33.65 

$33.24 
$2,551 

$ 2.03 
$ 2.01 
$ 1.11 

55% 
3̂ 8̂% 

$14.66 
14.3 

$21.90-
$29.35 

$29.10 
$1,877 

Balance sheet data''' 
Total assets 
Property, plant and equipment - net 
Working capital 
Total debt 
Common shareholders' equity 

$6,268 
3,566 
165 

2,254 
1,661 

147 $6,320 $5,637 $3,972 

3,436 
156 

2,161 
1,609 

3,333 
73 

2,137 
1,499 

3.178 
(20) 

1,957 
1.385 

Cash flow data 
Net cash provided by operating activities 
Propedy, plant and equipment expenditures 
Net borrowings and (payments) of short-term debt 

376 
259 
52 

354 
253 
6 

80 
267 
188 

287 
264 
(480) 

2,345 
(306) 
1,340 
945 

• 122 
158 
(82) 

Financial ratios -•' 
Total debt 
Common shareholders' equity 

58% 
42% 

57% 
43% 

Total 100% 100% 

59% 
4 1 % 

100% 

59% 
4 1 % 

i'oo%' 

59% 
4 1 % 

100% 

Return on average common shareholders' equity 12.9% 13.6% 13.4% 13.1% 15.5% 
' These are non-GAAP measurements. A reconciliation of operating margin and EBIT lo our operating income and net income is contained in Item 7, "f̂ lanagemenl's Discussion and Analysis of Financial 
Condition and Results of Operations-AGL Resources-Results of Operations." '''As ot the last day of the fiscal period. "'Common shareholders' equily divided Uy total oulslanding common shares 
as ot the last day of the fiscal period. •'"Closing price of common stock on (he New York Slock Exchange as of the lasl trading day of the fiscal period. 
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MD&A 

Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of 
Financial Condition and Results of Operations 

Overview 

We are an energy services holding company whose principal busi­

ness is the distribution of natural gas in six states - Florida, Georgia, 

Maryland, New Jersey, Tennessee and Virginia. Our six utilities sen/e 

more than 2.2 million end-use customers, making us the largest 

distributor of natural gas in the southeastern and mid-Atlantic 

regions of the United States based on customer count. We are 

involved in various related businesses, including retail natural gas 

marketing to end-use customers primarily in Georgia; natural gas 

asset management and related logistics activities for our own util­

ities as well as for nonaffiliated companies; natural gas storage 

arbitrage and related activities; and the development and operation 

of high-deliverability underground natural gas storage assets. We 

also own and operate a small telecommunications business that 

constructs and operates conduit and fiber Infrastructure within 

select metropolitan areas. We manage these businesses through 

four operating segments — distribution operations, retail energy 

operations, wholesale services and energy investments — and a 

nonoperating corporate segment. As of January 31 , 2008, we 

employed a total of 2,332 employees across these five segments. 

The distribution operations segment is the largest component 

of our business and is subject to regulation and oversight by 

agencies in each of the six states we sen/e. These agencies approve 

natural gas rates designed to provide us the opportunity to generate 

revenues to recover the cost of natural gas delivered to our 

customers and our fixed and variable costs such as depreciation, 

interest, maintenance and overhead costs, and to earn a reasonable 

return for our shareholders. With the exception of Atlanta Gas Light, 

our largest utility, the earnings of our regulated utilities can be 

. affected by customer consumption patterns that are a function of 

weather conditions and price levels for natural gas. Various 

mechanisms exist that limit our exposure to weather changes within 

typical ranges In all of our jurisdictions. Our retail energy operations 

segment, which consists of SouthStar, also is weather sensitive and 

uses a variety of hedging strategies, such as weather derivative 

instruments and other risk management tools, to mitigate potential 

weather impacts. Our Sequent subsidiary within our wholesale 

sen/ices segment is relatively temperature sensitive, but has greater 

opportunity to capture margin as price volatility increases. Our 

energy investments segment's primary activity is our natural gas 

storage business, which develops, acquires and operates high-

deliverability salt-dome storage assets tn the Gulf Coast region of 

the United States. While this business also can generate additional 

revenue during times of peak market demand for natural gas 

storage services, the majority of our storage services are covered 

under medium to long-term contracts at a fixed market rate. 

Executive Summary 

In support of our goals for 2007, we focused our efforts around 

five key operating priorities as discussed below. 

Marketing and customer retention investments in distribution 

operations and retail energy operations 

We targeted overall net customer growth rates for our distribution 

operations business in the range of 1% to 1.5%. In each of our 

utility service areas, we Implemented targeted marketing and 

growth programs aimed at emphasizing natural gas as the fuel of 

choice for customers and expanding the use of natural gas through 

a variety of promotional activities. In 2007, we grew our average 

customer count by approximately 21,000, a 0.9% increase as 

compared to last year. While this increase is slightly below our 

targeted range, the increase in the growth rate is an improvement 

over our relatively flat customer growth in 2006. Last year we had 

slower customer growth coming out of the winter heating season 

due in part to much higher natural gas prices, warmer weather and 

a higher average customer attrition rate of 1.9% in 2006 as 

compared to 1.2% in 2007, which reflects a 37% improvement. 

Our customer growth rate was negatively impacted by the downturn 

in the housing market during 2007; factors which are expected to 

continue to have a negative impact on customer growth in 2008. 

We continue to focus significant efforts in our distribution 

operations business on improving our net customer growth trends, 

despite the overall economy and the industry-wide challenges of 

rising natural gas prices, competition from alternative fuels and 

declining natural gas usage per customer. 

These factors also impact customer growth at SouthStar where 

we are also focused on similar customer growth initiatives. We will 

continue to enter new markets and improve the overall profitabil­

ity of its customers through a variety of enhancements to existing, 

and the implementation of new, product offerings and pricing 

plans. In 2007, SouthStar grew its average customer count by 

approximately 7,000 or a 1,3% increase over last year. 

Return to normal weather and usage patterns 

In 2007, we saw average customer usage patterns related to 

natural gas price and weather conditions return to levels more 

consistent with historical averages. As the weather grew colder, 

compared to last year, and moved closer to 10-year average weather 

patterns primarily in Maryland, New Jersey and Virginia, we saw 

the conservation that occurred a year ago largely reverse itself and 

return to expected levels. Due to these factors, coupled with our 

targeted marketing and growth programs mentioned above, our 

overall throughput in 2007 at distribution operations increased 1% 

as compared to prior year and 3% at SouthStar for its customers 

in Georgia. While we saw these improvements in throughput and 

weather that was colder than last year by 10% in Maryland, 17% 

in New Jersey and 6% in Virginia, weather did not completely 

return to normal and consequently our earnings continue to be 
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negatively impacted by warmer-than-normal weather. We attempt 

to stabilize and mitigate the impact to our earnings due to weather 

through hedging activities at SouthStar and through WNA 

regulatory mechanisms in distribution operations. While our 

hedging activities in 2007 at SouthStar largely offset the negative 

impact to earnings due to weather that was warmer than normal, 

distribution operations earnings were negatively impacted by 

$9 million due to weather that was warmer than normal and 

because the WNA regulatory mechanisms did not completely offset 

the negative impact to earnings from decreased consumption 

resulting from the warmer weather. These WNA regulatory 

mechanisms are most effective in reasonable temperature ranges 

relative to normal weather using historical averages due in part to 

their inherent design but also due to customer consumption 

patterns that are affected by weather conditions other than 

temperature. These other weather conditions include wind, cloud 

cover, precipitation and the duration of colder weather, among 

others, that are not captured in weather normalization adjustments, 

which are based primarily on average temperatures. 

There are a number of legislative and regulatory proposals to 

address greenhouse gas emissions such as carbon dioxide, which 

are in various phases of discussion or implementation. We con­

tinue to actively monitor these proposals and discussions because 

the results could negatively impact our operations through reduced 

demand for natural gas and increased costs to our business. While 

we are unable to predict the outcome and quantify any impacts 

from these discussions and proposals at this point, we are active 

in promoting natural gas as the cleanest and most efficient burn­

ing fossil fuel with the lowest carbon content as compared to oil 

and coal. 

Volatility in wholesale markets 

Lower volatility in the natural gas markets, as compared to last 

year, has limited Sequent's asset optimization and arbitrage 

opportunities to generate operating margin in 2007. An Important 

component of Sequent's business is its ability to capture operating 

margin based on seasonal and locational spreads, both of which 

were significantly reduced in 2007 as compared to 2006. We 

continue to expect less volatility in the natural gas markets and, 

therefore, we expect Sequent's abilities to capture economic value 

from asset optimization and arbitrage opportunities to be more 

consistent with those captured in 2007 as opposed to 2006 

and 2005. 

Operational efficiency and cost control 

We continue to focus on operating our business as efficiently as 

possible, especially within our distribution operations and corporate 

segments through control of our operating costs. One of the key 

metrics we monitor in distribution operations is our operation and 

maintenance expenses per customer that was $145 per customer 

for 2007 as compared to $156 per customer in 2006, a 7% 

decrease year-over-year. This decrease was largely driven by a 

decrease in incentive compensation for employees at distribution 

operations and corporate as compared to last year due to lower pay­

outs resulting from lower earnings per share in 2007 as compared 

to our Alp earning per share goals. Additionally in 2006 our earn­

ings per share results were at the top end of the goals under the 

AIP, resulting in higher incentive compensation for 2006. 

We further utilize outside vendors to assist us with the 

execution of business processes that are ancillary to our delivery of 

natural gas and related to the performance of basic business 

functions. This allows us to control operating costs, increase the 

efficiency through which these functions are executed and improve 

our sen/ice levels to customers. Most recently, we partnered with 

third parties in India to provide certain call center operations, as 

well as certain support functions related to information technology, 

finance, supply chain and engineering. 

New market growth and regulatory opportunities 

The four previous operating priorities require us to actively and 

continuously monitor the emerging issues and trends within our 

current operations and industry to allow us to take advantage of 

opportunities that complement and add value to our existing 

business operations. In 2007, we continued to expand Sequent's 

operations into the western United States and Canada, as well as 

SouthStar's operations into Ohio and Florida. Further, in October 

2007, we acquired and have included within our wholesale services 

operating segment Compass Energy, which has enabled us to serve 

a broader geography of commercial and industrial customers. 

Additionally, we continued to focus our efforts around our storage 

business, particulariy our Golden Triangle Storage underground 

natural gas storage project. We achieved a significant milestone in 

this project at the end of 2007 as the FERC issued an order granting 

a Certificate of Public Convenience and Necessity to construct and 

operate the underground storage project and approving market-

based rates for the services Golden Triangle Storage will provide. In 

January 2008, we accepted the FERC's certificate and expect 

construction to begin in the first half of 2008. 

in distribution operations, we were also successful with ceri:ain 

regulatory initiatives that are critical to the fundamentals of our 

business as they help to preserve the long-term success and earn­

ings potential of our utility businesses. In September 2007, we 

received approval from the Georgia Commission on our capacity 

supply plan in Georgia, and a key part of that agreement was the 

ability to diversify our supply sources by gaining more access to 

the Elba Island LNG facility. As a result, we have negotiated an 

agreement with SNG to obtain an undivided interest in pipelines 

connecting our Georgia service territory to the Elba Island LNG 

facility and have filed a joint application with the FERC for approval 

of the project, which is expected to cost $22 million. In October 

2007, the Georgia Commission approved the extension of the asset 

management agreement between Sequent and Atlanta Gas Light 
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through March 2012. We are actively working with the respective 

commissions to renew or amend the existing agreements set to 

expire in 2008 in our other jurisdictions. 

In September 2007, the Virginia Commission approved 

Virginia Natural Gas' WNA rider for commercial customers that 

applies to the 2007 and 2008 heating seasons. In Florida, we 

received approval from the Florida Commission in December 2007 

to include the amortization of certain components of the purchase 

price we paid for Florida City Gas in our return on equity calcula­

tion for regulatory reporting purposes. Additionally, the Florida 

Commission's approval included provisions for a five-year stay out. 

As a result, Florida City Gas' base rates will not change during this 

period, except for unforeseen events beyond our control and the 

Florida Commission initiating base rate proceedings. 

In November 2007, Elkton Gas filed a base rate case with the 

fvilaryland Commission requesting a rate increase of less than 

$1 million. Starting in 2009 through 2011, we will be required to 

file base rate cases for Atlanta Gas Light, Virginia Natural Gas, 

Elizabethtown Gas and Chattanooga Gas. While we are unable to 

predict the outcome of these base rate proceedings, we will focus 

on incorporating and potentially proposing regulatory solutions into 

our base rate filings for many of the areas related to our key 

operation priorities as well as other emerging issues and trends 

impacting our utilities. 

Results of Operations 

Revenues We generate nearly all our operating revenues through 
the sale, distribution and storage of natural gas. We include in our 
consolidated revenues an estimate of revenues from natural gas 
distributed, but not yet billed, to residential and commercial 
customers from the latest meter reading date to the end of the 
reporting period. The following table provides more information 
regarding the components of our operating revenues. 

Residential 

Commercial 

Transportation 

Industrial 

Other 

2007 2006 2005 

$1,143 $1,127 $1,177 

500 460 452 
401 434 450 

250 310 412 
200 290 227 

overhead costs. We believe EBIT is a useful measurement of our 

operating segments' performance because it provides information 

that can be used to evaluate the effectiveness of our businesses 

from an operational perspective, exclusive of the costs to finance 

those activities and exclusive of income taxes, neither of which is 

directly relevant to the efficiency of those operations. 

Our operating margin and EBIT are not measures that are con­

sidered to be calculated in accordance with GAAP. You should not 

consider operating margin or EBIT an alternative to, or a more 

meaningful indicator of, our operating performance than operating 

income or net income as determined in accordance with GAAP. In 

addition, our operating margin and EBIT measures may not be com­

parable to similariy titled measures of other companies. The table 

below sets forth a reconciliation of our operating margin and EBIT 

to our operating income and net income, together with other con­

solidated financial information for the years ended December 3 1 , 

2007, 2006 and 2005. 

In millions, excepi per share amounts 2007 2006 2005 

Operating revenues 

Cost of gas 

$2,494 
1.369 

$2,621 $2,718 
1,482 1.626 

Operating margin 

Operating expenses 

Operation and maintenance 

Depreciation and amortization 

Taxes other than income 

Total operating expenses 

Operating income 

Other income (expense) 

Minority interest 
EBIT 

Interest expense 

Earnings before income taxes 

Income taxes 

1.125 

451 
144 

41 

636 

489 
4 

(30) 

463 

125 
338 

127 

1,139 

473 

138 

40 
651 

488 

(1) 
(23) 

464 

123 

341 

129 

1.092 

477 

133 

40 
650 

442 

(1) 
(22) 

419 

109 

310 

117 

Net income 

Earnings per common share: 

Basic 

Diluted 

$ 211 

$ 2.74 

$ 2.72 

$ 

$ 
$ 

212 

2.73 

2.72 

$ 193 

$ 2.50 

$ 2.48 

Total operating revenues $2,494 ,621 $2,718 

Weighted average number of 
common shares outstanding: 

Basic 

Diluted 

77.1 
77.4 

77.6 

78.0 

77.3 

77.8 

Operating margin and EBIT We evaluate the performance of our 

operating segments using the measures of operating margin and 

EBIT. We believe operating margin is a better indicator than oper­

ating revenues for the contribution resulting from customer growth 

in our distribution operations segment since the cost of gas can 

vary significantly and is generally billed directly to our customers. 

We also consider operating margin to be a better indicator in our 

retail energy operations, wholesale services and energy investments 

segments since it is a direct measure of operating margin before 

AO 
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Selected weather, customer and volume metrics for 2007, 2006 and 2005, are presented in the following table. 

Weather 

Heating degree days' 

Florida 

Georgia 

Maryland 

New Jersey 

Tennessee 

Virginia 

Normal 

495 

2,582 

4,659 

4,588 

2,950 

3,126 

2007 

326 

2,366 

4,621 

4,777 

2,722 

3,055 

Year ended December 31, 

2006 

468 

2,455 

4,205 

4,074 

2,892 

2,870 

2005 

552 

2,739 

4,966 

4,931 

3,119 

3,469 

20O7 vs. 

2005 

colder 

(V ârmer) 

(30)% 

(4)% 

10% 

17% 

(5)% 

6% 

2006 vs. 

2005 

colder 

(warmer) 

(15)% 

(10)% 

(15)% 

(17)% 

(7)% 

(17)% 

2007 vs. 

normal 

colder 

(warmer) 

(34)% 

(8)% 

(1)% 
4% 

(8)% 
(2)% 

2006 vs. 

normal 

colder 

{warmer) 

(5)% 

(5)% 

(10)% 

(11)% 
(2)% 

(8)% 

2005 vs. 

normal 

colder 

(warmer) 

12% 

6% 

7% 

7% 

6% 

11% 
' "obta ined from the National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration. National Climatic Data Center. Normal represents the ten-year averages from January 1998 lo December 2 0 0 / . 

Customers 
Year ended December 3 1 , 

2007 2006 2005 

Distribution Operations 

Average end-use customers (in thousands) 

Atlanta Gas Light 

Chattanooga Gas 

Elizabethtown Gas 

Elkton Gas 

Florida City Gas 

Virginia Natural Gas 

1,559 
61 
272 
6 

104 
269 

1,546 
61 
269 
6 

104 
264 

1,545 
61 
266 

5 
103 
261 

2007 vs. 2006 

% change 

0.8% 

1.1 

1.9 

2006 vs. 2005 

% change 

0.1% 

1.1 

1.0 

1.1 
Total 2,271 2,250 2,242 0.9% 0.4% 

(6')% 

4% 
Operation and maintenance expenses per customer 
EBIT per customer 

$145 
$149 

$155 
$138 

$166 
$133 

Retail Energy Operations 

Average customers (in thousands) 

Market share in Georgia 
540 

35% 

533 
35% 

531 
35% 

(7)% 

8% 

1.3% 0.4% 

Volumes 

In billion cubic feet (Bcf) 

Year ended December 3 1 , 

2007 2006 2005 

Distribution Operations 

Firm 

Interruptible 
211 
108 

199 
117 

228 
117 

Total 319 316 345 

2007 vs. 20D6 

% change 

6% 

(8)% 

2006 vs. 2005 

% change 

1% 

(13)% 

(8)% 

Retail Energy Operations 

Georgia firm 

Ohio and Florida 
38.5 

4.5 
37.2 

1.3 
Wholesale Services 

Daily physical sales (Bcf / day) 2.35 2.20 

42.6 

2.17 

3% 

246% 

7% 

(13)% 

J^0% 

1% 
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Segment information Operating revenues, operating margin, 

operating expenses and EBIT information for each of our segments 

are contained in the following tables for the years ended 

December 31 , 2007, 2006 and 2005. 

Operating operating Operating 
margin"- expenses 

2007 

Distribution operations 

Retail energy operations 

Wholesale services 

Energy investments 

Corporate''' 
Consolidated 

2006 

Distribution operations 

Retail energy operations 

Wholesale services 

Energy investments 

Corporate" 

Consolidated 

2005 

Distribution operations 

Retail energy operations 

Wholesale services 

Energy investments 

Corporate'" 

Consolidated 

$1,665 

892 

83 
42 

(188) 

$2,494 

$1,624 

930 

182 

41 
(156) 

$2,621 

$1,753 

996 

95 

56 

(182) 

$2,718 

$ 820 

188 

77 

40 

— 
$1,125 

$ 807 

156 

139 

36 

1 

$1,139 

$ 814 

146 

92 

40 

— 
$1,092 

$485 

75 

43 

25 

8 

$636 

$499 

68 

49 

26 

9 

$651 

$518 

61 

42 

23 

6 

$650 

$338 

83 

34 

15 

(7) 
$463 

$310 

63 

90 

10 

(9) 

$464 

$299 

63 

49 

19 

(11) 
$419 

'̂ 'These are non-GAAP measuremenls. A reconciliation of operating margin and EBIT to our oper­
ating income and net income is contained in "Results of Operations" herein. 

'''Includes intercompany eliminations. 

2007 compared to 2006 

In 2007 our net income decreased by $1 million primarily due to 

decreased EBIT from wholesale services largely due to lower oper­

ating margin. This was offset by increased EBIT at distribution 

operations, retail energy operations and energy investments due to 

higher operating margins as compared to 2006. Additionally, dis­

tribution operations' EBIT contribution increased due to lower oper­

ating expenses as compared to 2006. Our basic earnings per share 

increased by $0.01, primarily due to the reduction in the average 

number of shares outstanding as a result of our share repurchase 

program. Our diluted earnings per share were flat. 

Operating margin Our operating margin in 2007, decreased 

$14 million or 1% primarily due to lower operating margin at our 

wholesale services segment. 

Distribution operations' operating margin increased 

$13 million or 2% primarily due to a 21,000 or .9% increase in 

customers as compared to last year, a $2 million increase in base 

rates at Chattanooga Gas (effective January 1, 2007) and a 

$2 million increase in PRP operating revenues. Distribution 

operations' operating margin was further Increased by slightly 

overall higher customer usage of 3 Bcf or 1%. However, our 

customer usage was impacted by weather that, while colder than 

last year in some of our jurisdictions, was warmer than normal. Our 

WNA mechanisms in place to mitigate the loss of operating margin 

due to weather that was still warmer than normal did not fully offset 

such losses, resulting in a $9 million decrease In operating margin. 

Retail energy operations' operating margin increased $32 mil­

lion or 2 1 % . This was primarily due to an $8 million increase in 

average customer usage in Georgia, a $2 million increase from the 

addition of approximately 7,000 or 1.3% customers, $3 million 

from the advancement into the Ohio market and $2 million in 

higher late payment fees. Retail energy operations' operating mar­

gin was further positively impacted by the combination of retail 

price spreads and contributions from the optimization of storage 

and transportation assets and commodity risk management activ­

ities, as well as from a prior year LOCOM adiustment of $6 million 

to reduce weighted average inventory cost to market. Retail energy 

operations did not record a similar LOCOM adjustment in 2007 

resulting in an Increase in operating margin as compared to last 

year. Even though weather was 4% warmer than last year, retail 

energy operations' use of weather derivatives largely offset the 

$2 million decline in operating margin due to warmer weather. 

Wholesale services' operating margin decreased $62 million 

or 45%. This decrease is due to a $36 million reduction in reported 

hedge gains and a $46 million reduction in commercial activity, 

due in part to reduced Inventory storage spreads and lower volatil­

ity in the marketplace. These decreases were partially offset by a 

$20 million reduction in the required LOCOM adjustments to 

natural gas inventories for the year ended December 3 1 , 2007, 

net of $3 million and $22 million in estimated hedging recoveries 

during 2007 and 2006, respectively These are indicated in the 

following table. 

Gain (loss) on storage hedges 

Gain on transpori:ation hedges 

Commercial activity 

Inventory LOCOM, net of 

hedging recoveries 

Operating margin 

$12 

5 

61 

(1) 
$77 

$ 41 

12 

107 

(21) 

$139 

$ (7) 

— 
102 

(3) 

$ 92 

The following graph presents the NYMEX fonward natural gas 

prices as of December 31 , 2007, September 30, 2007 and 

December 31 , 2006, for the period of January 2008 through 

December 2008, and reflects the prices at which wholesale 

zlA 
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services could buy natural gas at the Henry Hub for delivery in the 

same time period. 

Operating expenses Our operating expenses in 2007 decreased 

$15 million or 2% from 2006. The following table indicates the 

significant changes in our operating expenses. 

NYMEX forward cun^e 

S9.00 

$7.00 
Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jiii Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec 
08 08 08 03 08 08 08 08 08 08 08 08 

Dec 2006 O- Sep 2007 Dec 2007 

Wholesale services' expected natural gas withdrawals from 

physical salt dome and reservoir storage are presented in the fol­

lowing table along with the operating revenues expected at the time 

of withdrawal. Wholesale services' expected operating revenues are 

net of the impact of regulatory sharing and reflect the amounts 

that it would expect to realize in future periods based on the inven­

tory withdrawal schedule and forward natural gas prices at 

December 31 , 2007. Wholesale services' storage inventory is eco­

nomically hedged with futures contracts, which results in an over­

all locked-in margin, timing notwithstanding. Wholesale services' 

physical salt dome and reservoir volumes are presented in 

NYMEX equivalent contract units of 10,000 million British thermal 

units (MMBtu's). 
Three months ended 

Ivlar. 3 i , June 30, Dec. 3 1 , 

Salt dome (WACOG $6.70) 

Reservoir (WACOG $6.20) 

Total volumes 

Expected operating revenues 

from physical inventory 

(In millions) 

2008 

33 

773 

806 

$ 9 

2008 

24 

24 

$ -

2008 

94 

— 
94 

$ 2 

Total 

127 

797 

924 

$ 11 

Energy investments' operating margin increased $4 million or 

11% primarily due to a $2 million increase in revenues at Jefferson 

Island as a result of increased interruptible margin opportunities 

and a $2 million increase at AGL Networks as a result of a larger 

customer base. 

Operating expenses for year ended Dec. 31 , 2006 $651 

Decreased incentive compensation costs at distribution 

operations due to not achieving AlP earnings goals (14) 

Decreased incentive compensation costs at wholesale 

services due to lower operating margin (13) 

Decreased bad debt expense at retail energy operations (3) 

Increased incentive compensation costs due to growth and 

improved operations at retail energy operations 3 

Increased depreciation and amortization 6 

Increased payroll and other operating costs at wholesale 

services due to continued expansion 7 

Increased costs at retail energy operations due to 

customer care, marketing costs and higher payroll 

in support of customer and market growth initiatives 5 

Other, net primarily at distribution operations due 

to pension, outside services and reduction in 

customer service expense (6) 

Operating expenses for year ended Dec. 31 , 2007 $635 

Our other income increased by $5 million. This was primarily 

due to lower charitable contributions in 2007 at distribution oper­

ations and retail energy operations. 

Interest expense The increased interest expense of $2 million or 

2% in 2007 was due primarily to higher short-term interest rates 

and a $3 million premium paid for the eariy redemption of the 

$75 million notes payable to AGL Capital Trust I, which was 

recorded as interest expense in 2007. As indicated in the follow­

ing table, this was partially offset by lower average debt, primarily 

from reduced commercial paper borrowings for most of 2007. 

In millions Change 

Interest expense $ 125 $ 123 $ 2 

Average debt outstanding'" $1,967 $2,023 $(56) 

Average rate' 6.4% 6.1% 0.3% 
''• Daily average of all oulslanding debt. 

''• Excluding $3 million premium paid (or early redemption of debt, average rate in 2007 would 

have been 6.2%. 

Income tax expense The decrease in income tax expense of $2 mil­

lion or 2% in 2007, compared to the same period in 2006 was 

primarily due to lower consolidated earnings and a slightly lower 

effective tax rate of 37.6% in 2007 compared to an effective tax 

rate of 37.8% in 2006. The decrease in our effective tax rate was 

primarily a result of our 2007 investment in a guaranteed afford­

able housing tax credit fund. We expect our effective tax rate in 

45 
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2008 to remain consistent with our 2007 rate. For more informa­

tion on our income taxes, Including a reconciliation between the 

statutory federal income tax rate and the effective rate, see 

Note 8. 

2006 compared to 2005 

In 2006 our net income increased by $19 million or 10%, our 

basic earnings per share increased by $0.23 or 9% and our diluted 

earnings per share increased by $0.24. This was primarily due to 

increased EBIT of $41 million in wholesale services which prima­

rily reflected the recognition of unrealized hedge gains during 

2006, as forward NYMEX prices declined significantly. In contrast, 

NYMEX price increases experienced during 2005 had the oppo­

site effect, but to a lesser extent. In the distribution operations 

segment, EBIT improved by $11 million, due to reduced operating 

expenses of $19 million, offset by lower operating margin of 

$7 million. Our retail energy operations segment's EBIT was flat 

compared to 2005. The energy investments segment's EBIT was 

down $9 million primarily due to the loss of EBIT contributions as 

the result of the sale in 2005 of certain assets that were originally 

acquired with the 2004 acquisition of NUI. 

Operating margin Our operating margin increased $47 million or 

4% from 2005. This was primarily due to increases at wholesale 

services and retail energy operations offset by declines at distri­

bution operations. 

Wholesale services increased its operating margin $47 mil­

lion or 5 1 % as compared to 2005 due to significant arbitrage 

opportunities brought on by natural gas price volatility and periods 

of extreme weather. Forward NYMEX prices decreased during 

2006, especially during the third and fourth quarters, and this 

resulted in the wholesale sen/Ices segment recognizing $41 million 

of storage hedge gains in 2006, compared to the recognition of 

$7 million of storage hedge losses in 2005. In addition, wholesale 

services recognized $12 million in gains associated with the finan­

cial instruments used to hedge its transportation capacity. There 

were no significant gains or losses associated with transportation 

hedges recognized in the prior period. Consequently, wholesale 

services experienced a net change of $60 million from its hedging 

activities for 2006 compared to 2005. 

In addition, as a result of decreasing NYMEX prices the 

wholesale services segment evaluated the weighted average cost 

of its natural gas inventory and recorded LOCOM adjustments 

totaling $43 million in 2006; however, as inventory was physically 

withdrawn from storage during the year, $22 million of the 2006 

adjustments were recovered and reflected in 2006 operating 

revenues when the original economic results were realized as the 

related hedging derivatives were settled, in 2005, wholesale 

services recorded LOCOM adjustments of $3 million. 

The results of the wholesale services segment also reflect 

improved commercial activities of approximately $5 million asso­

ciated with larger seasonal storage spreads during the first half of 

2006 and above average temperatures during the late summer 

months. These conditions offset the impacts of mild weather dur­

ing the winter and early summer and the lower level of market 

volatility that we experienced compared to the hurricane activity in 

theGuIf of Mexico in 2005. 

Retail energy operation's operating margin increased by 

$10 million or 7% principally driven by Improved retail price spreads, 

higher contributions from the optimization of storage and 

transportation assets and effective risk management, and an increase 

of approximately 2,000 average customers in 2006 as compared to 

2005. These factors contributed $34 million in operating margin 

contributions, but was offset by $16 million in lower operating margin 

from customer consen/ation and lower consumption due to weather 

that was approximately 10% warmer than 2005, net of $5 million 

in net gains on weather derivatives. Operating margin was further 

negatively impacted by an adjustment in 2006 of $6 million to 

reduce inventory to market for which no LOCOM adjustment was 

recorded in 2005, and from $2 million in lower late payment fees 

and interruptible operating margin contributions. 

Operating margin for the distribution operations segment 

decreased $7 million or 1% primarily from warmer weather affect­

ing customer usage and from our exiting the New Jersey and Florida 

appliance businesses. The operating margin at Elizabethtown Gas 

decreased $3 million with 17%. warmer weather than in 2005. 

Virginia Natural Gas' operating margin decreased $4 million with 

17% warmer weather, and the operating margin at Florida City Gas 

decreased $2 million with 15% warmer weather. Further, our exit­

ing of the New Jersey and Florida appliance businesses reduced 

operating margin by $3 million. This reduction was partially offset 

by a net increase in operating margin at Atlanta Gas Light of 

$6 million consisting of $5 million in gas storage carrying costs 

from higher average inventory balances and $2 million in PRP 

revenues from the continuing expenditures under the program, off­

set primarily by $2 million as a result of the effect of the Georgia 

Commission's June 2005 Rate Order. 

Operating margin at energy investments decreased $4 million 

or 10% largely due to the loss of $9 million of operating margin 

contributions from certain assets we acquired with the 2004 

acquisition of NUI but sold in 2005. Jefferson Island's operating 

margin increased by $1 million compared to the prior year, in part 

due to increases,in both firm and interruptible operating margin 

opportunities. AGL Networks' operating margin increased by 

$1 million compared to the prior year due to a larger customer 

base. Pivotal Propane contributed a $2 million increase primarily 

in the first quarter of 2006 as it did not become operational until 

April 2005. 
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Operating expenses Our operating expenses increased $1 million 

or 0.2% from the same period in 2005. The following table sets 

forth the significant components of operating expenses: 

In millions 

Operating expenses for 2005 $650 

Increased payroll, incentive compensation and 

corporate overhead allocated costs at wholesale 

services to support grovrth 7 

Increased bad debt expenses at retail energy operations 

and distribution operations 4 

Lower expenses resulting from energy investment assets 

sold In 2005 (8) 

Lower expenses at distribution operations related to 

workforce and facilities restructurings in 2005 

and 2006 (15) 

Increased depreciation and amortization 5 

Other 8 

Operating expenses for 2006 $651 

Interest expense Interest expense for 2006 increased by $14 mil­

lion or 13% as compared to 2005. As indicated in the following 

table, higher short-term interest rates and higher debt outstanding 

combined to increase our interest expense in 2006 relative to the 

previous year. The increase of $200 million in average debt out­

standing for 2006 compared to 2005 was due to additional debt 

incurred as a result of higher working capital requirements. 

In millions 

Interest expense 

Average debt outstanding'" 

Average rate 

2005 

$ 123 

$2,023 
6 .1% 

2005 

$ 109 

$1,823 

6.0% 

Change 

$ 14 

$200 
0 .1% 

'"Daily average of all outstanding debt. 

Income tax expense The increase in income tax expense of 

$12 million or 10%. for 2006 compared to 2005 reflected addi­

tional income taxes primarily due to higher corporate earnings year 

over year. 

Liquidity and Capital Resources 

Our primary sources of liquidity are cash provided by operating 

activities, short term borrowings under our commercial paper 

program (which is supported by our Credit Facility) and borrowings 

under lines of credit. Additionally from time to time, we raise funds 

from the public debt and equity capital markets through our 

existing shelf registration statement to fund our liquidity and 

capital resource needs. We believe these sources will continue to 

allow us to meet our needs for working capital, construction 

expenditures, anticipated debt redemptions, interest payments on 

debt obligations, dividend payments, common share repurchases 

and other cash needs. 

Our issuance of various securities, including long-term and 

short-term debt, is subject to customary approval or authorization 

by state and federal regulatory bodies including state public service 

commissions and the SEC. Furthermore, a substantial portion of 

our consolidated assets, earnings and cash flow is derived from the 

operation of our regulated utility subsidiaries, whose legal authority 

to pay dividends or make other distributions to us is subject 

to regulation. 

We will continue to evaluate our need to increase available 

liquidity based on our view of working capital requirements, includ­

ing the impact of changes in natural gas prices, liquidity require­

ments established by rating agencies and other factors. See 

Item lA, "Risk Factors," for additional information on items that 

could Impact our liquidity and capital resource requirements. The 

following table provides a summary of our operating, investing and 

financing activities for the last three years. 

In millions 2007 2005 2005 

Net cash provided by (used in): 

Operating activities 

Investing activities 

Financing activities 

$376 
(253) 
(122) 

i 354 $ 80 
(248) (194) 
(118) 97 

Net increase (decrease) in 

cash and cash equivalents 1 $ (12) (17) 

Cash Flow from Operating Activities We prepare our statement of 

cash flows using the indirect method. Under this method, we rec­

oncile net income to cash flows from operating activities by adjust­

ing net income for those items that impact net income but may 

not result in actual cash receipts or payments during the period. 

These reconciling items include depreciation and amortization, 

changes In risk management assets and liabilities, undistributed 

earnings from equity investments, deferred income taxes and 

changes in the consolidated balance sheet for working capital from 

the beginning to the end of the period. 

Our operations are seasonal in nature, with the business 

depending to a great extent on the first and fourth quarters of each 

year. As a result of this seasonality, our natural gas inventories, 

which usually peak or\ November 1 and largely are drawn down in 

the heating season, provide a source of cash as this asset is used 

to satisfy winter sales demand. The establishment and price fluc­

tuations of our natural gas inventories which meet customer 

demand during the winter beating season can cause significant 

variations in our cash flow from operations from period to period 

and are reflected In changes to our working capital. 

Year-over-year changes in our operating cash flows are attrib­

utable primarily to working capital changes within our distribution 

operations, retail energy operations and wholesale sen/ices segments 

resulting from the impact of weather, the price of natural gas, the 

timing of customer collections, payments for natural gas purchases 

and deferred gas cost recoveries as our business has grown and 

prices for natural gas have increased. The increase in natural gas 

prices directly impacts the cost of gas stored in inventory 
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2007 compared to 2006 In 2007, our net cash flow provided 

from operating activities was $376 million, an increase of $22 mil­

lion or 6%> from 2006. The increase was due to higher realized 

gains on our energy marketing and risk management assets and 

liabilities and lower cash requirements for our natural gas inven­

tories due to price and inventory volume fluctuations. This was off­

set by increased cash payments for income taxes due to realized 

gains on our energy marketing and risk management activities and 

higher working capital requirements. 

2006 compared to 2005 In 2006, our net cash flow provided 

from operating activities was $354 million, an increase of 

$274 million or 343% from 2005. The increase was primarily a 

result of higher earnings in 2006 of $19 million and the recovery 

of working capital during 2006 that was deployed in late 2005 

due to higher natural gas commodity prices and colder weather in 

the 2005 heating season. A primary contributor to the recovery of 

working capital was a $157 million decrease in the amount of nat­

ural gas inventory purchases by Sequent and our utilities. 

$450 

S375 

S300 

$225 

S150 

2008 2007 2006 2005 

9 Base Business Q Natural Gas Storage ^ Hampton Roads 

13 PRP H SNG • Other 

Cash Flow from Investing Activities Our investing activities con­

sisted primarily of property, plant and equipment (PP&E) expendi­

tures. The majority of our PP&E expenditures are within our 

distribution operations segment, which includes our investments in 

new construction and infrastructure improvements. 

Our estimated PP&E expenditures of approximately $400 mil­

lion in 2008 and actual PP&E expenditures of $259 million in 

2007, $253 million in 2006 and $267 million in 2005 are pre­

sented in the following chart. Our estimated expenditures in 2008 

include discretionary spending for capital projects principally within 

the base business and natural gas storage categories. In deter­

mining whether to proceed with these projects, we evaluate such 

discretionary capital projects in relation to a number of factors 

including our authorized returns on rate base, other returns on 

invested capital for projects of a similar nature, capital structure 

and credit ratings, among others. As such, we will make adjust­

ments to these discretionary expenditures as necessary based upon 

these factors. Our estimated and actual PP&E expenditures are 

shown within the following categories. 

• Base business — new construction and infrastructure improve­

ments at our distribution operations segment 

• Natural gas storage — salt-dome cavern expansions at Golden 

Triangle and Jefferson Island 

• Hampton Roads — Virginia Natural Gas' pipeline project, which 

will connect its northern and southern systems 

• PRP — Atlanta Gas Light's program to replace all bare steel and 

cast iron pipe in its system in Georgia 

• SNG — a 250-mile pipeline In Georgia acquired from Southern 

Natural Gas (SNG) in 2005 

• Other— primarily includes information technology, building and 

leasehold improvements and AGL Networks' telecommunication 

expenditures 

In 2007, our PP&E expenditures were $6 million or 2% higher 

than in 2006. This was primarily due to an increase in PRP expen­

ditures of $10 million as we replaced larger-diameter pipe in more 

densely populated areas and $5 million in expenditures for the 

Hampton Roads project. This was offset by decreased expenditures 

of $4 million on our storage projects. 

The decrease of $14 million or 5% in PP&E expenditures in 

2006 compared to 2005 was primarily due to the SNG pipeline 

acquisition of $32 million, which occurred in 2005, and $17 mil­

lion in reduced PRP expenditures, primarily as a result of the June 

2005 agreement with the Georgia Commission, which extended 

the PRP program by five years. This was offset by increased base 

business expenditures of $19 million, primarily as our utilities 

expanded their new construction investments. We also incurred 

higher information technology expenditures of $13 tnillion, which 

included $5 million at retail energy operations, primarily due to 

the implementation of a new energy trading and risk management 

system and enhancements to the retail billing system. Additionally 

in 2006, we spent $12 million in additional PP&E expenditures at 

Jefferson Island as it began work on a salt-dome storage expansion 

project which would add a third and fourth storage cavern. In 

2005, our cash flows from investing activities were positively 

impacted as we sold our 50% interest in Saltville Gas Storage 

Company (Saltville) and associated subsidiaries for $66 million to 

a subsidiary of Duke Energy Corporation. We acquired Saltville 

through our acquisition of NUI in 2004. 

Cash Flow from Financing Activities Our financing activities are 

primarily composed of borrowings and payments of short-term debt, 

payments of medium-term notes, and notes payable to AGL Capital 

Trust I and II, borrowings of senior notes, distributions to minority 

interests, cash dividends on our common stock issuances, pur­

chases and issuances of treasury shares and the use of interest 
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rate swaps for the purpose of hedging interest rate risk. Our capi­

talization and financing strategy is intended to ensure that we are 

properly capitalized with the appropriate mix of equity and debt 

securities. This strategy includes active management of the per­

centage of total debt relative to total capitalization, appropriate 

mix of debt with fixed to floating interest rates (our variable debt 

target is 20% to 45% of total debt), as well as the term and inter­

est rate profile of our debt securities. 

As of December 3 1 , 2007, our variable rate debt was 

$840 million or 37%. of our total debt, compared to $733 million 

or 34% as of December 31 , 2006. The increased variable-rate debt 

was principally due to higher commercial paper borrowings. As of 

December 3 1 , 2007, our commercial paper borrowings were 

$58 million or 1 1 % higher than the same time last year, primarily 

a result of a $42 million increase in common share repurchases in 

2007 and slightly higher working capital needs. For more infor­

mation on our debt, see Note 6. 

Credit Ratings We also work to maintain or improve our credit 

ratings on our debt to manage our existing financing costs and 

enhance our ability to raise additional capital on favorable terms. 

Factors we consider important in assessing our credit ratings 

include our balance sheet leverage, capital spending, earnings, 

cash flow generation, available liquidity and overall business risks. 

We do not have any trigger events in our debt instruments that are 

tied to changes in our specified credit ratings or our stock price 

and have not entered into any agreements that would require us to 

issue equity based on credit ratings or other trigger events. 

Improvements in our operating performance led to our credit 

outlook being raised from negative to stable by S&P in late 2007. 

The following table summarizes our credit ratings as of 

December 31 , 2007. 

S&P Moody's Filch 

Corporate rating 

Commercial paper 

Senior unsecured 

Ratings outlook 

A-

A-2 

BBB+ ' 

Stable 

P-2 

Baal 
Stable 

F-2 

A-

Stable 

Our credit ratings may be subject to revision or withdrawal at 

any time by the assigning rating organization, and each rating 

should be evaluated independently of any other rating. We cannot 

ensure that a rating will remain in effect for any given period of 

time or that a rating will not be lowered or withdrawn entirely by a 

rating agency if, in its judgment, circumstances so warrant. If the 

rating agencies downgrade our ratings, particulariy below invest­

ment grade, it may significantly limit our access to the commercial 

paper market and our borrowing costs would increase. In addition, 

we would likely be required to pay a higher interest rate in future 

financings, and our potential pool of investors and funding sources 

would decrease. 

Default Events Our debt instruments and other financial obli­

gations include provisions that, if not complied with, could require 

eariy payment, additional collateral support or similar actions. Our 

most important default events include maintaining covenants with 

respect to a maximum leverage ratio, insolvency events, nonpay­

ment of scheduled principal or interest payments, and accelera­

tion of other financial obligations and change of control provisions. 

Our Credit Facility's financial covenant requires us to maintain 

a ratio of total debt to total capitalization of no greater than 70%; 

however, our goal is to maintain this ratio at levels between 50% 

and 60%. We are currently in compliance with all existing debt 

provisions and covenants. We believe that accomplishing these 

capitalization objectives and maintaining sufficient cash flow are 

necessary to maintain our investment-grade credit ratings and to 

allow us access to capital at reasonable costs. The components of 

our capital structure, as of the dates indicated, are summarized In 

the following table, 

In millions 

Short-term debt 

Long-term debt'" 

Total debt 
Common shareholders' 

equity 

Total capitalization 

Dec. 31, 

$ 580 

1,674 

2,254 

1,661 

$3,915 

,2007 

15% 
43 

58 

42 

100% 

Dec. 31, 

$ 539 

1,622 

2,161 

1,609 

$3,770 

2006 

14% 
43 

57 

43 

100% 
" N e t ol interesi rale sv/aps. 

Short-term Debt Our short-term debt is composed of borrow­

ings under our commercial paper program, lines of credit at 

Sequent, SouthStar and Pivotal Utility the current portion of our 

medium-term notes (for 2006) and the current portion of our cap­

ital leases. Our short-term debt financing generally increases 

between June and December because our payments for natural gas 

and pipeline capacity are generally made to suppliers prior to the 

collection of accounts receivable from our customers. We typically 

reduce short-term debt balances in the spring because a significant 

portion of our current assets are converted into cash at the end of 

the winter heating season. 

In June and August 2007 we extended Sequent's $45 tnil­

lion unsecured lines of credit through Juno ($25 million) and 

August ($20 million) 2008. Sequent's lines of credit are used 

solely for the posting of margin deposits for NYMEX transactions. 

In August 2007, we extended Pivotal Utility's $20 million unse­

cured line of credit through August 2008. This line of credit sup­

ports Elizabethtown Gas' New Jersey Commission mandated 

hedging program and is used solely for the posting of margin 

deposits. These lines of credit bear interest at the federal funds 

effective rate plus 0.4% and are unconditionally guaranteed by us. 

Under the terms of our Credit Facility which expires in August 

2011, the aggregate principal amount available is $1 billion and 

we can request an option to increase the aggregate principal 

amount available for borrowing to $1.25 billion on not more than 

three occasions during each calendar year. 
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As of December 31 , 2007 and 2006, we had no outstanding 

borrowings under the Credit Facility. However, the availability of 

borrowings and unused credit under our Credit Facility is limited 

and subject to conditions specified within the Credit Facility, which 

we currently meet. These conditions include: 

• the maintenance of a ratio of total debt to total capitalization of 

no greater than 70%. As of December 3 1 , 2007, our ratio of 

total debt of 58% to total capitalization was within our targeted 

and required ranges, and was consistent with our ratio of 57% at 

December 31 , 2006 

• the continued accuracy of representations and warranties con­

tained in the agreement 

Long-term Debt Our long-term debt matures more than one 

year from the balance sheet date and consists of medium-term 

notes, senior notes, gas facility revenue bonds, and capital leases. 

The following represents our long-term debt activity in 2007. 

• In January 2007, we used proceeds from the sale of commercial 

paper to redeem $11 million of 7% medium-term notes previ­

ously scheduled to mature in January 2015. 

• In June 2007 we refinanced $55 million of our gas facility 

revenue bonds due June 2032.The original bonds had a fixed 

interest rate of 5.7% per year and were refinanced with 

$55 million of adjustable-rate gas facility revenue bonds. The 

maturity date of these bonds remains June 2032 and there is a 

35-day auction period where the interest rate adjusts every 

35 days. The interest rate at December 31 , 2007, was 4.7%. 

• In July 2007, we used the proceeds from the sale of commercial 

paper to pay to AGL Capital Trust 1 the $75 million principal 

amount of 8.17% junior subordinated debentures plus a $3 mil­

lion premium for early redemption of the junior subordinated 

debentures, and to pay a $2 million note representing our 

common securities interest in AGL Capital Trust I. 

• In December 2007, AGL Capital issued $125 million of 

6.375% senior notes. The senior notes are part of a series of 

notes issued by AGL Capital in June 2006. Both sets of notes are 

now part of a single series with an aggregate of $300 million in 

principai outstanding. The proceeds of the note issuance, equal 

to approximately $123 million, were used to pay down short-term 

indebtedness incurred under our commercial paper program. 

Minority Interest As a result of our consolidation of SouthStar's 

accounts effective January 1, 2004, we recorded Piedmont's por­

tion of SouthStar's contributed capital as a minority interest in our 

consolidated balance sheets. A cash distribution of $23 million in 

2007, $22 million in 2006 and $19 million in 2005 for 

SouthStar's dividend distributions to Piedmont were recorded in 

our consolidated statement of cash flows as a financing activity. 

Dividends on Common Stock Our $12 million or 1 1 % 

increase in common stock dividend payments in 2007 compared 

to 2006, and $11 million or 1 1 % increase in payments in 2006 

compared to 2005, resulted from increases in the amount of our 

quarteriy common stock dividends per share. 

In 2007, our dividend payout ratio was 60%. This is an 

increase of 11% from our payout ratio of 54% in 2006. We expect 

that our dividend payout ratio will remain consistent with the 

dividend payout ratios of our peer companies, which is currently in 

a range of 60% to 65%. Our diluted earnings per share and 

dividends declared per share along with our payout ratio for the 

last three years are presented in the following chart. 

S3.00 

S2.50 

S2.00 

SI.50 

SLOO 

S0.50 

62% 
S2.72 S2.72 

2007 2006 

S Diluted EPS Q Dividends 

For information about restrictions on our ability to pay dividends 

on our common stock, see Note 5 "Common Shareholders' Equity". 

Share Repurchases In March 2001 our Board of Directors 

approved the purchase of up to 600,000 shares of our common 

stock to be used for issuances under the Officer Incentive Plan. 

During 2007, we purchased 10,667 shares. As of December 31 , 

2007, we had purchased a total 297,234 shares, leaving 

302,766 shares available for purchase. 

In February 2006, our Board of Directors authorized a plan to 

purchase up to 8 million shares of our outstanding common stock 

over a five-year period. These purchases are intended principally to 

offset share issuances under our employee and non-employee 

director incentive compensation plans and our dividend reinvest­

ment and stock purchase plans. Stock purchases under this pro­

gram may be made in the open market or in private transactions at 

times and in amounts that we deem appropriate. There is no guar­

antee as to the exact number of shares that we will purchase, and 

we can terminate or limit the program at any time. 

For the year ended December 31 , 2007, we purchased 

approximately 2 million shares of our common stock at an average 

cost of $39.56 per share and an aggregate cost of $80 million. 

During the same period in 2006, we purchased approximately 
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1 million shares of our common stock at a weighted average cost of $36.67 per share and an aggregate cost of $38 million. This represented 

an increase of $42 million or 111% from last year. We hold the purchased shares as treasury shares. For more information on our share repur­

chases see Item 5 "Market for the Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities." 

Shelf Registration In August 2007, we filed a new shelf registration with the SEC. The debt securities and related guarantees will be 

issued by AGL Capital under an indenture dated as of February 20, 2001, as supplemented and modified, as necessary, among AGL Capital, 

AGL Resources and The Bank of New York Trust Company, N.A., as trustee. The indenture provides for the issuance from time to time of debt 

securities in an unlimited dollar amount and an unlimited number of series subject to our Credit Facility's financial covenants related to total 

debt to total capitalization. The debt securities will be guaranteed by AGL Resources. This replaces the previous shelf registration, filed in 

October 2004, which had $782 million available to be issued. 

Contractual Obligations and Commitments We have incurred various contractual obligations and financial commitments in the normal course 

of our operating and financing activities that are reasonably likely to have a material effect on liquidity or the availability of requirements for 

capital resources. Contractual obligations include future cash payments required under existing contractual arrangements, such as debt and 

lease agreements. These obligations may result from both general financing activities and from commercial arrangements that are directly 

supported by related revenue-producing activities. The following table illustrates our expected future contractual obligation payments such 

as debt and lease agreements, and commitments and contingencies as of December 31 , 2007. 

Recorded contractual obligations: 

Long-term debt 

Short-term debt 

ERC" 

PRP costs^" 

Total 

Total 

$1,674 
580 
107 
245 

2008 

$ — 
580 

10 
55 

2009 

& 
2010 

$ 2 
— 
34 

112 

2011 

& 
2012 

$315 
— 
53 
60 

2013 

& 
thereafter 

$1,357 
~ 
10 
18 

$2,606 $645 $148 $428 $1,385 
' " Includes charges recoverable through rate rider mechanisms. 

2009 

& 
2010 

2011 

& 
2012 

2013 

& 
thereafler 

Unrecorded contractual obligations and commitments:"' 

Interest charges'^' $1,176 $100 $200 

Pipeline charges, storage capacity and gas supply" 1,792 456 637 

Operating leases 154 26 50 

Standby letters of credit, performance/surety bonds 30 24 6 

Asset management agreements'" 24 8 8 

$157 
348 

34 

719 
351 

44 

Total $3,176 $614 $901 $547 $1,114 
' " In accotdai\ce vrith genetaily accepted accounting principles, these items ate not leflected in o\ii consolidaled balance sheet. 

•^'Floating rate debt is based on the interest rate as of December 3 1 , 2007, and the maturity of Ihe underlying debt instrument. As of December 3 1 , 2007, we have $39 million of accrued interest on our 

consolidated balance sheet that will be paid in 2008. 

^'Charges recoverable through a PGA mechanism or alternatively billed to Marketers. Also includes demand charges associated with Sequent. 

•"Represent fixed-fee payments (or Sequent's asset management agreements between Atlanta Gas Light ($4 millions and Elizabethtown Gas ($4 million). Aso( December 3 1 , 2007. we have %l million of 

lixed-fee payments accrued on our consolidated balance sheet, v/hich niU be paid in 2008 . 

OL 
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Pipeline Charges, Storage Capacity and Gas Supply 

Contracts. A subsidiary of NUI entered into two 20-year agreements 

for the firm transportation and storage of natural gas during 2003 

with annual aggregate demand charges of approximately 

$5 million. As a result of our acquisition of NUI and accordance 

with SFAS 141, we valued the contracts at fair value and 

established a long-term liability for the excess liability that will be 

amortized over the remaining lives of the contracts. The gas supply 

amount includes SouthStar gas commodity purchase commitments 

of 1.3 Bcf at floating gas prices calculated using fonward natural 

gas prices as of December 31 , 2007, and is valued at $98 million. 

Operating leases. We have certain operating leases with 

provisions for step rent or escalation payments and certain lease 

concessions. We account for these leases by recognizing the future 

minimum lease payments on a straight-line basis over the 

respective minimum lease terms, in accordance with SFAS 13. 

However, this accounting treatment does not affect the future 

annual operating lease cash obligations as shown herein. We expect 

to fund these obligations with cash flow from operating and 

financing activities. 

Standby letters of credit and surety bonds. We also have 

incurred various financial commitments in the normal course of 

business. Contingent financial commitments represent obligations 

that become payable only if certain predefined events occur, such 

as financial guarantees, and include the nature of the guarantee 

and the maximum potential amount of future payments that could 

be required of us as the guarantor. We would expect to fund these 

contingent financial commitments with operating and financing 

cash flows. 

Pension and Postretirement Obligations We calculate any 

required pension contributions using the projected unit credit cost 

method. Under this method, we were not required to and did not 

make any pension contribution during 2007. During 2006, we vol­

untarily contributed $5 million to the AGL Resources Inc. 

Retirement Plan. 

The state regulatory commissions have phase-ins that defer a 

portion of the postretirement benefit expense for future recovery. 

We recorded a regulatory asset for these future recoveries of 

$12 million as of December 31 , 2007 and $13 million as of 

December 31 , 2006. In addition, we recorded a regulatory liabil­

ity of $4 million as of December 31 , 2007 and $4 million as of 

December 31 , 2005 for our expected expenses under the AGL 

Postretirement Plan. See Note 3 "Employee Benefit Plans," for 

additional information about our pension and postretirement plans. 

Critical Accounting Policies 

The preparation of our financial statements requires us to make 

estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of 

assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses and the related 

disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities. We based our 

estimates on historical experience and various other assumptions 

that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances, and we 

evaluate our estimates on an ongoing basis. Our actual results may 

differ from our estimates. Each of the following critical accounting 

policies involves complex situations requiring a high degree of 

judgment either in the application and interpretation of existing 

literature or in the development of estimates that impact our 

financial statements. 

Pipeline Replacement Program Liabilities Atlanta Gas Light was 

ordered by the Georgia Commission {through a joint stipulation and 

a subsequent settlement agreement between Atlanta Gas Light and 

the Commission staff) to undertake a PRP that would replace all 

bare steel and cast iron pipe in its system. Approximately 

103 miles of cast iron and 533 miles of bare steel pipe still require 

replacement. If Atlanta Gas Light does not perform in accordance 

with the initial and amended PRP stipulation, it can be assessed 

certain nonperformance penalties. However to date, Atlanta Gas 

Light is in full compliance. 

The stipulation also provides for recovery of all prudent costs 

incurred under the program, which Atlanta Gas Light has recorded 

as a regulatory asset. The regulatory asset has two components: 

• the costs incurred to date that have not yet been recovered 

through rate riders 

• the future expected costs to be recovered through rate riders 

The determination of future expected costs associated with 

our PRP involves judgment. Factors that must be considered in 

estimating the future expected costs are projected capital expen­

diture spending, including labor and material costs, and the 

remaining infrastructure footage to be replaced for the remaining 

years of the program. We recorded a long-term liability of $190 

million as of December 3 1 , 2007 and $202 million as of 

December 31 , 2006, which represented engineering estimates for 

remaining capital expenditure costs in the PRP. As of December 

31 , 2007, we had recorded a current liability of $55 million, rep­

resenting expected PRP expenditures for the next 12 months. We 

report these estimates on an undlscounted basis. If Atlanta Gas 

Light's PRP expenditures, subject to future recovery, were $10 mil­

lion higher or lower its incremental expected annual revenues would 

have changed by approximately $1 million. 

Environmental Remediation Liabilities We historically reported 

estimates of future remediation costs based on probabilistic mod­

els of potential costs. We report these estimates on an undls­

counted basis. As we continue to conduct the actual remediation 

and enter cleanup contracts, we are increasingly able to provide 

conventional engineering estimates of the likely costs of many ele­

ments of the remediation program. These estimates contain vari­

ous engineering uncertainties, and we continuously attempt to 

refine and update these engineering estimates. 

Our latest available estimate as of December 31 , 2007 for 

those elements of the remediation program with in-place contracts 
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or engineering cost estimates is $15 million for Atlanta Gas Light's 

Georgia and Florida sites. This is an increase of $2 million from the 

December 31 , 2006 estimate of projected engineering and in-

place contracts, resulting from increased cost estimates during 

2007. For elements of the remediation program where Atlanta Gas 

Light still cannot perform engineering cost estimates, considerable 

variability remains in available estimates. The estimated remaining 

cost of future actions at these sites is $20 million, which Includes 

approximately $1 million in estimates of certain other costs it pays 

related to administering the remediation program and remediation 

of sites currently in the investigation phase. Beyond 2009, these 

costs cannot be estimated. As of December 3 1 , 2007, we have 

recorded a liability of $35 million. 

Atlanta Gas Light's environmental remediation liability is 

included in its corresponding regulatory asset. Atlanta Gas Light's 

estimate does not include other potential expenses, such as 

unasserted property damage, personal injury or natural resource 

damage claims, unbudgeted legal expenses, or other costs for 

which it may be held liable but with respect to which the amount 

cannot be reasonably forecast. Atlanta Gas Light's recovery of 

environmental remediation costs Is subject to review by the 

Georgia Commission, which may seek to disallow the recovery of 

some expenses. 

In New Jersey, Elizabethtown Gas is currently conducting 

remediation activities with oversight from the New Jersey 

Department of Environmental Protection. Although the actual total 

cost of future environmental investigation and remediation efforts 

cannot be estimated with precision, the range of reasonably prob­

able costs is $61 million to $119 million. As of December 31 , 

2007, we have recorded a liability of $61 million. 

The New Jersey Commission has authorized Elizabethtown 

Gas to recover prudently incurred remediation costs for the New 

Jersey properties through its remediation adjustment clause. As a 

result, Elizabethtown Gas has recorded a regulatory asset of approx­

imately $66 million, inclusive of interest, as of December 3 1 , 

2007, reflecting the future recovery of both incurred costs and 

future remediation liabilities in the state of New Jersey. 

Elizabethtown Gas has also been successful in recovering a portion 

of remediation costs incurred in New Jersey from its insurance 

carriers and continues to pursue additional recovery. As of 

December 31 , 2007, the variation between the amounts of the 

environmental remediation cost liability recorded in the consoli­

dated balance sheet and the associated regulatory asset is due to 

expenditures for environmental investigation and remediation 

exceeding recoveries from ratepayers and insurance carriers. 

We also own several former NUI remediation sites located out­

side of New Jersey. One site, in Elizabeth City, North Carolina, is 

subject to an order by the North Carolina Department of 

Environment and Natural Resources. Preliminary estimates for 

investigation and remediation costs range from $11 million to 

$20 million. As of December 31 , 2007, we had recorded a liabil­

ity of $11 million related to this site. There is one other site in 

North Carolina where investigation and remediation is probable, 

although no regulatory order exists and we do not believe costs 

associated with this site can be reasonably estimated. In addition, 

there are as many as six other sites with which NUI had some asso­

ciation, although no basis for liability has been asserted. We do 

not believe that costs to investigate and remediate these sites, if 

any, can be reasonably estimated at this time. 

With respect to these costs, we currently pursue or Intend to 

pursue recovery from ratepayers, former owners and operators and 

insurance carriers. Although we have been successful in recovering 

a portion of these remediation costs from our insurance carriers, we 

are not able to express a belief as to the success of additional 

recovery efforts. We are working with the regulatory agencies to 

manage our remediation costs so as to mitigate the impact of such 

costs on both ratepayers and shareholders. 

Derivatives and Hedging Activities SFAS 133, as updated by 

SFAS 149, established accounting and reporting standards which 

require that every derivative financial instrument (including 

certain derivative instruments embedded in other contracts) be 

recorded in the balance sheet as either an asset or liability 

measured at its fair value. However, if the derivative transaction 

qualifies for and is designated as a normal purchase and sale, it is 

exempted from the fair value accounting treatment of SFAS 133, 

as updated by SFAS 149, and is accounted for using traditional 

accrual accounting. 

SFAS 133 requires that changes in the derivative's fair value 

be recognized currently in earnings unless specific hedge account­

ing criteria are met If the derivatives meet those criteria, SFAS 133 

allows a derivative's gains and losses to offset related results on 

the hedged item in the income statement in the case of a fair value 

hedge, or to record the gains and losses in OCI until maturity in the 

case of a cash flow hedge. Additionally, SFAS 133 requires that a 

company formally designate a derivative as a hedge as well as doc­

ument and assess the effectiveness of derivatives associated with 

transactions that receive hedge accounting treatment. SFAS 133 

applies to treasury locks and interest rate swaps executed by AGL 

Capital and gas commodity contracts executed by Sequent and 

SouthStar. SFAS 133 also applies to gas commodity contracts exe­

cuted by Elizabethtown Gas under a New Jersey Commission 

authorized hedging program that requires gains and losses on these 

derivatives are reflected in purchased gas costs and ultimately 

billed to customers. Our derivative and hedging activities are 

described in further detail in Note 2 "Financial Instruments and 

Risk Management" and Item 1 "Business." 

Commodity-related Derivative Instruments We are exposed to 

risks associated with changes in the market price of natural gas. 

Through Sequent and SouthStar, we use derivative instruments to 

reduce our exposure impact to our results of operations due to the 

risk of changes in the price of natural gas. Sequent recognizes the 

change in value of a derivative instrument as an unrealized gain or 

loss in revenues in the period when the market value of the 
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instrument changes. Sequent recognizes cash inflows and outflows 

associated with the settlement of its risk management activities in 

operating cash fiows, and reports these settlements as receivables 

and payables in the balance sheet separately from the risk 

management activities reported as energy marketing receivables 

and trade payables. 

We attempt to mitigate substantially all our commodity price 

risk associated with Sequent's natural gas storage portfolio and 

lock in the economic margin at the time we enter into purchase 

transactions for our stored natural gas. We purchase natural gas 

for storage when the current market price we pay plus storage costs 

is less than the market price we could receive in the future. We 

lock in the economic margin by selling NYMEX futures contracts or 

other over-the-counter derivatives in the forward months corre­

sponding with our withdrawal periods. We use contracts to sell nat­

ural gas at that future price to lock in the operating margin we will 

ultimately realize when the stored natural gas is actually sold. 

These contracts meet the definition of a derivative under 

SFAS 133. 

The purchase, storage and sale of natural gas are accounted 

for differently from the derivatives we use to mitigate the com­

modity price risk associated with our storage portfolio. That differ­

ence in accounting can result in volatility in our reported operating 

margin, even though the economic margin Is essentially unchanged 

from the date we entered into the transactions. We do not currently 

use hedge accounting under SFAS 133 to account for this activity. 

Natural gas that we purchase and inject into storage is 

accounted for at the lower of average cost or market value. Under 

current accounting guidance, we recognize a loss in any period 

when the market price for natural gas is lower than the carrying 

amount of our purchased natural gas inventory. Costs to store the 

natural gas are recognized in the period the costs are incurred. We 

recognize revenues and cost of natural gas sold in our statement of 

consolidated income in the period we sell gas and it is delivered out 

of the storage facility 

The derivatives we use to mitigate commodity price risk and 

substantially lock in the operating margin upon the sale of stored 

natural gas are accounted for at fair value and marked to market 

each period, with changes in fair value recognized as unrealized 

gains or losses in the period of change. This difference in account­

ing — the lower of average cost or market basis for our storage 

inventory versus the fair value accounting for the derivatives used 

to mitigate commodity price risk — can and does result in volatil­

ity in our reported earnings. 

Over time, gains or losses on the sale of storage inventory will 

be substantially offset by losses or gains on the derivatives, result­

ing in realization of the economic profit margin we expected when 

we entered into the transactions. This accounting difference causes 

Sequent's earnings on its storage positions to be affected by nat­

ural gas price changes, even though the economic profits remain 

essentially unchanged. 

SouthStar also uses derivative instruments to manage expo­

sures arising from changing commodity prices. SouthStar's objec­

tive for holding these derivatives is to minimize volatility in 

wholesale commodity natural gas prices. A portion of SouthStar's 

derivative transactions are designated as cash flow hedges under 

SFAS 133. Derivative gains or losses arising from cash flow hedges 

are recorded in OCI and are reclassified into earnings in the same 

period the underlying hedged item is reflected in the income state­

ment. As of December 31 , 2007, the ending balance in OCI for 

derivative transactions designated as cash flow hedges under 

SFAS 133 was a gain of $3 million, net of minority interest and 

taxes. Any hedge ineffectiveness, defined as when the gains or 

losses on the hedging instrument do not offset the losses or gains 

on the hedged item, is recorded Into earnings in the period in which 

it occurs. SouthStar currently has minimal hedge ineffectiveness. 

SouthStar's remaining derivative instruments are not designated 

as hedges under SFAS 133. Therefore, changes In their fair value 

are recorded in earnings in the period of change. 

SouthStar also enters into weather derivative instruments in 

order to preserve operating margins in the event of warmer-than-

normal weather in the winter months. These contracts are 

accounted for using the intrinsic value method under the guidance 

of EITF 99-02. Changes in the fair value of these derivatives are 

recorded in earnings in the period of change. The weather deriva­

tive contracts contain strike amount provisions based on cumula­

tive heating degree days for the covered periods. In 2007 and 

2006, SouthStar entered into weather derivatives (swaps and 

options) for the respective winter heating seasons, primarily from 

November through March. As of December 31 , 2007, SouthStar 

recorded a current asset of $5 million for this hedging activity 

Contingencies Our accounting policies for contingencies cover a 

variety of business activities, including contingencies for poten­

tially uncollectible receivables, rate matters, and legal and envi­

ronmental exposures. We accrue for these contingencies when our 

assessments indicate that it is probable that a liability has been 

incurred or an asset will not be recovered, and an amount can be 

reasonably estimated in accordance with SFAS 5. We base our 

estimates for these liabilities on currently available facts and our 

estimates of the ultimate outcome or resolution of the liability in 

the future. Actual results may differ from estimates, and estimates 

can be, and often are, revised either negatively or positively, 

depending on actual outcomes or changes in the facts or expecta­

tions surrounding each potential exposure. 

Pension and Other Postretirement Plans Our pension and other 

postretirement plan costs and liabilities are determined on an actu­

arial basis and are affected by numerous assumptions and esti­

mates including the market value of plan assets, estimates of the 

expected return on plan assets, assumed discount rates and cur­

rent demographic and actuarial mortality data. We annually review 
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the estimates and assumptions underlying our pension and other 

postretirement plan costs and liabilities. The assumed discount 

rate and the expected return on plan assets are the assumptions 

that generally have the most significant impact on our pension 

costs and liabilities. The assumed discount rate, the assumed 

health care cost trend rate and the assumed rates of retirement 

generally have the most significant impact on our postretirement 

plan costs and liabilities. 

The discount rate is used principally to calculate the actuar­

ial present value of our pension and postretirement obligations and 

net pension and postretirement cost. When establishing our dis­

count rate which we have determined to be 6.4% at December 31 , 

2007, we consider high quality corporate bond rates based on 

Moody's Corporate AA long-term bond rate of 5.9% and the 

Citigroup Pension Liability rate of 6.5% at December 31 , 2007. We 

further use these market indices as a comparison to a single 

equivalent discount rate derived with the assistance of our actuar­

ial advisors. This analysis as of December 31 , 2007 produced a 

single equivalent discount rate of 6.5%. 

The actuarial assumptions used may differ materially from 

actual results due to changing market and economic conditions, 

higher or lower withdrawal rates, or longer or shorter life spans of 

participants. These differences may result in a significant impact 

on the amount of pension expense recorded in future periods. 

The expected long-term rate of return on assets is used to cal­

culate the expected return on plan assets component of our annual 

pension and postretirement plan cost. We estimate the expected 

return on plan assets by evaluating expected bond returns, equity 

risk premiums, asset allocations, the effects of active plan man­

agement, the impact of periodic plan asset rebalancing and his­

torical performance. We also consider guidance from our 

investment advisors in making a final determination of our expected 

rate of return on assets. To the extent the actual rate of return on 

assets realized over the course of a year is greater than or less than 

the assumed rate, that year's annual pension or postretirement plan 

cost is not affected. Rather, this gain or loss reduces or increases 

future pension or postretirement plan costs. 

Prior to 2006, we estimated the assumed health care cost 

trend rate used in determining our postretirement net expense 

based on our actual health care cost experience, the effects of 

recently enacted legislation and general economic conditions. 

However, starting in 2006, our postretirement plans have been 

capped at 2.5% for increases in health care costs. Consequently, 

a one-percentage-point increase or decrease in the assumed health 

care trend rate does not materially affect the periodic benefit cost 

for our postretirement plans. A one percentage-point increase in 

the assumed health care cost trend rate would increase our 

accumulated projected benefit obligation by $4 million. A one 

percentage-point decrease in the assumed health care cost trend 

rate would decrease our accumulated projected benefit obligation 

by $4 million. Our assumed rate of retirement Is estimated based 

upon an annual review of participant census information as of the 

measurement date. 

At December 3 1 , 2007, our pension and postretirement 

liability decreased by approximately $45 million, primarily result­

ing from an after-tax gain to OCI of $24 million ($40 million before 

tax), $9 million in benefit payments that we funded offset by 

$4 million in net pension and postretirement benefit costs we 

recorded in 2007. These changes reflect our funding contributions 

to the plan, benefit payments out of the plans, and updated valu­

ations for the projected benefit obligation (PBO) and plan assets. 

Equity market performance and corporate bond rates have a 

significant effect on our reported unfunded accumulated benefit 

obligation (ABO), as the primary factors that drive the value of our 

unfunded ABO are the assumed discount rate and the actual return 

on plan assets. Additionally, equity market performance has a sig­

nificant effect on our market-related value of plan assets (MRVPA), 

which is a calculated value and differs from the actual market value 

of plan assets. The MRVPA recognizes differences between the 

actual market value and expected market value of our plan assets 

and is determined by our actuaries using a five-year moving 

weighted average methodology Gains and losses on plan assets 

are spread through the MRVPA based on the five-year moving 

weighted average methodology, which affects the expected return 

on plan assets component of pension expense. 

See "Note 3, Employee Benefit Plans," for additional infor­

mation on our pension and postretirement plans, which includes 

our investment policies and strategies, target allocation ranges and 

weighted average asset allocations for 2007 and 2006. 

The actual return on our pension plan assets compared to the 

expected return on plan assets of 9% will have an impact on our 

ABO as of December 31 , 2008 and our pension expense for 2008. 

We are unable to determine how this actual return on plan assets 

will affect future ABO and pension expense, as actuarial assump­

tions and differences between actual and expected returns on plan 

assets are determined at the time we complete our actuarial eval­

uation as of December 31 , 2008. Our actual returns may also be 
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positively or negatively impacted as a result of future performance in the equity and bond markets. The following tables illustrate the effect 

of changing the critical actuar'tal assumptions, as discussed previously, while holding all other assumptions constant. 

AGL Resources Inc. Retirement and Poslretrrement Plans 

In millions 

Actuarial assumptions 

Expected long-term return on plan assets 

Discount rate 

Healthcare cost trend rate 

NUI Corporation Retirement Plan 

In millions 

Actuarial assumptions 

Expected long-term return on plan assets 

Discount rate 

Percentage-point 

change in assumption 

+/- 1 % 

+/- 1% 

+/- 1% 

Percentage-point 

change in assumption 

+/- 1% 

+/- 1% 

Increase (decrease) 

in ABO 

$ - / -
(40) /45 

'cA^.iy:Zz,}pfz.f; 

Increase (decrease) 

in ABO 

$ - / -
( 5 ) / 5 

Pension Benefits 

Increase (decrease) 

in cost 

$(3) /3 

(4 ) /4 

Pension Benefits 

Increase (decrease) 

in cost 

${1 ) /1 

- / a ) 

lncro3£0 (decrease) 

in obligation 

$4 / (4) 

Health and Life Benefits 

Increase (decrease) 

in cost 

$ - / -

Differences between actuarial assumptions and actual plan 

results are deferred and amortized into cost when the accumulated 

differences exceed 10% of the greater of the PBO or the MRVPA. 

If necessary, the excess is amortized over the average remaining 

sen/ice period of active employees. 

In addition to the assumptions listed above, the measurement 

of the plans' obligations and costs depend on other factors such as 

employee demographics, the level of contributions made to the 

plans, earnings on the plans' assets and mortality rates. 

Income Taxes We account for income taxes in accordance with 

SFAS 109 and FIN 48 which require that deferred tax assets and 

liabilities be recognized using enacted tax rates for the effect of 

temporary differences between the book and tax basis of recorded 

assets and liabilities. SFAS 109 and FIN 48 also requires that 

deferred tax assets be reduced by a valuation if it is more likely 

than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax asset will not 

be realized. We adopted the provisions of FIN 48 on January 1, 

2007. At the date of adoption and as of December 31 , 2007, we 

did not have a liability for unrecognized tax benefits. 

Our net long-term deferred tax liability totaled $566 million 

at December 31 , 2007 (see Note 8 "Income Taxes"). This liabil­

ity is estimated based on the expected future tax consequences of 

items recognized in the financial statements. After application of 

the federal statutory tax rate to book income, judgment is required 

with respect to the timing and deductibility of expense in our 

income tax returns. For state income tax and other taxes, judgment 

is also required with respect to the apportionment among the var­

ious jurisdictions. A valuation allowance is recorded if we expect 

that it is more iikely than not that our deferred tax assets will not 

be realized. We had a $3 million valuation allowance on $53 mil­

lion of deferred tax assets as of December 3 1 , 2007, reflecting 

the expectation that most of these assets will be realized. In addi­

tion, we operate within multiple taxing jurisdictions and we are 

subject to audit in these jurisdictions. These audits can involve 

complex issues, which may require an extended period of time to 

resolve. We maintain a liability for the estimate of potential income 

tax exposure and in our opinion adequate provisions for income 

taxes have been made for all years. 

Accounting Developments 

SFAS 157 In September2006, the FASB issued SFAS 157, which 

establishes a framework for measuring fair value and requires 

expanded disclosures regarding fair value measurements. 

SFAS 157 does not require any new fair value measurements. 

However, it eliminates inconsistencies in the guidance provided in 

previous accounting pronouncements. 

SFAS 157 is effective for financial statements issued for fiscal 

years beginning after November 15, 2007, and interim periods 

within those fiscal years. Earlier application is encouraged, 

provided that the reporting entity has not yet issued financial 

statements for that fiscal year, including financial statements for 

an interim period within that fiscal year. All valuation adjustments 

will be recognized as cumulative-effect adjustments to the opening 

balance of retained earnings for the fiscal year in which SFAS 157 

is initially applied. In December 2007, the FASB provided a one 

year deferral of SFAS 157 for nonfinancial assets and nonfinancial 

liabilities, except those that are recognized or disclosed at fair value 

on a recurring basis, at least annually. We will adopt SFAS 157 on 

January 1, 2008, for our financial assets and liabilities, which 

primarily consists of derivatives we record in accordance with 

SFAS 133, and on January 1, 2009, for our non-financial assets 

and liabilities. For our financial assets and liabilities, we expect 

that our adoption of SFAS 157 will primarily impact our disclosures 

and not have a material impact on our consolidated results of 

operations, cash flows or financial position. We are currently 

evaluating the impact with respect to our non-financial assets 

and liabilities. 
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SFAS 159 In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS 159 which is 

effective for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007, but 

is not required to be adopted. SFAS 159 establishes a framework 

for measuring fair value for eligible financial assets and liabilities 

with the intention of reducing earnings volatility. We currently have 

no financial assets or liabilities eligible for this treatment and have 

no plans to adopt SFAS 159. 

SFAS 160 In December 2007, the FASB Issued SFAS 160, which 

is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2008. 

Early adoption is prohibited. SFAS 160 will require us to present 

our minority interest, to be referred to as a noncontrolling interest, 

separately within the capitalization section of our consolidated bal­

ance sheet. We will adopt SFAS 160 as of January 1, 2009. 

FIN 39 was issued in March 1992 and provides guidance related 

to offsetting payable and receivable amounts related to 

certain contracts, including derivative contracts. It was effective 

for financial statements issued for periods beginning after 

December 15, 1993. 

FSP FIN 39-1 was issued in April 2007 and is effective for us 

on January 1, 2008. FIN 39-1 amends FIN 39 and allows a com­

pany to elect to report certain derivative assets and liabilities sub­

ject to master netting agreements on either a gross basis or net 

basis on the balance sheet. The guidance also addresses reporting 

of collateral amounts relating to the netting agreements. We enter 

into derivative contracts, but FSP FIN 39-1 will not have a mate­

rial effect on our consolidated financial condition. 

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures 
About Market Risk 

We are exposed to risks associated with commodity prices, inter­

est rates and credit. Commodity price risk is defined as the poten­

tial loss that we may incur as a result of changes in the fair value 

of natural gas. Interest rate risk results from our portfolio of debt 

and equity instruments that we issue to provide financing and 

liquidity for our business. Credit risk results from the extension of 

credit throughout al! aspects of our business but is particulariy 

concentrated at Atlanta Gas Light In distribution operations and in 

wholesale services. 

Our Risk Management Committee (RMC) is responsible for 

establishing the overall risk management policies and monitoring 

compliance with, and adherence to, the terms within these policies, 

including approval and authorization levels and delegation of these 

levels. Our RMC consists of members of senior management who 

monitor open commodity price risk positions and other types of 

risk, corporate exposures, credit exposures and overall results of 

our risk management activities. It is chaired by our chief risk offi­

cer, who is responsible for ensuring that appropriate reporting 

mechanisms exist for the RMC to perform its monitoring functions. 

Our risk management activities and related accounting treatments 

are described in further detail in Note 2, Financial Instruments 

and Risk Management. 

Commodity Price Risk 

Retail Energy Operations SouthStar's use of derivatives is governed 

by a risk management policy, approved and monitored by its Risk 

and Asset Management Committee, which prohibits the use of 

derivatives for speculative purposes. 

Energy Marketing and Risk Management Activities SouthStar 

generates operating margin from the active management of storage 

positions through a variety of hedging transactions and derivative 

instruments aimed at managing exposures arising from changing 

commodity prices. SouthStar uses these hedging instruments to 

lock in economic margins (as spreads between wholesale and retail 

commodity prices widen between periods) and thereby minimize its 

exposure to declining operating margins. 

We have designated a portion of SouthStar's derivative trans­

actions as cash flow hedges in accordance with SFAS 133. We 

record derivative gains or losses arising from cash flow hedges in 

OCI and reclassify them into earnings in the same period as the 

underlying hedged item occurs and is recorded In earnings. We 

record any hedge ineffectiveness, defined as when the gains or 

losses on the hedging instrument do not offset and are greater than 

the losses or gains on the hedged item, in cost of gas in our con­

solidated statement of income in the period in which the ineffec­

tiveness occurs. SouthStar currently has minimal hedge 

ineffectiveness. We have not designated the remainder of 

SouthStar's derivative instruments as hedges under SFAS 133 and, 

accordingly, we record changes in their fair value in earnings in the 

period of change. 

SouthStar recorded a net unrealized loss related to changes in 

the fair value of derivative instruments utilized in its energy mar­

keting and risk management activities of $7 million during 2007, 

$14 million of unrealized gains during 2006 and unrealized losses 

of $4 million during 2005. The following tables illustrate the 
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change in the net fair value of the derivative instruments and 

energy-tradingcontracts during 2007, 2006 and 2005 and provide 

details of the net fair value of contracts outstanding as of 

December 31 , 2007, 2006 and 2005. 

Net fair value of contracts 

outstanding at beginning 

of period 

Contracts realized or otherwise 

settled during period 

Change in net fair value of contracts 

Net fair value of contracts 

outstanding at end of period 

$ 1 7 

(16) 

9 

$ 10 

$ 3 

(3) 

17 

$17 

$ 7 

(7) 

3 

$ 3 

The sources of SouthStar's net fair value at December 31 , 2007, 

are as follows. 
Prices Prices provided 

actively by other 

In millions 

Mature through 2008 

Mature after 2008 

Total net fair value 

quoted"' 

$5 

$5 

external sources' 

$5 

$5 
' "Valued using NYMEX futures prices. 

' ' ' Values primarily related to v/eather derivative transactions that are valued on an intrinsic basis 

in accordance with EITF 99-02 as based on healing degree days. 

SouthStar routinely utilizes various types of financial and other 

instruments to mitigate certain commodity price and weather risks 

inherent in the natural gas industry. These instruments include a 

variety of exchange-traded and over-the-counter energy contracts, 

such as forward contracts, futures contracts, options contracts and 

swap agreements. The following table includes the fair values and 

average values of SouthStar's energy marketing and risk manage­

ment assets and liabilities as of December 31 , 2007 and 2006. 

SouthStar bases the average values on monthly averages for the 

12 months ended December 31 , 2007 and 2006. 

In millions 

Asset 

Liability 

In millions 

Asset 

Liability 

Average values at (December 3 1 , 

2007 2006 

$11 $11 

4 6 

Fair value at December 3 1 , 

2007 2006 

$12 $30 

2 13 

Value-at-risk A 95% confidence interval is used to evaluate 

VaR exposure. A 95% confidence interval means there is a 5% 

confidence that the actual loss in portfolio value will be greater 

than the calculated VaR value over the holding period. We 

calculate VaR based on the variance-covariance technique. This 

technique requires several assumptions for the basis of the 

calculation, such as price distribution, price volatility confidence 

interval and holding period. Our VaR may not be comparable to a 

similarly titled measure of another company because, although VaR 

is a common metric in the energy industry, there is no established 

industry standard for calculating VaR or for the assumptions under­

lying such calculations. SouthStar's portfolio of positions for 2007 

and 2006, had annual average 1-day holding period VaRs of less 

than $100,000, and its high, tow and period end 1-day holding 

period VaR were immaterial. 

Wholesale Services Sequent routinely uses various types of finan­

cial and other instruments to mitigate certain commodity price 

risks inherent in the natural gas industry These instruments 

include a variety of exchange-traded and over-the-counter energy 

contracts, such as forward contracts, futures contracts, options 

contracts and financial swap agreements. 

Energy Marketing and Risk Management Activities We 

account for derivative transactions in connection with Sequent's 

energy marketing activities on a fair value basis in accordance with 

SFAS 133. We record derivative energy commodity contracts 

(including both physical transactions and financial instruments) at 

fair value, with unrealized gains or losses from changes in fair value 

reflected in our earnings in the period of change. 

Sequent's energy-trading contracts are recorded on an accrual 

basis as required under the EITF 02-03 rescission of EITF 98-10, 

unless they are derivatives that must be recorded at fair value under 

SFAS 133. 

Sequent recorded a net unrealized loss related to changes in 

the fair value of derivative instruments utilized in its energy mar­

keting and risk management activities and contract settlement of 

$62 million during 2007, $132 million of unrealized gains during 

2006 and unrealized losses of $30 million during 2005. The fol­

lowing tables illustrate the change in the net fair value of Sequent's 

derivative instruments and energy-trading contracts during 2007, 

2006 and 2005 and provide details of the net fair value of con­

tracts outstanding as of December 31 . 2007, 2006 and 2005. 

Net fair value of contracts 

outstanding at beginning 

of period 

Contracts realized or otherwise 

settled during period 

Change in net fair value of contracts 

Net fair value of contracts 

outstanding at end of period 

$ 119 

(102) 

40 

$ 57 

$(13) 

17 

115 

$119 

$ 1 7 

(47) 

17 

$(13) 

r'\Q 
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The sources of Sequent's net fair value at December 31 , 2007, 

are as follows. 

In millions 

Mature through 2008 

Mature 2 0 0 9 - 2 0 1 0 

Mature 2 0 1 1 - 2 0 1 3 

Mature after 2013 

Prices 

actively 

quoted'" 

$19 

1 
— 
— 

Prices provided 

by other 

external sources'̂ ' 

$31 

2 

3 

1 
Total net fair value $20 $37 

" ' Valued using NYf^EX futures prices. 

' ' 'Valued using basis transactions that represent the cost lo transport the commodity from a 

NYMEX delivery point to the contract delivery point. These transactions are based on quotes 

obtained either through electronic trading platforms or directly from brokers. 

The following table includes the fair values and average values of 

Sequent's energy marketing and risk management assets and 

liabilities as of December 31 , 2007 and 2006. Sequent bases the 

average values on monthly averages for the 12 months ended 

December 31 , 2007 and 2006. 

In millions 

Asset 

Liability 

In millions 

Asset 
Liability 

Average values at December 31. 

2007 2005 

$63 $95 
16 43 

Fair value at December 31, 

2007 2006 

$70 $133 
13 14 

Value-at-risk Sequent employs a systematic approach to eval­

uating and managing the risks associated with contracts related to 

wholesale marketing and risk management, including VaR. Similar 

to SouthStar, Sequent uses a 1-day holding period and a 95% 

confidence interval to evaluate its VaR exposure. 

Sequent's open exposure is managed in accordance with 

established policies that limit market risk and require daily 

reporting of potential financial exposure to senior management, 

including the chief risk officer. Because Sequent generally 

manages physical gas assets and economically protects its 

positions by hedging in the futures and over-the-counter markets, 

its open exposure is generally minimal, permitting Sequent to 

operate within relatively low VaR limits. Sequent employs daily risk 

testing, using both VaR and stress testing, to evaluate the risks of 

its open positions. 

Sequent's management actively monitors open commodity 

positions and the resulting VaR. Sequent continues to maintain a 

relatively matched book, where its total buy volume is close to its 

sell volume, with minimal open commodity risk. Based on a 95% 

confidence interval and employing a 1-day holding period for all 

positions, Sequent's portfolio of positions for the 12 months ended 

December 3 1 , 2007, 2006 and 2005 had the following 1-day 

holding period VaRs. 

2005 2005 

Period end 

12-month average 

High 

Low"' 

$1.2 
1.3 
2.3 
0.7 

$1.3 
1.2 
2.5 
0.7 

$0.6 
0.4 
1.1 
0.0 

'.0 values represent amounts less than $0.1 mill ion. 

Interest Rate Risk 

Interest rate fluctuations expose our variable-rate debt to changes 

in interest expense and cash flows. We manage interest expense 

using a combination of fixed-rate and variable-rate debt. Based on 

$840 million of variable-rate debt, which includes $579 million of 

our variable-rate short-term debt, $100 million of variable-rate 

senior notes and $161 million of variable-rate gas facility revenue 

bonds outstanding at December 31 , 2007, a 100 basis point 

change in market interest rates from 5.56% to 6.56% would have 

resulted in an increase in pretax interest expense of $8 million on 

an annualized basis. 

To facilitate the achievement of desired fixed-rate to variable-

rate debt ratios, AGL Capital entered into interest rate swaps 

whereby it agreed to exchange, fixed rate debt for floating-rate debt. 

The swaps exchange at specified intervals, the difference between 

fixed and variable amounts calculated by reference to agreed-on 

notional principal amounts. These swaps are designated to hedge 

thefairvaluesof $100 million of the $300 million senior notes due 

in 2011. 

In August 2007, we executed a treasury-lock agreement 

covering a notional amount totaling $125 million to hedge the 

interest rate risk associated with our $125 million senior notes 

offering in December 2007. The 10-year treasury interest rate was 

locked in at a weighted average r^te of 4.5%. The treasury-lock 

agreements settled and we paid $5 million in December 2007 in 

connection with our issuance of $125 million in senior notes. The 

$5 million is included within OCI (net of $2 million in income 

taxes) and will be amortized over the remaining life of the senior 

notes (through July 2016) as interest expense. 

':T:J 
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MD&A 

Credit Risk 

Distribution Operations Atlanta Gas Light has a concentration of 

credit risk as it bills only 12 Marketers in Georgia for its sen/ices. 

The credit risk exposure to Marketers varies with the time of the 

year, with exposure at its lowest in the nonpeak summer months 

and highest in the peak winter months. Marketers are responsible 

for the retail sale of natural gas to end-use customers in Georgia. 

These retail functions include customer service, billing, collections, 

and the purchase and sale of the natural gas commodity. The pro­

visions of Atlanta Gas Light's tariff allow Atlanta Gas Light to obtain 

security support in an amount equal to a minimum of two times a 

Marketer's highest month's estimated bill from Atlanta Gas Light. 

For 2007, the four largest Marketers based on customer count, 

one of which was SouthStar, accounted for approximately 38% of 

our consolidated operating margin and 52% of distribution opera­

tions' operating margin. 

Several factors are designed to mitigate our risks from the 

increased concentration of credit that has resulted from deregula­

tion. In addition to the security support described above, Atlanta 

Gas Light bills intrastate delivery service to Marketers in advance 

rather than in arrears. We accept credit support in the form of cash 

deposits, letters of credit/surety bonds from acceptable issuers and 

corporate guarantees from investment-grade entities. The RMC 

reviews on a monthly basis the adequacy of credit support cover­

age, credit rating profiles of credit support providers and payment 

status of each Marketer. We believe that adequate policies and 

procedures have been put in place to properly quantify manage 

and report on Atlanta Gas Light's credit risk exposure to Marketers. 

Atlanta Gas Light also faces potential credit risk in connection 

with assignments of interstate pipeline transportation and storage 

capacity to Marketers. Although Atlanta Gas Light assigns this 

capacity to Marketers, in the event that a Marketer fails to pay the 

interstate pipelines for the capacity, the interstate pipelines would 

in all likelihood seek repayment from Atlanta Gas Light. 

Retail Energy Operations SouthStar obtains credit scores for its 

firm residential and small commercial customers using a national 

credit reporting agency enrolling only those customers that meet 

or exceed SouthStar's credit threshold. 

SouthStar considers potential interruptible and large com­

mercial customers based on a review of publicly available financial 

statements and review of commercially available credit reports. 

Prior to entering into a physical transaction, SouthStar also assigns 

physical wholesale counterparties an internal credit rating and 

credit limit based on the counterparties' Moody's, S&P and 

Fitch ratings, commercially available credit reports and audited 

financial statements. 

Wholesale Services Sequent has established credit policies to 

determine and monitor the creditworthiness of counterparties, as 

well as the quality of pledged collateral. Sequent also utilizes mas­

ter netting agreements whenever possible to mitigate exposure to 

counterparty credit risk. When Sequent is engaged in more than 

one outstanding derivative transaction with the same counterparty 

and it also has a legally enforceable netting agreement with that 

counterparty, the "net" mark-to-market exposure represents the 

netting of the positive and negative exposures with that counter­

party and a reasonable measure of Sequent's credit risk. Sequent 

also uses other netting agreements with certain counterparties with 

whom it conducts significant transactions. 

Master netting agreements enable Sequent to net certain 

assets and liabilities by counterparty Sequent also nets across 

product lines and against cash collateral provided the master 

netting and cash collateral agreements include such provisions. 

Additionally, Sequent may require counterparties to pledge 

additional collateral when deemed necessary. Sequent conducts 

credit evaluations and obtains appropriate internal approvals for 

its counterparty's line of credit before any transaction with the 

counterparty is executed. In most cases, the counterparty must 

have a minimum long-term debt rating of Baa3 from Moody's and 

BBB- from S&P. Generally, Sequent requires credit enhancements 

by way of guaranty, cash deposit or letter of credit for transaction 

counterparties that do not meet the minimum ratings threshold. 

Sequent, which provides sen/ices to retail marketers and utility 

and industrial customers, also has a concentration of credit risk as 

measured by its 30-day receivable exposure plus forward exposure. 

As of December 31 , 2007, Sequent's top 20 counterparties 

represented approximately 53% of the total counterparty exposure 

of $366 million, derived by adding together the top 20 

counterparties' exposures and dividing by the total of Sequent's 

counterparties' exposures. 

As of December 31 , 2007, Sequent's counterparties, or the 

counterparties' guarantors, had a weighted average S&P equivalent 

credit rating of A-, which is consistent with the prior year. The S&P 

equivalent credit rating is determined by a process of converting the 

lower of the S&P or Moody's ratings to an internal rating ranging 

from 9 to 1, with 9 being equivalent to AAA/Aaa by S&P and 

Moody's and 1 being D or Default by S&P and Moody's. A 

counterparty that does not have an external rating is assigned an 

internal rating based on the strength of the financial ratios of that 

counterparty. To arrive at the weighted average credit rating, each 

counterparty's assigned internal rating is multiplied by the 

counterparty's credit exposure and summed for all counterparties. 

That sum is divided by the aggregate total counterparties' 

exposures, and this numeric value is then converted to an 

S&P equivalent. 

W 
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The following table shows Sequent's commodity receivable and payable positions as of December 31 , 2007 and 2006. 

As of December 31, 

In millions 

Gross receivables 
2007 2005 

Netting agreements in place: 

Counterparty is investment grade 

Counterparty is non-investment grade 

Counterparty has no external rating 

No netting agreements in place: 

Counterparty is investment grade 

$437 

24 
135 

$359 
62 
75 

Gross payables 
2007 2006 

$356 
18 

204 

$297 
52 

156 

Amount recorded on balance sheet $599 $505 $578 $510 

Sequent has certain trade and credit contracts that have explicit minimum credit rating requirements. These credit rating requirements 

typically give counterparties the right to suspend or terminate credit if our credit ratings are downgraded to non-investment grade status. Under 

such circumstances. Sequent would need to post collateral to continue transacting business with some of its counterparties. Posting collat­

eral would have a negative effect on our liquidity If such collateral were not posted, Sequent's ability to continue transacting business with 

these counterparties would be impaired. If at December 31 , 2007, Sequent's credit ratings had been downgraded to non-investment grade 

status, the required amounts to satisfy potential collateral demands under such agreements between Sequent and Its counterparties would 

have totaled $26 million. 
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Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data 

Consolidated Balance Sheets—Assets 

December 31, 2007 December 31, 2005 

Current assets 

Cash and cash equivalents 

Receivables 

Energy marketing 

Gas 

Unbilled revenues 

Other 

Less allowance for uncollectible accounts 

Total receivables 

Inventories 

Natural gas stored underground 

Other 

Total inventories 

Energy marketing and risk management assets 

Unrecovered PRP costs - current portion 

Unrecovered environmental remediation costs - current portion 

Other current assets 

Total current assets 

Property, plant and equipment 

Property, plant and equipment 

Less accumulated depreciation 

$ 21 

599 

212 

179 

13 

(14) 

$ 20 

505 

197 

172 

21 

(15) 

989 

521 

30 

551 

78 

31 

23 

118 

1,811 

5,177 

1,611 

880 

568 

29 

597 

159 

27 

27 

112 

1,822 

4,976 

1,540 

Property, plant and equipment - net 

Deferred debits and other assets 

Goodwill 

Unrecovered PRP costs 

Unrecovered environmental remediation costs 

Other 

3,566 

420 

254 

135 

82 

3^436 

420 

247 

143 

79 

Total deferred debits and other assets 891 _ 8 89 
$6,147 Total assets $6,268 

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. 
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Consolidated Balance Sheets—Liabilities and Capitalization 

As of 

In millions, except share amounts December 3 1 , 2 0 0 7 December 3 1 , 2 0 0 6 

Current liabilities 

Short-term debt $ 580 $ 539 

Energy marketing trade payable 578 510 

Accounts payable - trade 172 213 

Accrued PRP costs - current portion 55 35 

Accrued interest 39 37 

Customer deposits 35 42 

Deferred purchased gas adjustment 28 24 

Accrued wages and salaries 24 50 

Energy marketing and risk management liabilities - current portion 18 41 

Accrued environmental remediation costs-current portion 10 13 

Other current liabilities 106 162 

Total current liabilities 1,645 1,666 

Accumulated deferred income taxes 566 505 

Long-term liabilities (excluding long-term debt) 

Accrued PRP costs 190 202 

Accumulated removal costs 169 162 

Accrued environmental remediation costs 97 83 

Accrued pension obligations 43 78 

Accrued postretirement benefit costs 24 32 

Other long-term liabilities 152 146 

Total long-term liabilities (excluding long-term debt) 675 703 

Commitments and contingencies (see Note 7) _ ^ 

Minority interest _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ ^ ^Z 42 
Capitalization 
Long-term debt 1,674 1,622 
Common shareholders' equity $5 par value; 750 million shares authorized; 

76.4 million and 77.7 million shares outstanding at December 31 , 2007 and 2006 1,661 _ 1,609 

Total capitalization 3,335 3,231 

Total ilabillties and capitalization $6,268 $5,147 
See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. 
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Statements of Consolidated Income 

In mill ions, except per share amounts 

Years ended December 3 1 , 

2006 

Operating revenues 

Operating expenses 

Cost of gas 

Operation and maintenance 

Depreciation and amortization 

Taxes other than income taxes 

$2,494 

1,369 
451 
144 

41 

$2,621 

1.482 

473 
138 

40 

$2,718 

1,626 
477 

133 
40 

Total operating expenses 2.005 2,133 2,276 

Operating income 489 

Earnings before income taxes 

Income taxes 
338 
127 

Net income $ 211 

488 
Other income (expenses) 

Minority interest 

Interest expense 

4 

(30) 

(125) 

(1) 
(23) 

(123) 

341 
129 

$ 212 

442 
(1) 
C22) 
(109) 
310 
117 
193 

Per common share data 

Basic earnings per common share 

Diluted earnings per common share 

Cash dividends declared per common share 

$ 2.74 
$ 2.72 
$ 1.64 

2.73 
2.72 
1.48 

$ 2.50 
$ 2.4S 
$ 1.30 

Weighted average number of common shares outstanding 

Basic 

Diluted 
77.1 
77.4 

77.6 

78.0 
77.3 
77.8 

See Notes lo Consolidated Financial Statements. 

64 



statements of Consolidated Common Shareholders' Equity 

AGL Resources Inc. 2007 Annual Report 

In millions, except per share amounts 

Common stock 

Shares Amount 

other Shares held 

Premium on Earnings comprehensive in treasury 

common slock reinvesled loss and Irust Total 

Balance as of December 31 , 2004 76.7 $632 $415 $(46) 

Comprehensive income: 

Net income 

OCI - loss resulting from unfunded pension 

and postretirement obligation (net of tax of $3) 

Unrealized loss from hedging activities 

(net of tax of $1) 

Total comprehensive income 

Dividends on common stock ($1.30 per share) 

issuance of common shares: 

Benefit, stock compensation, dividend reinvestment 

and stock purchase plans (net of tax of $9) 

193 

(100) 

1.1 23 

Balance as of December 31 , 2005 77.8 389 655 508 (53) 

1,385 

193 

(5) 

(2) 

— 

— 

— 

— 

(5) 

(2) 
186 

(100) 

28 

1,499 
Comprehensive income: 

Net income 

OCI - gain resulting from unfunded pension and 

postretirement obligation (net of tax of $7) 

Unrealized gain from hedging activities 

(net of tax of $7) 

Total comprehensive income 

Dividends on common stock ($1.48 per share) 

Benefit, stock compensation, dividend reinvestment 

and stock purchase plans 

Issuance of treasury shares 

Purchase of treasury shares 

Stock-based compensation expense (net of tax of $5) 

212 

11 

10 

0.3 
0.6 

(1.0) 

2 

(3) 

(115) 

(4) 21 
(38) 

212 

11 

10 

233 
(111) 

3 
14 

(38) 
9 

Balance as of December 31 , 2006 77.7 390 664 601 (32) (14) 1,609 
Comprehensive income; 

Net income 

OCI — gain resulting from unfunded pension and 

postretirement obilgatlon (net of tax of $16) 

Unrealized gain from hedging activities 

(net of tax of $3) 

Total comprehensive income 

Dividends on common stock ($1.64 per share) 

Issuance of treasury shares 

Purchase of treasury shares 

Stock-based compensation expense (net of tax of $3) 

211 

24 

(5) 

0.7 

(2.0) 
(6) 

(127) 
(5) 27 

(80) 

Balance as of December 31 , 2007 76.4 $390 $667 $680 $(13) 

211 

24 

(5) 
230 

(123) 
16 

(80) 
9 

$(63) $1,661 
See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. 
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Statements of Consolidated Cash Flows 

Years ended December 3 1 , 

2006 

Cash flows from operating activities 

Net income 

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash flow provided by operating activities 

Depreciation and amortization 

Change in energy marketing and risk management assets and liabilities 

Minority interest 

Deferred income taxes 
Changes in certain assets and liabilities 

Inventories 

Gas, unbilled and other receivables 
Energy marketing receivables and energy marketing trade payables, net 

Accrued expenses 

Trade payables 
Other - net 

$211 

144 
69 
30 
30 

46 
(15) 

(26) 

(34) 

(41) 

(38) 

$212 

138 

(130) 

23 

133 

(54) 

170 

(95) 

15 

(53) 

(5) 

$ 193 

133 

27 

22 

17 

(211) 

(170) 

93 

12 

57 

(93) 

Net cash flow provided by operating activities 

Cash flows from investing activities 

Expenditures for property plant and equipment 

Sale of Saltville 

Other 

Net cash f\ow used in Investing activities 

Cash flows from financing activities 

Dividends paid on common shares 

Purchase of treasury shares 
Payments of trust preferred securities 

Distribution to minority interest 
Payments of medium-term notes 

Issuances of senior notes 

Net payments and borrowings of short-term debt 

Issuance of treasury shares 

Sale of common stock 
Other 

Net cash flow (used in) provided by financing activities 
Net increase (decrease) In cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 

376 354 80 

(259) 

(253) 

(123) 

(80) 

(75) 

(23) 

(11) 

125 

52 

16 

(3) 

(122) 

1 

20 

(253) 

_5_ 

12481 

(111) 

(38) 

(150) 

(22) 

175 

6 

14 

3 

5 

(118) 

(12) 

32 

(257) 

56 

7 

(194) 

(100) 

(19) 

188 

28 

_97 

(17) 

_49 

32 Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $ 21 20 

Cash paid during the period for 
Interest 
Income taxes 

$127 
118 

$ 109 
37 

115 
89 

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. 
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Note 1 Accounting Policies and 
iVIethods of Application 

General 

AGL Resources Inc. is an energy services holding company that 

conducts substantially all its operations through its subsidiaries. 

Unless the context requires otherwise, references to "we," "us," 

"our," the "company", or "AGL Resources" mean consolidated AGL 

Resources Inc. and its subsidiaries. We have prepared the accom­

panying consolidated financial statements under the rules of the 

SEC. For a glossary of key terms and referenced accounting stan­

dards, see pages 19-20. 

Basis of Presentation 

Our consolidated financial statements as of and for the period 

ended December 31 , 2007, include our accounts, the accounts 

of our majority-owned and controlled subsidiaries and the accounts 

of variable interest entities for which we are the primary beneficiary. 

This means that our accounts are combined with the subsidiaries' 

accounts. We have eliminated any intercompany profits and 

transactions in consolidation; however, we have not eliminated 

intercompany profits when such amounts are probable of recovery 

under the affiliates' rate regulation process. Certain amounts from 

prior periods have been reclassified and revised to conform to the 

current period presentation. 

We currently own a noncontrolling 70% financial interest in 

SouthStar and Piedmont owns the remaining 30%. Our 70% inter­

est is noncontrolling because all significant management decisions 

require approval by both owners. We record the earnings allocated 

to Piedmont as a minority interest in our consolidated statements 

of income and we record Piedmont's portion of SouthStar's capital 

as a minority interest in our consolidated balance sheets. 

We are the primary beneficiary of SouthStar's activities and 

have determined that SouthStar is a variable interest entity as 

defined by FIN 46 revised in December 2003, FIN 46R. We 

determined that SouthStar was a variable interest entity because 

our equal voting rights with Piedmont are not proportional to our 

economic obligation to absorb 75% of any losses or residual returns 

from SouthStar, except those losses and returns related to 

customers in Ohio and Florida. Earnings related to SouthStar's 

customers in Ohio and Florida are allocated 70% to us and 30% 

to Piedmont. In addition, SouthStar obtains substantially all its 

transportation capacity for delivery of natural gas through our wholly 

owned subsidiary, Atlanta Gas Light. 

Prior to our sale of Saltville in August 2005, we used the 

equity method to account for and report our 50% interest in 

Saltville. Saltville was a joint venture with a subsidiary of Duke 

Energy Corporation to develop a high-deliverability natural gas 

storage facility in Saltville, Virginia. We used the equity method 

because we exercised significant influence over but did not control 

the entity and because we were not the primary beneficiary as 

defined by FIN 46R. 

Cash and Cash Equivalents 

Our cash and cash equivalents consist primarily of cash on deposit, 

money market accounts and certificates of deposit with original 

maturities of three months or less. 

Receivables and Allowance for Uncollectible Accounts 

Our receivables consist of natural gas sales and transportation 

services billed to residential, commercial, industrial and other 

customers. We bill customers monthly, and accounts receivable are 

due within 30 days. For the majority of our receivables, we 

establish an allowance for doubtful accounts based on our 

collection experience. On certain other receivables where we are 

aware of a specific customer's inability or reluctance to pay we 

record an allowance for doubtful accounts against amounts due to 

reduce the net receivable balance to the amount we reasonably 

expect to collect. However, if circumstances change, our estimate 

of the recoverability of accounts receivable could be different. 

Circumstances that could affect our estimates include, but are not 

limited to, customer credit issues, the level of natural gas prices, 

customer deposits and general economic conditions. We write off 

accounts once we deem them to be uncollectible. 

Inventories 

For our distribution operations subsidiaries, we record natural gas 

stored underground at weighted average costs. For Sequent and 

SouthStar, we account for natural gas inventory at the lov/er of 

weighted average cost or market. 

Sequent and SouthStar evaluate the average cost of their nat­

ural gas inventories against market prices to determine whether 

any declines in market prices below the average cost are other than 

temporary. For any declines considered to be other than temporary 

adjustments are recorded to reduce the weighted average cost of 

the natural gas inventory to market. Consequently, as a result of 

declining natural gas prices. Sequent recorded an adjustment 

against cost of gas to reduce the value of its inventories to market 

value of $4 million in 2007, $43 million in 2006 and $3 million 

in 2005. SouthStar recorded a $6 million adjustment in 2006, 

but was not required to make a similar adjustment in 2007 

or 2005. 

For volumes of gas stored under park and loan arrangements 

that are payable or to be repaid at predetermined dates to third 

parties, we record the inventory at fair value. Materials and supplies 

inventories are stated at the lower of average cost or market. 

b / 
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

In Georgia's competitive environment. Marketers including 

SouthStar, our marketing subsidiary, began selling natural gas in 

1998 to firm end-use customers at market-based prices. Part of the 

unbundling process, which resulted from dereguiation that pro­

vides for this competitive environment, is the assignment to 

Marketers of certain pipeline services that Atlanta Gas Light has 

under contract. Atlanta Gas Light assigns, on a monthly basis, the 

majority of the pipeline storage services that it has under contract 

to Marketers, along with a corresponding amount of Inventory 

Property, Plant and Equipment 

A summary of our PP&E by classification as of December 31 , 2007 

and 2006 is provided in the following table. 

In millions 2007 2006 

Transmission and distribution 
Storage 

Other 

Construction work in progress 

Total gross PP&E 

Accumulated depreciation 

Total net PP&E 

$ 

$ 

4,193 

285 

509 

190 

5,177 

(1,611) 

3,566 

$ 4,047 
267 

454 

208 

4,976 

(1,540) 

$ 3,436 

Distribution Operations PP&E expenditures consist of property 

and equipment that is in use, being held for future use and under 

construction. We report PP&E at its original cost, which includes: 

• material and labor 

• contractor costs 

• construction overhead costs 

• an allowance for funds used during construction (AFUDC) which 

represents the estimated cost of funds used to finance the con­

struction of major projects and is capitalized in rate base for 

ratemaking purposes when the completed projects are placed 

non-working natural gas used to maintain the operational integrity 

of the cavern facility) is classified as non-depreciable property, 

plant and equipment and is valued at cost. 

Depreciation Expense 

We compute depreciation expense for distribution operations by 

applying composite, straight-line rates (approved by the state reg­

ulatory agencies) to the investment in depreciable property. The 

composite straight-line depreciation rate for depreciable property 

— excluding transportation equipment for Atlanta Gas Light, 

Virginia Natural Gas and Chattanooga Gas — was approximately 

2.5% during 2007, 2.5% during 2006 and 2.6% during 2005. 

The composite, straight-line rate for Elizabethtown Gas, Florida 

City Gas and Elkton Gas was approximately 3.2 % for 2007, 3.0% 

during 2006 and 3.1%. in 2005. We depreciate transportation 

equipment on a straight-line basis over a period of 5 to 10 years. 

We compute depreciation expense for other segments on a straight-

line basis up to 35 years based on the useful life of the asset. 

AFUDC 

The applicable state regulatory agencies authorize Atlanta Gas 

Light, Elizabethtown Gas and Chattanooga Gas to record the cost 

of debt and equity funds as part of the cost of construction 

projects in our consolidated balance sheets and as AFUDC in the 

statements of consolidated income. The Georgia Commission has 

authorized a rate of 8.53%, and the Tennessee Commission has 

authorized a rate of 7.89%. Prior to January 1, 2007, the Tennessee 

Commission had authorized a rate of 7.43%. The New Jersey 

Commission has authorized a variable rate based on the FERC 

methodof accounting for AFUDC. At December 31 , 2007 the rate 

was 5.2%. The total AFUDC for 2007 was $4 million, 2006 was 

$5 million and 2005 was $4 million. The capital expenditures of 

our other regulated utilities do not qualify for AFUDC treatment. 

We charge property retired or otherwise disposed of to accu­

mulated depreciation since such costs are recovered in rates. 

Retail Energy Operations, Wholesale Services, Energy Investments 

and Corporate PP&E expenditures include property that is in use 

and under construction, and we report it at cost. We record a gain 

or loss for retired or otherwise disposed-of property. Natural gas in 

storage at Jefferson Island that is retained as pad gas (volumes of 

Goodwill 

We have included $420 million of goodwill in our consolidated bal­

ance sheets as of December 31 , 2007, of which $229 million is 

related to our acquisition of NUI in November 2004; $170 million 

is related to our acquisition of Virginia Natural Gas in 2000; 

$14 million is related to our acquisition of Jefferson Island in 

October 2004 and $7 million is related to our acquisition of 

Chattanooga Gas in 1988. 
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SFAS 142 requires us to perform an annual goodwill 

impairment test at a reporting unit level which generally equates to 

our operating segments as discussed in Note 9 "Segment 

Information." We have not recognized any impairment charges in 

2007, 2006 or 2005. We also assess goodwill for impairment if 

events or changes in circumstances may indicate an impairment of 

goodwill exists. When such events or circumstances are present, we 

assess the recoverability of long-lived assets by determining 

whether the carrying value will be recovered through the expected 

future cash flows. In the event the sum of the expected future cash 

flows resulting from the use of the asset is less than the carrying 

value of the asset, we record an impairment loss equal to the excess 

of the asset's carrying value over its fair value. We conduct this 

assessment principally through a review of financial results, 

changes in state and federal legislation and regulation, regulatory 

and legal proceedings and the periodic regulatory filings for our 

regulated utilities. 

Taxes 

Income taxes The reporting of our assets and liabilities for finan­

cial accounting purposes differs from the reporting for income tax 

purposes. The principal differences between net income and tax­

able income relate to the timing of deductions, primarily due to 

the benefits of tax depreciation since we generally depreciate assets 

for tax purposes over a shorter period of time than for book pur­

poses. The determination of our provision for income taxes requires 

significant judgment, the use of estimates, and the interpretation 

and application of complex tax laws. Significant judgment is 

required in assessing the timing and.amounts of deductible and 

taxable items. We report the tax effects of depreciation and other 

differences in those items as deferred income tax assets or liabil­

ities in our consolidated balance sheets in accordance with 

SFAS 109 and FIN 48. Investment tax credits of approximately 

$16 million previously deducted for income tax purposes for 

Atlanta Gas Light, Elizabethtown Gas, Florida City Gas and Elkton 

Gas have been deferred for financial accounting purposes and are 

being amortized as credits to income over the estimated lives of the 

related properties in accordance with regulatory requirements. 

State and local taxes We collect and remit various taxes on behalf 

of various governmental authorities. We record these amounts in 

our consolidated balance sheets except taxes in the state of Florida 

which we are required to include in revenues and operating 

expenses. These Florida related taxes are not material for any 

periods presented. 

Revenues 

Distribution operations We record revenues when services are 

provided to customers. Those revenues are based on rates approved 

by the state regulatory commissions of our utilities. 

As required by the Georgia Commission, in July 1998, Atlanta 

Gas Light began billing Marketers in equal monthly installments for 

each residential, commercial and industrial customer's distribu­

tion costs. As required by the Georgia Commission, effective 

February 1, 2001, Atlanta Gas Light implemented a seasonal rate 

design for the calculation of each residential customer's annual 

straight-fixed-variable (SFV) capacity charge, which is billed to 

Marketers and reflects the historic volumetric usage pattern for the 

entire residential class. Generally, this change results in residen­

tial customers being billed by Marketers for a higher capacity 

charge in the winter months and a lower charge in the summer 

months. This requirement has an operating cash flow impact but 

does not change revenue recognition. As a result, Atlanta Gas Light 

continues to recognize its residential SFV capacity revenues for 

financial reporting purposes in equal monthly installments. 

Any difference between the billings under the seasonal rate 

design and the SFV revenue recognized is deferred and reconciled to 

actual billings on an annual basis. Atlanta Gas Light had unrecovered 

seasonal rates of approximately $11 million as of December 31 , 

2007 and 2006 (included as current assets in the consolidated 

balance sheets) related to the difference between the billings under 

the seasonal rate design and the SFV revenue recognized. 

The Elizabethtown Gas, Virginia Natural Gas, Florida City Gas, 

Chattanooga Gas and Elkton Gas rate structures include volumet­

ric rate designs that allow recovery of costs through gas usage. 

Revenues from sales and transportation services are recognized in 

the same period in which the related volumes are delivered to cus­

tomers. Revenues from residential and certain commercial and 

industrial customers are recognized on the basis of scheduled 

meter readings, In addition, revenues are recorded for estimated 

deliveries of gas not yet billed to these customers, from the last 

meter reading date to the end of the accounting period. These are 

included in the consolidated balance sheets as unbilled revenue. 

For other commercial and industrial customers and all wholesale 

customers, revenues are based on actual deliveries to the end of 

the period. 

The tariffs for Elizabethtown Gas, Virginia Natural Gas and 

Chattanooga Gas contain WNA's that partially mitigate the impact of 

unusually cold or warm weather on customer billings and operating 

margin. The WNA's purpose is to reduce the effect of weather on 

customer bills by reducing bills when winter weather is colder than 

normal and increasing bills when weather is warmer than normal. 

by 
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Retail energy operations We record retail energy operations' 

revenues when sen/ices are provided to customers. Revenues from 

sales and transportation services are recognized In the same period 

in which the related volumes are delivered to customers. Sales 

revenues from residential and certain commercial and industrial 

customers are recognized on the basis of scheduled meter readings. 

In addition, revenues are recorded for estimated deliveries of gas, 

not yet billed to these customers, from the most recent meter read­

ing date to the end of the accounting period. These are included 

in the consolidated balance sheets as unbilled revenue. For other 

commercial and industrial customers and all wholesale customers, 

revenues are based on actual deliveries to the end of the period. 

Wholesale services We record wholesale services' revenues when 

services are provided to customers. Profits from sales between seg­

ments are eliminated in the corporate segment and are recognized 

as goods or services sold to end-use customers. Transactions that 

qualify as derivatives under SFAS 133 are recorded at fair value 

with changes in fair value recognized in earnings in the period of 

change and characterized as unrealized gains or losses. 

Energy Investments We record operating revenues at Jefferson 

Island in the period in which actual volumes are transported and 

storage services are provided. The majority of our storage services 

are covered under medium to long-term contracts at a fixed 

market rate. 

We record operating revenues at AGL Networks from leases of 

dark fiber pursuant to indefeasible rights-of-use (IRU) agreements 

as services are provided. Dark fiber IRU agreements generally 

require the customer to make a down payment upon execution of 

the agreement; however in some cases AGL Networks receives up 

to the entire lease payment at the inception of the lease and rec­

ognizes ratably over the lease term. AGL Networks had deferred 

revenue in our consolidated balance sheet of $38 million at 

December 31 , 2007 and $37 million at December 31 , 2006. In 

addition, AGL Networks recognizes sales revenues upon the 

execution of certain sales-type agreements for dark fiber when the 

agreements provide for the transfer of legal title to the dark fiber 

to the customer at the end of the agreement's term. This sales-

type accounting treatment is in accordance with EITF 00-11 and 

SFAS 66, which provides that such transactions meet the criteria 

for sales-type lease accounting if the agreement obligates the 

lessor to convey ownership of the underlying asset to the lessee by 

the end of the lease term. 

Cost of Gas 

Excluding Atlanta Gas Light, we charge our utility customers for 

natural gas consumed using PGA mechanisms set by the state 

regulatory agencies. Under the PGA, we defer (that is, include as 

a current asset or liability In the consolidated balance sheets and 

exclude from the statements of consolidated income) the difference 

between the actual cost of gas and what is collected from or billed 

to customers in a given period. The deferred amount is either billed 

or refunded to our customers prospectively through adjustments to 

the commodity rate. 

Our retail energy operations customers are charged for natu­

ral gas consumed. We also include within our cost of gas amounts 

for fuel and lost and unaccounted for gas, adjustments to reduce 

the value of our inventories to market value and for gains and losses 

associated with derivatives. 

Comprehensive Income 

Our comprehensive income includes net income plus OCI, which 

includes other gains and losses affecting shareholders' equity that 

GAAP excludes from net income. Such items consist primarily of 

unrealized gains and losses on certain derivatives designated as 

cash flow hedges and overfunded or unfunded pension obligation 

adjustments. The following table illustrates our OCI activity during 

2007, 2006 and 2005. 

Cash flow hedges: 

Net derivative unrealized gains 

arising during the period 

(net of $7 and $3 in taxes) $ — $11 

Less reclassification of realized 

gains included in income 

(net of $3, $1 and $4 in taxes) (5) (1) 

Overfunded (unfunded) 

pension obligation (net of $16, $7 

and $3 in taxes) 24 11 

Total $19 $21 

$ 5 

(7) 

(5) 

$(7) 
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Earnings Per Common Share Regulatory Assets and Liabilities 

We compute basic earnings per common share by dividing our 

income available to common shareholders by the daily weighted 

average number of common shares outstanding. Diluted earnings 

per common share reflect the potential reduction in earnings per 

common share that could occur when potentially dilutive common 

shares are added to common shares outstanding. 

We derive our potentially dilutive common shares by calcu­

lating the number of shares issuable under restricted stock, 

restricted stock units and stock options. The future issuance of 

shares underlying the restricted stock and restricted stock units 

depends on the satisfaction of certain performance criteria. The 

future issuance of shares underiying the outstanding stock options 

depends on whether the exercise prices of the stock options are 

less than the average market price of the common shares for the 

respective periods. There were no material antidilutive options in 

2007, 2006 or 2005. The following table shows the calculation of 

our diluted earnings per share for the periods presented if 

performance units currently earned under the plan ultimately vest 

and if stock options currently exercisable at prices below the 

average market prices are exercised. 

In millions 

Denominator for basic earnings 
per share'" 

Assumed exercise of potential 

common shares 

2007 

77.1 

0.3 

2005 

77.6 

0.4 

2005 

77.3 

0.5 

Denominator for diluted earnings 

per share 77.4 78.0 77. 
'Daily weighted average shares outstanding. 

We have recorded regulatory assets and liabilities in our consoli­

dated balance sheets in accordance with SFAS 71. Our regulatory 

assets and liabilities, and associated liabilities for our unrecovered 

PRP costs, unrecovered ERC and the associated assets and liabil­

ities for our Elizabethtown Gas hedging program, are summarized 

in the following table. 

In millions 

Regulatory assets 

Unrecovered PRP costs 

Unrecovered ERC" 

Elizabethtown Gas hedging program 

Unrecovered postretirement benefit costs 

Unrecovered seasonal rates 

Unrecovered PGA 

Other 

Total regulatory assets 
Associated assets 

Elizabethtown Gas hedging program 

Total regulatory and associated assets 

Regulatory liabilities 

Accumulated removal costs 

Elizabethtown Gas hedging program 
Unamortized investment tax credit 

Deferred PGA 

Regulatory tax liability 
Other 

Total regulatory liabilities 

Associated liabilities 
PRP costs 

ERC" 

Elizabethtown Gas hedging program 

December 3 1 , 

2007 

$285 

158 

— 
12 

11 

23 

23 

512 

4 

$516 

$169 
4 

16 

28 

20 

19 

256 

245 

96 

— 

2006 

$274 

170 

16 

13 

11 

14 

20 

518 

— 
$518 

$162 

— 
18 

24 

22 
18 

244 

237 

87 

16 

340 Total associated liabilities 341 
Total regulatory and associated liabilities $597 $584 

" ' For a discussion of ERC, see Note 7. 

Our regulatory assets are recoverable through either rate riders 

or base rates specifically authorized by a state regulatory 

commission. Base rates are designed to provide both a recovery of 

cost and a return on investment during the period rates are in 

effect. As such, all our regulatory assets are subject to review by the 

respective state regulatory commission during any future rate 

proceedings. In the event that the provisions of SFAS 71 were no 

longer applicable, we would recognize a write-off of net regulatory 

assets (regulatory assets less regulatory liabilities) that would result 

in a charge to net income, and be classified as an extraordinary 

item. Although the natural gas distribution industry is becoming 

increasingly competitive, our utility operations continue to recover 

their costs through cost-based rates established by the state 

regulatory commissions. As a result, we believe that the accounting 
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prescribed under SFAS 71 remains appropriate. It is also our 

opinion that all regulatory assets are recoverable in future rate 

proceedings, and therefore we have not recorded any regulatory 

assets that are recoverable but are not yet included in base rates 

or contemplated in a rate rider. 

All the regulatory assets included in the preceding table are 

included in base rates except for the unrecovered PRP costs, unre­

covered ERC and the deferred PGA, which are recovered through 

specific rate riders on a dollar for dollar basis. The rate riders that 

authorize recovery of unrecovered PRP costs and the deferred PGA 

include both a recovery of costs and a return on investment during 

the recovery period. We have two rate riders that authorize the 

recovery of unrecovered ERC. The ERC rate rider for Atlanta Gas 

Light only allows for recovery of the costs incurred and the recov­

ery period occurs over the five years after the expense is incurred. 

ERC associated with the investigation and remediation of 

Elizabethtown Gas remediation sites located in the state of 

New Jersey are recovered under a remediation adjustment clause 

and include the carrying cost on unrecovered amounts not currently 

in rates. Elizabethtown Gas' hedging program asset and liability 

reflect unrealized losses or gains that will be recovered from or 

passed to rate payers through the PGA on a dollar for dollar basis, 

once the losses or gains are realized. Unrecovered postretirement 

benefit costs are recoverable through base rates over the next 6 to 

25 years based on the remaining recovery period as designated by 

the applicable state regulatory commissions. Unrecovered seasonal 

rates reflect the difference between the recognition of a portion of 

Atlanta Gas Light's residential base rates revenues on a straight-line 

basis as compared to the collection of the revenues over a seasonal 

pattern. The unrecovered amounts are fully recoverable through 

base rates within one year. 

The regulatory liabilities are refunded to ratepayers through a 

rate rider or base rates. If the regulatory liability is included in base 

rates, the amount is reflected as a reduction to the rate base in 

setting rates. 

Pipeline Replacement Program 

Atlanta Gas Light The PRP, ordered by the Georgia Commission to 

be administered by Atlanta Gas Light, requires, among other things, 

that Atlanta Gas Light replace all bare steel and cast iron pipe in 

its system in the state of Georgia within a 10-year period beginning 

October 1, 1998. Atlanta Gas Light identified, and provided notice 

to the Georgia Commission of 2,312 miles of pipe to be replaced. 

Atlanta Gas Light has subsequently identified an additional 

320 miles of pipe subject to replacement under this program. If 

Atlanta Gas Light does not perform in accordance with this order, 

it will be assessed certain nonperformance penalties. 

The order also provides for recovery of all prudent costs 

incurred in the performance of the program, which Atlanta Gas 

Light has recorded as a regulatory asset. Atlanta Gas Light will 

recover from end-use customers, through billings to Marketers, the 

costs related to the program net of any cost savings from the 

program. All such amounts will be recovered through a combina­

tion of straight fixed variable rates and a pipeline replacement 

revenue rider. The regulatory asset has two components: 

• the costs incurred to date that have not yet been recovered 

through the rate rider 

• the future expected costs to be recovered through the rate rider 

On June 10, 2005, Atlanta Gas Light and the Georgia 

Commission entered into a Settlement Agreement that, among 

other things, extends Atlanta Gas Light's PRP by five years to 

require that all replacements be completed by December 2013. 

The timing of replacements was subsequently specified in an 

amendment to the PRP stipulation. This amendment, which was 

approved by the Georgia Commission on December 20, 2005, 

requires Atlanta Gas Light to replace all cast iron pipe and 70% of 

all bare steel pipe by December 2010. The remaining 30% of bare 

steel pipe is required to be replaced by December 2013. 

Under the Settlement Agreement, base rates charged to cus­

tomers will remain unchanged through April 30, 2010, bul Atlanta 

Gas Light will recognize reduced base rate revenues of $5 million 

on an annual basis through April 30, 2010. The five-year total 

reduction In recognized base rate revenues of $25 million will be 

applied to the allowed amount of costs incurred to replace pipe, 

which will reduce the amounts recovered from customers under 

the PRP rider. The Settlement Agreement also set the per customer 

fixed PRP rate that Atlanta Gas Light will charge at $1.29 per cus­

tomer per month from May 2005 through September 2008 and at 

$1.95 from October 2008 through December 2013 and includes 

a provision that allows for a true-up of any over- or under-recovery 

of PRP revenues that may result from a difference between PRP 

charges collected through fixed rates and actual PRP revenues rec­

ognized through the remainder of the program. 

The Settlement Agreement also allows Atlanta Gas Light to 

recover through the PRP $4 million of the $32 million capital costs 

associated with its March 2005 purchase of 250 miles of pipeline 

in central Georgia from Southern Natural Gas Company a sub­

sidiary of El Paso Corporation. The remaining capital costs are 

included in Atlanta Gas Light's rate base and collected through 

base rates. 

Atlanta Gas Light has recorded a long-term regulatory asset 

of $254 million, which represents the expected future collection 

of both expenditures already incurred and expected future capital 

expenditures to be incurred through the remainder of the program. 

Atlanta Gas Light has also recorded a current asset of $31 million, 

which represents the expected amount to be collected from 
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customers over the next 12 months. The amounts recovered from 

the pipeline replacement revenue rider during the last three 

years were: 

• $27 million in 2007 

• $27 million in 2006 

• $26 million in 2005 

As of December 31 , 2007, Atlanta Gas Light had recorded a 

current liability of $55 million, representing expected program 

expenditures for the next 12 months and a long-term liability of 

$190 million, representing expected program expenditures starting 

in 2009 through the end of the program in 2013. 

Atlanta Gas Light capitalizes and depreciates the capital 

expenditure costs incurred from the PRP over the life of the assets. 

Operation and maintenance costs are expensed as incurred. 

Recoveries, which are recorded as revenue, are based on a formula 

that allows Atlanta Gas Light to recover operation and maintenance 

costs in excess of those included in its current base rates, depre­

ciation expense and an allowed rate of return on capital expendi­

tures. In the near term, the primary financial impact to Atlanta Gas 

Light from the PRP is reduced cash flow from operating and invest­

ing activities, as the timing related to cost recovery does not match 

the timing of when costs are incurred. However, Atlanta Gas Light 

is allowed the recovery of carrying costs on the under-recovered 

balance resulting from the timing difference. 

Elizabethtown Gas In August 2006, the New Jersey Commission 

issued an order adopting a pipeline replacement cost recovery rider 

program for the replacement of certain 8" cast iron main pipes and 

any unanticipated 10"-12" cast iron main pipes integral to the 

replacement of the 8" main pipes. The order allows Elizabethtown 

Gas to recognize revenues under a deferred recovery mechanism for 

costs to replace the pipe that exceeds a baseline amount of $3 mil­

lion. Elizabethtown Gas' recognition of these revenues could be 

disallowed by the New Jersey Commission if its return on equity 

exceeds the authorized rate of 10%. The term of the stipulation is 

from the date of the order through December 3 1 , 2008. Total 

replacement costs through December 3 1 , 2008 are expected to 

be $17 million, of which $14 million will be eligible for the 

deferred recovery mechanism. Revenues recognized and deferred 

for recovery under the stipulation are estimated to be approximately 

$1 million. All costs incurred under the program will be included 

in Elizabethtown Gas' next rate case to be filed in 2009. 

Use of Accounting Estimates 

The preparation of our financial statements in conformity with 

GAAP requires us to make estimates and judgments that affect the 

reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses and 

the related disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities. We 

based our estimates on historical experience and various other 

assumptions that we believe to be reasonable under the circum­

stances, and we evaluate our estimates on an ongoing basis. Each 

of our estimates involve complex situations requiring a high degree 

of judgment either in the application and interpretation of existing 

literature or in the development of estimates that impact our finan­

cial statements. The most significant estimates include our PRP 

accruals, environmental liability accruals, uncollectible accounts 

and other allowance for contingencies, pension and postretirement 

obligations, derivative and hedging activities and provision for 

income taxes. Our actual results could differ from our estimates. 

Accounting Developments 

SFAS 157 In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS 157, which 

establishes a framework for measuring fair value and requires 

expanded disclosures regarding fair value measurements. 

SFAS 157 does not require any new fair value measurements. 

However, it eliminates inconsistencies in the guidance provided in 

previous accounting pronouncements. 

SFAS 157 is effective for financial statements issued for fiscal 

years beginning after November 15, 2007, and interim periods 

within those fiscal years. Earlier application is encouraged, 

provided that the reporting entity has not yet issued financial 

statements for that fiscal year, including financial statements for 

an interim period within that fiscal year. All valuation adjustments 

will be recognized as cumulative-effect adjustments to the opening 

balance of retained earnings for the fiscal year in which SFAS 157 

is initially applied. In December 2007, the FASB provided a one 

year deferral of SFAS 157 for nonfinancial assets and nonfinancial 

liabilities, except those that are recognized or disclosed at fair value 

on a recurring basis, at least annually. We will adopt SFAS 157 on 

January 1, 2008, for our financial assets and liabilities, which 

primarily consists of derivatives we record in accordance with 

SFAS 133, and on January 1, 2009, for our nonfinancial assets and 

liabilities. For our financial assets and liabilities, we expect that our 

adoption of SFAS 157 will primarily impact our disclosures and 

not have a material impact on our consolidated results of 

operations, cash flows and financial position. We are currently 

evaluating the impact with respect to our nonfinancial assets 

and liabilities. 

SFAS 159 In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS 159 which is 

effective for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007 but 

is not required to be adopted. SFAS 159 establishes a framework 

for measuring fair value for eligible financial assets and liabilities 

with the intention of reducing earnings volatility. We currently have 

no financial assets or liabilities eligible for this treatment and have 

no plans to adopt SFAS 159. 

SFAS 160 In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS 160, which 

is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2008. 

Early adoption is prohibited. SFAS 160 will require us to present 
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our minority interest, now to be referred to as a noncontrolling inter­

est, separately within the capitalization section of our consolidated 

balance sheet. We will adopt SFAS 160 as of January 1, 2009. 

FIN 39 was issued in March 1992 and provides guidance related 

to offsetting payable and receivable amounts related to certain con­

tracts, including derivative contracts. It was effective for financial 

statements issued for periods beginning after December 15,1993. 

FSP FIN 39-1 was issued in April 2007 and is effective for us 

on January 1, 2008. FIN 39-1 amends FIN 39 and allows a 

company to elect to report certain derivative assets and liabilities 

subject to master netting agreements on either a gross basis or net 

basis on the balance sheet. The guidance also addresses reporting 

of collateral amounts relating to the netting agreements. We enter 

into derivative contracts, but FSP Fl N 39-1 will not have a material 

effect on our consolidated financial condition. 

transactions within predefined risk tolerances associated with pre­

existing or anticipated physical natural gas sales and purchases 

and system use and storage. We use the following derivative 

financial instruments and physical transactions to manage 

commodity price, interest rate, weather and foreign currency risks: 

• forward contracts 

• futures contracts 

• options contracts 

• financial swaps 

• treasury locks 

• weather derivative contracts 

" storage and transportation capacity transactions 

• foreign currency forward contracts 

Interest Rate Swaps 

Note 2 F inancia l Ins t ruments and Risk 

Management 

Financial Instruments 

The carrying value of cash and cash equivalents, receivables, 

accounts payable, other current liabilities, derivative assets, deriv­

ative liabilities and accrued interest approximate fair value. The 

following table shows the carrying amounts and fair values of our 

long-term debt including any current portions included in our 

consolidated balance sheets. 

In millions Carrying amount'-' Estimated fair value 

As of December 31 , 2007 

As of December 31 . 2006 

$1,674 
1,633 

$1,710 
1,716 

' Includes $11 million of medium-term notes reported as short-term debt In our December 31, 
2006, consolidated balance sheets. 

The estimated fair values are determined based on interest 

rates that are currently available for issuance of debt with similar 

terms and remaining maturities. Considerable judgment is required 

to develop the fair value estimates; therefore, the values are not 

necessarily indicative of the amounts that could be realized in a 

current market exchange. The fair value estimates are based on 

information available to management as of December 31 , 2007. 

Risk Management 

Our risk management activities are monitored by our Risk 

Management Committee (RMC). The RMC consists of members of 

senior management and is charged with reviewing and enforcing 

our risk management activities. Our risk management policies limit 

the use of derivative financial instruments and physical 

To maintain an effective capital structure, our policy is to borrow 

funds using a mix of fixed-rate and variable-rate debt. We entered 

into interest rate swap agreements for the purpose of managing the 

appropriate mix of risk associated with our fixed-rate and variable-

rate debt obligations. We designated these interest rate swaps as 

fair value hedges in accordance with SFAS 133. We record the gain 

or loss on fair value hedges in earnings in the period of change, 

together with the offsetting loss or gain on the hedged item 

attributable to the interest rate risk being hedged. 

As of December 31 , 2007, a notional principal amount of 

$100 million of these interest rate swap agreements effectively 

converted the interest expense associated with a portion of our sen­

ior notes from fixed rates to variable rates based on an interest rate 

equal to the LIBOR plus a 3.4% spread. The floating rate for our 

interest rate swap as of December 31 , 2007 was 8.8% and was 

9.0% as of December 31 , 2006. The fair values of our interest 

rate swaps were reflected as a long-term liability of $2 million at 

December 31 , 2007, and $6 million at December 31 , 2006. For 

more information on our senior notes, see Note 6. 

Treasury Locks 

In August 2007, we executed a treasury4ock agreement covering 

a notional amount totaling $125 million to hedge the interest rate 

risk associated with our $125 million senior notes offering in 

December 2007. The 10-year treasury interest rate was locked in 

at a weighted average rate of 4.5%. 

In December 2007, this treasury-lock agreement settled and 

we paid $5 million with our $125 million senior note issuance. 

The $5 million is included in our OCI, net of $2 million of income 

taxes, and will be amortized over the remaining life of the senior 

notes (through July 2016) as interest expense. 

"7 A 
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Commodity-related Derivative Instruments 

Elizabethtown Gas In accordance with a directive from the New 

Jersey Commission, Elizabethtown Gas enters into derivative 

transactions to hedge the impact of market fluctuations in natural 

gas prices. Pursuant to SFAS 133, such derivative transactions are 

marked to market each reporting period. In accordance with 

regulatory requirements, realized gains and losses related to these 

derivatives are reflected in purchased gas costs and ultimately 

included in billings to customers. As of December 31 , 2007, 

Elizabethtown Gas had entered into NYMEX futures contracts to 

purchase approximately 1.2 Bcf of natural gas and over-the-counter 

swap contracts with 3 counterparties to purchase approximately 

8.1 Bcf of natural gas. Approximately 84% of these contracts have 

durations of one year or less, and none of these contracts extends 

beyond October 2009. The fair values of these derivative 

instruments were reflected as a current asset and liability of 

$4 million at December 31 , 2007 and $16 million at 

December 31 , 2006. For more information on our regulatory assets 

and liabilities see Note 1. 

SouthStar Commodity-related derivative financial instruments 

(futures, options and swaps) are used by SouthStar to manage 

exposures arising from changing commodity prices. SouthStar's 

objective for holding these derivatives is to utilize the most effec­

tive method to reduce or eliminate the impact of this exposure. We 

have designated a portion of SouthStar's derivative transactions as 

cash flow hedges under SFAS 133. We record derivative gains or 

losses arising from cash flow hedges in OCI and reclassify them 

into earnings in the same period as the settlement of the underiying 

hedged item. We record any hedge ineffectiveness, defined as when 

the gains or losses on the hedging instrument do not offset and are 

greater than the losses or gains on the hedged item, in cost of gas 

in our statement of consolidated income in the period in which it 

occurs. SouthStar currently has minimal hedge ineffectiveness. We 

have not designated the remainder of SouthStar's derivative instru­

ments as hedges under SFAS 133 and, accordingly, we record 

changes in their fair value in earnings in the period of change. 

At December 31 , 2007, the fair values of these derivatives 

were reflected in our consolidated financial statements as a current 

asset of $12 million and a current liability of $2 million repre­

senting a net position of 0.1 Bcf. 

SouthStar also enters into both exchange and over-the-counter 

derivative transactions to hedge commodity price risk. Credit risk 

is mitigated for exchange transactions through the backing of the 

NYMEX member firms. For over-the-counter transactions, 

SouthStar utilizes master netting arrangements to reduce overall 

credit risk. As of December 31 , 2007, SouthStar's maximum expo­

sure to any single over-the-counter counterparty was $14 million. 

Sequent We are exposed to risks associated with changes in the 

market price of natural gas. Sequent uses derivative financial 

instruments to reduce our exposure to the risk of changes in the 

prices of natural gas. The fair value of these derivative financial 

instruments reflects the estimated amounts that we would receive 

or pay to terminate or close the contracts at the reporting date, 

taking into account the current unrealized gains or losses on open 

contracts. We use external market quotes and indices to value 

substantially all the financial instruments we use. 

We mitigate substantially all the commodity price risk associ­

ated with Sequent's natural gas portfolio by locking in the eco­

nomic margin at the time we enter into natural gas purchase 

transactions for our stored natural gas. We purchase natural gas 

for storage when the difference in the current market price we pay 

to buy and transport natural gas plus the cost to store the natural 

gas is less than the market price we can receive In the future, 

resulting in a positive net operating margin. We use NYMEX futures 

contracts and other over-the-counter derivatives to sell natural gas 

at that future price to substantially lock in the operating margin 

we will ultimately realize when the stored natural gas is actually 

sold. These futures contracts meet the definition of derivatives 

under SFAS 133 and are recorded at fair value and marked to mar­

ket in our consolidated balance sheets, with changes in fair value 

recorded in earnings in the period of change. The purchase, trans­

portation, storage and sale of natural gas are accounted for on a 

weighted average cost or accrual basis, as appropriate rather than 

on the mark-to-market basis we utilize for the derivatives used to 

mitigate the commodity price risk associated with our storage port­

folio. This difference in accounting can result in volatility in our 

reported earnings, even though the economic margin is essentially 

unchanged from the date the transactions were consummated. 

At December 31 , 2007, Sequent's commodity-related deriv­

ative financial instruments represented purchases (long) of 605 Bcf 

and sales (short) of 576 Bcf with approximately 9 1 % of purchase 

instruments and 93%> of the sales instruments are scheduled to 

mature in less than 2 years and the remaining 9% and 7%, respec­

tively, in 3 to 9 years. At December 31 , 2007, the fair values of 

these derivatives were reflected in our consolidated financial state­

ments as an asset of $70 million and a liability of $13 million. 

Sequent recorded net unrealized losses related to changes in the 

fair value of derivative instruments utilized in its energy marketing 

and risk management activities and contract settlement of $62 mil­

lion during 2007, $132 million of unrealized gains during 2006 

and $30 million of unrealized losses during 2005. 

Weather Derivatives 

In 2007 and 2006, SouthStar entered into weather derivative con­

tracts as economic hedges of operating margins in the event of 

warmer-than-normal weather in the heating season, primarily from 

November through March. SouthStar accounts for these contracts 

using the intrinsic value method under the guidelines of 

EITF 99-02. SouthStar recorded current assets for this hedging 
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activity of $5 million at December 31 , 2007 and $7 million at 

December 31 , 2006. 

Concentration of Credit Risk 

Atlanta Gas Light Concentration of credit risk occurs at Atlanta 

Gas Light for amounts billed for services and other costs to its cus­

tomers, which consist of 12 Marketers in Georgia. The credit risk 

exposure to Marketers varies seasonally, with the lowest exposure 

in the nonpeak summer months and the highest exposure in the 

peak winter months. Marketers are responsible for the retail sale of 

natural gas to end-use customers in Georgia. These retail functions 

include customer service, billing, collections, and the purchase 

and sale of natural gas. Atlanta Gas Light's tariff allows it to obtain 

security support in an amount equal to a minimum of two times a 

Marketer's highest month's estimated bill from Atlanta Gas Light. 

Wholesale Services Sequent has a concentration of credit risk for 

services it provides to marketers and to utility and industrial coun­

terparties. This credit risk is measured by 30-day receivable expo­

sure plus forward exposure, which is generally concentrated in 20 

of its counterparties. Sequent evaluates the credit risk of its coun­

terparties using a S&P equivalent credit rating, which is determined 

by a process of converting the lower of the S&P or Moody's rating to 

an internal rating ranging from 9.00 to 1.00, with 9.00 being equiv­

alent to AAA/Aaa by S&P and Moody's and 1.00 being equivalent to 

D or Default by S&P and Moody's. For a customer without an exter­

nal rating. Sequent assigns an internal rating based on Sequent's 

analysis of the strength of its financial ratios. At December 31 , 

2007, Sequent's top 20 counterparties represented approximately 

53% of the total credit exposure of $366 million, derived by adding 

together the top 20 counterparties' exposures and dividing by the 

total of Sequent's counterparties' exposures. Sequent's counterpar­

ties or the counterparties' guarantors had a weighted average S&P 

equivalent rating of A- at December 31 , 2007. 

The weighted average credit rating is obtained by multiplying 

each customer's assigned internal rating by its credit exposure and 

then adding the individual results for ail counterparties. That total 

is divided by the aggregate total exposure. This numeric value is 

converted to an S&P equivalent. 

Sequent has established credit policies to determine and 

monitor the creditworthiness of counterparties, including 

requirements for posting of collateral or other credit security, as 

well as the quality of pledged collateral. Collateral or credit security 

is most often in the form of cash or letters of credit from an 

investment-grade financial institution, but may also include cash 

or U.S. Government Securities held by a trustee. When Sequent is 

engaged in more than one outstanding derivative transaction with 

the same counterparty and it also has a legally enforceable netting 

agreement with that counterparty, the "net" mark-to-market 

exposure represents the netting of the positive and negative 

exposures with that counterparty and a reasonable measure 

of Sequent's credit risk. Sequent also uses other netting 

agreements with certain counterparties with which it conducts 

significant transactions. 

All activities associated with price risk management activities 

and derivative instruments are included as a component of cash 

flows from operating activities in our consolidated statements of 

cash flows. Our derivatives not designated as hedges under 

SFAS 133, included within operating cash flows as a source (use) 

of cash was $62 million in 2007, $(132) million in 2006, and 

$30 million in 2005. 

Note 3 Employee Benefit Plans 

Pension Benefits 

We sponsor two tax-qualified defined benefit retirement plans for 

our eligible employees, the AGL Resources Inc. Retirement Plan 

(AGL Retirement Plan) and the Employees' Retirement Plan of NUI 

Corporation (NUI Retirement Plan). A defined benefit plan 

specifies the amount of benefits an eligible participant eventually 

will receive using information about the participant. 

We generally calculate the benefits under the AGL Retirement 

Plan based on age, years of service and pay. The benefit formula 

for the AGL Retirement Plan is a career average earnings formula, 

except for participants who were employees as of July 1, 2000, 

and who were at least 50 years of age as of that date. For those 

participants, we use a final average earnings benefit formula, and 

will continue to use this benefit formula for such participants until 

June 2010, at which time any of those participants who are 

still active will accrue future benefits under the career average 

earnings formula. 

The NUI Retirement Plan covers substantially all of NUI's 

employees who were employed on or before December 31 , 2005, 

except Florida City Gas union employees, who participate in a 

union-sponsored multiemployer plan. Pension benefits are based 

on years of credited service and final average compensation. 

Effective with our acquisition of NUI in November 2004, we 

became sponsor of the NUI Retirement Plan. Throughout 2005, we 

maintained existing benefits for NUI employees, including partic­

ipation in the NUI Retirement Plan. Beginning in 2006, eligible 

participants in the NUI Retirement Plan became eligible to par­

ticipate in the AGL Retirement Plan and the benefits of those par­

ticipants under the NUI Retirement Plan were frozen as of 

December 31 , 2005, resulting in a $15 million reduction to the 

NUI Retirement Plan's projected benefit obligation as of 

December 31 , 2005. Participants in the NUI Retirement Plan have 

the option of receiving a lump sum distribution upon retirement 

for all benefits earned through December 31 , 2005. This resulted 

in settlement payments of $12 million and an immaterial settle­

ment loss. This option is not permitted under the AGL Retirement 

Plan, except for accrued benefits valued at less than $10,000. 
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SFAS 158 In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS 158, which we adopted prospectively on December 31 , 2006. SFAS 158 requires 

that we recognize all obligations related to defined benefit pensions and other postretirement benefits. This statement requires that we 

quantify the plans' funding status as an asset or a liability on our consolidated balance sheets. 

SFAS 158 further requires that we measure the plans' assets and obligations that determine our funded status as of the end of the 

fiscal year. We are also required to recognize as a component of OCI the changes in funded status that occurred during the year that are not 

recognized as part of net periodic benefit cost as explained in SFAS 87, or SFAS 106. 

Based on the funded status of our defined benefit pension and postretirement benefit plans as of December 31 , 2007, we reported a 

gain to our OCI of $24 million, a net decrease of $40 million to accrued pension and postretirement obligations and an increase of $16 mil­

lion to accumulated deferred income taxes. Our adoption of SFAS 158 on December 31 , 2006, had no impact on our earnings. The follow­

ing tables present details about our pension plans. 

AGL Retirement Plan 

Dec. 3 1 . 2007 Dec. 3 1 , 2006 

NUI Relirement Plan 

Dec. 3 1 , 2007 Dec. 3 1 , 2006 

Change in benefit obligation 

Benefit obligation at beginning of year 

Service cost 
Interest cost 

Settlement loss 

Settlement payments 

Actuarial loss (gain) 

Benefits paid 

$368 

7 

21 

(23) 

(20) 

$359 

7 

20 

2 

(20) 

$86 

(9) 

(8) 

$105 

5 

1 

(12) 

(7) 

(6) 

Benefit obligation at end of year $353 $368 $74 $ 86 
Change in plan assets 

Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year 

Actual return on plan assets 

Employer contribution 
Settlement payments 

Benefits paid 

$303 
30 

(20) 

$286 
31 

6 

(20) 

$72 
6 

(8) 

$ 85 
4 
1 

(12) 
(6) 

Fair value of plan assets at end of year $313 $303 $70 $ 72 
Amounts recognized in the statement of 

financial position consist of 

Prepaid benefit cost 

Accrued benefit liability 

Accumulated OCI 
(40) (65) (4) (14) 

Net amount recognized at year end'" (40) $(65) $(4) $(14) 
' "As of December 3 1 , 2007, the AGL Retirement Plan had current liabilities of $1 mill ion, noncurrent lialiilities of $39 million and no noncurrent assets. The NUI Retirement Plan had $4 niilhon of 

noncurrent liabilities and no noncurrent assets or current liabilities. As of December 3 1 , 2006, the AGL Retirement Plan had current liabilities of $1 mil l ion, non-correni liabilities of $64 million and 

no non-current assets. The NUI Retirement Plan had $14 mill ion of non-current liabilities and no current assets or current liabilities as of December 3 1 , 2006. 

/ / 
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The accumulated benefit obligation (ABO) and other information for the AGL Retirement Plan and the NUI Retirement Plan are set forth in 

the following table. 

AGL Retirement Plan 

Dec. 3 1 , 2007 Dec. 3 1 . 2005 

NUI Relirement Plan 

Dec. 3 1 , 2007 Dec. 3 1 , 2006 

Projected benefit obligation 

ABO 

Fair value of plan assets 

Increase in minimum liability included in OCI 

$353 
337 
313 
n/a 

$ 7 
21 

(25) 

(1) 
7 

• $368 
352 
303 

13 

$ 7 
20 

(24) 

(1) 
9 

$74 

74 

70 

n/a 

$86 
86 
72 

Components of net periodic benefit cost 

Sen/ice cost 

Interest cost 

Expected return on plan assets 

Net amortization 

Recognized actuarial loss 

$ 
5 

(6) 

(1) 

5 
(7) 

(1) 

Net annual pension cost $ 9 11 $(2) (3) 

There were no other changes in plan assets and benefit 

obligations recognized for the AGL and NUI Retirement Plans for 

the year ended December 31 , 2007. 

The 2008 estimated OCI amortization and expected refunds 

for the AGL and NUI Retirement Plans are set forth in the follow­

ing table. 

Retirement Plan 

AGL NUI 

Amortization of transition obligation 

Amortization of prior sen/ice cost 

Amortization of net loss 

Refunds expected 

(1) 
3 

(1) 

The following table sets forth the assumed weighted average 

discount rates and rates of compensation increase used to deter­

mine beneht obligations at December 31 . 

AGL and NUI Retirement Plans 

2007 2006 

Discount rate 

Rate of compensation increase 

6.4%. 

3.7%o 
5.8% 

4.0% 

We consider a number of factors in determining and selecting 

assumptions for the overall expected long-term rate of return on 

plan assets. We consider the historical long-term return experience 

of our assets, the current and expected allocation of our plan 

assets, and expected long-term rates of return. We derive these 

expected long-term rates of return with the assistance of our invest­

ment advisors and generally base these rates on a 10-year horizon 

for various asset classes, our expected investments of plan assets 

and active asset management as opposed to investment in a pas­

sive index fund. We base our expected allocation of plan assets on 

a diversified portfolio consisting of domestic and international 

equity securities, fixed income, real estate, private equity securi­

ties and alternative asset classes. 

The following tables present the assumed weighted average 

discount rate, expected return on plan assets and rate of compen­

sation increase used to determine net periodic benefit cost at the 

beginning of the period, which was January 1. 

Discount rate 

Expected return on plan assets 

Rate of compensation increase 

AG 

2007 

5.8% 

9.0% 

3.7% 

L Relirement Plan 

2006 

5.5% 

8.8% 

4.0% 

2005 

5.8% 

8.8% 

4.0% 

Discount rate 
Expected return on plan assets 
Rate of compensation increase 

NUI Retirement Plan 

2007 2006 2005 

5.8% 5.5% 5.8% 
9.0% 8.8% 8.5% 
—% —% 4.0% 

We consider a variety of factors in determining and selecting 

our assumptions for the discount rate at December 31 . We consider 

certain market indices, including Moody's Corporate AA long-term 

bond rate, the Citigroup Pension Liability rate our actuaries model 

and our own payment stream based on these indices to develop 

our rate. Consequently we selected a discount rate of 6.4% as of 

December 31 , 2007, following our review of these various factors. 

Our actual retirement plans' weighted average asset alloca­

tions at December 31 , 2007 and 2006 and our target asset allo­

cation ranges are as follows: 

Equity 

Fixed income 

Real estate and other 

Cash 

Target Range 

Asset Allocation 

30% - 80% 

1 0 % - 4 0 % 

1 0 % - 3 5 % 

0% - 10% 

AGL Retirer 

2007 

68% 

25% 

3% 

4% 

lent Plan 

2006 

67% 

25% 

8% 

—% 
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Equity 

Fixed income 

Real estate and other 

Cash 

Target Range 

Asset Allocation 

30% - 80% 

10% - 40% 

1 0 % - 3 5 % 

0% - 10% 

NUI Retirement Plan 
2007 

7 1 % 

27% 

2%. 

—% 

2006 

68% 

26% 

3% 

3% 

The Retirement Plan Investment Committee (the Committee) 

appointed by our Board of Directors is responsible for overseeing 

the investments of the retirement plans. Further, we have an 

Investment Policy (the Policy) for the retirement plans that aims to 

presen/e the retirement plans' capital and maximize investment 

earnings in excess of inflation within acceptable levels of capital 

market volatility. To accomplish this goal, the retirement plans' 

assets are actively managed to optimize long-term return while main­

taining a high standard of portfolio quality and proper diversification. 

The Policy's risk management strategy establishes a maximum 

tolerance for risk in terms of volatility to be measured at 75% of the 

volatility experienced by the S&P 500. We will continue to diversify 

retirement plan investments to minimize the risk of large losses in 

a single asset class. The Policy's permissible investments include 

domestic and international equities (including convertible securities 

and mutual funds), domestic and international fixed income 

(corporate and U.S. government obligations), cash and cash 

equivalents and other suitable investments. The asset mix of these 

permissible investments is maintained within the Policy's target 

allocations as included in the preceding tables, but the Committee 

can vary allocations between various classes or investment managers 

in order to improve investment results. 

Equity market performance and corporate bond rates have a 

significant effect on our reported unfunded ABO, as the primary 

factors that drive the value of our unfunded ABO are the assumed 

discount rate and the actual return on plan assets. Additionally, 

equity market performance has a significant effect on our market-

related value of plan assets (MRVPA), which is a calculated value 

and differs from the actual market value of plan assets. The MRVPA 

recognizes the difference between the actual market value and 

expected market value of our plan assets and is determined by our 

actuaries using a five-year moving weighted average methodology. 

Gains and losses on plan assets are spread through the MRVPA based 

on the five-year moving weighted average methodology, which affects 

the expected return on plan assets component of pension expense. 

Our employees do not contribute to the retirement plans. We 

fund the plans by contributing at least the minimum amount 

required by applicable regulations and as recommended by our actu­

ary. However, we may also contribute in excess of the minimum 

required amount. We calculate the minimum amount of funding 

using the projected unit credit cost method. The Pension Protection 

Act (the Act) of 2006 contains new funding requirements for 

single employer defined benefit pension plans. The Act establishes 

a 100% funding target for plan years beginning after December 31 , 

2007. However, a delayed effective date of 2011 may apply if the 

pension plan meets the following targets: 92% funded in 2008; 

94% funded in 2009; and 96% funded in 2010. In October 2006 

we made a voluntary contribution of $5 million to the AGL 

Resources Inc. Retirement Plan. No contribution was required for 

the qualified plans in 2007, and we did not make a contribution. 

Further, no contribution is required for the qualified plans in 2008. 

Postretirement Benefits 

Until January 1, 2006, we sponsored two defined benefit postre­

tirement health care plans for our eligible employees, the AGL 

Resources Inc. Postretirement Health Care Plan (AGL 

Postretirement Plan) and the NUI Corporation Postretirement 

Health Care Plan (NUI Postretirement Plan), which we acquired 

upon our acquisition of NUI. Eligibility for these benefits is based 

on age and years of service. 

The NUI Postretirement Plan provided certain medical and 

dental health care benefits to retirees, other than retirees of Florida 

City Gas, depending on their age, years of service and start date. 

The NUI Postretirement Plan was contributory, and NUI funded a 

portion of these future benefits through a Voluntary Employees' 

Beneficiary Association. Effective July 2000, NUI no longer offered 

postretirement benefits other than pension for any new hires. In 

addition, NUI capped its share of costs at $500 per participant 

per month for retirees under age 65, and at $150 per participant 

per month for retirees over age 65. At the beginning of 2005, eli­

gible participants in the NUI Postretirement Plan became eligible 

to participate in the AGL Postretirement Plan and all participation 

in this plan ceased, effective January 1, 2006. 

The AGL Postretirement Plan covers all eligible AGL Resources 

employees who were employed as of June 30, 2002, if they reach 

retirement age while working for us. The state regulatory commissions 

have approved phase-ins that defer a portion of other postretirement 

benefits expense for future recovery. We recorded a regulatory asset 

for these future recoveries of $12 million as of December 31 , 2007 

and $13 million as of December 31, 2006. In addition, we recorded 

a regulatory liability of $4 million as of December 31 , 2007 and 

$4 million as of December 31 , 2006 for our expected expenses 

under the AGL Postretirement Plan. We expect to pay $7 million of 

insurance claims for the postretirement plan in 2008, but we do not 

anticipate making any additional contributions. 

Effective December 8, 2003, the Medicare Prescription Drug, 

Improvement and Modernizabon Act of 2003 was signed into law. 

This act provides for a prescription drug benefit under Medicare 

(Part D) as well as a federal subsidy to sponsors of retiree health 

care benefit plans that provide a benefit that is at least actuarially 

equivalent to Medicare Part D. 

On July 1, 2004, the AGL Postretirement Plan was amended 

to remove prescription drug coverage for Medicare-eligible retirees 

effective January 1, 2006. Certain grandfathered NUI retirees par­

ticipating in the NUI Postretirement Plan will continue receiving a 

prescription drug benefit through some period of time. Medicare-

eligible participants receive prescription drug benefits through a 
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Medicare Part D plan offered by a third party and to which AGL 

subsidizes participant premiums. Medicare-eligible retirees who 

opt out of the AGL Postretirement Plan are eligible to receive a 

cash subsidy which may be used towards eligible prescription drug 

expenses. The following tables present details about our post-

retirement benefits. 

AGL Postretirement Plan 

In millions ^ _ ^ Dec. 3 1 , 2007 Dec. 3 1 , 2006 

Change in benefit obligation 

Benefit obligation 

at beginning of year 

Sen/ice cost 

Interest cost 

Actuarial (gain) loss 

Benefits paid 

95 
1 
6 

— 
(8) 

$107 
1 
5 

(9) 
(9) 

Benefit obligation at end of year $ 9 4 95 
Change in plan assets 

Fair value of plan assets 

at beginning of year 

Actual return on plan assets 

Employer contribution 

Benefits paid 

63 

7 

8 

(8) 

$ 59 
5 
8 

(9) 
Fair value of plan assets 

at end of year $ 7 0 63 

Amounts recognized in 

the statement of financial 

position consist of 

Prepaid benefit cost 

Accrued benefit liability 

Accumulated OCI 
(24) (32) 

Net amount recognized 

at year end"' $(24) (32) 
•' 'As ot December 3 1 , 2007 and 2006, the AGL Postretirement Plan had $24 million and $32 

mill ion of noncurrent liabilities, respectively, and no noncurrent assets or current liabilities. 

The following table presents details on the components of our 

net periodic benefit cost for the AGL Postretirement Plan at the 

balance sheet dates. 

Service cost 

Interest cost 

Expected return on plan assets 

Amortization of prior sen/ice cost 

Recognized actuarial loss 

$ 1 
6 

(5) 
(4) 
1 

Net periodic postretirement benefit cost $(1) 

$ 1 
5 

(4) 
(4) 
1 

$(1) 

There were no other changes in plan assets and benefit 

obligations recognized for the AGL Postretirement Plan for the year 

ended December 31 , 2007. The 2008 estimated OCI amortiza­

tion and refunds expected for the AGL Postretirement Plan are set 

forth in the following table. 

Amortization of transition obligation 

Amortization of prior service cost 

Amortization of net loss 

Refunds expected 

(4) 

The following table sets forth the assumed weighted average 

discount rates and rates of compensation increase used to deter­

mine benefit obligations for the AGL postretirement plans at 

December 31 . 

2007 2006 

6.4% 5.8% 

3.7% 4.0% 
Discount rate 

Rate of compensation increase 

The following table presents our weighted average assumed 

rates used to determine benefit obligations at the beginning of the 

period, January 1 for the AGL Postretirement Plan and December 1 

for the NUI Postretirement Plan, and our weighted average 

assumed rates used to determine net periodic benefit cost at the 

beginning of this same period. 

AGL 

Postretirement Plan 

2007 2006 2005 

NUI 

Postretirement Plan 

2 0 0 5 " 

Discount rate -
benefit obligation 

Discount rate -

net periodic 

benefit cost 

Expected return 

on plan assets 

Rate of compensation 

increase 

6.4% 5.8% 5.5% 

5.8% 5.5% 5.8% 

9.0% 8.5% 8.8% 

3.7% 4.0% 4.0% 

5.5% 

5.8% 

3.0% 

<" The NUI Postretirement Plan was terminated and eligible former participants became 

eligible to participate m tfie AGL Postretiremen! Plan on Janua/y 1, 2006. 

For information on the discount rate assumptions used for our 

postretirement plans, see the discussion contained in this Note 3 

under the caption "Pension Benefits." 

We consider the same factors in determining and selecting 

our assumptions for the overall expected long-term rate of return on 

plan assets as those considered in determining and selecting the 

overall expected long-term rate of return on plan assets for our 

retirement plans. For purposes of measuring our accumulated 

P f 
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postretirement benefit obligation, the assumed pre-Medicare and 

post-Medicare health care inflation rates are as follows: 

Assumed health care cost trend 

rates at Decemt>er 3 1 , 

AGL Postretirement Plan 

Pre-medicare cost Post-medicare cost 

(pre-55 years old) (post-65 years old) 

2007 2006 2007 2005 

Health care costs trend rate 

assumed for next year 

Rate to which the cost trend 

rate gradually declines 

Year that the rate reaches the 

ultimate trend rate N/A 

2.5% 2.5% 2.5% 2.5% 

2.5% 2.5% 2.5%. 2.5% 

N/A N/A N/A 

Effective January 2006, our health care trend rates for the 

AGL Postretirement Plan was capped at 2.5%. This cap limits the 

increase in our contributions to the annual change in the consumer 

price index (CPl). An annual CPl rate of 2.5% was assumed for 

future years. 

Assumed health care cost trend rates impact the amounts 

reported for our health care plans. A one-percentage-point change 

in the assumed health care cost trend rates would have the fol­

lowing effects for the AGL Postretirement Plan and the NUI 

Postretirement Plan. 

AGL Postretirement Plan 

One-Percentage-Point 

In millions 

Effect on total of service and interest cost 

Effect on accumulated postretirement 

benefit obligation 

Increase 

$ -

4 

Decrease 

$~ 

(4) 

Our investment policies and strategies for our postretirement 

plans, including target allocation ranges, are similar to those for our 

retirement plans. We fund the plans annually; retirees contribute 

20% of medical premiums, 50% of the medical premium for 

spousal coverage and 100% of the dental premium. Our postretire­

ment plans weighted average asset allocations for 2007 and 2006 

and our target asset allocation ranges are as follows. 

Target Asset 

allocation ranges 2006 

Equity 

Fixed income 

Real estate and other 

Cash 

30% -

10%-

10%-

0%-

- 80% 

- 40% 

- 35% 

- 10% 

73% 

26% 

—% 
1% 

66% 

32% 

—% 
2% 

The following table presents expected benefit payments cov­

ering the periods 2008 through 2017 for our retirement plans and 

postretirement health care plans. There will be benefit payments 

under these plans beyond 2017. 

For the years 

(in millions) 

2008 

2009 

2010 

2011 

2012 

ended Dec. 3 1 , 

2013 -2017 

AGL 

Retirement Plan 

$20 

20 

20 

20 

21 

116 

NUI 
Retiremeni plan 

$6 

6 

6 

6 

6 

29 

AGL 

Postretirement Plan 

$7 

7 

7 

7 

7 

36 

The following table presents the amounts not yet reflected in 

net periodic benefit cost and included in accumulated OCI as of 

December 31 , 2007. 

In millions 

Transition obligation 

Prior service credit 

Net loss (gain) 

Ret 

AGL 

rement Plan 

$ -
(8) 

70 

NUI AGL 

Retiremcril Plan Postretirement Plan 

$ - $ 1 
(13) (21) 

(7) 13 

Accumulated OCI 62 (20) 

Net amount recognized 

in statement of 

financial position (40) _(_4) 

Cumulative employer 

contributions in excess 

of net periodic benefit cost 

(accrued) prepaid 

(7) 

(24) 

22 $(24) $(31) 

There were no other changes in plan assets and benefit obli­

gations recognized in the AGL and NUI Retirement Plans or the 

AGL Postretirement Plan for the year ended December 31 , 2007. 

Employee Savings Plan Benefits 

We sponsor the Retirement Savings Plus Plan (RSP), a defined 

contribution benefit plan that allows eligible participants to make 

contributions to their accounts up to specified limits. Under the 

RSP, we made matching contributions to participant accounts in 

the following amounts: 

• $6 million in 2007 

• $6 million in 2006 

• $5 million in 2005 

We also sponsor the Nonqualified Savings Plan (NSP), an 

unfunded, nonqualified plan similar to the RSP. The NSP provides 

an opportunity for eligible employees who could reach the maxi­

mum contribution amount in the RSP to contribute additional 

amounts for retirement savings. Our contributions to the NSP have 

not been significant in any year. 
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Note 4 Stock-based and Other Incentive Compensation Plans and Agreements 

General 

We currently sponsor the following stock-based and other incentive compensation plans and agreements: 

Shares issuable 

upon exercise ot 

outstanding stock 

options and/or 

SARs'" 

Shares issuable 

and/or SARs 

available for 

issuance'" 

2007 Omnibus Pertormance 

Incentive Plan 

Long-Term incentive Plan (1999) -̂^ 

Long-Term Stock Incentive Plan of 1990'" 91,061 

Officer Incentive Plan 

2006 Non-Employee Directors 

Equity Compensation Plan 

1996 Non-Employee Directors 

Equity Compensation Plan 

Employee Stock Purchase Plan 

Stand-alone SARs 

44,500 4,806,086 Grants of incentive and nonqualified stock 

options, stock appreciation rights (SARs), shares 

of restricted stock, restricted stock units and per­

formance cash awards to key employees. 

2,249,812 — Grants of incentive and nonqualified stock 

options, shares of restricted stock and perform­

ance units to key employees. 

Grants of incentive and nonqualified stock 

options, SARs and shares of restricted stock to 

key employees. 

Grants of nonqualified stock options and shares of 

restricted stock to new-hire officers. 

Grants of stock to non-employee directors in 

connection with non-employee director compensa­

tion (for annual retainer, chair retainer and for ini­

tial election or appointment). 

45,061 14,180 Grants of nonqualified stock options and stock to 

non-employee directors in connection with non-

employee director compensation (for annual 

retainer and for initial election or appointment). 

The plan was amended in 2002 to eliminate the 

granting of stock options. 

not 388,159 Nonqualified, broad-based employee stock 

applicable purchase plan for eligible employees 

2,761 — Represents SARs that have been granted to key 

employees under individual agreements and are 

settled in cash. 

87,064 

not 

plicable 

215,702 

189,107 

'"•' As of December 3 1 , 2007 

'•' Following shareholder approval of the Omnibus Performance Incentive Plan, no further grants will be made except for reload options thai may be granted under the plan's outstanding options. 

' ' ' Follov/ing shareholder approval of the Long-Term Incentive Plan (1999), no furlher grants will be made except for reload options that may be granted under the plan's outstandmg options. 
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Accounting Treatment and Compensation Expense 

Effective January 1, 2006, we adopted SFAS 123R, using the mod­

ified prospective application transition method. Financial results for 

the prior periods presented were not retroactively adjusted to reflect 

the effects of SFAS 123R. 

Prior to January 1, 2006, we accounted for our share-based 

payment transactions in accordance with SFAS 123, as amended 

by SFAS 148. This allowed us to rely on APB 25 and related inter­

pretations in accounting for our stock-based compensation plans 

under the intrinsic value method. SFAS 123R requires us to meas­

ure and recognize stock-based compensation expense in our finan­

cial statements based on the estimated fair value at the date of 

grant for our stock-based awards, which include: 

• stock options 

• stock awards, and 

• performance units (restricted stock units and performance 

cash units) 

Performance-based stock awards and performance units 

contain market conditions. Stock options, restricted stock awards 

and performance units also contain a sen/ice condition, in accor­

dance with SFAS 123R, we recognize compensation expense over 

the requisite service period for: 

• awards granted on or after January 1, 2006 and 

• unvested awards previously granted and outstanding as of 

January 1, 2006 

Prior to our adoption of SFAS 123R, bent^fits of tax deduc­

tions in excess of recognized compensation costs were reported as 

operating cash flows. SFAS 123R requires excess tax benefits to be 

reported as a financing cash inflow rather than as a reduction of 

taxes paid. In 2007 and 2006, our cash flows from financing activ­

ities included an immaterial amount for recognized compensation 

costs in excess of the benefits of tax deductions. In 2005, we 

included $8 million of such benefits in cash flow provided by 

operating activities. 

If stock-based compensation expense for the year ended 

December 31 , 2005 had been recorded based on the fair value of 

the awards at the grant dates consistent with the method pre­

scribed by SFAS 123, which has been superseded by SFAS 123R, 

our net income and earnings per share for the year ended 

December 3 1 , 2005 would have been reduced to the amounts 

shown in the following table. 

In millions, except per share amounts 2005 

Net income, as reported 

Deduct: Total stock-based employee 

compensation expense determined 

under fair value-based method for 

all awards, net of related tax effect 

193 

Pro-forma net income $ 192 
Earnings per share: 

Basic - as reported 

Basic - pro-forma 

Diluted - as reported 

Diluted - pro-forma 

$2.50 
$2.48 
$2.48 
$2.47 

In addition, we estimate forfeitures over the requisite service 

period when recognizing compensation expense. These estimates 

are adjusted to the extent that actual forfeitures differ, or are 

expected to materially differ, from such estimates. 

In 2005, we did not record compensation expense related to 

our stock option grants In our financial statements, which is 

consistent with the APB 25 requirements. However, at the end of 

each reporting period, we recorded compensation expense over the 

requisite sen/ice period for our other stock-based and performance 

cash unit awards. The following table provides additional 

information on compensation costs and income tax benefits related 

to our stock-based compensation awards. We recorded these 

amounts in our consolidated statements of income for the years 

ended December 31 , 2007, 2006 and 2005. 

Compensation costs 

Income tax benefits 
$9 

3 
$9 

3 
$5 

Incentive and f^onquaJified Stock Options 

We grant incentive and nonqualified stock options with a strike 

price equal to the fair market value on the date of the grant. "Fair 

market value" is defined under the terms of the applicable plans 

as the most recent closing price per share of AGL Resources com­

mon stock as reported in The Wall Street Journal. Stock options 

generally have a three-year vesting period. Nonqualified options 

generally expire 10 years after the date of grant. Participants real­

ize value from option grants only to the extent that the fair market 

value of our common stock on the date of exercise of the option 

exceeds tf\e fair market value of the common stock on the date of 

the grant. Compensation expense associated with stock options is 

generally recorded over the option vesting period; however, for 

unvested options that are granted to employees who are retirement-

eligible, the remaining compensation expense is recorded in the 

current period rather than over the remaining vesting period. 

As of December 31 , 2007, we had $4 million of total unrec­

ognized compensation costs related to stock options. These costs 

are expected to be recognized over the remaining average requisite 

service period of approximately 2 years. Cash received from stock 

option exercises for 2007 was $10 million, and the income tax 

'6.: 
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benefit from stock option exercises was $3 million. The following tables summarize activity related to stock options for key employees and 

non-employee directors. 

stock Options 

Number 

of options 

Weighted average 

exercise price 

V/eighted average 

remaining life (in years) 

Aggregate intrmsic 

value (in millions) 

Outstanding-December 31 , 2004 

Granted 

Exercised 

Forfeited 

Outstanding-December 31 , 2005 
Granted 

Exercised 

Forfeited 

2,174,072 

1,014,121 

(846,465) 

(120,483) 

2,221,245 

914,216 

(543,557) 

(266,418) 

$23.23 

33.80 

22.60 

32.38 

$27.79 

35.81 

24.69 

34.93 

Outstanding-

Granted 

Exercised 

Forfeited 

-December 31 , 2006 2,325,486 

735,196 

(361,385) 

(181,799) 

$30.85 

39.11 

27.78 

36.75 

7.2 

9.1 
5.1 

8.3 

Outstanding-December 31 , 2007 2,517,498 $33.28 7.1 $12 
Exercisable - December 3 1 , 2007 1,102,536 $28.48 5.4 $10 

Unvested Stock Options 

Outstanding-December 31 , 2006 

Granted 

Forfeited 

Vested 

Number of 

unvested options 

Weighted average 

exercise price 

1,311,814 $35.03 

735,196 
(181,799) 
(450,249) 

39.11 
36.75 
34.73 

V/eighled average remaining 

vesting period (in years) 

1.8 

2.1 
1.3 

Weighted average 

lair value 

$4.75 
4.90 
4.88 
4.73 

Outstanding - December 3 1 , 2007 1,414,962 $37.02 1.6 $4.82 

Information about outstanding and exercisable options as of December 31 , 2007, is as follows. 

Range ol Exercise Prices 

$16.25 to $20.85 

$20.86 to $25.45 

$25.46 to $30.05 

$30.06 to $34.65 

$34.66 to $39.25 

$39.26 to $43.85 

Outstanding- Dec. 3 1 , 2007 

f>Jumber 

of options 

84,399 

275,719 

251,357 

441,047 

1,408,591 

56,385 

2,517,498 

options outstanding 

Weighted average remaining 

contractual life (i 1 years) 

1.5 
3.4 

5.4 

7.0 

8.5 

8.6 

7.1 

Weighted average 

exercise price 

$19.98 
21.65 

27.06 

33.20 

37.17 

41.29 

$33.28 

Options 

Number 

of options 

84,399 
275,719 

251,357 

270,609 

212,367 

8,085 

1,102,536 

Exercisable 

Weighted average 

exercise price 

$19.98 

21.65 

27.06 

33.17 

35.93 

41.14 

$28.48 

Rd 
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Summarized below are outstanding options that are fully 
exercisable. 

Exercisable at: 

December 31 , 

December 31 , 

December 3 1 , 

2005 

2006 

2007 

Number of options 

1,275,689 

1,013,672 

1,102,536 

Weighted average 

exercise price 

$23.46 

$25.45 

$28.48 

In accordance with the fair value method of determining com­

pensation expense, we use the Black-Scholes pricing model. Below 

are the ranges for per share value and information about the under­

lying assumptions used in developing the grant date value for each 

of the grants made during 2007, 2006 and 2005. 

Expected life (years) 7 

Risk-free interest rate %'" 3.87-5.05 

Expected volatility %"' 13.2-14.3 

Dividend yield %"' 3.8^.2 

Fair value of 

options granted"' $3.55-$5.98 

7 

4.5-5.1 

14.2-15.9 

3.7-4.2 

$4.55-$6.18 

7 

3.9-4.5 

17.1-17.3 

3.2-3.8 

$4.57-$6.01 
' " u s Treasury constant maturity - 7 years. 

~-" Volatility is measured over 7 years, the expected life of the options; weighted average volatility %'s 

for 2007 was 11.2%, 2006 was 15.8% and in 2005 v/as 17.3%. 

' " Weighted average dividend yields for 2007 was 4.2%, 2006 v/as 4 . 1 % and in 2005 was 3.7% 

" ' Fiepresents per share value. 

Intrinsic value for options is defined as the difference between 

the current market value and the grant price. Total intrinsic value 

of options exercised during 2007 was $5 million. With the imple­

mentation of our share repurchase program in 2006, we use shares 

purchased under this program to satisfy share-based exercises to 

the extent that repurchased shares are available. Otherwise, we 

issue new shares from our authorized common stock. 

Performance Units 

In general, a performance unit is an award of the right to receive 

(i) an equal number of shares of our common stock, which we refer 

to as a restricted stock unit or (ii) cash, subject to the achievement 

of certain pre-established performance criteria, which we refer to 

as a performance cash unit. Performance units are subject to 

certain transfer restrictions and forfeiture upon termination of 

employment. The dollar value of restricted stock unit awards is 

equal to the grant date fair value of the awards, over the requisite 

service period, determined pursuant to FAS 123R. The dollar value 

of performance cash unit awards is equal to the grant date fair 

value of the awards measured against progress towards the per­

formance measure, over the requisite service period, determined 

pursuant to FAS 123R. No other assumptions are used to value 

these awards. 

Restricted Stock Units In general, a restricted stock unit is an 

award that represents the opportunity to receive a specified num­

ber of shares of our common stock, subject to the achievement of 

certain pre-established performance criteria. In 2007, we granted 

to a select group a total of 127,400 restricted stock units (the 

2007 restricted stock units), of which 113,700 of these units were 

outstanding as of December 31 , 2007. These restricted stock units 

had a performance measurement period that ended December 31 , 

2007, and a performance measure related to a basic earnings per 

share goal. In February 2008, these restricted stock units were for­

feited for failure to meet the performance criteria. 

Performance Cash Units In general, a performance cash unit is an 

award that represents the opportunity to receive a cash award, 

subject to the achievement of certain pre-established performance 

criteria. In 2007, we granted performance cash awards to a select 

group of officers. These awards have a performance measure that 

is related to annual growth in basic earnings per share, plus the 

average dividend yield, as adjusted to reflect the effect of economic 

value created during the performance measurement period by our 

wholesale services segment. In 2007, the basic earnitigs per share 

growth target was not achieved with respect to the 2007 awards. 

Accruals in connection with these grants are as follows: 

Dollars in 

millions 

Year of 

2005'" 

2006 

2007 

grant 

Units 

23 

15 

23 

Dec. 

Dec. 

Dec. 

Measurement 

period end 

dale 

31, 2007 

31,2008 

31,2009 

Accrued at 

Dec. 3 1 , 

2007 

$2 
1 

— 

Maximum 

aggregate 

payout 

$3 

2 

3 
'•• In February 2008, the 2005 performance cash units vested and resulted in an aggregate pay­

out of $2 mill ion. 

Stock and Restricted Stock Awards 

In general, we refer to a stock award as an award of our common 

stock that is 100% vested and not forfeitable as of the date of 

grant. We refer to restricted stock as an award of our common stock 

that is subject to time-based vesting or achievement of perform­

ance measures. Restricted stock awards are subject to certain 

transfer restrictions and forfeiture upon termination of employment. 

The dollar value of both stock awards and restricted stock awards 

are equal to the grant date fair value of the awards, over the req­

uisite service period, determined pursuant to FAS 123R. No other 

assumptions are used to value the awards. 

Stock Awards — Non-Employee Directors Non-employee director 

compensation may be paid in shares of our common stock in 

connection with initial election, the annual retainer, and chair 

retainers, as applicable. Stock awards for non-employee directors 

are 100% vested and nonforfeitable as of the date of grant. The 

8c 
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following table summarizes activity during 2007, related to stock 

awards for our non-employee directors. 

Restricted Stock Awards 

Issued 

Forfeited 

Vested 

Outstanding 

Shares of 

restricted stock 

10,893 

10,893 

— 

Weighted average 

fair value 

43.85 

43.85 
— 

Restricted Stock Awards — Employees From time to time, we may 

give restricted stock awards to our key employees. The following 

table summarizes activity during the year ended December 31 , 

2007, related to restricted stock awards for our key employees. 

Restricted Stock Awards 

Shares of 

restricted stock 

Weighted average 

remaining vesting 

period (in years) 

Weighted 

average 

fair value 

Outstanding-

December 31 , 

Issued 

Forfeited 

Vested 

Outstanding-

December 31 , 

2006*" 

2007'" 

232,431 
224,649 

(51,583) 

(56,461) 

349,036 

2.4 
2.4 

1.3 

— 

2.1 

$35.49 
39.72 

36.55 

34.93 

$38.15 
' Subject to restriction 

Note 5 Common Shareholders' Equity 

Share Repurchases 

In March 2001, our Board of Directors approved the purchase of 

up to 600,000 shares of our common stock to be used for 

issuances under the Officer Incentive Plan. In 2007, we purchased 

10,667 shares under this plan. As of December 31 , 2007, we had 

purchased a total 297,234 shares, leaving 302,766 shares avail­

able for purchase. 

In February 2006, our Board of Directors authorized a plan to 

purchase up to 8 million shares of our outstanding common stock 

over a five-year period. These purchases are intended to offset 

share issuances under our employee and non-employee director 

incentive compensation plans and our dividend reinvestment and 

stock purchase plans. Stock purchases under this program may be 

made in the open market or in private transactions at times and in 

amounts that we deem appropriate. There is no guarantee as to 

the exact number of shares that we will purchase, and we can ter­

minate or limit the program at anytime. We will hold the purchased 

shares as treasury shares. As of December 31 , 2007, we had repur­

chased 3,049,049 shares at a weighted average price of $38.58. 

Dividends 

Employee Stock Purchase Plan 

Under the ESPP, employees may purchase shares of our common 

stock in quarterly intervals at 85% of fair market value. Employee 

contributions under the ESPP may not exceed $25,000 per 

employee during any calendar year. 

Shares purchased on 

the open market 

Average per-share 

purchase price 

Purchase price discount $313,584 $252,752 $220,847 

Stand-alone SARs 

52,299 45,361 40,927 

$ 34.69 $ 31.40 $ 30.52 

We derive a substantial portion of our consolidated assets, earnings 

and cash flow from the operation of regulated utility subsidiaries, 

whose legal authority to pay dividends or make other distributions 

to us is subject to regulation. Our common shareholders may 

receive dividends when declared at the discretion of our Board of 

Directors. Dividends may be paid in cash, stock or other form of 

payment, and payment of future dividends will depend on our 

future earnings, cash flow, financial requirements and other factors, 

some of which are noted below. In certain cases, our ability to pay 

dividends to our common shareholders is limited by the following: 

• our ability to satisfy our obligations under certain financing agree­

ments, including debt-to-capitalization and total shareholders' 

equity covenants 
• our ability to satisfy our obligations to any preferred shareholders 

We recognize the intrinsic value of the SARs as compensation 

expense over the vesting period. Compensation expense for 2007, 

2006 and 2005 was not material to our consolidated results of 

operations. A total of 2,761 SARs at a weighted average exercise 

price of $23.97 were vested and outstanding as of December 31 , 

2007. 
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Note 6 Debt 

Our issuance of various securities, including long-term and short-term debt, is subject to customary approval or authorization by state and 

federal regulatory bodies, including state public service commissions, the SEC and the FERC as granted by the Energy Policy Act of 2005. 

The following table provides more information on our various securities. 

In millions Year(s) due Interest rate" ' 

Weighted average 

Interest rate'" 

Outstanding as of: 

Dccemt)er 3 1 . 

2007 2006 

Short-term debt 

Commercial paper 

Pivotal Utility line of credit 

Sequent line of credit 

Capital leases 

Current portion of long-term debt 

Total short-term debt 

Long-term debt - net of current portion 

Senior notes 

Gas facility revenue bonds 

Medium-term notes 

Capital leases 
Notes payable to Trusts 

AGL Capital interest rate swaps 

Total long-term debt 
Total debt 

2011 

2022 

2012-

2008 

2008 

2008 

2008 

2008 

-2034 

-2033 

-2027 

2013 

~ 
2011 

4.5-

3.8-

6.6-

5.6% 

4.5 

4.5 

4.9 

— 
5.6% 

- 7 . 1 % 

-5 .3 

- 9 . 1 

4.9 

-_ 
8.8 
6.0% 
5.9% 

5.4% 

5.4 

5.4 

4.9 

— 
5.4% 

5.8% 

4.3 

7.8 

4.9 

— 
8.8 

6 .1% 

5.9% 

$566 

12 

1 

1 

— 
$580 

$1,275 

199 

196 

6 

— 
(2) 

$1,674 

$2,254 

$ 508 

17 

2 

1 

11 

$ 539 

$1,150 

199 

196 

6 
77 

(6) 

$1,622 

$2,161 
' "As of December 3 1 , 2007. 

Short-term Debt 

Our short-term debt at December 31 , 2007 and 2006 was com­

posed of borrowings under our commercial paper program; current 

portions of our capital lease obligations and the current portion of 

our long-term medium-term notes; and lines of credit for Sequent 

and Pivotal Utility. 

Commercial Paper Our commercial paper consists of short-term, 

unsecured promissory notes with maturities ranging from 2 to 

46 days. These unsecured promissory notes are supported by our 

$1 billion Credit Facility which expires in August 2011. We have 

the option to increase the aggregate principal amount available 

for borrowing under the Credit Facility to $1.25 billion on not 

more than three occasions during each calendar year. As of 

December 31 , 2007 or 2006 we did not have any amounts out­

standing under the Credit Facility 

SouthStar Credit Facility SouthStar's five-year $75 million unse­

cured credit facility expires in November 2011. SouthStar will use 

this line of credit for working capital and its general corporate 

needs. On December 31 , 2007 and 2006, there were no out­

standing borrowings on this line of credit. We do not guarantee 

or provide any other form of security for the repayment of this 

credit facility 

Sequent Line of Credit In 2007, we extended Sequent's two lines 

of credit through June 2008 and August 2008. These unsecured 

lines of credit, which total $45 million and bear interest at the fed­

eral funds effective rate plus 0.4%, are used solely for the posting 

of margin deposits for NYMEX transactions and are unconditionally 

guaranteed by us. 

Pivotal Utility Line of Credit In August 2007, we extended the 

Pivotal Utility $20 million line of credit through August 2008. This 

line of credit supports Elizabethtown Gas' hedging program and 

bears interest at the federal funds effective rate plus 0.4%, is used 

solely for the posting of deposits and is unconditionally guaranteed 

by us. For more information on Elizabethtown Gas' hedging pro­

gram, see Note 2. 

Long-term Debt 

Our long-term debt at December 31 , 2007 and 2006 matures 

more than one year from the halarice sheet date and consists of 

medium-term notes: Series A, Series B and Series C, which we 

issued under an indenture dated December 1, 1989; senior notes; 

gas facility revenue bonds; notes payable to Trusts; and capital 

leases. The notes are unsecured and rank on parity with all our 
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other unsecured indebtedness. Our annual maturities of long-term 

debt are as follows; 

Year Amount (m millions) 

2011 
2012 
2013 
2015 
2016 
2017 
2021 
2022 
2024 
2026 
2027 
2032 
2033 
2034 

300" 
15 

230 
200 

300 
22 

30 
93 
20 

69 
54 
55 

40 
250 

Total $1,678'^ 
" ' Excludes the fair value of S2 million related to our interest rate swaps. 

' ' ' Excludes $2 million of unamortized issuance costs related to our gas facility revenue bonds. 

Medium-term notes The following table provides more information 

on our medium-term notes, which were issued to refinance 

portions of our existing short-term debt and for general corporate 

purposes. Our annual maturities of our medium-term notes are 

as follows: 

Senior Notes The following table provides more information on 

our senior notes, which were issued to refinance portions of our 

existing short-term and long-term debt, to finance acquisitions and 

for general corporate purposes. 

Amount (io millions) Interest rate Maturity 

Feb. 200 r" 

July 2003 

Dec. 2004 

June 2006 

Dec. 2007 

Sep. 2004 

Total 

$ 300 

225 

200 

175 

125 

250 
$1,275 

7.125% 

4.45 

4.95 

6.375 

6.375 

6.0 

Jan 2011 

Apr 2013 

Jan 2015 

Jul 2016 

Jul 2016 

Oct 2034 

" ' $ 1 0 0 million has been converted lo a variable-rate obligation through an interest rate swap we 

entered into in March 2003. We pay a variable rate determined with a six-month LIBOR plus 

3.4%, which was 8.8% at December 3 1 , 2007 and 9.0% at December 3 1 , 2006, The inter­

est rate swap expires in January 2 0 1 1 . 

In December 2007, we issued $125 million of senior notes 

which were part of a series originally issued by us in June 2005 in 

the amount of $175 million at an interest rate of 6.375%, for a 

total amount outstanding of $300 million at December 31 , 2007. 

We used $123 million in net proceeds with the issuance to repay 

commercial paper. 

The trustee with respect to all of the above-referenced senior 

notes is The Bank of New York Trust Company, N.A., pursuant to 

an indenture dated February 20, 2001. We fully and uncondition­

ally guarantee all of our senior notes. 

Issue Date 

i i i n p 1 Q Q ? 

June 1992 

June 1992 

July 1997 

Feb. 1991 

April 1992 

April 1992 

April 1992 

May 1992 
Nov. 1996 

July 1997 
Total 

Amount (in millions) 

$ 5 

5 

5 

22 

30 

5 

25 

6 

10 

30 

53 

$196 

Interest rale 

8 4% 

8.3 

8.3 

7.2 

9.1 

8.55 

8.7 

8.55 

8.55 

6.55 

7.3 

Maturity 

limp 201 2 

June 2012 

July 2012 

July 2017 

Feb. 2021 

April 2022 

April 2022 

April 2022 

May 2022 

Nov. 2026 

July 2027 

Gas Facility Revenue Bonds Pivotal Utility is party to a series of 

loan agreements with the New Jersey Economic Development 

Authority (NJEDA) pursuant to which the NJEDA has issued a series 

of gas facility revenue bonds as shown in the following table. 

We do not guarantee or provide any other form of security for the 

repayment of this indebtedness. 

Issue Date Amount (i 

July 1994'" 

July 1994'" 

June 1992"' 
June 1992'" 

July 1997 
Unamortized issuance costs 

Total 

n millions) 

$ 47 

20 

39 

55 

40 
(2) 

$199 

Interest rate Maturity 

3.8% Oct. 2022 

4.9 Oct. 2024 
3.8 June 2026 

4.7 June 2032 

5.25 Nov. 2033 

' " Interest rate is adjusted every 35 days. Rates indicated are as of December 3 1 , 2007. 

In June 2007, we refinanced $55 million of our gas facility 

revenue bonds due June 2032. The original bonds had a fixed 

interest rate of 5.7% per year and were refinanced with $55 mil­

lion of adjustable-rate gas facility revenue bonds. The maturity date 

of these bonds remains June 2032. The bonds were issued at an 

initial annual interest rate of 3.8% and have a 35-day auction 

period where the interest rate will adjust every 35 days. 
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The variable bonds contain a provision whereby the holder can 

•put' the bonds back to the issuer. In 1996, Pivotal Utility executed 

a long-term Standby Bond Purchase Agreement (SBPA) with a 

syndicate of banks, which was amended and restated in June 

2005. Under the terms of the SBPA, as further amended, the 

participating banks are obligated under certain circumstances to 

purchase variable bonds that are tendered by the holders thereof 

and not remarketed by the remarketing agent. Such obligation of 

the participating banks would remain in effect until the June 2010 

expiration of the SBPA, unless it is extended or earlier terminated. 

Notes Payable to Trusts In June 1997, we established AGL Capital 

Trust I (Trust 1), a Delaware business trust, of which we own all the 

common voting securities. Trust 1 issued and sold $75 million of 

8.17% capital securities (liquidation amount $1,000 per capital 

security) to certain initial investors. Trust 1 used the proceeds to 

purchase 8.17% junior subordinated deferrable interest debentures 

issued by us. Trust 1 capital securities were subject to mandatory 

redemption at the time of the repayment of the junior subordinated 

debentures in June 2037, or the optional prepayment by us after 

May 2007. 

In July 2007, we used the proceeds from the sale of com­

mercial paper to pay Trust 1 the $75 million principal amount plus 

a $3 million premium in connection with the early redemption of 

the junior subordinated debentures, and to pay the $2 million note 

with respect to our common securities interest in AGL Capital 

Trust 1. The $3 million premium was recorded as interest expense 

in 2007. 

Preferred Securities As of December 31 , 2007, we had 10 million 

shares of authorized, unissued Class A junior participating pre­

ferred stock, no par value, and 10 million shares of authorized, 

unissued preferred stock, no par value. 

Capita! Leases Our capital leases consist primarily of a sale/lease-

back transaction completed in 2002 by Florida City Gas related to 

its gas meters and other equipment and will be repaid over 

11 years. Pursuant to the terms of the lease agreement, Florida 

City Gas is required to insure the leased equipment during the lease 

term. In addition, at the expiration of the lease term, Florida City 

Gas has the option to purchase the leased meters from the lessor 

at their fair market value. 

Default Events 

Our Credit Facility financial covenant requires us to maintain a 

ratio of total debt to total capitalization of no greater than 70%. As 

of December 31 , 2007, this ratio was 58% and was 57% as of 

December 3 1 , 2006. Our debt instruments and other financial 

obligations include provisions that, if not complied with, could 

require eariy payment, additional collateral support or similar 

actions. Our most important default events include: 

• a maximum leverage ratio 

• insolvency events and nonpayment of scheduled principal or 

interest payments 

• acceleration of other financial obligations 

• change of control provisions 

We do not have any trigger events in our debt instruments that 

are tied to changes in our specified credit ratings or our stock price 

and have not entered into any transaction that requires us to issue 

equity based on credit ratings or other trigger events. We are 

currently in compliance with all existing debt provisions 

and covenants. 

Note 7 Commitments and Contingencies 

We have incurred various contractual obligations and financial com­
mitments in the normal course of our operating and financing activ­
ities that are reasonably likely to have a material affect on liquidity 
or the availability of requirements for capital resources. Contractual 
obligations include future cash payments required under existing 
contractual arrangements, such as debt and lease agreements. 
These obligations may result from both general financing activities 
and from commercial arrangements that are directly supported by 
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related revenue-producing activities. The following table illustrates our expected future contractual payments such as debt and lease agree­

ments, and commitment and contingencies as of December 31 , 2007. 

Recorded contractual obligations: 

Long-term debt 

Short-term debt 

ERC" 

PRP costs'" ^ 

Total $2,606 $645 $148 $428 $1,385 
' " Includes charges recoverable through rate rider mechanisms. 

Total 

$1,674 
580 
107 
245 

2008 

$ -
580 

10 
55 

2009 

& 
2010 

$ 2 
— 
34 

112 

2011 

& 
2012 

$315 
— 
53 
60 

2013 

& 
thereafter 

$1,357 
— 
10 
18 

Unrecorded contractual obligations and commitments: 

Interest charges'" 

Pipeline charges, storage capacity and gas supply'" 

Operating leases'" 

Standby letters of credit, performance/ surety bonds 

Asset management agreements'" 

Total 

$1,176 
1,792 

154 
30 
24 

$3,176 

$100 
456 

26 
24 

$614 

2009 

& 
2010 

$200 
637 

50 
6 
8 

$901 

2011 

& 
2012 

$157 
348 

34 

2013 

& 
thereatler 

$ 719 
351 

44 

$547 $1,114 
' - ' In accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, these items are not redected in our consolidated balance sheet 

'-'Floating rate debt is based on the interest rate as of Decemtjer 3 1 , 2007 and the maturity ol the underlying debt instrument. As of December 3 1 , 2007, we have $39 million ol accrued interest on our 

consolidated balance sheet that will be paid in 2008. 

'•''Charges recoverable through a PGA mechariism or alternatively billed to Marketers. Also includes demand charges associated v/ith Sequent. SouthStar also includes gas commodity purchase commit­

ments of 1.3 Bcf at floating gas prices calculated using forward natural gas prices as of December 3 1 . 2007, and valued at $98 mill ion. 

" 'We have certain operating leases v/ith provisions for step rent or escalation payments and certain lease concessions. We account for these leases by recognizing the future minimum lease payments on a 

straight-line basis over the respective minimum lease terms, in accordance with SFAS 13. Hov/ever, this lease accounting treatment does not affect the future annual operating lease cash obligalions as 

shown herein. 

'-•' Represent fixed-fee payments for Sequent's asset management agreements betvreen Atlanta Gas Light {$4 million) and Elizabethtovm Gas ($4 million). As of December 3 1 , 2007, we have $ 1 million of 

accrued payments on our consolidated balance sheet, which will be paid in 2008. 

Environmental Remediation Costs 

We are subject to federal, state and local laws and regulations 

governing environmental quality and pollution control. These laws 

and regulations require us to remove or remedy the effect on the 

environment of the disposal or release of specified substances at 

current and former operating sites. 

Atlanta Gas Light The presence of coal tar and certain other 

byproducts of a natural gas manufacturing process used to pro­

duce natural gas prior to the 1950s has been identified at or near 

10 former Atlanta Gas Light operating sites in Georgia and at 

3 sites of predecessor companies in Florida. Atlanta Gas Light has 

active environmental remediation or monitoring programs in effect 

at 10 of these sites. Two sites in Florida are currently in the inves­

tigation or preliminary engineering design phase, and one Georgia 

site has been deemed compliant with state standards. 

Atlanta Gas Light has customarily reported estimates of future 

remediation costs for these former sites based on probabilistic 

models of potential costs. These estimates are reported on an 

undlscounted basis. As cleanup options and plans mature and 

cleanup contracts are entered Into, Atlanta Gas Light is better able 

to provide conventional engineering estimates of the likely costs 

of remediation at its former sites. These estimates contain various 

engineering uncertainties, but Atlanta Gas Light continuously 

attempts to refine and update these engineering estimates. 

Atlanta Gas Light's current estimate for the remaining cost of 

future actions at its former operating sites is $35 million, which 

may change depending on whether future measures for groundwa­

ter will be required. As of December 31 , 2007, we have recorded 

a liability equal to the low end of that range of $35 million, of 

which $6 million is expected to be incurred over the next 

12 months. 

These liabilities do not include other potential expenses, such 

as unasserted property damage claims, personal injury or natural 

resource damage claims, unbudgeted legal expenses or other costs 

for which Atlanta Gas Light may be held liable but for which it 

cannot reasonably estimate an amount. 

The ERC liability is included as a corresponding regulatory 

asset, which is a combination of accrued ERC and unrecovered 

cash expenditures for investigation and cleanup costs. Atlanta Gas 

Light has three ways of recovering investigation and cleanup costs. 

Q;'" 
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First, the Georgia Commission has approved an ERC recovery rider. 

The ERC recovery mechanism allows for recovery of expenditures 

over a five-year period subsequent to the period in which the expen­

ditures are incurred. Atlanta Gas Light expects to collect $21 mil­

lion in revenues over the next 12 months under the ERC recovery 

rider, which is reflected as a current asset. The amounts recovered 

from the ERC recovery rider during the last three years were: 

estimated. In addition, there are as many as six other sites with 

which NUI had some association, although no basis for liability 

has been asserted, and accordingly we have not accrued any 

remediation liability. There are currently no cost recovery mecha­

nisms for the environmental remediation sites in North Carolina. 

Rental Expense 

• $26 million in 2007 

• $29 million in 2006 

• $28 million in 2005 

The second way to recover costs is by exercising the legal 

rights Atlanta Gas Light believes it has to recover a share of its 

costs from other potentially responsible parties, typically former 

owners or operators of these sites. There were no material recover­

ies from potentially responsible parties during 2007, 2006 

or 2005. 

The third way to recover costs is from the receipt of net 

profits from the sale of remediated property 

Ellzabethtown Gas In New Jersey Elizabethtown Gas is currently 

conducting remediation activities with oversight from the 

New Jersey Department of Environmental Protection. Although we 

cannot estimate the actual total cost of future environmental 

investigation and remediation efforts with precision, based on prob­

abilistic models similar to those used at Atlanta Gas Light's former 

operating sites, the range of reasonably probable costs is $61 mil­

lion to $119 million. As of December 31 , 2007, we have recorded 

a liability equal to the low end of that range, or $61 million, of 

which $4 million in expenditures are expected to be incurred over 

the next 12 months. 

Prudently incurred remediation costs for the New Jersey prop­

erties have been authorized by the New Jersey Commission to be 

recoverable in rates through a remediation adjustment clause. As 

a result, Elizabethtown Gas has recorded a regulatory asset of 

approximately $66 million, inclusive of interest, as of December 

31 , 2007, reflecting the future recovery of both incurred costs and 

accrued carrying charges. Elizabethtown Gas expects to collect 

$1 million in revenues over the next 12 months. Elizabethtown 

Gas has also been successful in recovering a portion of remediation 

costs incurred in New Jersey from its insurance carriers and 

continues to pursue additional recovery. 

We own a former NUI remediation site in Elizabeth City, North 

Carolina that is subject to a remediation order by the North Carolina 

Department of Energy and Natural Resources. We had recorded 

liabilities of $11 million and $10 million as of December 31 , 2007 

and 2005, respectively related to this site. 

There is one other site in North Carolina where investigation 

and remediation is likely, although no remediation order exists and 

we do not believe costs associated with this site can be reasonably 

We incurred rental expense in the amounts of $21 million in 2007, 

$19 million in 2006 and $25 million in 2005. 

Litigation 

We are involved in litigation arising in the normal course of 

business. We believe the ultimate resolution of such litigation will 

not have a material adverse effect on our consolidated financial 

position, results of operations or cash flows. 

In August 2006, the Office of Mineral Resources of the 

Louisiana DNR informed Jefferson Island that its mineral lease — 

which authorizes salt extraction to create two new storage caverns 

— at Lake Peigneur had been terminated. The Louisiana DNR iden­

tified two bases for the termination: (1) failure to make certain 

mining leasehold payments in a timely manner, and (2) the 

absence of salt mining operations for six months. 

In September 2006, Jefferson Island filed suit against the 

State of Louisiana to maintain its lease to complete an ongoing 

natural gas storage expansion project in Louisiana. The project 

would add two salt dome storage caverns under Lake Peigneur to 

the two caverns currently owned and operated by Jefferson island. 

In its suit, Jefferson Island alleges that the Louisiana DNR 

accepted all leasehold payments without reservation and never pro­

vided Jefferson Island with notice and opportunity to cure, as 

required by state law. In its answer to the suit, the State denied that 

anyone with proper authority approved the late payments. As to the 

second basis for termination, the suit contends that Jefferson 

Island's lease with the State of Louisiana was amended in 2004 so 

that mining operations are no longer required to maintain the lease. 

The State's answer denies that the 2004 amendment was properly 

authorized. If we are unable to reach a settlement, we are not able 

to predict the outcome of the litigation. As of January 2008, our 

current estimate of costs incurred that would be considered unus­

able if the Louisiana DNR was successful in terminating our lease 

and causing us to cease the expansion project is approximately 

$6 million. 
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Note 8 Income Taxes 

We have two categories of income taxes in our statements of con­

solidated income: current and deferred. Current income tax 

expense consists of federal and state income tax less applicable tax 

credits related to the current year. Deferred income tax expense 

generally is equal to the changes in the deferred income tax liability 

and regulatory tax liability during the year. 

Components of income tax expense shown in the statements of 

consolidated income are shown in the following table. 

Income Tax Expense 

The relative split between current and deferred taxes is due to a 

variety of factors including true ups of prior year tax returns, and 

most importantly, the timing of our property-related deductions. 

Investment and Other Tax Credits 

Deferred investment tax credits associated with distribution 

operations are included as a regulatory liability in our consolidated 

balance sheets (see Note 1, "Accounting Policies and Methods of 

Application"). These investment tax credits are being amortized 

over the estimated life of the related properties as credits to income 

in accordance with regulatory requirements. In 2007, we invested 

in a guaranteed affordable housing tax credit fund. We reduce 

income tax expense in our statements of consolidated income for 

the investment tax credits and other tax credits associated with our 

nonregulated subsidiaries, including the affordable housing credits. 

In millions 

Current income taxes 

Federal 

State 

Deferred income taxes 

Federal 

State 

Amortization of investment tax credits 

Total 

2007 

$ 86 

12 

23 

7 

(1) 
$127 

2006 

$ (4) 

2 

115 

18 

(2) 

$129 

2005 

$ 84 

18 

17 
„ 

(2) 

$117 

The reconciliations between the statutory federal income tax 

rate, the effective rate and the related amount of tax for the years 

ended December 31 , 2007, 2006 and 2005 are presented in the 

following tables. 

Computed tax expense at statutory rate 

State income tax, net of federal income tax benefit 

Amortization of investment tax credits 

Affordable housing credits 

Flexible dividend deduction 

Other- net 

Amount 

$118 

13 

(1) 

(1) 
(2) 

2007 

pretax 
%of 

income 

35.0% 

3.8 

(0.3) 

(0.3) 

(0.6) 

Amount 

$119 

12 

(2) 

— 
(2) 

2 

2006 

pretax 
%of 

income 

35.0% 

3.6 

(0.5) 

— 
(0.5) 

0.2 

2005 

Amount 

$109 

11 

(2) 

— 
(2) 

1 

pietaj 
%of 

; income 

35.0% 

3.7 

(0.6) 

— 
(0.6) 

0.2 

Total income tax expense at effective rate $127 37.6% $129 37.8% 117 37.7% 

92 
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Accumulated Deferred Income Tax Assets and Liabilities 

We report some of our assets and liabilities differently for financial 

accounting purposes than we do for income tax purposes. We report 

the tax effects of the differences in those items as deferred income 

tax assets or liabilities in our consolidated balance sheets. We 

measure the assets and liabilities using income tax rates that are 

currently in effect. Because of the regulated nature of the utilities' 

business, we recorded a regulatory tax liability in accordance with 

SFAS 109, which we are amortizing over approximately 30 years 

(see Note 1 "Accounting Policies and Methods of Application"). 

Our deferred tax assets include $35 million related to an unfunded 

pension and postretirement benefit obligation and did not change 

from 2006. 

As indicated in the following table, our deferred tax assets 

and liabilities include certain items we acquired from NUI. We have 

provided a valuation al lowance for some of these items that reduce 

our net deferred tax assets to amounts we believe are more likely 

than not to be realized in future periods. With respect to our con­

tinuing operations, we have net operating losses In various juris­

dictions. Components that give rise to the net accumulated 

deferred income tax liability are as follows. 

As of December 31, 

In millions 2007 2006 

Accumulated deferred income tax iiabiiitles 

Property - accelerated depreciation and 

other property-related items $568 $520 

Mark to market 4 7 

Other 44 22 

Total accumulated deferred 

income tax liabilities 616 549 

Accumulated deferred Income tax assets 

Deferred investment tax credits 6 7 

Unfunded pension and postretirement 

benefit obligation 

Net operating loss- NUF" 

Other 

35 
5 
7 

35 
5 

Total accumulated deferred 
income tax assets 

Valuation allowances'" 

Total accumulated deferred 

income tax assets, net of 

valuation allowance 

Net accumulated deferred 

tax liability 

53 

(3) 

50 

$566 

47 

(3) 

44 

$505 
:iiExpirein202L 
"'Valuation allowance is due to the net operafing losses on NUI headquarters that are not usable 

in New Jersey. 

In June 2006, the FASB issued FIN 48, which addressed the 

determination of whether tax benefits claimed or expected to be 

claimed on a tax return should be recorded in the financial state­

ments. Under FIN 48, we may recognize the tax benefit from an 

uncertain tax position only if it is more likely than not that the tax 

position will be sustained on examination by the taxing authorities, 

based on the technical merits of the position. The tax benefits rec­

ognized in the financial statements from such a position should be 

measured based on the largest benefit that has a greater than fifty 

percent likelihood of being realized upon ultimate settlement. 

FIN 48 also provides guidance on derecognition, classification, 

interest and penalties on income taxes, accounting in interim peri­

ods and requires increased disclosures. We adopted the provisions 

of FIN 48 on January 1, 2007. At the date of adoption, and as of 

December 31 , 2007, we did not have a liability for unrecognized 

tax benefits. Based on current information, we do not anticipate 

that this will change materially in 2008. 

We recognize accrued interest and penalties related to uncer­

tain tax positions in operating expenses in the consolidated state­

ments of income, which is consistent with the recognition of these 

items in prior reporting periods. As of December 31 , 2007, we did 

not have a liability recorded for payment of interest and penalties 

associated with uncertain tax positions. 

We file a U.S. federal consolidated income tax return and 

various state income tax returns. We are no longer subject to 

income tax examinations by the Internal Revenue Service or any 

state for years before 2002. 

Note 9 Segment Information 

We are an energy services holding company whose principal 

business is the distribution of natural gas in six states — Florida, 

Georgia, Maryland, New Jersey, Tennessee and Virginia. We 

generate nearly all our operating revenues through the sale, 

distribution, transportation and storage of natural gas. We are 

involved in several related and complementary businesses, 

including retail natural gas marketing to end-use customers 

primarily in Georgia; natural gas asset management and related 

logistics activities for each of our utilities as well as for nonaffiliated 

companies; natural gas storage arbitrage and related activities; and 

the development and operation of high-deliverability natural gas 

storage assets. We manage these businesses through four operating 

segments —- distribution operations, retail energy operations, 

wholesale services and energy investments and a nonoperating 

corporate segment which includes intercompany eliminations. 

We evaluate segment pertormance based primarily on the non-

GAAP measure of EBIT, which includes the effects of corporate 

expense allocations. EBIT is a non-GAAP measure that includes 

operating income, other income and expenses and minority 

interest. Items we do not include in EBIT are financing costs, 

including interest and debt expense and income taxes, each of 

which we evaluate on a consolidated level. We believe EBIT is a 

useful measurement of our performance because it provides 

information that can be used to evaluate the effectiveness of our 

cy~i 
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businesses from an operational perspective, exclusive of the costs to finance those activities and exclusive of income taxes, neither of which 

is directly relevant to the efficiency of those operations. 

You should not consider EBIT an alternative to, or a more meaningful indicator of, our operating performance than operating income or 

net income as determined in accordance with GAAR In addition, our EBIT may not be comparable to a similarly titled measure of another 

company The reconciliations of EBIT to operating income and net income for 2007, 2006 and 2005 are presented below. 

In millions 

Operating revenues 

Operating expenses 

Operating income 

Minority interest 

Other income (expense) 

2007 

$2,494 

2,005 

489 

(30) 

4 

2006 

$2,621 : 

2,133 

488 

(23) 

(1) 

EBIT 

Interest expense 
463 
125 

Earnings before income taxes 

Income taxes 
338 
127 

464 
123 
341 
129 

2005 

$2,718 
2,276 

442 
(22) 

U) 
419 
109 
310 
117 

Net income $ 211 $ 212 193 

Summarized income statement, balance sheet and capital expenditure 

ended December 31 , 2007, 2006 and 2005 is shown in the following tables. 

information by segment as of and for the years 

In millions 

2007 

Operating revenues from external parties 

Intercompany revenues'" 

Total operating revenues 

Distribution 

operations 

$1,477 

188 

1,665 

Retail energy 

operations 

$892 

_ 
892 

Wholesale 

services 

$ 83 

— 
83 

Energy 

investments 

$ 42 

— 
42 

Corporate and 

intercompany 

eliminalions 

Consolidaled 

AGL Resources 

(188) 
(188) 

Operating expenses 
Cost of gas 

Operation and maintenance 
Depreciation and amortization 
Taxes other than income taxes 

845 
330 
122 
33 

704 
69 
5 
1 

6 
38 
4 
1 

2 
19 
5 
1 

Total operating expenses 1,330 779 49 
Operating income (loss) 

Minority interest 

Other income 

335 113 

(30) 

34 15 

(188) 

(5) 

8 

Tiso) 

EBIT $ 338 $ 83 $ 34 $ 15 

(8) 

(7) 

$2,494 

2,494 

1,369 

451 

144 
41 

2.005 
489 
(30) 

_ _ 4 

; 463 

Identifiable and total assets 

Goodwill 

Capital expenditures 

$4,831 

$ 406 

$ 201 

$284 

$ -
$ 2 

$900 

$ -
$ 2 

$287 

$ 14 

$ 26 

$ (34) 

$ -
$ 28 

$6,268 

$ 420 

$ 259 

Q,4 
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Distribution 

operations 

Retail energy 

operations 

V/holesale 

services 

Energy 

investments 

Corporate and 

intercompany 

eliminations 

Consolidated 

AGL Resources 

2006 

Operating revenues from external parties 

Intercompany revenues"' 

$1,467 

157 

$930 $182 $ 41 1 

(157) 

$2,621 

Total operating revenues 

Operating expenses 

Cost of gas 

Operation and maintenance 

Depreciation and amortization 

Taxes other than income taxes 

1,624 930 182 41 (156) 

817 

350 

116 

33 

774 

64 

3 

1 

43 

46 

2 

1 

5 

20 

5 

1 

(157) 

(7) 

12 

4 

2,621 

1,482 

473 

138 

40 

Total operating expenses 

Operating income (loss) 

Minority interest 

Other income (expense) 

1,316 842 92 31 (148) 

308 88 

(23) 

(2) 

90 10 (8) 

(1) 

2,133 

488 

(23) 

(1) 

EBIT 

Identifiable and total assets 

Goodwill 

Capital expenditures 

$ 310 

$4,565 

$ 406 

$ 174 

$ 63 

$298 

$ -
$ 9 

$ 90 

$849 

$ -
$ 2 

$ 10 

$373 
$ 14 

$ 23 

$ 
$ 
$ 
$ 

(9) 

62 
— 
45 

$ 464 

$6,147 

$ 420 

$ 253 

Corporate and 

In millions 

2005 

Operating revenues from external parties 

Intercompany revenues''" 

Distribution 

operations 

$1,571 

182 

Retail energy 

operations 

$996 

— 

Wholesale 

services 

$ 95 

— 

Energy 

investments 

$ 56 

— 

intercompany 

eliminations 

$ -
(182) 

Consolidated 

AGL Resources 

$2,718 

__ 
Total operating revenues 

Operating expenses 

Cost of gas 

Operation and maintenance 

Depreciation and amortization 

Taxes other than income taxes 

Total operating expenses 

Operating income (loss) 

Minority interest 

Other income (expense) 

1,753 996 95 56 (182) 

939 

372 

114 

32 

850 

58 

2 

1 

3 

39 

2 

1 

1.457 911 
296 85 

(22) 

4 ^ 

50 

(1) 

16 

17 

5 

39 

(182) 

(9) 

10 

5 

(176) 

17 (6) 

(5) 

2,718 

1,626 

477 

133 

40 

2,276 

442 

(22) 

(1) 

EBIT 

Identifiable and total assets 
Goodwill 

Capital expenditures 

$ 299 

$4,788 

$ 406 

$ 215 

$ 63 

$343 

$ -
$ 4 

$ 49 

$1,058 

$ -
$ 1 

$ 19 

$350 

$ 14 

$ 9 

$ (11) 
$(219) 

$ -
$ 38 

$ 419 

$6,320 

$ 420 

$ 267 
" Intercompany revenues — Wholesale services records its energy marl^eting 

$638 million in 2007, $531 million in 2006 and $792 mill ion in 2005. 

and risk management revenue on a net basis. Wholesale services total operating revenues include intercompany revenues of 
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Note 10 Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited) 

Our quarterly financial data for 2007, 2006 and 2005 are summarized below. The variance in our quarterly earnings is the result of the sea­

sonal nature of our primary business. 

In millions, except per share amounts _^______ March 31 June 30 Sept. 30 _ ^ _ Dsc- 31 

2007 . ~ — - — 

Operating revenues $ 973 $ 467 $ 369 $ 685 

Operating income 216 78 55 140 

Net income 102 30 13 66 

Basic earnings per share 1.31 0.40 0.17 0.86 

Diluted earnings per share 1.30 0.40 0.17 0.86 

2006 
Operating revenues $1,044 $ 436 $ 434 $ 707 

Operating income 228 60 90 110 

Net income 110 19 36 47 

Basic earnings per share 1.42 0.25 0.46 0.60 

Diluted earnings per share 1.41 0^25 0 4 6 0.60 

2005 

Operating revenues $ 908 $ 430 $ 387 $ 993 

Operating income 181 66 54 141 

Net income 88 24 15 66 

Basic earnings per share 1.15 0.31 0.19 0.86 

Diluted eamings per share _ _ ^ _ 1.14 0 3 0 0 1 9 0.85 

Our basic and diluted earnings per common share are calculated based on the weighted daily average number of common shares and 

common share equivalents outstanding during the quarter. Those totals differ from the basic and diluted earnings per share shown in the 

statements of consolidated income, which are based on the weighted average number of common shares and common share equivalents out­

standing during the entire year. 
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of AGL 

Resources Inc.: 

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements listed in the 

index appearing under Item 15(a)(1) present fairly, in all material 

respects, the financiai position of AGL Resources Inc. and its sub­

sidiaries at December 31 , 2007 and 2006, and the results of their 

operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the 

period ended December 31 , 2007, in conformity with accounting 

principles generally accepted in the United States of America. In 

addition, in our opinion, the financial statement schedule listed in 

the accompanying index appearing under Item 15(a)(2) presents 

fairly, in all material respects, the information set forth therein 

when read in conjunction with the related consolidated financial 

statements. Also In our opinion, the Company maintained, in all 

material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting 

as of December 31 , 2007, based on criteria established in Internal 

Control — Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of 

Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). 

The Company's management is responsible for these financial 

statements and financial statement schedule, for maintaining 

effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assess­

ment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial report­

ing, included in Management's Report on Internal Control Over 

Financiai Reporting appearing under Item 9A. Our responsibility 

is to express opinions on these financial statements, on the finan­

cial statement schedule, and on the Company's internal control 

over financial reporting based on our integrated audits. We con­

ducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public 

Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those stan­

dards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain rea­

sonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free 

of material misstatement and whether effective internal control 

over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. 

Our audits of the financial statements included examining, on a 

test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the 

financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and 

significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the 

overall financial statement presentation. Our audit of internal 

control over financial reporting included obtaining an understand­

ing of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk 

that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the 

design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the 

assessed risk. Our audits also included performing such other pro­

cedures as v/e considered necessary in the circumstances. We 

believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinions. 

As discussed in Notes 4 and 3, respectively to the consoli­

dated financial statements, AGL Resources Inc. and subsidiaries 

changed its method of accounting for stock based compensation 

plans as of January 1, 2006 and its method of accounting for 

defined benefit pension and other postretirement plans as of 

December 31 , 2006. In addition, as discussed in Note 8, effective 

January 1, 2007, the Company changed its method of accounting 

for uncertain tax positions. 

A company's internal control over financial reporting is a 

process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the 

reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial 

statements for external purposes in accordance with generally 

accepted accounting principles. A company's internal control over 

financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that 

(i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, 

accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of 

the assets of the company; (ii) provide reasonable assurance that 

transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of 

financial statements in accordance with generally accepted 

accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the 

company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of 

management and directors of the company; and (iii) provide rea­

sonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unau­

thorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company's assets 

that could have a material effect on the financial statements. 

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over finan­

cial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, pro­

jections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are 

subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because 

of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with 

the policies or procedures may deteriorate. 

Atlanta, Georgia 

February 5, 2008 
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Item 9. Changes In and Disagreements with 
Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure 

None 

I tem 9 A . Controls and Procedures 

Conclusions Regarding the Effectiveness of 

Disclosure Controls and Procedures 

Under the supen/ision and with the participation of our manage­

ment, including our principal executive officer and principal finan­

cial officer, we conducted an evaluation of our disclosure controls 

and procedures, as such term is defined under Rule 13a-15(e) 

promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as 

amended (the Exchange Act). Based on this evaluation, our prin­

cipal executive officer and our principal financial officer concluded 

that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of 

December 31 , 2007, in providing a reasonable level of assurance 

that information we are required to disclose in reports that we file 

or submit under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, sum­

marized and reported within the time periods In SEC rules and 

forms. Including a reasonable level of assurance that information 

required to be disclosed by us in such reports is accumulated and 

communicated to our management, including our principal exec­

utive officer and our principal financial officer, as appropriate to 

allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. 

Management's Report on Internal Control 

Over Financial Reporting 

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining 

adequate internal control over financial reporting, as such term is 

defined in Exchange Act Rule ISa-lSff). Under the supervision 

and with the participation of our management, including our 

principal executive officer and principal financial officer, we con­

ducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control 

over financial reporting based on the framework in Internal Control 

— Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring 

Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). 

Based on our evaluation under the framework in Internal 

Control — Integrated Framework issued by COSO, our manage­

ment concluded that our internal control over financial reporting 

was effective as of December 31 , 2007, in providing reasonable 

assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the 

preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accor­

dance with generally accepted accounting principles. 

February 5, 2008 

'""""^ .. 

\ 
John Wl.Somerhalder II 
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer 

./ 1 

Andrew W. Evans 

Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer 

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting 

There were no changes in our internal control over financial report­

ing identified in connection with the above-referenced evaluation 

by management of the effectiveness of our internal control over 

financial reporting that occurred during the fourth quarter ended 

December 31 , 2007, that have materially affected, or are 

reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over 

financial reporting. 

Item 9B. Other Information 

None 

Q R 
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Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and 
Corporate Governance 

The information required by this item with respect to directors will 

be set forth under the captions "Proposal I — Election of 

Directors", - "Corporate Governance— Ethics and Compliance 

Program," - "Committees of the Board" and "— Audit Committee" 

in the Proxy Statement for our 2008 Annual Meeting of 

Shareholders or in a subsequent amendment to this report. The 

Information required by this item with respect to the executive offi­

cers is set forth at Part I, Item 4 of this report under the caption 

"Executive Officers of the Registrant." The Information required 

by this item with respect to Section 16(a) beneficial ownership 

reporting compliance will be set forth under the caption "Section 

16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance" in the Proxy 

Statement or subsequent amendment referred to above. All such 

information that is provided in the Proxy Statement is incorporated 

herein by reference. 

Item 11. Executive Compensation 

The information required by this item will be set forth under the 

captions "Compensation and Management Development 

Committee Report," "Compensation and Management 

Development Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation," 

"Director Compensation," "Compensation Discussion and Analysis" 

and "Executive Compensation" in the Proxy Statement or 

subsequent amendment referred to in Item 10 above. All such 

information that is provided in the Proxy Statement is incorporated 

herein by reference, except for the information under the caption 

"Compensation and Management Development Committee Report" 

which is specifically not so incorporated herein by reference. 

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain 
Beneficial Owners and Management and Related 
Stockholder Matters 

The information required by this item will be set forth under the 

captions "Share Ownership" and "Executive Compensation — 

Equity Compensation Plan Information" in the Proxy Statement or 

subsequent amendment referred to in Item 10 above. All such 

information that is provided in the Proxy Statement is incorporated 

herein by reference. 

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related 
Transactions and Director Independence 

The information required by this item will be set forth under the 

captions "Corporate Governance — Director Independence" and 

" ~ Policy on Related Person Transactions" and "Certain 

Relationships and Related Transactions" In the Proxy Statement 

or subsequent amendment referred to in Item 10 above. All such 

information that is provided in the Proxy Statement is incorporated 

herein by reference. 

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services 

The information required by this item will be set forth under the 

caption "Proposal 2 — Ratification of the Appointment of 

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as Our Independent Registered 

Public Accounting Firm for 2008" in the Proxy Statement or 

subsequent amendment to referred to in Item 10 above. All such 

information that is provided in the Proxy Statement is incorporated 

herein by reference. 
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Part IV 

Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement 
Schedules 

(a) Documents Filed as Part of This Report. 

(1) Financial Statements 

Included in Item 8 are the following financiai statements: 

• Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 3 1 , 2007 and 

2006 

• Statements of Consolidated Income for the years ended 

December 31 , 2007, 2006, and 2005 

• Statements of Consolidated Common Shareholders' Equity for 

the years ended December 31 , 2007, 2006 and 2005 

• Statements of Consolidated Cash Flows for the years ended 

December 31 , 2007, 2006, and 2005 

• Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

• Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 

(2) Financial Statement Schedules 

Financial Statement Schedule II. Valuation and Qualifying 

Accounts - Allowance for Uncollectible Accounts and Income Tax 

Valuations for Each of the Three Years in the Period Ended 

December 31 , 2007. 

Schedules other than those referred to above are omitted and 

are not applicable or not required, or the required information is 

shown in the financial statements or notes thereto. 

(3) Exhibits 

4.1.b Specimen AGL Capital Corporation 6.00% Senior Notes 

due 2034 (Exhibit 4 .1 , AGL Resources Inc. Form 8-K dated 

September 27, 2004). 

4.1.C Specimen AGL Capital Corporation 4.95% Senior Notes 

due 2015. (Exhibit 4 .1 , AGL Resources Inc. Form 8-K dated 

December 21 , 2004). 

4.1.d Specimen form of Right certificate (Exhibit 1, AGL 

Resources Inc. Form 8-K filed March 6, 1996). 

4.1.e Specimen AGL Capital Corporation 6.375% Senior 

Secured Notes due 2016. (Exhibit 4 .1 , AGL Resources Inc. 

Form 8-K dated December 11, 2007). 

4.1.f Specimen AGL Capital Corporation 7.125% Senior 

Secured Notes due 2011. 

4.1.g Specimen AGL Capital Corporation 4.45% Senior Secured 

Notes due 2013. 

4.2.a Indenture, dated as of December 1, 1989, between 

Atlanta Gas Light Company and Bankers Trust Company as Trustee 

(Exhibit 4(a), Atlanta Gas Light Company registration statement on 

Form S-3, No. 33-32274). 

4.2.b First Supplemental Indenture dated as of March 16, 1992, 

between Atlanta Gas Light Company and NationsBank of 

Georgia, National Association, as Successor Trustee (Exhibit 4(a), 

Atlanta Gas Light Company registration statement on Form S-3, 

No. 33-46419). 

Where an exhibit is filed by incorporation by reference to a 

previously filed registration statement or report, such registration 

statement or report is identified in parentheses. 

3.1 Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation filed 

November 2, 2005, with the Secretary of State of the state of 

Georgia (Exhibit 3 .1 , AGL Resources Inc. Form 8-K dated 

November 2, 2005). 

3.2a Bylaws, as amended on October 26, 2006 (Exhibit 3.2, 

AGL Resources, Inc. Form 8-K dated November 1, 2006). 

3.2b Bylaws, as amended on October 31 , 2007 (Exhibit 3.2, 
AGL Resources, Inc. Form 8-K dated October 31 , 2007). 

4.2.C Indenture, dated February 20, 2001 among AGL Capital 

Corporation, AGL Resources Inc. and The Bank of New York, as 

Trustee (Exhibit 4.2, AGL Resources Inc. registration statement on 

Form S-3, filed on September 17, 2001, No. 333-69500). 

4.3.a Form of Guarantee of AGL Resources Inc. dated as of 

December 14, 2007 regarding the AGL Capital Corporation 

6.375% Senior Note due 2016 (Exhibit 4.2, AGL Resources Inc. 

Form 8-K dated December 11, 2007). 

4.3.b Form of Guarantee of AGL Resources Inc. dated as 

of September 27, 2004 regarding the AGL Capital Corporation 

6.00% Senior Note due 2034 (Exhibit 4 .1 , AGL Resources Inc. 

Form 8-K dated September 27, 2004). 

4.1.a Specimen form of Common Stock certificate (Exhibit 4 .1 , 

AGL Resources Inc. Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended 

September 30, 1999). 

4.3.C Form of Guarantee of AGL Resources Inc. dated as 

of December 20, 2004 regarding the AGL Capital Corporation 

4.95% Senior Note due 2015 (Exhibit 4 .1 , AGL Resources Inc. 

Form 8-K dated December 21 , 2004). 
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4.3.d Form of Guarantee of AGL Resources Inc. dated as of 

March 31 , 2001 regarding the AGL Capital Corporation 7.125% 

Senior Note due 2011. 

4.3.e Form of Guarantee of AGL Resources Inc. dated as of 

July 2, 2003 regarding the AGL Capital Corporation 4.45% Senior 

Note due 2011. 

4.4,a Rights Agreement dated as of March 6, 1996 between 

AGL Resources Inc. and Wachovia Bank of North Carolina, N.A. as 

Rights Agent (Exhibit 1, AGL Resources Inc. Form 8-A dated 

March 6, 1996). 

4.4.b Second Amendment to Rights Agreement dated as of June 

5, 2002 between AGL Resources Inc. and Equiserve Trust 

Company, N.A. (Exhibit 1, AGL Resources Inc. Amendment No. 1 

to Form 8-A dated June 2, 2002). 

10.1 Director and Executive Compensation Contracts, Plans and 

Arrangements. 

Director Compensation Contracts, Plans and Arrangements 

lO. l .g First Amendment to the AGL Resources Inc. 1998 

Common Stock Equivalent Plan for Non-Employee Directors 

(Exhibit 10.5, AGL Resources Inc. Form 10-Q for the quarter ended 

March 31 , 2000). 

lO. l .h Second Amendment to the AGL Resources Inc. 1998 

Common Stock Equivalent Plan for Non-Employee Directors 

(Exhibit 10.4, AGL Resources Inc. Form 10-Q for the quarter ended 

September 30, 2002). 

lO . l . i Third Amendment to the AGL Resources Inc. 1998 

Common Stock Equivalent Plan for Non-Employee Directors 

(Exhibit 10.5, AGL Resources Inc. Form 10-Q for the quarter ended 

September 30, 2002). 

lO . l . j Fourth Amendment to the AGL Resources Inc. 1998 

Common Stock Equivalent Plan for Non-Employee Directors 

(Exhibit 10.1.m, AGL Resources Inc. Form 10-Q for the quarter 

ended June 30, 2007). 

lO. l .k Description of Directors' Compensation (Exhibit 10.1, 

AGL Resources Inc. Form 8-K dated December 1, 2004). 

10.1.a AGL Resources Inc. Amended and Restated 1996 

Non-Employee Directors Equity Compensation Plan (Exhibit 10.1, 

AGL Resources Inc. Form 10-Q for the quarter ended 

September 30, 2002). 

10.1.1 Description of Director's Compensation with respect to 

the annual retainer and description of Director non-employee share-

ownership guidelines (Item 1.01, AGL Resources Inc. Form 8-K 

dated December 7, 2005). 

lO. l .b First Amendment to the AGL Resources Inc. Amended 

and Restated 1995 Non-Employee Directors Equity Compensation 

Plan (Exhibit 10.1.o, AGL Resources Inc. Form 10-K for the fiscal 

year ended December 31 , 2002). 

lO. l .m Description of Director's Compensation with respect to 

the annual retainer and description of Director non-employee share-

ownership guidelines (Item 1.01, AGL Resources Inc. Form 8-K 

dated October 26, 2006). 

lO.l .c Second Amendment to the AGL Resources inc. Amended 

and Restated 1995 Non-Employee Directors Equity Compensation 

Plan (Exhibit lO. l .k, AGL Resources Inc. Form 10-Q for the 

quarter ended June 30, 2007). 

lO. l .d AGL Resources Inc. 2006 Non-Employee Directors 

Equity Compensation Plan (incorporated herein by reference 

to Annex C of the AGL Resources Inc. Proxy Statement for the 

Annual Meeting of Shareholders held May 3, 2006 filed on 

March 20, 2006). 

lO.l .e First Amendment to the AGL Resources Inc. 2006 Non-

Employee Directors Equity Compensation Plan (Exhibit lO. l . i , AGL 

Resources Inc. Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2007), 

lO. l .n Form of Stock Award Agreement for Non-Employee 

Directors (Exhibit lO.l .aj, AGL Resources Inc. Form 10-K for the 

fiscal year ended December 31 , 2004). 

10.1.0 Form on Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement for 

Non-Employee Directors (Exhibit lO.l.ak, AGL Resources Inc. 

Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31 , 2004). 

lO. l .p Form of Director Indemnification Agreement, dated April 

28, 2004, between AGL Resources Inc., on behalf of itself and 

the Indemnities named therein (Exhibit 10.3, AGL Resources Inc. 

Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2004). 

Executive Compensation Contracts, Plans and Arrangements. 

lO. l . f AGL Resources Inc. 1998 Common Stock Equivalent Plan 

for Non-Employee Directors (Exhibit lO. l .b, AGL Resources Inc. 

Form 10-Q for the quarter ended December 31 , 1997). 

lO. l .q AGL Resources Inc. Long-Term Stock Incentive Plan of 

1990 (Exhibit 10(11), Atlanta Gas Light Company Form 10-K for the 

fiscal year ended September 30, 1991). 
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lO. l . r First Amendment to the AGL Resources Inc. Long-Term 

Stock Incentive Plan of 1990 (Exhibit B to the Atlanta Gas Light 

Company Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting of Shareholders 

held Februarys, 1993). 

10.1.ad Second amendment to the AGL Resources Inc. 

Long-Term Incentive Plan (1999), as amended and restated 

(Exhibit 10.1.1, AGL Resources Inc. Form 10-Q for the quarter 

ended June 30, 2007). 

lO. l .s Second Amendment to the AGL Resources Inc. Long-

Term Stock Incentive Plan of 1990 (Exhibit lO. l .d, AGL Resources 

Inc. Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended September 30, 1997). 

lO.l.ae AGL Resources Inc. Officer Incentive Plan (Exhibit 10.2, 

AGL Resources Inc. Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 

2001). 

lO. l . t Third Amendment to the AGL Resources Inc. Long-Term 

Stock Incentive Plan of 1990 (Exhibit C to the Proxy Statement 

and Prospectus filed as a part of Amendment No. 1 to Registration 

Statement on Form S-4, No. 33-99826). 

lO. l .u Fourth Amendment to the AGL Resources Inc. Long-Term 

Stock Incentive Plan of 1990 (Exhibit l O l . f , AGL Resources Inc. 

Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended September 30, 1997). 

lO.l .af First amendment to the AGL Resources Inc. Officer 

Incentive Plan (Exhibit lO. l . j , AGL Resources Inc. Form 10-Q for 

the quarter ended June 30, 2007). 

10.Lag AGL Resources Inc. 2007 Omnibus Performance 

Incentive Plan (Annex A of AGL Resources Inc.'s Schedule 14A, 

File No. 001-14174, filed with the Securities and Exchange 

Commission on March 19, 2007). 

lO. l .v Fifth Amendment to the AGL Resources Inc. Long-Term 

Stock Incentive Plan of 1990 (Exhibit lO.l .g, AGL Resources Inc. 

Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended September 30, 1997). 

lO. l .w Sixth Amendment to the AGL Resources Inc. Long-Term 

Stock Incentive Plan of 1990 (Exhibit 10.1.a, AGL Resources Inc. 

Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31 , 1998). 

10.1.x Seventh Amendment to the AGL Resources Inc. Long-

Term Stock Incentive Plan of 1990 (Exhibit 10.1, AGL Resources 

Inc. Form 10-Q for the quarter ended December 31 , 1998). 

lO.i .y Eighth Amendment to the AGL Resources Inc. Long-Term 

Stock Incentive Plan of 1990 (Exhibit 10.1, AGL Resources Inc. 

Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31 , 2000). 

lO. l .z Ninth Amendment to the AGL Resources Inc. Long-Term 

Stock Incentive Plan 1990 (Exhibit 10.6, AGL Resources Inc. Form 

10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2002). 

10,1.ah Form of Incentive Stock Option Agreement — 

AGL Resources Inc. 2007 Omnibus Performance Incentive Plan 

(Exhibit lO. l .b, AGL Resources Inc. Form 10-Q for the quarter 

ended June 30, 2007). 

lO. l .ai Form of Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement — 

AGL Resources Inc. 2007 Omnibus Performance Incentive Plan 

(Exhibit lO. l .c, AGL Resources Inc. Form 10-Q for the quarter 

ended June 30, 2007). 

lO. l .a j Form of Performance Cash Award Agreement — 

AGL Resources Inc. 2007 Omnibus Performance Incentive Plan 

(Exhibit lO. l .d , AGL Resources Inc. Form 10-Q for the quarter 

ended June 30, 2007). 

lO. l .ak Form of Restricted Stock Agreement (performance 

based) - AGL Resources Inc. 2007 Omnibus Pertormance Incentive 

Plan (Exhibit lO.I.e, AGL Resources Inc. Form 10-Q for the 

quarter ended June 30, 2007). 

lO.l.aa Tenth Amendment to the AGL Resources Inc. Long-Term 

Stock Incentive Plan 1990 (Exhibit lO. l .n, AGL Resources Inc. 

Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2007). 

lO.l .ab AGL Resources Inc. Long-Term Incentive Plan (1999), 

as amended and restated as of January 1, 2002 (Exhibit 99.2, 

AGL Resources Inc. Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31 , 

2002). 

lO.l.ae First amendment to the AGL Resources Inc. Long-Term 

Incentive Plan (1999), as amended and restated (Exhibit lO. l .b, 

AGL Resources Inc. Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended 

December 31 , 2004). 

lO. l .a i Form of Restricted Stock Agreement (time based) — 

AGL Resources Inc. 2007 Omnibus Performance Incentive Plan 

(Exhibit lO. l . f , AGL Resources Inc. Form 10-Q for the quarter 

ended June 30, 2007). 

10.1.am Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement — 

AGL Resources Inc. 2007 Omnibus Performance Incentive Plan. 

(Exhibit lO. l .g, AGL Resources Inc. Form 10-Q for the quarter 

ended June 30, 2007) 

10.1.an Form of Stock Appreciation Rights Agreement ^ 

AGL Resources Inc. 2007 Omnibus Performance Incentive Plan 

(Exhibit 10.1.h, AGL Resources Inc. Form lO-Q for the quarter 

ended June 30, 2007). 



AGL Resources inc. 2007 Annual Report 

10. Lao Form of Incentive Stock Option Agreement, 

Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement and Restricted Stock 

Agreement for key employees (Exhibit 10.1, AGL Resources Inc. 

Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2004). 

10.Lap Form of Performance Unit Agreement for key employees 

(Exhibit lO.I.e, AGL Resources Inc. Form 10-K for the fiscal year 

ended December 31 , 2004). 

lO.l.aq Forms of Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement without 

the reload provision (LTIP and Officer Plan) (Exhibit 10.1, 

AGL Resources inc. Form 8-K dated March 15, 2005). 

lO.l.ar Form of Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement with the 

reload provision (Officer Plan) (Exhibit 10.2, AGL Resources Inc. 

Form 8-K dated March 15, 2005). 

10,Las Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement and 

Performance Cash Unit Agreement for key employees (Exhibit 10.1 

and 10.2, respectively, AGL Resources Inc. Form 8-K dated 

February 24, 2006). 

lO. l .at AGL Resources Inc. Nonqualified Savings Plan 

as amended and restated as of January 1, 2007 (Exhibit lO.l.af, 

AGL Resources Inc. Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended 

Decembers!, 2006). 

lO.l .au AGL Resources Inc. Executive Performance Incentive 

Plan dated February 2, 2002 (Exhibit 99.1, AGL Resources Inc. 

Form 10-Q for the quarter ended.March 31 , 2002). 

10.Lav AGL Resources Inc. Annual Incentive Plan — 2005 

(Exhibit 10.1, AGL Resources Inc. Form 8-K/A dated February 24, 

2006). 

10.Law AGL Resources Inc. Annual Incentive Plan — 2007 

(Exhibit 10.1, AGL Resources Inc. Form 8-K dated August 6, 

2007). 

10.Lax Description of Annual 

Arrangement for Douglas N. Schantz. 

Incentive Compensation 

lO.l.az Amendment to Continuity Agreement, dated 

February 24, 2006, by and between AGL Resources Inc., on behalf 

of itself and AGL Sen;ices Company (its wholly owned subsidiary) 

and Kevin P. Madden (Exhibit 10.6, AGL Resources Inc. 

Form 8-K/A dated February 24, 2006). 

lO.l .ba Continuity Agreement, dated December 1, 2003, by 

and between AGL Resources Inc., on behalf of itself and 

AGL Services Company (its wholly owned subsidiary) and Paul R. 

Shianta (Exhibit lO.l.z, AGL Resources Inc. Form 10-K for the 

fiscal year ended December 31 , 2003). 

lO.l .bb Amendment to Continuity Agreement, dated February 

24, 2006, by and between AGL Resources Inc., on behalf of itself 

and AGL Services Company (its wholly owned subsidiary) and 

Paul R. Shianta (Exhibit 107 , AGL Resources Inc. Form 8-K/A 

dated February 24, 2006). 

10.1.be Continuity Agreement, dated September 30, 2005, by 

and between AGL Resources Inc., on behalf of itself and AGL 

Services Company (its wholly owned subsidiary) and Andrew W. 

Evans (Exhibit 10.1, AGL Resources Inc. Form 8-K dated 

September 27, 2005). 

lO. l .bd Amendment to Continuity Agreement, dated 
February 24, 2006, by and between AGL Resources Inc., on behalf 
of itself and AGL Sen/ices Company (its wholly owned subsidiary) 
and Andrew W, Evans (Exhibit 10.5, AGL Resources Inc. 
Form 8-K/A dated February 24, 2006). 

10.1.be Continuity Agreement, dated January 1, 2006, by and 

between AGL Resources, Inc., on behalf of itself and AGL Sen/ices 

Company (its wholly owned subsidiary) and R. Eric Martinez, Jr. 

(Exhibit 10.4, AGL Resources Inc. Form 8-K/A dated February 24, 

2006). 

lO. l .bf Continuity Agreement, dated March 3, 2006, by and 

between AGL Resources Inc., on behalf of itself and AGL Services 

Company (its wholly owned subsidiary) and John W. Somerhalder 11 

(Exhibit 10.2 AGL Resources, Inc. Form 8-K dated March 8, 

2006). 

10.Lay Continuity Agreement, dated December 1, 2003, by and 

between AGL Resources Inc., on behalf of itself and AGL Services 

Company (its wholly owned subsidiary) and Kevin P. Madden 

(Exhibit lO.l.w, AGL Resources Inc. Form lO-K for the fiscal year 

ended December 31 , 2003). 

lO.l .bg Continuity Agreement, dated March 15, 2006, by and 

between AGL Resources Inc., on behalf of itself and AGL Services 

Company (its wholly owned subsidiary) and Douglas N. Schantz 

(Exhibit lO.l.as AGLResources, Inc. Form 10-K for the fiscal year 

ended December 31 , 2006). 


